DESCRIPTION OF THE CHAIRMAN'S AMENDMENT IN THE NATURE OF A SUBSTITUTE TO THE COMMITTEE PRINT RELATING TO INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING (SUBTITLE F), GREEN ENERGY (SUBTITLE G), THE SOCIAL SAFETY NET (SUBTITLE H), AND PRESCRIPTION DRUG PRICING (SUBTITLE J)

Scheduled for Markup by the HOUSE COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS on September 14, 2021

> Prepared by the Staff of the JOINT COMMITTEE ON TAXATION



September 13, 2021 JCX-43-21

CONTENTS

	<u>I</u>	age
INTR	ODUCTION	1
٨	Corporate Tax Rate	3
Π.	1. Increase in corporate tax rate	3
B.	Limitations on Deduction for Interest Expense	6
	1. Limitations on deduction for interest expense	
C.	Outbound International Provisions	.13
	1. Modifications to deduction for foreign-derived intangible income and global	
	intangible low-taxed income	.13
	2. Repeal of election for one-month deferral in determination of taxable year of	1 /
	specified foreign corporations	.14
	specific economic benefits	.15
	4. Modifications to foreign tax credit limitations	
	5. Foreign oil and gas extraction income and foreign oil related income to include	
	income with respect to minerals from oil shale and tar sands	
	6. Modifications to inclusion of global intangible low-taxed income	.26
	 Modifications to determination of deemed paid credit for taxes properly attributable to tested income 	20
	 Beduction for foreign-source portion of dividends limited to CFCs 	
	 Limitation on foreign base company sales and services income 	
D.	Inbound International Provisions	.38
	1. Modifications to base erosion and anti-abuse tax	
F	Other Business Tax Provisions	43
Ľ.	1. Credit for clinical testing of orphan drugs limited to first use or indication	
	2. Modifications to treatment of certain losses	
	3. Adjusted basis limitation for divisive reorganization	.47
	4. Rents from prison facilities not treated as qualified income for purposes of REIT	
	income tests	
	 Modifications to exemption for portfolio interest. Certain partnership interest derivatives. 	
	 Certain partnership interest derivatives. Adjustments to earnings and profits of CFCs. 	
	8. Certain dividends from CFCs to U.S. shareholders treated as extraordinary	•••
	dividends	.52
	9. Modification of rules for partnership interests held in connection with	
	performance of services	
	10. Limitation on certain special rules for section 1202 gains	
	 Rules relating to common control Wash sales and constructive sales 	
		. 59

F.	Tax Increases for High-Income Individuals	
	1. Increase in top marginal individual income tax rate	
	2. Increase in capital gains rate for certain high-income individuals	
	3. Application of net investment income tax to trade or business income	
	high income individuals	71
	4. Limitation on deduction of qualified business income for certain high	n income
	individuals	
	5. Limitations on excess business losses of noncorporate taxpayers	
	6. Surcharge on high income individuals, estates, and trusts	
	7. Termination of temporary increase in unified credit	
	8. Increase in limitation on estate tax valuation reduction for certain rea	
	used in farming or other trades of businesses	
	9. Certain tax rules applicable to grantor trusts	90
	10. Valuation rules for certain transfers of nonbusiness assets	
G	Contribution Limit for Individual Retirement Plans of High-Income Tax	navers with
υ.	Large Account Balances and Increase in Minimum Required Distribution	
	Income Taxpayers with Large Retirement Account Balances	0
	meome Taxpayers with Large Retrement Account Balances	······ <i>))</i>
H.	Other Provisions Relating to Individual Retirement Plans	
	1. Tax treatment of rollovers to Roth IRAs and accounts	
	2. Prohibition of IRA investments conditioned on account holder's stat	
	3. Statute of limitations with respect to IRA noncompliance	
	4. Prohibition of investment of IRA assets in entities in which the owned	
	substantial interest	
	5. IRA owners treated as disqualified persons for purposes of prohibited	
	transactions rules.	
I.	Funding the Internal Revenue Service and Improving Taxpayer Complian	nce122
	1. Funding of the Internal Revenue Service	
	2. Application of backup withholding with respect to third party network	:k
	transactions	
	3. Limitation on deduction for qualified conservation contributions made	de by pass-
	through entities	
	4. Modification of procedural requirements relating to assessment of pe	nalties134
J.	Other Provisions	
	1. Modifications to limitation on deduction of excessive employee rem	
	2. Extension of tax to fund the Black Lung Disability Trust Fund	
	3. Prohibited transactions relating to holding DISC or FSC in individua	
	account	
	4. Increase in tax on certain tobacco products, imposition of tax on nico	
	clarification of rules regarding tobacco drawback	
	5. Termination of employer credit for paid family and medical leave	
	 Clarification of treatment of DISC gains and distributions of certain t 	
	shareholders	_
	7. Access to self-employment income information for paid leave admin	istration 160

8.	Temporary rule to allow certain S corporations to reorganize as partnerships	
	without tax	161
9.	Treatment of certain qualified sound recording productions	165
10.	Payment to certain individuals who dye fuel	170
11.	Extension of credit for portion of employer social security taxes paid with	
	respect to employee tips to beauty service establishments	171
12.	Enhancement of work opportunity credit during COVID-19 recovery period	173
13.	Allowance of deduction for certain expenses of the trade or business of being	
	an employee	180
14.	Cover over of certain distilled spirits taxes	181
15.	Delay in requirement to amortize research and experimental expenditures	183
16.	Payroll credit for compensation of local news journalists	186
17.	Treatment of financial guaranty insurance companies as qualifying insurance	
	corporations under PFIC rules	189
18.	Credit for qualified access technology for the blind	193
19.	Modification of REIT constructive ownership rules	195
	-	

INTRODUCTION

The House Committee on Ways and Means has scheduled a committee markup of budget reconciliation legislative recommendations relating to infrastructure financing (subtitle F), green energy (subtitle G), the social safety net (subtitle H), responsibly funding our priorities (subtitle I), and prescription drug pricing (subtitle J). This document, ¹ prepared by the staff of the Joint Committee on Taxation, provides a description of the Chairman's Amendment in the nature of a substitute to the committee print relating to subtitles F, G, H, and J.

The Chairman's amendment in the nature of a substitute makes the following modifications:²

- Makes certain changes to the possessions economic activity credit (subtitle F, section 135701) described immediately below.
- Adds the provisions described in this document under a new subtitle I, Responsibly Funding our Priorities.

Section 135701 of subtitle F is amended by adding a defined subset of qualified domestic corporations as "qualified small domestic corporations" that may claim an enhanced possessions wage credit.

The enhanced credit is available to qualified small domestic corporations (including any foreign subsidiaries that are themselves qualified corporations) which have average annual gross receipts of no more than \$50 million in the three-year test period and no more than 30 employees group-wide, at least five of whom are full-time employees in a U.S. possession. For employers within these parameters, the possession wage credit is increased from 20 percent to 50 percent of eligible possessions wages and allocable fringe benefits for each employee. In addition, the maximum amount of wages taken into account for each such employee is increased from \$50,000 per employee to \$139,500 per employee. For purposes of determining eligibility for the enhanced credit, the gross receipts and number of employees of other persons who would be

¹ This document may be cited as follows: Joint Committee on Taxation, *Description of the Chairman's Amendment in the Nature of a Substitute to the Committee Print Relating to Infrastructure Financing (Subtitle F), Green Energy (Subtitle G), The Social Safety Net (Subtitle H), and Prescription Drug Pricing (Subtitle J)* (JCX-43-21), September 13, 2021. This document can also be found on the Joint Committee on Taxation website at <u>www.jct.gov</u>. All section references herein are to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (herein "Code"), unless otherwise stated.

² The Chairman's a mendment in the nature of a substitute also renumbers as section 136801 (Appropriations) a provision that was erroneously numbered as section 136701 in the committee print. For detail on the other subtitles contained in the Chairman's a mendment in the nature of a substitute, see Joint Committee on Taxation, Description of Subtitle F—Infrastructure Financing and Community Development: Budget Reconciliation Legislative Recommendations (JCX-36-21), September 11, 2021, Joint Committee on Taxation, Description of Subtitle G—Green Energy: Budget Reconciliation Legislative Recommendations (JCX-38-21), September 11, 2021, Joint Committee on Taxation, Description of Subtitle H—Social Safety Net: Budget Reconciliation Legislative Recommendations (JCX-39-21), September 11, 2021, Joint Committee on Taxation, Description of Subtitle J—Drug Pricing: Budget Reconciliation Legislative Recommendations (JCX-40-21), September 11, 2021. These documents be found on the Joint Committee on Taxation website at www.jct.gov.

considered related to the qualified small domestic corporation for purposes of section 52 are taken into account. These rules treat corporations, partnerships (and other noncorporate entities such as sole proprietorships) as a single employer and generally apply to entities linked through 50-percent-or-greater direct ownership interests. Foreign entities are included.³

³ Section 52(a) references section 1563(a) and section 52(b) applies using principles similar to the principles of section 52(a). For purposes of section 1563(a), the exclusions in 1563(b) are not relevant and thus both domestic and foreign entities are subject to aggregation under section 52.

A. Corporate Tax Rate

1. Increase in corporate tax rate

Present Law

In general

Corporate taxable income is generally subject to a tax rate of 21 percent.⁴ While no separate rate structure exists for corporate capital gains, a corporation may not deduct the amount of capital losses in excess of capital gains for any taxable year.

Dividends-received deduction

Corporations are allowed a deduction with respect to dividends received from other taxable domestic corporations.⁵ The amount of the deduction is generally equal to 50 percent of the dividend received.

In the case of any dividend received from a 20-percent owned corporation, the amount of the deduction is equal to 65 percent of the dividend received.⁶ The term "20-percent owned corporation" means any corporation if 20 percent or more of the stock of such corporation (by vote and value) is owned by the taxpayer. For this purpose, certain preferred stock is not taken into account.

In the case of a dividend received from a corporation that is a member of the same affiliated group, a corporation is generally allowed a deduction equal to 100 percent of the dividend received.⁷

Description of Proposal

Corporate tax rate

The proposal taxes corporate taxable income under a three-step graduated rate structure. The top corporate tax rate is 26.5 percent on taxable income in excess of \$5,000,000. The corporate taxable income brackets and tax rates are as set forth in the table below.

⁵ Sec. 243(a).

⁶ Sec. 243(c).

 7 Sec. 243(a)(3) and (b)(1). For this purpose, the term "a ffiliated group" generally has the meaning given such term by section 1504(a). Sec. 243(b)(2).

⁴ Sec. 11.

Taxable Income	Tax rate (percent)
Not over \$400,000	18
Over \$400,000 but not over \$5,000,000	21
Over \$5,000,000	26.5

An additional three-percent tax is imposed on a corporation's taxable income in excess of \$10,000,000. The maximum additional tax is \$287,000.

Certain personal service corporations⁸ pay tax on their entire taxable income at the rate of 26.5 percent.

In addition, for taxpayers subject to the normalization method of accounting (*e.g.*, regulated public utilities), the provision clarifies the normalization of the tax reserve deficit resulting from the change in the corporate income tax rate structure (with respect to prior depreciation or recovery allowances taken on assets placed in service as of the day before the corporate rate change takes effect).

The tax reserve deficit is the difference in the reserve for deferred taxes as of the day before the corporate rate change takes effect compared to what the reserve would have been if the corporate rate change had been in effect for all prior periods. If a tax reserve deficit is reduced less rapidly or to a lesser extent than such reserve would be reduced under the average rate assumption method, the taxpayer will not be treated as using a normalization method with respect to the corporate rate change. If the taxpayer does not use a normalization method of accounting for the corporate rate change, such taxpayer will not be treated as using a normalization method of accounting for purposes of section 168(f)(2) and (i)(9)(C).

The average rate assumption method reduces the tax reserve deficit over the remaining regulatory lives of the property that gave rise to the reserve for deferred taxes during the years in which the deferred tax reserve related to such property is reversing. Under this method, the tax reserve deficit is reduced as the timing differences (*i.e.*, differences between tax depreciation and regulatory depreciation with respect to the property) reverse over the remaining life of the asset. The reversal of timing differences generally occurs when the amount of the tax depreciation taken with respect to an asset is less than the amount of the regulatory depreciation taken with respect to the deferred tax reserve, including the tax reserve deficit, is reduced to zero at the end of the regulatory life of the asset that generated the reserve, the amount of the timing difference which reverses during a taxable year is multiplied by the ratio of (1) the aggregate deferred taxes as of the beginning of the period in question, to (2) the aggregate timing differences for the property as of the beginning of the period in question.

Instead of the average rate assumption method, a taxpayer may also use the alternative method as its normalization method if certain requirements are met. If, as of the first day of the

⁸ As defined in section 448(d)(2).

taxable year that includes the date of enactment, (i) the taxpayer was required by a regulatory agency to compute depreciation for public utility property on the basis of an average life or composite rate method, and (ii) the taxpayer's books and underlying records do not contain the vintage account data necessary to apply the average rate assumption method,⁹ the taxpayer is treated as using a normalization method of accounting if, with respect to such jurisdiction, the taxpayer uses the alternative method for public utility property that is subject to the regulatory authority for that jurisdiction.¹⁰ Under the alternative method, the taxpayer (i) computes the tax reserve deficit on all public utility property included in the plant account based on the weighted average life or composite rate used to compute depreciation for regulatory purposes, and (ii) reduces the tax reserve deficit ratably over the remaining regulatory life of the property.¹¹

The Secretary is directed to issue regulations or other guidance the Secretary determines is necessary or appropriate to carry out the normalization requirements, including regulations or other guidance to provide appropriate coordination between the proposal, section 13001(d) of Public Law 115-97, and section 203(e) of the Tax Reform Act of 1986.¹²

Dividends-received deduction

The proposal increases the 50 percent dividends-received deduction to 60 percent and the 65 percent dividends-received deduction to 72.5 percent.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

⁹ See, *e.g.*, in the case of corporate tax rate reductions, sec. 2.05 of Rev. Proc. 88-12, 1988-1 C.B. 637, and secs. 2.07 and 2.08 of Rev. Proc. 2020-39, 2020-361.R.B. 546.

 $^{^{10}}$ If a taxpayer is subject to the jurisdiction of more than one regulatory body, the taxpayer may use a single method, provided that the regulatory bodies agree. See sec. 4.01(5) of 2020-39, 2020-36 I.R.B. 546.

¹¹ See, *e.g.*, in the case of corporate tax rate reductions, sec 4 of Rev. Proc. 88-12, 1988-1 C.B. 637, and sec. 2.08 of Rev. Proc. 2020-39, 2020-36 I.R.B. 546.

¹² Pub. L. No. 99-514.

B. Limitations on Deduction for Interest Expense

1. Limitations on deduction for interest expense

Present Law

Limitation on deduction of business interest expense

Interest paid or accrued by a business generally is deductible in the computation of taxable income, subject to a number of limitations.¹³ In particular, the deduction for business interest expense¹⁴ is generally limited to the sum of (1) business interest income of the taxpayer for the taxable year, ¹⁵ (2) 30 percent of the adjusted taxable income¹⁶ of the taxpayer for the taxable year (not less than zero), and (3) the floor plan financing interest¹⁷ of the taxpayer for the

¹⁵ Business interest income means the amount of interest includible in the gross income of the taxpayer for the taxable year that is properly a llocable to a trade or business and does not include investment income (within the meaning of section 163(d)). Sec. 163(j)(6).

¹⁶ Adjusted taxable income means the taxable income of the taxpayer computed without regard to: (1) any item of income, gain, deduction, or loss that is not properly allocable to a trade or business; (2) any business interest or business interest income; (3) the amount of any net operating loss deduction; and (4) the amount of any deduction allowed under section 199A. Additionally, for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 and before January 1, 2022, adjusted taxable income is computed without regard to any deduction allowable for depreciation, amortization, or depletion. For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021, adjusted taxable income is computed with regard to deductions allowable for depreciation, or depletion. Sec. 163(j)(8)(A). Treasury regulations provide other adjustments to the definition of adjusted taxable income. Treas. Reg. sec. 1.163(j)-1(b)(1).

¹⁷ Floor plan financing interest means interest paid or a ccrued on floor plan financing indebtedness. Floor plan financing indebtedness means indebtedness used to finance the acquisition of motor vehicles held for sale or lease to retail customers and secured by the inventory so acquired. A motor vehicle means a motor vehicle that is: (1) any self-propelled vehicle designed for transporting person or property on a public street, highway, or road; (2) a boat; or (3) farm machinery or equipment. Sec. 163(j)(9).

¹³ Sec. 163(a). In addition to the limitations discussed herein, other limitations include: denial of the deduction for the disqualified portion of the original issue discount on an applicable high yield discount obligation (sec. 163(e)(5)), denial of deduction for interest on certain obligations not in registered form (sec. 163(f)), reduction of the deduction for interest on indebtedness with respect to which a mortgage credit certificate has been issued under section 25 (sec. 163(g)), disallowance of deduction for interest on debt with respect to certain life insurance contracts (sec. 264(a)), and disallowance of deduction for interest relating to tax-exempt income (sec. 265(a)(2)). Interest may also be subject to capitalization. See, *e.g.*, secs 263A(f) and 461(g).

¹⁴ Business interest means any interest paid or a ccrued on indebtedness properly allocable to a trade or business and does not include investment interest (within the meaning of section 163(d)). Sec. 163(j)(5). Section 163(j) applies only to business interest that would otherwise be deductible in the current taxable year, absent the application of section 163(j). Treas. Reg. sec. 1.163(j)-3(b)(1). Thus, section 163(j) applies a fter the application of provisions that subject interest to deferral, capitalization, or other limitation (*e.g.*, secs. 163(e)(3), 163(e)(5)(A)(ii), 246A, 263A, 263(g), 267, 1277, and 1282), but before application of sections 461(l), 465, and 469. See Treas. Reg. secs. 1.163(j)-3(b)(2)-(6).

taxable year.¹⁸ Thus, other than floor plan financing interest, business interest expense in excess of business interest income is generally deductible only to the extent of 30 percent of adjusted taxable income. The amount of any business interest expense not allowed as a deduction for any taxable year may be carried forward indefinitely.

The limitation generally applies at the taxpayer level (although special carryforward rules apply in the case of partnerships, described below). In the case of a group of affiliated corporations that file a consolidated return, the limitation applies at the consolidated tax return filing level.¹⁹

Carryforward of disallowed business interest

The amount of any business interest expense not allowed as a deduction for any taxable year is generally treated as business interest expense paid or accrued by the taxpayer in the succeeding taxable year. Such business interest expense may be carried forward indefinitely.²⁰

Application to passthrough entities

In general

In the case of a partnership, the business interest limitation is generally applied at the partnership level.²¹ Once business interest is determined to be deductible at the partnership level, the deduction is allocated to the partners and not tested again at the partner level. Disallowed business interest expense, or excess business interest expense ("EBIE"), is carried forward at the partner level, but is not allocated to the partner until the partnership can allocate to the partner taxable income that can support such business interest expense deduction, or excess taxable income ("ETI"), or until the partnership can allocate to the partner excess business interest income ("EBII").

A partner generally must perform its own section 163(j) calculation for business interest expense it incurs at the partner level. To prevent double counting, the business interest income and adjusted taxable income of each partner are generally determined without regard to such partner's distributive share of any items of income, gain, deduction, or loss of the partnership.²² However, in cases where the partnership has an excess amount of business interest income, an

 20 Sec. 163(j)(2). With respect to corporations, any carryforward of disallowed business interest of a corporation is an item taken into a count in the case of certain corporate acquisitions described in section 381 and is subject to limitation under section 382. Secs. 381(c)(20) and 382(d)(3).

¹⁸ These rules were modified for taxable years beginning in 2019 or 2020 to permit certain taxpayers to deduct more business interest than would be allowed under the rules described herein. See section 163(j)(10). The proposal is effective for tax years beginning a fter 2021.

¹⁹ See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.163(j)-4(d) (providing that a consolidated group has a single section 163(j) limitation and generally treating all members of the consolidated group as a single taxpayer for section 163(j) purposes).

²¹ Sec. 163(j)(4)(A)(i).

²² Sec. 163(j)(4)(A)(ii)(I); Treas. Reg. sec. 1.163(j)-6(e)(1).

excess amount of adjusted taxable income, or both, section 163(j) may allow for partnership items to support additional business interest expense deductions by the partnership's partners. Specifically, a partner's business interest deduction limitation is increased by the sum of the partner's distributive share of the partnership's EBII and 30 percent of the partner's distributive share of the partnership's ETI.²³

Similar rules apply with respect to any S corporation and its shareholders.²⁴

Carryforward rules for partnerships

Special rules for the carryforward of disallowed business interest expense apply only to partnerships and their partners.²⁵ Partnerships deduct BIE arising at the partnership level to the extent allowed by section 163(j). Unlike other taxpayers, however, partnerships do not treat BIE suspended under section 163(j) for a tax year as BIE paid or accrued by the partnership in the succeeding tax year. Instead, the disallowed amount creates a partner-level tax attribute, excess business interest expense ("EBIE"). The statute provides that a partnership's EBIE is allocated to each partner in the same manner as the partnership's non-separately stated taxable income or loss and that EBIE allocated to a partner may be deducted by that partner in succeeding tax years only to the extent the partner is allocated excess taxable income ("ETI") or excess business interest income ("EBII") from the same partnership and from the same activities of which gave rise to the disallowed business interest expense carryforward.²⁶ ETI is generally a partnership's ATI that is not used to support a partnership-level BIE deduction. EBII is generally a partnership's BII that is not used to support a partnership-level BIE deduction. Any amount that is not allowed as a deduction generally continues to be carried forward.

Thus, for example, a partner that is allocated EBIE in a particular year that also has ATI from other sources in that year is not able to deduct any of the EBIE to reduce its taxable income from other sources. Instead, the partner will be able to deduct the EBIE only if and when, in a subsequent year, the same partnership allocates the partner ETI.

Section 163(j) requires that a partner perform its own section 163(j) calculation for BIE it incurs. The statute provides that a partner generally computes its ATI without regard to the partner's distributive share of any items of income, gain, deduction, or loss from a partnership. A partner may, however, increase its ATI by the partner's distributive share of a partnership's ETI, which is allocated to each partner in the same manner as the partnership's non-separately stated taxable income or loss. More specifically, ETI must first be used by a partner to apply against any EBIE allocated by the same partnership and carried forward by the partner. Once all

²⁵ Sec. 163(j)(4)(B).

²³ Sec. 163(j)(4)(A)(ii)(II); Treas. Reg. sec. 1.163(j)-6(e)(1).

²⁴ Sec. 163(j)(4)(D).

²⁶ Sec. 163(j)(4)((B)(ii)(I); Treas. Reg. sec. 1.163(j)-6(g)(2). See also Joint Committee on Taxation, General Explanation of Public Law 115–97 (JCS–1–18), December 2018, pp. 175-178 (describing section 163(j)(4) as it was intended to work).

such EBIE has been treated as used by the partner as a result of the allocation of ETI, any additional ETI is taken into account by the partner in computing the partner's ATI.

All amounts of business interest expense, including EBIE, decrease the partner's basis in the partnership interest. When the partner disposes of a portion of or all of its partnership interest, special rules provide for add-back adjustments to a partner's basis in its partnership interest for EBIE that had previously decreased the partner's basis in the partnership interest.²⁷

These special carryforward rules do not apply to S corporations and their shareholders.²⁸

Exceptions

The business interest limitation does not apply to any taxpayer (other than a tax shelter prohibited from using the cash method under section 448(a)(3)) that meets the \$25 million gross receipts test of section 448(c).²⁹ Aggregation rules apply to determine the amount of a taxpayer's gross receipts under the gross receipts test of section 448(c).

The trade or business of performing services as an employee is not treated as a trade or business for purposes of the limitation.³⁰ As a result, for example, the wages of an employee are not counted in the adjusted taxable income of the taxpayer for purposes of determining the limitation.

At the taxpayer's election, any real property development, redevelopment, construction, reconstruction, acquisition, conversion, rental, operation, management, leasing, or brokerage trade or business (*i.e.*, any electing real property trade or business) is not treated as a trade or business for purposes of the limitation, and therefore the limitation does not apply to such trades or businesses.³¹ Similarly, at the taxpayer's election, any farming business or any business engaged in the trade or business of a specified agricultural or horticultural cooperative (collectively, any electing farming business) is not treated as a trade or business for purposes of the limitation does not apply to any such trade or business. ³² A taxpayer's election to be an electing real property trade or business or an electing farming business, once made, shall be irrevocable.³³

²⁸ Sec. 163(j)(4)(D).

 29 Sec. 163(j)(3). The \$25 million amount is indexed for inflation for taxable years beginning a fter 2018. For taxable years beginning in 2021, the limitation is \$26 million. See Rev. Proc. 2020-45, 2020-46 I.R.B. 1016.

- ³⁰ Sec. 163(j)(7)(A)(i).
- ³¹ Sec. 163(j)(7)(A)(ii) and (B).
- ³² Sec. 163(j)(7)(A)(iii) and (C).

 33 Secs. 163(j)(7)(B) and (C). In Rev. Proc. 2020-22, 2020-18 I.R.B. 1, the IRS provided guidance for making an election to be an electing real property trade or business or an electing farming business. The revenue procedure allows certain taxpayers to make a late election, or to withdraw an election, to be an electing real property

²⁷ See sec. 163(j)(4)(B).

The limitation does not apply to certain regulated public utilities. Specifically, the trade or business of the furnishing or sale of (1) electrical energy, water, or sewage disposal services, (2) gas or steam through a local distribution system, or (3) transportation of gas or steam by pipeline, if the rates for such furnishing or sale, as the case may be, have been established or approved by a State or political subdivision thereof, by any agency or instrumentality of the United States, by a public service or public utility commission or other similar body of any State or political subdivision thereof, or by the governing or ratemaking body of an electric cooperative is not treated as a trade or business for purposes of the limitation, and thus any interest paid or accrued on indebtedness properly allocable to such trades or businesses is not business interest.³⁴

Treasury regulations under section 385

Section 385 authorizes the Secretary to prescribe regulations to determine whether an interest in a corporation is debt or equity. In 2016, Treasury issued final regulations under section 385 setting out certain dispositive factors in the determination of whether an interest is debt or equity.³⁵ Certain of the factors finalized in 2016, primarily related to requirements that the instrument be documented as debt contemporaneous with its issuance, were removed by final regulation in 2019.³⁶ Based on the application of the remaining factors, which generally address corporate distribution fact patterns, a purported debt instrument issued to a related party may be recharacterized as equity, in which case, among other consequences, payments with respect to the instrument may not be characterized as payments of interest.

The rules generally apply to a "covered debt instrument" issued by a domestic corporation to a member of the issuer's "expanded group." Generally, a covered debt instrument is a debt instrument that is not a qualified dealer debt instrument³⁷ or an excluded statutory or regulatory debt instrument, ³⁸ and that is issued by a group member that is not one of certain

- ³⁴ Sec. 163(j)(7)(A)(iv).
- ³⁵ TD 9790, 81 Fed. Reg. 72858, October 26, 2016.
- ³⁶ TD 9880, 84 Fed. Reg. 59297, November 4, 2019.

trade or business or electing farming on an amended Federal incometax return, an amended Form 1065, or an administrative adjustment request under section 6227. In Rev. Proc. 2020-23, 2020-18 I.R.B. 1, the IRS provided guidance allowing certain partnerships to file an amended Form 1065, and to issue amended Schedules K-1, for taxable years beginning in 2018 and 2019. As a result, the IRS, for example, will allow certain partnerships to withdraw an election to be an electing real property trade or business made on a statement attached to a 2018 Form 1065 by filing an amended 2018 Form 1065.

 $^{^{37}}$ Generally, a qualified dealer debt instrument is a debt instrument that is issued to or acquired by a group member that is a dealer in securities in the ordinary course of the dealer's business, subject to certain requirements. See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.385-3(g)(3)(ii).

 $^{^{38}}$ Generally, an excluded statutory or regulatory debt instrument is a debt instrument that meets one of several definitions of specific types of debt instruments that receive special tax treatment under the Code or Treasury regulations. See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.385-3(g)(3)(iii).

types of regulated financial companies³⁹ or regulated insurance companies.⁴⁰ "Expanded group" is generally defined as a group of corporations (whether domestic or foreign) connected by chains of 80 percent ownership (by vote or value) to a common corporate parent.⁴¹

Generally, if a domestic corporation issues a covered debt instrument to a member of its expanded group as a distribution either on its stock (*e.g.*, a return of capital distribution under section 301(c)(2)) or in certain exchanges for stock of any member of the group, the regulations recharacterize the debt instrument as equity. Additionally, if the domestic corporation issues the debt instrument to a member of its group in exchange for money or other property and that money or other property funds either a distribution to a member of the group or certain acquisitions of group member stock or assets,⁴² the regulations may recharacterize the debt instrument as equity (the "funding rule"). Generally, a covered debt instrument is treated as funding a distribution or acquisition if it is issued at any time during the period beginning 36 months before the distribution or acquisition and ending 36 months after the distribution or acquisition.⁴³ The funding rule does not apply to certain short-term debt instruments.⁴⁴ Additionally, the amount of purported debt recharacterized as equity by the rules discussed above may be reduced if the issuing corporation has earnings and profits or receives additional equity investment.⁴⁵

Finally, if a corporation enters into a transaction with a principal purpose of avoiding application of the regulations, the regulations may recharacterize certain "interests" (presumably purported debt instruments between related parties) held by members of the corporation's expanded group as stock, depending on the facts and circumstances.⁴⁶

⁴⁰ See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.385-3(g)(3)(v).

⁴¹ More specifically, an expanded group is defined as one or more chains of corporations (other than S corporations) connected through stock ownership with a common parent corporation (other than an S corporation, a RIC, or a REIT) where (1) the parent owns, directly or indirectly, at least 80 percent, by vote or value, of one of the other corporations and (2) 80 percent by vote or value of the stock of each of the other corporations is owned directly or indirectly by one or more of the other corporations. See Treas. Reg. 1.385-1(c)(4).

⁴² See Treas. Reg. sec.1.385-3(b)(2), (b)(3)(i), and (c)(2).

⁴³ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.385-3(b)(3)(iii).

⁴⁴ See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.385-3(b)(3)(vii)(A) - (D).

- ⁴⁵ See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.385-3(c)(3)(i) and (ii).
- ⁴⁶ See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.385-3(b)(4).

³⁹ See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.385-3(g)(3)(iv).

Special rules provide for application of the regulations to controlled partnerships⁴⁷ and consolidated groups.⁴⁸

Description of Proposal

The proposal limits the amount of net interest expense (*i.e.*, interest expense in excess of interest income) deductible by a "specified domestic corporation," defined as a domestic corporation which is a member of a multinational group that prepares consolidated financial statements (an "international financial reporting group") and which has averaged business interest expense for the three-year reporting period ending with such reporting year of more than \$12M annually. For such specified domestic corporations, the deductible amount of interest is capped at the "allowable percentage" of 110 percent of its net interest expense reported on the group's financial statements. Domestic corporations that may be classified as specified domestic corporations include foreign corporations that are engaged in a U.S. trade or business.

The member's allowable percentage of the group's net interest expense for any reporting year is equal to the ratio of (a) the member's "allocable share" of the international financial reporting group's reported net interest expense over (b) such corporation's reported net interest expense. The member's allocable share of the international financial reporting group's reported net interest expense is equal to the ratio of (a) the member's financial statement earnings (computed by adding back net interest expense, taxes, depreciation, depletion, and amortization) "("EBITDA") to (b) the group's financial statement EBITDA.

The proposal's limitation would operate concurrently with the limitation applicable to partnerships under section 163(j)(4), and the amount of interest that may be deductible in any tax year would be determined by the more restrictive of the two limitations.

Any interest deduction that is disallowed as a result of the proposal is carried forward for up to five tax years after the tax year in which such interest was so paid or accrued.

The proposal gives the Secretary of the Treasury authority to address several issues, including coordination with section 163(j)(4) and ability to include or exclude any corporation as a member of any international financial reporting group.

The proposal modifies the rules with respect to business interest expense incurred by partnerships and S corporations. Under the proposal, the limitation with respect to business interest expense is applied at the partner level and at the S corporation shareholder level. Transition rules are provided.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

⁴⁷ See generally Treas. Reg. sec. 1.385-3(f).

⁴⁸ See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.385-4.

C. Outbound International Provisions

1. Modifications to deduction for foreign-derived intangible income and global intangible low-taxed income

Present Law

Deduction percentages for FDII and GILTI

Domestic corporations generally are taxed at preferential rates on their foreign-derived intangible income ("FDII") and their global intangible low-taxed income ("GILTI") by means of a deduction under section 250.

The preferential rate on FDII is achieved by allowing corporations a deduction equal to 37.5 percent of their FDII.⁴⁹ For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2025, the deduction for FDII is reduced to 21.875 percent.⁵⁰

The preferential rate on GILTI is achieved by allowing corporations a deduction equal to 50 percent of their GILTI (including the corresponding section 78 gross-up amount).⁵¹ For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2025, the deduction for GILTI is reduced to 37.5 percent.⁵²

Taxable income limitation

If the sum of a domestic corporation's FDII and GILTI exceeds its taxable income determined without regard to section 250, then the amount of FDII and GILTI (including the corresponding section 78 gross-up amount) for which a deduction is allowed is reduced (but not below zero) by an amount determined by such excess. The deduction under section 250 is not taken into account for purposes of determining a net operating loss ("NOL") of the taxpayer.⁵³

Description of Proposal

The proposal changes the percentages with respect to FDII and GILTI. The percentage for FDII is changed to 21.875 percent (from 37.5 percent) and the percentage for GILTI is

⁴⁹ Sec. 250(a)(1)(A).

⁵⁰ Sec. 250(a)(3)(A). In other words, for taxable years beginning before January 1, 2026, the effective U.S. tax rate (*i.e.*, taking into account the effect of the deduction) on FDII is 13.125 percent. For taxable years beginning a fter December 31, 2025, the effective U.S. tax rate on FDII is 16.406 percent.

⁵¹ Sec. 250(a)(1)(B). Under section 78, a taxpayer claiming the foreign tax credit with respect to foreign-source income generally must include in income the amount of the related foreign taxes paid.

⁵² Sec. 250(a)(3)(B). In other words, for taxable years beginning before January 1, 2026, the effective U.S. tax rate (*i.e.*, taking into account the effect of the deduction) on GILTI is 10.5 percent. For taxable years beginning a fter December 31, 2025, the effective U.S. tax rate on GILTI is 13.125 percent.

⁵³ Sec. 172(d)(9).

changed to 37.5 percent (from 50 percent). In other words, the proposal accelerates the changes that under current law are in effect for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2025.

The proposal repeals the taxable income limitation and allows for the deduction under section under section 250 to be taken into account for purposes of determining the NOL of the taxpayer.

Effective Date

The proposal generally is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

The proposal provides a transition rule for fiscal-year taxpayers. In the case of any taxable year which includes December 31, 2021 (other than a taxable year with respect to which such date is the last day of such taxable year) the percentage in effect for FDII is treated as being equal to the sum of (i) the pre-effective date percentage of 37.5 percent plus (ii) the post-effective date percentage of 21.875 percent, and the percentage in effect for GILTI (including the corresponding section 78 gross-up amount) is treated as being equal to the sum of (i) the pre-effective date percentage of 37.5 percent plus (ii) the pre-effective date percentage of 37.5 percent plus (ii) the pre-effective date percentage of 37.5 percent.

For purposes of the transition rule, with respect to any taxable year, the pre-effective date percentage means the ratio that the portion of such taxable year which precedes January 1, 2022, bears to the entire taxable year and the post-effective date percentage means the ratio that the remainder of such taxable year bears to the entire taxable year.

2. Repeal of election for one-month deferral in determination of taxable year of specified foreign corporations

Present Law

In general, controlled foreign corporations ("CFCs") and other specified foreign corporations are required to use as a taxable year the taxable year of their majority U.S. shareholder (the "majority U.S. shareholder year").⁵⁴ A CFC, however, may elect a taxable year beginning one month earlier than the majority U.S. shareholder year (a "one-month deferral year").

Description of Proposal

The proposal repeals the election for a one-month deferral year. Thus, a CFC using a one-month deferral year is required to change to use its majority U.S. shareholder year.

⁵⁴ Sec. 898(a) and (c).

Effective Date

The proposal applies to taxable years of specified foreign corporations which would (but for the amendments made by the proposal) begin after November 30, 2021.

A transition rule provides that a taxpayer's first taxable year beginning after November 30, 2021, ends at the same time as the first required year (within the meaning of section 898(c)(1)) ending after such date.

3. Modifications of foreign tax credit rules applicable to certain taxpayers receiving specific economic benefits

Present Law

To be a tax eligible for the foreign tax credit, a foreign levy must require a compulsory payment pursuant to the authority of a foreign country to levy taxes.⁵⁵ Neither a penalty, fine, interest, nor customs duty is a tax.

In certain cases, foreign countries may seek to charge a foreign company a fee or a royalty for a specific economic benefit bestowed on the company. Instead of doing so directly, however, the foreign country may try to disguise the charge as a tax, knowing that in many cases the foreign company (a "dual capacity" taxpayer)⁵⁶ may receive a foreign tax credit from its home country. A foreign country may do so by applying a higher rate or a different base with respect to certain taxpayers or activities. If a foreign levy requires a compulsory payment pursuant to the authority of a foreign country to levy taxes and requires such compulsory payment in exchange for a specific economic benefit, the levy is considered to have two distinct elements: a tax and a requirement of compulsory payment in exchange for such specific economic benefit.⁵⁷

In general, no foreign tax credit is allowable with respect to a foreign levy paid by a dual capacity taxpayer unless the taxpayer establishes, based on all the relevant facts and circumstances, that an amount paid is pursuant to the distinct element of the levy that is a tax.⁵⁸ Instead of the facts-and-circumstances method, however, a taxpayer may elect with respect to a foreign country a safe-harbor method, which determines by formula the distinct element of a foreign levy that is a tax.⁵⁹

In general, the safe-harbor method yields an amount that is approximately equal to the amount the dual capacity taxpayer would pay under the generally applicable foreign income tax

⁵⁹ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.901-2A(c)(3), (d), and (e).

⁵⁵ Sec. 901; Treas. Reg. sec. 1.901-2(a)(2)(i).

⁵⁶ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.901-2(a)(2)(ii)(A).

⁵⁷ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.901-2(a)(2)(i) and (ii)(B) (defining "specific economic benefit").

 $^{^{58}}$ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.901-2(a)(2)(i) and -2A(b) (describing the burden of proof for dual capacity taxpayers).

(if the taxpayer were not a dual capacity taxpayer), with any additional amounts paid pursuant to the foreign levy allowed as a deduction.⁶⁰ If the foreign country has no generally applicable income tax, however, then the safe-harbor method uses the U.S. corporate rate (if less than the rate of the foreign levy).⁶¹

Description of Proposal

The proposal generally codifies the regulatory safe-harbor method. With respect to a foreign levy of a country with no generally applicable income tax, no amount paid by a dual capacity taxpayer is allowable for purposes of the foreign tax credit.

In general, any amount paid or accrued by a dual capacity taxpayer to a foreign country or possession of the United States for any period is not considered a tax (A) if, for the period, such foreign country or possession does not impose a generally applicable income tax or (B) to the extent such amount exceeds the amount which would be paid or accrued by the dual capacity taxpayer under the generally applicable income tax imposed by such country or possession if the taxpayer were not a dual capacity taxpayer.

Nothing in the preceding paragraph is to be construed to imply the proper treatment of any amount not in excess of the amount determined under (B) above.

A dual capacity taxpayer, with respect to any foreign country or possession of the United States, is a person who is subject to a levy of such country or possession and receives (or will receive) directly or indirectly a specific economic benefit from the country or possession.

A generally applicable income tax is an income tax (or a series of income taxes) of a foreign country or possession of the United States which is generally imposed on citizens or residents that are not dual capacity taxpayers.

Effective Date

The proposal applies taxable years of foreign corporations beginning after December 31, 2021, and to taxable years of U.S. shareholders in which or with which such taxable years of foreign corporations end.

4. Modifications to foreign tax credit limitations

Present Law

Foreign tax credit

Subject to certain limitations, U.S. citizens, resident individuals, and domestic corporations are allowed a credit for foreign income taxes they pay directly. In addition, a domestic corporation is allowed a credit for foreign income taxes paid by a CFC with respect to

⁶⁰ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.901-2A(e)(1).

⁶¹ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.901-2A(e)(5).

income included by the corporation as subpart F income and GILTI; such taxes are deemed to have been paid by the domestic corporation for purposes of calculating the foreign tax credit.⁶²

The foreign tax credit generally is limited to a taxpayer's U.S. tax liability on its foreignsource taxable income. The limit is intended to ensure that the credit mitigates double taxation of foreign-source income without offsetting U.S. tax on U.S.-source income.⁶³ The limit is computed by multiplying a taxpayer's total pre-credit U.S. tax liability for the year by the ratio of the taxpayer's foreign-source taxable income for the year to the taxpayer's total taxable income for the year. If the total amount of foreign income taxes paid and deemed paid for the year exceeds the taxpayer's foreign tax credit limitation for the year, the taxpayer may (in certain cases) carry back the excess foreign taxes to the previous year or carry forward to one of the succeeding 10 years.⁶⁴ No carryback or carryover of excess foreign tax credits are allowed in the GILTI foreign tax credit limitation category.

Deemed paid taxes

For any subpart F income included in the gross income of a domestic corporation, the corporation is deemed to have paid foreign taxes equal to the aggregate foreign income taxes paid or accrued with respect to such income by the CFC.

For any GILTI included in the gross income of a domestic corporation, the corporation is deemed to have paid foreign taxes equal to 80 percent of the corporation's inclusion percentage multiplied by the aggregate foreign income taxes paid or accrued with respect to tested income (but not tested loss) by each CFC with respect to which the domestic corporation is a U.S. shareholder.⁶⁵

Allocation and apportionment of deductions

To determine its foreign tax credit limitation, a taxpayer must first determine its taxable income from foreign sources by allocating and apportioning deductions between U.S.-source gross income and foreign-source gross income in each limitation category. In general, deductions are allocated and apportioned to the gross income to which the deductions "definitely related."⁶⁶ In other words, allocations and apportionments are made based on the factual relationship of deductions to gross income. If a deduction is not definitely related to any gross income, the deduction must be apportioned ratably. Thus, subject to certain exceptions,

 65 Sec. 960(d)(1). The inclusion percentage means, with respect to any domestic corporation, the ratio of such corporation's GILTI divided by the aggregate amount of its pro rata share of the tested income (but not tested loss) of each CFC with respect to which it is a U.S. shareholder. Tested foreign income taxes do not include any foreign income tax paid or accrued by a CFC that is properly attributable to the CFC's tested loss (if any).

⁶⁶ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.861-8(b) and (c) and Temp. Treas. Reg. sec. 1.861-8T(c).

⁶² Secs. 901 and 960; see also secs. 1291(g) and 1293(f) (providing, in the PFIC context, coordination with foreign tax credit rules).

⁶³ Secs. 901 and 904.

⁶⁴ Sec. 904(c).

deductions for interest expense, stewardship expenses, and research and experimental expenses are apportioned based on certain ratios.⁶⁷ For example, interest expense is apportioned based on the ratio of the corporation's foreign or domestic (as applicable) assets to its worldwide assets.⁶⁸

Certain other special rules also apply for purposes of determining a taxpayer's foreign tax credit limitation. For example, in the context of a domestic corporation that is a U.S. shareholder of a specified 10-percent owned foreign corporation, such taxpayer must determine its foreign-source taxable income (and entire taxable income) by disregarding any dividend for which a dividends-received deduction under section 245A is taken, and any deductions properly allocable or apportioned to income (other than amounts includible under section 951(a)(1) or 951A(a)) with respect to stock of such foreign corporation, or the stock to the extent income with respect to the stock is other than amounts includible under section 951(a)(1) or 951A(a).⁶⁹

Limitation categories ("baskets")

The foreign tax credit limitation is applied separately to any amount includible in gross income under section 951A (GILTI), foreign branch income,⁷⁰ passive category income, and general category income.⁷¹ For this purpose, GILTI and foreign branch income include only income that is not passive category income. Passive category income includes passive income, such as portfolio interest and dividend income, and certain specified types of income.⁷² All other income is in the general category. Passive income is treated as general category income if earned by a qualifying financial services entity or if highly taxed (*i.e.*, if the foreign tax rate is determined to exceed the highest tax rate specified in section 1 or 11, as applicable).⁷³ Dividends (and subpart F inclusions), interest, rents, and royalties received by a U.S. shareholder from a CFC are assigned to the passive category to the extent the payments or inclusions are allocable to passive category income of the CFC.⁷⁴ Dividends received by a 10-percent

 71 Sec. 904(d); Treas. Reg. sec. 1.904-4(a). The foreign tax credit limitation is a lso applied separately to certain additional separate categories. See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.904-4(m).

⁶⁷ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.861-8 through Temp. Treas. Reg. sec. 1.861-14T and Treas. Reg. sec. 1.861-17 set forth detailed rules relating to the allocation and apportionment of expenses.

⁶⁸ Sec. 864(e)(2).

⁶⁹ Sec. 904(b)(4).

 $^{^{70}}$ Foreign branch income is defined for this purpose as "the business profits of [the U.S. taxpayer] which are attributable to 1 or more qualified business units (as defined in section 989(a)) in 1 or more foreign countries. For purposes of the preceding sentence, the amount of business profits a ttributable to a qualified business unit shall be determined under rules established by the Secretary." Sec. 904(d)(2)(J)(i).

⁷² Sec. 904(d)(2)(A)(i) and (B).

⁷³ Sec. 904(d)(2)(B).

⁷⁴ Sec. 904(d)(3).

corporate shareholder of a foreign corporation that is not a CFC are also categorized on a look-through basis.⁷⁵

Special rules apply to the allocation of income and losses from foreign and U.S. sources within each category of income.⁷⁶ Foreign losses from one category first offset foreign-source income from other categories. Any remaining overall foreign loss offsets U.S.-source income. The same principle applies to losses from U.S. sources. In subsequent years, any losses deducted against another category or source of income are recaptured. That is, an equal amount of income from the same category or source that generated a loss in a prior year is recharacterized as income from the other category may be fully recharacterized as income in another category, whereas only up to 50 percent of income from one source in any subsequent year may be recharacterized as income from the other source.

A taxpayer's ability to claim a foreign tax credit may be further limited by a matching rule that prevents the separation of creditable foreign taxes from the associated foreign income. Under this rule, a foreign tax generally is not taken into account for U.S. tax purposes, and thus no foreign tax credit is available with respect to that foreign tax, until the taxable year in which the related income is taken into account for U.S. tax purposes.⁷⁷

Other special rules

Foreign oil and gas taxes

Special rules set forth in section 907 apply with respect to foreign oil and gas taxes paid or accrued during a taxable year. In addition to the foreign tax credit limitations that apply to all foreign tax credits, a special limitation is placed on foreign oil and gas taxes.⁷⁸ Under this special limitation, amounts claimed as taxes paid on the amount of combined foreign oil and gas income are creditable in a given taxable year (if they otherwise so qualify) only to the extent that the amount of such taxes do not exceed the product of the highest U.S. tax rate on corporations (in the case of corporations) multiplied by such combined foreign oil and gas income for such taxable year. The amount of any such taxes paid or accrued (or deemed paid) in any taxable year in excess of the special limitation (*i.e.*, excess foreign taxes) may be carried back to the immediately preceding taxable year and carried forward 10 taxable years and credited, but not deducted, to the extent that the taxpayer otherwise has excess limitation with regard to combined foreign oil and gas income in a carryover year.⁷⁹

- ⁷⁶ Sec. 904(f) and (g).
- ⁷⁷ Sec. 909.
- ⁷⁸ Sec. 907(a).
- ⁷⁹ Sec. 907(f)(1).

⁷⁵ Sec. 904(d)(4).

Section 338 and foreign tax credits

Section 338(a) permits a unilateral election by a buyer corporation to treat a qualified stock purchase of a corporation as a deemed asset acquisition, whether or not the seller of the stock is a corporation (or an S corporation is the target). In such a case, the seller or sellers recognize gain or loss on the stock sale, and the target corporation recognizes gain or loss on the deemed asset sale. The target corporation generally has a fair market value basis in its assets following the transaction.

In certain circumstances, taxpayers can make an election under section 338(h)(10) to treat a qualifying purchase of 80 percent of the stock of a target corporation by a corporation from a corporation that is a member of an affiliated group (or a qualifying purchase of 80 percent of the stock of an S corporation by a corporation from S corporation shareholders) as a sale of the assets of the target corporation, rather than as a stock sale. The election must be made jointly by the buyer and seller of the stock and is due by the 15^{th} day of the ninth month beginning after the month in which the acquisition date occurs. An agreement for the purchase and sale of stock often may contain an agreement of the parties to make a section 338(h)(10) election.

Section 338(h)(16) generally provides that section 338 does not apply for purposes of determining the source or character of any item for purposes of the foreign tax credit rules in sections 901 through 909. Section 338(h)(16), however, only applies to certain qualified stock purchases of a target corporation and not to transactions that produce results similar to a qualified stock purchase for which a section 338 election is made.

Foreign tax redeterminations

Taxpayers are entitled to either deduct or claim a credit with respect to foreign income taxes. If such taxes are redetermined, taxpayers may change such election on a timely claim for refund or amended return.⁸⁰ Foreign taxes are deductible in the year in which the all-events test is met,⁸¹ while credits relate back to the date actually paid. A special exception to the limitations period for claiming refunds extends the period for filing a claim arising from foreign tax credits "actually paid or accrued" to ten years after the filing of the return for the taxable year, but not for claims arising from claims for deductions of foreign taxes.⁸² There is no analogous special exception with respect to a change in a foreign tax credit in the statute of limitations for

 $^{^{80}}$ Secs. 164 (authorizing a deduction for creditable foreign income taxes) and 275(a)(4) (providing no deduction permitted for taxes with respect to which a credit is claimed under section 901).

⁸¹ Dixie Pine Products Company v. Commissioner, 320U.S. 516 (1944) (holding that an a cerual-basis taxpayer could not simultaneously contest a liability and claim a deduction for unpaid taxes).

⁸² Sec. 6511(d)(3); see also *Trusted Media Brands v. United States*, 899 F. 3d 175 (2d Cir. 2018). The general rule in section 6511(a) requires that claims be filed within a three-year period following the due date (or actual filing date if later) of the original return. Additional special rules are provided for claiming refunds arising from a djustments to other business credits or net operating losses. Section 6511(b) further limits refunds to taxes paid within the two years preceding the claim.

assessment of additional tax.⁸³ Instead, taxpayers are required to notify the IRS of adjustments to foreign taxes for which a credit or deduction was claimed. Such adjustments include instances in which accrued taxes when paid differ from the amounts claimed as credits by the taxpayer, accrued taxes are not paid before the date two years after the close of the taxable year to which such taxes relate, or any tax paid is refunded in whole or in part. The Secretary is then required to redetermine the amount of the tax for the year or years affected.⁸⁴ The interaction of the limitations on changes to foreign tax credit claims, special rules for net operating losses and other business credits is presently under reconsideration by the Secretary.⁸⁵

Description of Proposal

Country-by-country application of section 904 foreign tax credit limitations

In general

The proposal applies the foreign tax credit limitation rules, including the rules relating to foreign oil and gas taxes and deemed paid credits, on a country-by-country basis, thereby preventing taxpayers from using excess foreign taxes paid to high-tax countries to reduce their U.S. tax liability on income earned in low-tax countries. The proposal provides that such provisions each be applied separately with respect to each country⁸⁶ by taking into account the aggregate income properly attributable or otherwise allocable to a taxable unit⁸⁷ of the taxpayer that is a tax resident of such country. For these purposes, each item is attributable or otherwise allocable to one, and only one, taxable unit of the taxpayer.⁸⁸

The proposal identifies the taxable units of a taxpayer as (i) each CFC with respect to which the taxpayer is a U.S. shareholder; (ii) each interest held (directly or indirectly) by the taxpayer, or any CFC with respect to which the taxpayer is a U.S. shareholder, in a pass-through

⁸⁴ Sec. 905(c)(1).

⁸⁵ Rev. Rul. 2020-08, in which Rev. Rul. 71-533 is suspended and Rev. Rul. 68-150 is suspended in part.

⁸⁶ For these purposes, any fiscally autonomous jurisdiction and each possession of the United States is treated as a separate country. For this purpose, possession of the United States means American Samoa, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, Guam, and the Virgin Islands.

 87 The taxable unit standard is intended to serve as a proxy for determining the type of entity or level of a ctivities subject to tax under the tax law of a particular foreign jurisdiction, whether that be as a result of tax residence or a taxable presence.

⁸⁸ Further guidance may be necessary to address situations in which the same item of income may be attributable to more than one taxable unit in a tier of taxable units. This may occur, for example, in situations in which a CFC operates a branch in a country other than the country in which the CFC is a tax resident and income earned by the branch is reflected on the books of both the CFC and the branch. Such item is expected to be treated for these purposes as properly attributable to the branch (*i.e.*, the lowest tier).

 $^{^{83}}$ See section 6501 generally. In contrast, special provisions therein permit additional periods for assessment of deficiencies resulting from net operating loss or capital loss carrybacks (section 6501(h)) or changes in elections of and deficiencies attributable to certain credits (section 6501(m)).

entity⁸⁹ if such pass-through entity is a tax resident of a country other than the country with respect to which such taxpayer or CFC (as the case may be) is a tax resident; (iii) each branch⁹⁰ (or portion thereof) the activities of which are directly or indirectly carried on by the taxpayer, or any CFC with respect to which the taxpayer is a U.S. shareholder, and which give rise to a taxable presence in a country other than the country in which the taxpayer or any such CFC (as the case may be) is a tax resident; and (iv) the person that is the taxpayer and not otherwise described in (i), (ii), or (iii).⁹¹ For these purposes, tax resident means a person or arrangement subject to tax under the tax law of a country as a resident, or a person or arrangement that gives rise to a taxable presence by reason of its activities in such country. If an entity is organized under the law of a country or resident in a country that does not impose an income tax with respect to such entity, such entity is treated as subject to tax under the laws of such country.

The proposal provides the Secretary with the authority to issue regulations or other guidance as may be necessary or appropriate to carry out, or prevent avoidance of, the purposes of the proposal, including regulations or other guidance (i) providing for the application of proposal to entities, arrangements, and branches that are otherwise considered a resident of more than one country or no country; (ii) providing for the application of the proposal to hybrid entities or hybrid transactions (as such terms are used for purposes of section 267A), pass-through entities, passive foreign investment companies, trusts and other entities or arrangements not otherwise described in this subsection; and (iii) providing for the assignment of any item (including foreign income taxes and deductions) to taxable units, including in the case of amounts not otherwise taken into account in determining taxable income.

Application of recapture of overall foreign loss

The proposal applies the separate limitation loss rules on a country-by-country basis, modifying the definition of income category to mean each separate category of income described for purposes of the foreign tax credit limitation applied separately with respect to each relevant country in which the taxpayer has a taxable unit.

Application of separate limitation losses with respect to GILTI

The proposal provides a special separate limitation loss rule with respect to income in the GILTI foreign tax credit limitation category. Pursuant to the proposal, the amount of the separate limitation losses for any taxable year reduce income in the GILTI basket for such year

⁸⁹ A pass-through entity includes any partnership or other entity or a rrangement to the extent that income, gain, deduction, or loss of the entity or a rrangement is taken into a ccount in determining the income or loss of a person that owns (directly or indirectly) an interest in such entity or a rrangement.

⁹⁰ A branch is defined as a taxable presence of a tax resident in a country other than its country of residence as determined under such other country's tax law or as otherwise provided by the Secretary to activities in a country that does not subject income to tax on the basis of residence or taxable presence.

⁹¹ Therefore, the general taxable unit is similar to a residual taxable unit, one that is a tax resident of a country not otherwise described in the other clauses. For example, foreign source royalty income earned, and corresponding withholding tax incurred on such income, by the U.S. tax payer from intangible property held in the United States is properly attributable to this general taxable unit.

only to the extent the aggregate amount of such losses exceeds the aggregate amount of the separate limitation incomes (not including income in the GILTI basket) for such taxable year.

Repeal of separate application to foreign branch income

The proposal repeals the foreign branch income basket, thereby reducing the number of foreign tax credit limitation categories from four to three. Several conforming amendments are made to account for the elimination of the concept of foreign branch income, including coordination with the deduction for foreign-derived intangible income. The Secretary is granted the authority to prescribe transition rules relating to the carry forward of excess taxes attributable to foreign branch income from a taxable year before its repeal.

Modification of foreign tax credit carryback and carryforward

The proposal repeals the carry back of excess taxes paid or accrued to foreign countries or possessions of the United States for any taxable year and limits the carry forward of such excess foreign taxes to any of the first five succeeding taxable years. A similar change is made with respect to excess foreign oil and gas taxes paid or accrued during any taxable year subject to the special limitation provision relating to such taxes. A conforming amendment is made to section 6511(d)(3) with respect to the special period of limitation on a credit or refund claim relating to an overpayment attributable to foreign taxes paid or accrued. The proposal also extends application of the foreign tax credit carry forward rules to excess foreign taxes in the section 951A foreign tax credit limitation category.

Treatment of certain tax-exempt dividends

The proposal repeals the provision requiring that, for purposes of the foreign tax credit limitation, a domestic corporation that is a U.S. shareholder of a specified 10-percent owned foreign corporation must determine its foreign-source taxable income (and entire taxable income) by disregarding any dividend for which a dividends-received deduction under section 245A is taken, and any deductions properly allocable or apportioned to income (other than amounts includible under section 951(a)(1) or 951A(a)) with respect to stock of such foreign corporation, or the stock to the extent income with respect to the stock is other than amounts includible under section 951(a)(1) or 951A(a).

Rules for allocation of certain deductions to certain foreign source income

Under the proposal, for purposes of determining a domestic corporation's foreign tax credit limitation with respect to GILTI, such taxpayer's taxable income from sources without the United States is determined by allocating any deduction allowed under section 250 to such income and by treating any expense of such domestic corporation as not allocable to such income. In other words, under the proposal, deductions for interest expense, stewardship expenses, and research and experimental expenses do not affect the taxpayer's foreign tax credit limitation with respect to GILTI.

Treatment of certain asset dispositions

The proposal extends the principles of section 338(h)(16) to transactions that produce results similar to a qualified stock purchase for which a section 338 election is made, which may include a sale of an interest in an entity that is treated as a corporation for foreign tax purposes but as a partnership or a disregarded entity for U.S. tax purposes, or a taxable change in the classification of an entity for U.S. tax purposes that is not recognized for foreign tax purposes. Pursuant to the proposal, the principles of section 338(h)(16) apply in determining the source and character of any item recognized in connection with a "covered asset disposition" for purposes of applying the foreign tax credit rules. A covered asset disposition means any transaction which is treated as a disposition of assets for U.S. tax purposes but is treated as a disposition of stock of a corporation (or is disregarded) for purposes of the tax laws of the relevant foreign country or possession of the United States. The proposal also grants authority to the Secretary to issue regulations or other guidance as may be necessary or appropriate to carry out, or prevent the avoidance of, the purposes of the proposal.

Redetermination of foreign taxes and related claims

The proposal establishes the period in which elections to either claim a credit or a deduction with respect to foreign taxes under section 901. Absent a consent to extend the time within which an assessment may be made by the IRS with respect to a taxable year, the election to claim a credit is limited by the special limitations period for refunds, and the time to elect to deduct foreign taxes is limited by the general period for seeking a refund. In addition, such changes to the election to claim a credit or deduct foreign taxes, as well as any change in the amount or treatment of foreign taxes which affect a taxpayer's U.S. tax liability, are added to the list of adjustments within the scope of section 905(c) authorizing the IRS to redetermine taxes. The scope and effect of these additions are intended to parallel proposed regulatory changes.⁹² For this purpose, changes in treatment of foreign taxes may include changes that are not the result of determinations by a foreign jurisdiction, such as voluntary elections or changes to elections that result in inconsistent treatment. Finally, the proposal clarifies that special limitations period for filing a claim for refund with respect to foreign tax credits is limited to refunds arising by reason of changes in the foreign tax liability and is shortened to from ten to five years.

Effective Date

The proposal generally is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021, except that with respect to the modifications to the foreign tax credit carryback and carryforward, the proposal applies to taxes paid or accrued in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021, and with respect to the modifications relating to the redetermination of foreign taxes, the proposal is effective 60 days after the date of enactment.

⁹² Prop. Treas. Reg. sec. 1.905-3(c), REG-101657-20, 85 Fed. R. 72028 (November 12, 2020).

5. Foreign oil and gas extraction income and foreign oil related income to include income with respect to minerals from oil shale and tar sands

Present Law

Special foreign tax credit limitation for foreign oil and gas taxes

For purposes of calculating the foreign tax credit allowable, a special limitation applies to certain foreign taxes related to foreign oil and gas income.⁹³ In general, for a corporation applying the foreign tax credit limitation, the amount of any foreign oil and gas taxes paid or accrued (or deemed to have been paid) during the taxable year that is limited to the amount of the taxpayer's combined foreign oil and gas income for the taxable year multiplied by the corporate tax rate (*i.e.*, 21 percent).

Combined foreign oil and gas income with respect to any taxable year is the sum of foreign oil and gas extraction income ("FOGEI") and foreign oil related income ("FORI").⁹⁴ Foreign oil and gas taxes generally are any income taxes paid or accrued (or deemed paid or accrued) during the taxable year with respect to FOGEI or FORI.⁹⁵

FOGEI includes taxable income derived from sources without the United States and its possessions from the extraction (by the taxpayer or any other person) of minerals from oil or gas wells.⁹⁶ FORI includes taxable income derived from sources outside the United States and its possessions from (A) the processing of minerals extracted (by the taxpayer or by any other person) from oil or gas wells into their primary products, (B) the transportation of such minerals or primary products, and (C) the distribution or sale of such minerals or primary products.⁹⁷

Exclusion of FOGEI and inclusion of FORI under GILTI

In general, FORI is tested income for purposes of GILTI.⁹⁸ FOGEI, however, is expressly excluded from tested income.⁹⁹

- ⁹⁵ Sec. 907(b)(2) and (c)(5).
- ⁹⁶ Sec. 907(c)(1).
- ⁹⁷ Sec. 907(c)(2).
- ⁹⁸ Sec. 951A(c).
- 99 Sec. 951A(c)(2)(A)(i)(V). Section 138126(e) of the bill repeals this exclusion.

⁹³ Sec. 907(a).

⁹⁴ Sec. 907(b)(1).

Description of Proposal

The proposal amends the definitions of FOGEI and FORI, such that oil and gas wells include oil shale and tar sands.

Effective Date

The proposal applies to taxable years of foreign corporations beginning after December 31, 2021, and to taxable years of U.S. shareholders in which or with which such taxable years of foreign corporations end.

6. Modifications to inclusion of global intangible low-taxed income

Present Law

Global intangible low-taxed income

A U.S. shareholder of a controlled foreign corporation ("CFC")¹⁰⁰ must include in gross income its GILTI.¹⁰¹ GILTI is the excess of the shareholder's net CFC tested income over the shareholder's net deemed tangible income return.¹⁰² The shareholder's net deemed tangible income return equals the excess of 10 percent of the aggregate of its *pro rata* share of the qualified business asset investment ("QBAI") of each CFC over certain interest expense.¹⁰³

The formula for GILTI is:

 $GILTI = Net \ CFC \ Tested \ Income - [(10\% \times QBAI) - Interest \ Expense]$

¹⁰⁰ U.S. shareholders are U.S. persons that own at least 10 percent (measured by vote or value) of the stock of a foreign corporation. A CFC generally is any foreign corporation in which U.S. shareholders own (directly, indirectly, or constructively) more than 50 percent of the corporation's stock (measured by vote or value). See secs. 951(b), 957, and 958.

 $^{^{101}}$ See also sec. 951A(f)(1) (treating any GILTI inclusion in the same manner as subpart F income under section 951(a)(1)(A) for purposes of a pplying sections 168(h)(2)(B), 535(b)(10), 851(b), 904(h)(1), 959, 961, 962, 993(a)(1)(E), 996(f)(1), 1248(b)(1), 1248(d)(1), 6501(e)(1)(C), 6654(d)(2)(D), and 6655(e)(4)) and (2) (providing rules relating to the allocation of GILTI inclusions to CFCs).

¹⁰² Sec. 951A(b)(1).

 $^{^{103}}$ The interest expense that reduces a U.S. shareholder's net deemed tangible income return is that which is taken into account in determining its net CFC tested income for the taxable year to the extent that the interest income attributable to such interest expense is not taken into account in determining the shareholder's net CFC tested income. Sec. 951A(b)(2)(B).

Net CFC tested income

Net CFC tested income means the excess of the aggregate of the shareholder's *pro rata* share of the tested income of each CFC over the aggregate of its *pro rata* share of the tested loss of each CFC.¹⁰⁴ In other words, GILTI is calculated on a worldwide basis.

The tested income of a CFC is the excess of the gross income of the CFC determined without regard to certain amounts that are excluded from tested income (referred to in this document as "gross tested income") over deductions (including taxes) properly allocable to such gross tested income.¹⁰⁵ The exclusions from gross tested income are: (1) any effectively connected income described in section 952(b); (2) any gross income taken into account in determining the CFC's subpart F income;¹⁰⁶ (3) any gross income excluded from foreign base company income or insurance income by reason of the high-tax exception under section 954(b)(4);¹⁰⁷ (4) any dividend received from a related person (as defined in section 954(d)(3)); and (5) any foreign oil and gas extraction income (as defined in section 907(c)(1)).¹⁰⁸

The tested loss of a CFC means the excess of deductions (including taxes) properly allocable to the CFC's gross tested income over the amount of such gross tested income.¹⁰⁹

Qualified business asset investment

QBAI means, with respect to any CFC for a taxable year, the average of the aggregate of the CFC's adjusted bases in specified tangible property that is both used in its trade or business and of a type with respect to which a deduction is generally allowable under section 167.¹¹⁰

 107 In general, subpart F income excludes any item of income if the taxpayer establishes that the income was subject to an effective foreign income tax rate greater than 90 percent of the maximum U.S. corporate income tax rate (currently 21 percent). See sec. 954(b)(4).

 108 Section 951 A does not, however, exclude from gross tested income any foreign oil related income (as defined in section 907(c)(2)).

¹⁰⁴ Sec. 951A(c)(1). *Pro rata* shares are determined under subpart F principles (*i.e.*, the rules of section 951(a)(2) and the regulations thereunder). See sec. 951A(e).

¹⁰⁵ Sec. 951A(c)(2)(A).

 $^{^{106}}$ Earnings of a CFC may constitute income to U.S. shareholders under the traditional anti-deferral regime of subpart F of the Code, which applies to certain passive income and certain other related-party income that is readily movable from one jurisdiction to another. Subpart F income is taxed at full rates with related foreign income taxes generally eligible for the foreign tax credit.

¹⁰⁹ Sec. 951A(c)(2)(B).

¹¹⁰ Sec. 951A(d)(1).

Specified tangible property means any tangible property used in the production of tested income.¹¹¹ In the case of property used both in the production of tested income and income which is not tested income, such property shall be treated as specified tangible property in the same proportion that the gross tested income produced with respect to such property bears to the total gross income produced with respect to such property.

Description of Proposal

Country-by-country application of section 951A based on CFC taxable units

The proposal applies section 951A on a country-by-country basis, incorporating a CFC taxable unit concept (based on the taxable unit standard adopted for purposes of applying the foreign tax credit limitation provisions) as the mechanism for identifying each relevant country with respect to which a CFC is subject to tax or in which a CFC has a taxable presence. For these purposes, the term "CFC taxable unit" means, with respect to any CFC with respect to which the taxpayer is a U.S. shareholder, (i) the controlled foreign corporation itself, (ii) each interest held (directly or indirectly) by the CFC in a pass-through entity¹¹² if such pass-through entity is a tax resident of a country other than the country with respect to which are directly or indirectly or portion thereof) the activities of which are directly or indirectly carried on by the CFC and which give rise to a taxable presence in a country other than the country in which such CFC is a tax resident. The terms used for purposes of applying section 951A on a country-by-country basis have the same meaning when used for purposes of applying the foreign tax credit limitation rules on a country-by-country basis (*e.g.*, tax resident¹¹⁴).¹¹⁵

The proposal provides that if a CFC taxable unit of a U.S. shareholder is a tax resident of a country that is different from the country with respect to which at least one other CFC taxable unit of such U.S. shareholder is a tax resident, then such shareholder's GILTI equals the sum of

¹¹¹ Sec. 951A(d)(2). Specified tangible property does not include property used in the production of tested loss; thus, a CFC with a tested loss in a taxable year does not have QBAI for such taxable year.

¹¹² A pass-through entity includes any partnership or other entity or a rrangement to the extent that income, gain, deduction, or loss of the entity or a rrangement is taken into a ccount in determining the income or loss of a person that owns (directly or indirectly) an interest in such entity or a rrangement.

¹¹³ A branch is defined as a taxable presence of a tax resident in a country other than its country of residence as determined under such other country's tax law or as otherwise provided by the Secretary to activities in a country that does not subject income to tax on the basis of residence or taxable presence.

¹¹⁴ For these purposes, tax resident means a person or a rangement subject to tax under the tax law of a country as a resident, or a person or a rrangement that gives rise to a taxable presence by reason of its activities in such country. If an entity is organized under the law of a country, or resident in a country, that does not impose an income tax with respect to such entity, such entity is treated as subject to tax under the tax law of such country. In addition, any fiscally autonomous jurisdiction and each possession of the United States is treated as a separate country. For this purpose, possession of the United States means American Samoa, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, Guam, and the Virgin Islands.

¹¹⁵ See section 138124 of the bill for a description of the provision applying the foreign tax credit limitation rules on a country-by-country basis.

the amounts of GILTI determined separately with respect to each country with respect to which any CFC taxable unit of such shareholder is a tax resident. For purposes of determining such separate amounts, the proposal applies section 951A(b), (c), and (d) on a country-by-country basis by treating any reference in those provisions to a CFC of such shareholder to a CFC taxable unit of such shareholder. In addition, the proposal provides that net CFC tested income, net deemed tangible income return, QBAI, interest expense described in section 951A(b)(2)(B), and such other items and amounts as the Secretary may provide, must be determined separately with respect to each such country by determining such amounts with respect to each CFC taxable unit of such shareholder which is a tax resident of such country. Rules similar to those applicable for purposes of applying the foreign tax credit limitation provisions on a country-by-country basis also apply for purposes of applying section 951A on a country-by-country basis.

The proposal also provides that, except as otherwise provided by the Secretary, the rules relating to the allocation of GILTI to CFCs set forth in section 951A(f)(2) must be applied separately with respect to each CFC taxable unit.

The proposal moves the grant of regulatory authority under section 951A(d)(4) to new section 951A(g) to clarify that such authority is not limited to section 951A(d). The proposal expands that grant of authority to account for the country-by-country application of section 951A based on CFC taxable units.

Carryover of net CFC tested loss

The proposal provides that, if, after determining the net CFC tested income of a U.S. shareholder in a particular country for any taxable year, such U.S. shareholder has a net CFC tested loss, such net CFC tested loss of the U.S. shareholder carries over to, and is treated as a tested loss in, the next succeeding taxable year with respect to such country. Proper adjustments must be made in allocating the total amount of GILTI included by such U.S. shareholder to take into account any decrease in GILTI by reason of the net CFC tested loss carryover. The proposal also provides for coordination with the country-by-country application of section 951A.

Reduction in net deemed tangible income return for purposes of determining GILTI

The proposal generally reduces the deemed rate of return on the aggregate of a U.S. shareholder's pro rata share of the QBAI of each of its CFC taxable units in a country from 10 percent to five percent for purposes of determining the U.S. shareholder's net deemed tangible income return. A special rule applies to specified tangible properly located in a possession of the United States, which retains the 10 percent deemed rate of return on the aggregate amount of such property in such possession.

Inclusion of foreign oil and gas extraction income in determining tested income and loss

The proposal repeals the exclusion from gross tested income for foreign oil and gas extraction income (as defined in section 907(c)(1)). As a result, foreign oil and gas extraction income must be taken into account in determining tested income and tested loss.

Coordination with other provisions

The proposal clarifies that references to section 951 or section 951(a) in sections 959, 961, 962, and such other sections as the Secretary may identify shall include references to section 951A or 951A(a), respectively.

Effective Date

The proposal generally applies to taxable years of foreign corporations beginning after December 31, 2021, and to taxable years of U.S. shareholders in which or with which such taxable years of foreign corporations end. The proposal clarifying the coordination of section 951A with other provisions applies to taxable years of foreign corporations beginning after December 31, 2017, and to taxable years of U.S. shareholders in which or with which such taxable years of foreign corporations end.

7. Modifications to determination of deemed paid credit for taxes properly attributable to tested income

Present Law

Subject to certain limitations, U.S. citizens, resident individuals, and domestic corporations are allowed a credit for foreign income taxes they pay. In addition, a domestic corporation is allowed a credit for foreign income taxes paid by a CFC with respect to income included by the corporation as subpart F income and GILTI; such taxes are deemed to have been paid by the domestic corporation for purposes of calculating the foreign tax credit.¹¹⁶

The foreign tax credit generally is limited to a taxpayer's U.S. tax liability on its foreignsource taxable income. The limit is intended to ensure that the credit mitigates double taxation of foreign-source income without offsetting U.S. tax on U.S.-source income.¹¹⁷ The limit is computed by multiplying a taxpayer's total pre-credit U.S. tax liability for the year by the ratio of the taxpayer's foreign-source taxable income for the year to the taxpayer's total taxable income for the year. If the total amount of foreign income taxes paid and deemed paid for the year exceeds the taxpayer's foreign tax credit limitation for the year, the taxpayer may (in certain cases) carry back the excess foreign taxes to the previous year or carry forward to one of the succeeding 10 years.¹¹⁸ No carryback or carryover of excess foreign tax credits are allowed in the GILTI foreign tax credit limitation category.

¹¹⁶ Secs. 901 and 960; see also secs. 1291(g) and 1293(f) (providing, in the PFIC context, coordination with foreign tax credit rules).

¹¹⁷ Secs. 901 and 904.

¹¹⁸ Sec. 904(c).

Deemed-paid taxes

For any subpart F income included in the gross income of a domestic corporation, the corporation is deemed to have paid foreign taxes equal to the aggregate foreign income taxes paid or accrued with respect to such income by the CFC.

For any GILTI included in the gross income of a domestic corporation, the corporation is deemed to have paid foreign taxes equal to 80 percent (the "20-percent haircut") of the corporation's inclusion percentage multiplied by the aggregate foreign income taxes paid or accrued with respect to tested income (but not tested loss) by each CFC with respect to which the domestic corporation is a U.S. shareholder.¹¹⁹

The inclusion percentage means, with respect to any domestic corporation, the ratio of such corporation's GILTI divided by the aggregate amount of its pro rata share of the tested income (but not tested loss) of each CFC with respect to which it is a U.S. shareholder. Tested foreign income taxes do not include any foreign income tax paid or accrued by a CFC that is properly attributable to the CFC's tested loss (if any).¹²⁰

Description of Proposal

The proposal replaces, in section 960(d)(1), "80 percent" with "95 percent (100 percent in the case of tested foreign income taxes paid or accrued to a possession of the United States)." In other words, the proposal generally replaces the 20-percent haircut with a five-percent haircut.

The proposal expands the definition of tested foreign income taxes to include foreign income taxes that are properly attributable to amounts taken into account in determining tested income or tested loss under section 951A.

In addition, the proposal grants the Secretary the authority to expand the definition of tested foreign income taxes to include foreign income taxes paid or accrued by a foreign corporation (other than such CFC) which owns, directly or indirectly, 80 percent or more (by vote or value) of the stock in such domestic corporation but only if (i) such foreign income taxes are properly attributable to amounts of such controlled foreign corporation taken into account in determining tested income or tested loss under section 951A and (ii) no credit is allowed, in whole or in part, for such foreign taxes in any foreign jurisdiction.

Effective Date

The proposal applies to taxable years of foreign corporations beginning after December 31, 2021, and to taxable years of U.S. shareholders in which or with which such taxable years of foreign corporations end.

¹¹⁹ Sec. 960(d)(1).

¹²⁰ Sec. 960(d)(3).

8. Deduction for foreign-source portion of dividends limited to CFCs

Present Law

In the case of any dividend received from a specified 10-percent owned foreign corporation by a domestic corporation which is a U.S. shareholder with respect to the foreign corporation, a deduction is allowed equal to the foreign-source portion of the dividend.¹²¹

In general, a specified 10-percent owned foreign corporation is any foreign corporation with respect to which any domestic corporation is a U.S. shareholder.¹²²

For purposes of determining when a person is a U.S. shareholder, section 958 applies the constructive ownership rules of section 318(a), with a few modifications. Section 318(a)(3) provides rules for when a corporation, partnership, trust, or estate is considered to own stock owned by a shareholder, partner, or beneficiary (so-called "downward attribution"). For example, under section 318(a)(3)(C), a corporation is considered as owning stock owned, directly or indirectly, by or for any shareholder that owns 50 percent or more of the corporation. Before the repeal of section 958(b)(4), stock owned by a foreign person was not attributed downward to a U.S. person.¹²³ As a result, a wholly owned domestic subsidiary of a foreign parent. Since the repeal of section 958(b)(4), attribution of certain stock of a foreign corporation owned by a foreign person to a related U.S. person is required for purposes of determining whether the U.S. person is a U.S. shareholder of the foreign corporation and, therefore, whether the foreign corporation is a CFC.

Description of Proposal

First, the proposal limits the deduction under section 245A to dividends received from a CFC.

Second, the proposal allows all U.S. shareholders of a foreign corporation which is not a CFC to elect, along with the foreign corporation, to treat the foreign corporation as a CFC (but not for purposes of new section 951B (described below) or for any other purpose determined by the Secretary). The election is binding on the current U.S. shareholders and all future U.S. shareholders of the foreign corporation. The election is revocable only with consent of the Secretary.

Third, the proposal restores former section 958(b)(4).

 $^{^{121}}$ Sec. 245A(a). The foreign-source portion of any dividend equals the amount of the dividend multiplied by the percentage of undistributed earnings that are attributable neither to ECI nor to certain dividends received from domestic corporations. Sec. 245A(c).

 $^{^{122}}$ Sec. 245A(b)(1). U.S. shareholders are U.S. persons that own at least 10 percent of the stock (measured by vote or value) of a foreign corporation. Sec. 951(b).

¹²³ See former sec. 958(b)(4) (repealed by sec. 14213 of Pub. L. 115-97).

Fourth, the proposal provides a narrow rule in new section 951B for downward attribution from a foreign person in certain cases. In general, the rules of subpart F apply to a foreign controlled U.S. shareholder ("FCUSS") of a foreign controlled foreign corporation ("FCFC") as if the former were a U.S. shareholder and the latter were a CFC. An FCUSS is a U.S. person that would be a U.S. shareholder with respect to a foreign corporation if (1) to be a U.S. shareholder the U.S. person must own more than 50 percent of the stock of the foreign corporation and (2) downward attribution from foreign persons applies. An FCFC is a foreign corporation, other than a CFC, more than 50 percent of which is owned by FCUSS. Given that a U.S. person is an FCUSS only with respect to a foreign corporation of which the U.S. person owns more than 50 percent, the foreign corporation with respect to which the U.S. person is an FCUSS is always an FCFC.

The proposal grants Treasury regulatory authority to determine when any such U.S. person or foreign corporation should be considered a U.S. shareholder or CFC, respectively, and to prescribe anti-avoidance measures consistent with the intent of the provision.

Effective Date

The proposal generally applies to distributions made after the date of enactment.

With respect to the modifications related to the restoration of former section 958(b)(4) and the enactment of new section 951B, the proposal applies to (A) the last taxable year of foreign corporations beginning before January 1, 2018, and each subsequent taxable year of such foreign corporations and (B) taxable years of U.S. persons in which or with which such taxable years of foreign corporations end.

9. Limitation on foreign base company sales and services income

Present Law

Subpart F Income

Under subpart F of the Code, U.S. shareholders of a CFC must include in income their *pro rata* shares of subpart F income, without regard to whether the income is distributed to the shareholders.¹²⁴ In effect, U.S. shareholders of a CFC are treated as having received a current distribution of the CFC's subpart F income. With exceptions described below, subpart F income generally includes passive income and other income that is readily movable from one jurisdiction to another. Subpart F income consists of foreign base company income,¹²⁵ insurance income,¹²⁶ and certain income relating to international boycotts and other violations of public policy.¹²⁷

¹²⁴ Sec. 951(a).

- ¹²⁵ Secs. 952(a)(2) and 954.
- ¹²⁶ Secs. 952(a)(1) and 953.
- ¹²⁷ Sec. 952(a)(3)-(5).

Foreign base company income consists of foreign personal holding company income, foreign base company sales income, and foreign base company services income.¹²⁸ Foreign personal holding company income includes passive income such as dividends, interest, rents, and royalties. Foreign base company sales income generally includes income derived in connection with (i) the purchase of personal property from a related person and its sale to any person, (ii) the sale of personal property to any person on behalf of a related person, (iii) the purchase of personal property from any person and its sale to a related person, or (iv) the purchase of personal property from any person on behalf of a related person, but only if (1) the property which is purchased (or in the case of property sold on behalf of a related person, the property which is sold) is manufactured, produced, grown, or extracted outside the country under the laws of which the controlled foreign corporation is created or organized, and (2) the property is sold for use, consumption, or disposition outside such foreign country, or, in the case of property purchased on behalf of a related person, is purchased for use, consumption, or disposition outside such foreign country.¹²⁹ In other words, foreign base company sales income includes income derived by a CFC from a purchase or sale of personal property involving a related party in which the goods are both manufactured and sold for use or consumption outside the CFC's country of organization. Foreign base company services income generally includes income (whether in the form of compensation, commissions, fees, or otherwise) derived in connection with the performance of technical, managerial, engineering, architectural, scientific, skilled, industrial, commercial, or like services which are performed (i) for, or on behalf of, any related person, and (ii) outside the country under the laws of which the controlled foreign corporation is created or organized.¹³⁰ For purposes of determining foreign base company sales or services income, a person is a related person with respect to a CFC, if such person is an individual, corporation, partnership, trust, or estate which controls, or is controlled by, the CFC, or such person is a corporation, partnership, trust, or estate which is controlled by the same person or persons which control the CFC.

Insurance income subject to current inclusion under subpart F includes any income of a CFC attributable to the issuing or reinsuring of any insurance or annuity contract in connection with risks located in a country other than the CFC's country of organization.¹³¹

¹²⁸ Sec. 954.

 $^{^{129}}$ See a lso sec. 954(d)(2) (providing a special rule applicable in situations in which the carrying on of a ctivities by a CFC through a branch or similar establishment outside the country of incorporation of the CFC has substantially the same effect as if such branch or similar establishment were a wholly owned subsidiary corporation deriving such income; in such situations, pursuant to regulations prescribed by the Secretary, the income attributable to the carrying on of such a ctivities of such branch or similar establishment shall be treated as income derived by a wholly owned subsidiary of the CFC and shall constitute foreign base company sales income of the CFC).

 $^{^{130}}$ See also sec. 954(e)(2) (providing an exception for income derived in connection with the performance of services which are directly related to (i) the sale or exchange by the CFC of property manufactured, produced, grown, or extracted by it and which are performed before the time of the sale or exchange, or (ii) an offer or effort to sell or exchange such property).

¹³¹ Sec. 953(a) and (e).

Investments in U.S. property

U.S. shareholders also must include their *pro rata* shares of a CFC's untaxed earnings invested in certain items of U.S. property.¹³² For this purpose, U.S. property generally includes tangible property located in the United States, stock of a U.S. corporation, an obligation of a U.S. person, and certain intangible assets, such as patents and copyrights, acquired or developed by the CFC for use in the United States.¹³³ There are specific exceptions to the general definition of U.S. property, including for bank deposits, certain export property, and certain trade or business obligations.¹³⁴

Exceptions

Subpart F income does not include certain dividends, interest, rents, and royalties received by a CFC from a related corporation organized and operating in the same foreign country in which the CFC is organized.¹³⁵ The same-country exception is not available to the extent that the payments reduce the subpart F income of the payor. A second exception (the "high-tax exception") is available for any item of income received by a CFC if the taxpayer establishes that the income was subject to an effective foreign income tax rate greater than 90 percent of the maximum U.S. corporate income tax rate in effect at the time the income was earned (*e.g.*, for income earned by a CFC in tax year 2021, more than 90 percent of 21 percent, or 18.9 percent).¹³⁶ A third exception excludes from foreign personal holding company income dividends, interest, rents, and royalties received or accrued by one CFC from a related CFC to the extent attributable or properly allocable to income of the payor that is not subpart F income.¹³⁷

There is also an exclusion from subpart F income for certain income of a CFC that is derived in the active conduct of a banking or financing business ("active financing income").¹³⁸ With respect to income derived in the active conduct of a banking, financing, or similar business, a CFC is required to be predominantly engaged in such business and to conduct substantial activity with respect to such business, and other requirements must be met.

¹³⁴ Sec. 956(c)(2).

¹³⁵ Sec. 954(c)(3).

 136 Sec. 954(b)(4). This exception applies to an item of income that would otherwise be included in foreign base company income or insurance income within the meaning of sections 954(a) and 953, respectively.

 137 Sec. 954(c)(6). CFC look-through applies to taxable years of foreign corporations beginning before January 1, 2026, and to taxable years of U.S. shareholders with or within which such taxable years of foreign corporations end.

¹³⁸ Sec. 954(h).

 $^{^{132}}$ Secs. 951(a)(1)(B) and 956.

¹³³ Sec. 956(c)(1).

For a securities dealer, foreign personal holding company income excludes any interest or dividend (or certain equivalent amounts) from any transaction entered into in the ordinary course of the dealer's trade or business as a dealer in securities within the meaning of section 475.¹³⁹

Exclusion of previously taxed earnings and profits

A U.S. shareholder may exclude from its income actual distributions of earnings and profits from a CFC that were previously included in income by the U.S. shareholder under subpart F.¹⁴⁰ Any income inclusion resulting from an investment in U.S. property also may be excluded when such earnings and profits are ultimately distributed.¹⁴¹

Basis adjustments

A U.S. shareholder of a CFC generally increases the basis in its CFC stock by the amount of subpart F income inclusions and generally reduces the basis in its CFC stock by the amount of any distributions that are excluded from its income as previously taxed earnings and profits.¹⁴²

Description of Proposal

Pursuant to the proposal, foreign base company sales income and foreign base company services income would be limited to situations in which the relevant arrangement (including a single transaction or series of transactions) involves a related person that is a taxable unit (within the meaning of section 904(e)) which is a tax resident of the United States.¹⁴³ In other words, arrangements that would otherwise give rise to foreign base company sales or services income, but for the fact that such arrangements do not involve a related U.S. person, are outside the scope of such rules and, instead, subject to section 951A.

In addition, the proposal clarifies that the rules in section 961(c) apply in determining the basis of stock and certain property and the recognition of gain for all purposes of the Code. The proposal further clarifies that gain may be recognized by reason of section 961(b) and (c) upon a distribution of previously taxed earnings and profits by a lower-tier CFC to an upper-tier CFC in situations in which the amount of the distribution exceeds the upper-tier CFC's basis in the stock of the lower-tier CFC.

- ¹⁴¹ Secs. 959(a)(2) and 956.
- ¹⁴² Sec. 961.

¹⁴³ The proposal grants authority to the Secretary to issue regulations or other guidance as may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the purposes of the proposal, including such regulations or other guidance providing for the proper application of the proposal in situation in which the relevant arrangement (including a single transaction or series of transactions) involves a related U.S. person (or a U.S. taxable unit of a related U.S. person).

¹³⁹ Sec. 954(c)(2)(C).

¹⁴⁰ Sec. 959(a)(1).

Several conforming amendments are included that are integral to the prospective application of the proposal. One amendment allocates section 951(a) items to a U.S. shareholder to the extent such U.S. shareholder received a distribution of current earnings and profits that: (1) would give rise to a deduction under section 245A(a), or (2) in the case of a dividend paid directly or indirectly to a CFC with respect to stock owned by the shareholder within the meaning of section 958(a)(2) (*i.e.*, stock owned through foreign entities), would not result in subpart F income to the CFC by reason of section 954(b)(4), (c)(3), or (c)(6). Consistent with current law, the provision allocates the remaining section 951(a) items to U.S. shareholders in proportion to their ownership on the last day, in the foreign corporation's taxable year, on which the foreign corporation is a CFC. Related amendments are made to section 951A(e)(1) and (2) and to section 953(c)(5)(A). In addition, an amendment clarifies that foreign tax credits taken by reason of withholding tax imposed on a distribution of previously taxed earnings and profits do not result in an additional section 78 gross-up.

Effective Date

The proposal generally applies to taxable years of foreign corporations beginning after December 31, 2021, and to taxable years of U.S. shareholders in which or with which such taxable years of foreign corporations end.

The technical amendments made with respect to the pro rata share rules apply to distributions made after December 31, 2017, and the technical amendment made with respect to the section 78 gross-up apply to taxable years of foreign corporations beginning after December 31, 2017, and to taxable years of U.S. shareholders in which or with which such taxable years of foreign corporations end.

D. Inbound International Provisions

1. Modifications to base erosion and anti-abuse tax

Present Law

The base erosion and anti-abuse tax (the "BEAT") is an additional tax imposed on certain multinational corporations with respect to payments to foreign affiliates.¹⁴⁴

The BEAT applies only to corporate taxpayers with average gross receipts in excess of \$500 million and is determined, in part, by the extent to which a taxpayer has made payments to foreign related parties.¹⁴⁵ The BEAT generally does not apply to taxpayers for which reductions to taxable income ("base erosion tax benefits") arising from payments to foreign related parties ("base erosion payments") are less than three percent of total deductions (*i.e.*, a "base erosion percentage" of less than three percent).

For a taxpayer subject to the BEAT (an "applicable taxpayer"), the additional tax (the "base erosion minimum tax amount" or "BEAT liability") for the year generally equals the excess, if any, of 10 percent of its modified taxable income over an amount equal to its regular tax liability reduced (but not below zero) by the sum of a certain tax credits.¹⁴⁶

Base erosion payments and base erosion benefits

A base erosion tax benefit generally reflects the reduction in taxable income arising from the associated base erosion payment.

A base erosion payment generally is any amount paid or accrued by a taxpayer to a foreign person that is a related party of the taxpayer and with respect to which a deduction is allowable.¹⁴⁷ A base erosion payment includes any amount paid or accrued by the taxpayer to a foreign related party in connection with the acquisition by the taxpayer from the related party of property of a character subject to the allowance for depreciation (or amortization in lieu of depreciation).¹⁴⁸

Base erosion payments generally do not include any amount that constitutes a reduction in gross receipts, including payments for cost of goods sold. Certain other payments are

¹⁴⁸ Sec. 59A(d)(2).

¹⁴⁴ Sec. 59A.

¹⁴⁵ For this purpose, a related party is, with respect to the taxpayer, any 25-percent owner of the taxpayer; any person who is related (within the meaning of sections 267(b) or 707(b)(1)) to the taxpayer or any 25-percent owner of the taxpayer; and any other person who is related (within the meaning of section 482) to the taxpayer. Sec. 59A(g). The 25-percent ownership threshold is determined by vote or value.

¹⁴⁶ Sec. 59A(b).

¹⁴⁷ Sec. 59A(d)(1).

excluded from the definition of base erosion payment, including certain payments for services¹⁴⁹ and qualified derivative payments.¹⁵⁰ A payment for a service by a U.S. corporation to a foreign related party is a base erosion payment, except to the extent that the services in question included a markup component. In final regulations, the Secretary provided that a portion of costs meeting the standards for use of the "services cost method"¹⁵¹ may not be treated as base erosion payments. Instead, only the portion of the outbound payment in excess of actual costs incurred by the recipient of the payment, i.e., the markup component of the price charged, is a base erosion payment.¹⁵²

The BEAT treats as a base erosion payment any reinsurance premium payment paid by a U.S. life insurance company or by a U.S. property and casualty insurance company to a related foreign reinsurer (*e.g.*, a U.S. insurer pays a reinsurance premium to a related foreign reinsurer to cover risk of storm damage in the United States). ¹⁵³ It also may apply to payment by a U.S. reinsurer to a related foreign insurer on the occurrence of a covered event (*e.g.*, if reinsurance recoverable is paid for earthquake damage in a foreign country). However, the BEAT provides no rule of exclusion for receipt by the U.S. insurer of reinsurance recovered (*e.g.*, the related foreign reinsurer pays the U.S. insurer when a claim is made for storm damage in the United States), nor is there a rule of exclusion applicable to the reinsurance premium paid by a foreign insurer to a related U.S. reinsurer (*e.g.*, to cover earthquake risk in a foreign country).

Taxpayers are permitted to waive deductions and thus avoid "base erosion tax benefits" of such deduction to reduce exposure to the BEAT. The Secretary adopted a rule permitting taxpayers to waive the right to deductions for payments otherwise within the scope of base erosion payments.¹⁵⁴ The waiver authority extended to insurance-related payments that were reductions from gross premiums and other consideration.

Calculation of BEAT liability

BEAT liability generally equals the excess, if any, of 10 percent of the taxpayer's modified taxable income over the amount of regular tax liability¹⁵⁵ reduced (but not below zero) by the sum of certain tax credits. The amount of regular tax liability is reduced (and the base erosion minimum tax amount increased) by all income tax credits except for the research

¹⁵⁰ Sec. 59A(h).

- ¹⁵¹ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.482-9.
- ¹⁵² Treas. Reg. sec. 1.59A-3(b)(3)(i).
- ¹⁵³ Secs. 59A(d)(3), 803(a)(1)(B) and 832(b)(4)(A).
- ¹⁵⁴ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.59A-3(c)(6).
- ¹⁵⁵ As defined in section 26(b).

¹⁴⁹ Sec. 59A(d)(5).

credit¹⁵⁶ and a certain portion of applicable section 38 credits.¹⁵⁷ Modified taxable income is the taxpayer's regular taxable income increased by any base erosion tax benefit with respect to any base erosion payment and an adjustment for the taxpayer's NOL deduction, if any.¹⁵⁸

Special rules for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2025

For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2025, the 10-percent rate on modified taxable income is increased to 12.5 percent and regular tax liability is reduced (and the base erosion minimum tax amount is therefore increased) by the sum of all the taxpayer's income tax credits for the taxable year.¹⁵⁹

Special rules for banks and securities dealers

An applicable taxpayer that is a member of an affiliated group that includes a bank (as defined in section 581) or securities dealer registered under section 15(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is subject to a tax rate on its modified taxable income that is one-percentage point higher than the generally applicable tax rate.¹⁶⁰ In addition, for purposes of determining whether they are subject to the BEAT, banks and securities dealers are subject to a base erosion percentage threshold of two percent (rather than three percent).¹⁶¹

Description of Proposal

The proposal changes the scope for determining which companies are applicable taxpayers. In taxable years beginning after December 31, 2023, applicable taxpayers are no longer limited to those with a three-percent base erosion percentage or higher. As a result, all corporations (other than a regulated investment company, a real estate investment trust, or an S corporation) that meet the gross receipts threshold are applicable taxpayers and potentially subject to the BEAT.

¹⁵⁶ Sec. 41(a).

 157 Sec. 59A(b)(4). Applicable section 38 credits are credits allowed under section 38 for the taxable year that are properly allocable to the low-income housing credit (sec. 42(a)), the renewable energy production credit (sec. 45(a)), and the energy investment credit (sec. 48). In general, no more than 80 percent of the amount of applicable section 38 credits for a taxable year can be used to reduce an applicable taxpayer's base erosion minimum tax liability and in no case can applicable section 38 credits reduce the taxpayer's base erosion minimum tax liability by more than 80 percent. Sec. 59A(b)(1)(B)(i)(II).

¹⁵⁸ An applicable taxpayer's modified taxable income is its taxable income for the taxable year increased by (1) any base erosion tax benefit with respect to any base erosion payment and (2) the base erosion percentage of any NOL deduction allowed under section 172 for such taxable year. Sec. 59A(c)(1).

¹⁵⁹ Sec. 59A(b)(2).

¹⁶¹ Sec. 59A(e)(1)(C).

¹⁶⁰ Sec. 59A(b)(3).

In addition, the applicable calculations required under the BEAT to target base-eroding activity and undertaxed payments, including modified taxable income, base erosion benefits and payments, as well as the rates of the BEAT tax are changed as described below.

Base erosion tax benefits and base erosion payments

Modified taxable income adds certain indirect costs regarding inventory to the category of base erosion payments and clarifies the treatment of net operating losses in the determination of base erosion benefits. In addition, the proposal expands and clarifies the exceptions from base erosion payments.

Indirect costs of goods sold and base erosion payments

Amounts paid or incurred by the taxpayer to a related foreign party are base erosion payments to the extent that they constitute indirect costs that are required to be included in inventory costs by reason of section 263A. In addition, costs incurred in acquiring property that is inventory in the hands of the taxpayer are treated as base erosion payments to the extent such costs exceed the sum of the direct costs of the property in the hands of the foreign related party and the indirect costs (as described in section 263A(a)(2)(B)) of such foreign related party that are demonstrated to have been paid or incurred by such foreign related party to an unrelated U.S. person. Transactions between two foreign entities related to the taxpayer are subject to similar rules regarding characterization of the payment as an indirect cost within the scope of base erosion payments, unless they were paid or incurred (directly or indirectly) to an unrelated U.S. person.

In lieu of including the indirect costs of a related foreign party in its computation of base erosion payments, a taxpayer may elect to treat as a base erosion payment 20 percent of the amount paid or incurred to such related foreign party for the acquisition of inventory. The items or classes of inventory eligible for such election, as well as the time and manner for making such election are to be determined by the Secretary.

Net operating losses in computing modified taxable income

For taxable years beginning after 2021, the net operating loss for which a deduction is permitted under section 172 is taken into account in determining modified taxable income, but is determined without regard to any deduction which is a base erosion tax benefit. Such determination is made for each taxable year. Appropriate adjustments are made to take into account the percentage limitations applicable to corporations under section 172, as well as the rules therein regarding certain contributions and capital gains property.

Transition rules similar to the tax benefit and coordination rules applicable to the alternative minimum tax computations under section 59(g) and (h) are to be used in determining

modified taxable income, including those arising from net operating losses or base erosion tax benefits arising from the new category of base erosion payments and related basis adjustments.

Consolidation and expansion of exceptions from base erosion payments

Payments that are subject to Federal income tax by either the payor or the payee are outside the scope of base erosion payments, without regard to whether the income related to such payments was eligible for a reduced rate of tax. Thus, outbound payments to a related party that are included in the computation of GILTI or FDII (without regard to the section 250 deduction), subject to withholding tax or taxable as effectively connected income to the recipient are not base erosion payments. Whether a payment is subject to Federal income tax is determined using principles similar those in former section 163(j)(5).

In addition, payments that are subject to a sufficient level of foreign income tax are not within the scope of base erosion payments. Payments are subject to sufficient foreign tax if they are subject to an effective tax rate at least equal to the applicable percentage for a taxpayer tax in that taxable year. For this purpose, the effective tax rate is computed in the same manner as under the provisions of 904 and may be based on applicable financial statements. The Secretary is authorized to prescribe rules to prevent tax avoidance, including criteria for recharacterizing a transaction or series of transactions among related parties.

Calculation of BEAT liability

The proposal strikes the provision that required adding general credits back to the regular tax liability before determining the BEAT. The BEAT liability, computed using the applicable percentage, now equals the excess of BEMTA over regular tax liability.

For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021, and ending before January 1, 2024, the applicable percentage is 10 percent. The applicable percentage is 12.5 percent for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2023, and ending before January 1, 2026. For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2025, the BEAT rate is 15 percent.

The general business credit may be applied to offset BEAT liability.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

E. Other Business Tax Provisions

1. Credit for clinical testing of orphan drugs limited to first use or indication

Present Law

The Code provides a 25-percent business tax credit for qualified clinical testing expenses incurred in testing of certain drugs for rare diseases or conditions, generally referred to as "orphan drugs." Qualified clinical testing expenses are costs paid or incurred to test an orphan drug after the drug has been approved for human testing by the Food and Drug Administration (the "FDA") but before the drug has been approved for sale by the FDA.¹⁶² A rare disease or condition is defined as one that (1) affects fewer than 200,000 persons in the United States, or (2) affects more than 200,000 persons, but for which there is no reasonable expectation that businesses could recoup the costs of developing a drug for such disease or condition from sales in the United States of the drug.¹⁶³

Amounts included in computing the credit are excluded from the computation of the research credit.¹⁶⁴

No deduction is allowed for the portion of otherwise allowable qualified clinical testing expenses equal to the amount of the orphan drug credit allowed for the taxable year.¹⁶⁵

Description of Proposal

The proposal requires that human clinical testing may be taken into account for purposes of the credit only to the extent that such testing is related to the first use or indication with respect to which a drug for a rare disease or condition is designated under section 526 of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. Further, the proposal requires that such testing must occur (1) before the first date on which an application (with respect to any use or indication with respect to any disease or condition) with respect to a drug is approved under section 505(c) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or (2) if a drug is a biological product, before the first date on which a license, with respect to any use or indication with respect to any disease or condition) for such drug is issued under section 351(a) of the Public Health Service Act.

Effective Date

The proposal applies to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

- ¹⁶⁴ Sec. 45C(c).
- ¹⁶⁵ Sec. 280C(b).

¹⁶² Sec. 45C(b).

¹⁶³ Sec. 45C(d)(1).

2. Modifications to treatment of certain losses

Present Law

Section 165(a) and worthlessness

Deductions may be allowed for any loss sustained during the taxable year and not compensated for by insurance or otherwise.¹⁶⁶ For such loss to be allowed as a deduction, the loss must be "evidenced by closed and completed transactions, fixed by identifiable events, and . . . actually sustained during the taxable year."¹⁶⁷ The amount of the deduction is determined by reference to the adjusted tax basis of the property used for "determining the loss from the sale or other disposition of property."¹⁶⁸

Among the events giving rise to such a loss deduction is worthlessness.¹⁶⁹ The test for worthlessness, which is a facts and circumstances analysis,¹⁷⁰ is two-pronged. A taxpayer must demonstrate (1) the asset in question is objectively valueless ("objective worthlessness") and (2) a subjective determination of worthlessness ("subjective worthlessness").¹⁷¹

To show objective worthlessness, the taxpayer must make a reasonable showing that the asset was "in fact valueless at the time selected by the taxpayer."¹⁷² A mere diminution in the asset's value is insufficient to establish worthlessness.¹⁷³ Taxpayers normally demonstrate objective worthlessness by showing an "identifiable event."¹⁷⁴

To satisfy the subjective prong of the test, the taxpayer must reasonably believe that the asset lacks any future value¹⁷⁵ and the taxpayer's actions should reflect the taxpayer's subjective

¹⁶⁹ See, *e.g.*, Rev. Rul. 2004-58, 2004-24I.R.B. 1043 (discussing the requirements for a "deduction for worthlessness under §165[a]").

¹⁷⁰ See, *e.g.*, *Boehmv*. *Comm'r*, 326 U.S. 287 (1945).

¹⁷¹ Morton v. Comm'r, 38 B.T.A. 1270, 1278-79 (1938).

- ¹⁷² Echols v. Comm'r, 935 F.2d 703, 708 (5th Cir. 1991), rehearing denied, 950 F.2d 209 (5th Cir. 1991).
- ¹⁷³ Kraft, Inc. v. U.S., 30 Fed. Cl. 739, 785-86 (1994); Proeselv. Comm'r, 77 T.C. 992, 1006 (1981).
- ¹⁷⁴ Morton v. Comm'r, 38 B.T.A. 1270 (1938) (nonacq.), aff'd, 112 F.2d 320 (7th Cir. 1940).

¹⁷⁵ Lawson v. Comm'r, 42 B.T.A. 1103, 1108 (1940).

¹⁶⁶ Sec. 165(a).

¹⁶⁷ Treas. Reg. §1.165-1(b).

¹⁶⁸ Sec. 165(b). Furthermore, for individuals, section 165 deductions are limited to (1) losses incurred in a trade or business, (2) losses incurred in a transaction entered into for profit and (3) except in certain circumstances, losses arising from fire, storm, shipwreck or other casualty, or from theft. Sec.165(c).

determination.¹⁷⁶ The judicial standard requires a taxpayer neither to be an "incorrigible optimist"¹⁷⁷ nor a "stygian pessimist."¹⁷⁸

Worthless partnership interests

Courts have held that a partner may claim a loss with respect to the worthlessness of a partnership interest under section 165(a).¹⁷⁹ Case law and service guidance indicates whether such loss is generally ordinary or capital depends on whether the loss is deemed to result from the sale or exchange of a capital asset.¹⁸⁰ Specifically, the character generally depends on whether the partner claiming such loss has any share of partnership liabilities immediately before the worthlessness claim. This is because a shift in liabilities (in connection with a worthlessness claim or otherwise) causes a deemed distribution under the partnership tax rules¹⁸¹ and a distribution (deemed or otherwise) is treated as a sale or exchange under the partnership tax rules.¹⁸² Thus, generally, a partner will take an ordinary loss upon the worthlessness of its partnership interest if the partner claiming worthlessness has no share of any partnership liability immediately prior to the claim and a partner will take a capital loss upon the worthlessness of its partnership interest if the partner has a share of any partnership liability immediately prior to the claim and a partner will take a capital loss upon the worthlessness of its partnership interest if the partner has a share of any partnership liability immediately prior to the claim and a partner will take a capital loss upon the worthlessness of its partnership interest if the partner has a share of any partnership liability immediately prior to the claim and a partner will take a capital loss upon the worthlessness of its partnership interest if the partner has a share of any partnership liability immediately prior to the claim and a partner will take a capital loss upon the worthlessness of its partnership interest if the partner has a share of any partnership liability immediately prior to the claim.

Worthless securities

Present law provides special rules for worthless securities. If a security that is a capital asset becomes worthless during the taxable year, the resulting loss is treated as a loss from the sale or exchange of such capital asset on the last day of the taxable year. For this purpose, securities are defined as (1) a share of stock in a corporation; (2) a right to subscribe for, or to receive, a share of stock in a corporation; or (3) a bond, debenture, note, or certificate, or other evidence of indebtedness, issued by a corporation or by a government or political subdivision thereof, with interest coupons or in registered form.

¹⁷⁷ United States v. S.S. White Dental Manufacturing Co., 274U.S. 398, 403 (1927).

¹⁷⁸ *Ruppert v. U.S.*, 22 F. Supp. 428, 431 (Ct. Cl. 1938), *cert. denied*, 305 U.S. 630 (1938) (worthlessness claim for a bad debt).

¹⁷⁹ See Echols v. Comm'r, 935 F.2d 703 (5th Cir. 1991), rehearing denied, 950 F.2d 209 (5th Cir. 1991); Zeeman v. U.S., 75 F. Supp. 235 (S.D.N.Y. 1967), aff'd in part, rev'd in part, 395 F.2d 861 (2d Cir. 1968); In Re. Kreidle, 91-2 U.S.T.C. ¶50,371 (Bankr. D. Col. 1991), aff'd, 143 B.R. 941 (D.C. Col. 1992); Tejon Ranch v. Comm'r, 49 T.C.M. (CCH) 1357 (1985). See also Rev. Rul. 93-80, 1993-2 C.B. 235.

¹⁸⁰ La Rue v. Comm'r, 90 T.C. 465 (1988); Rev. Rul. 93-80, 1993-2 C.B. 235. Section 751's hot assets rules may apply in the case of capital loss.

¹⁸¹ Sec. 752(b).

¹⁸² Sec. 761(e).

¹⁷⁶ See *e.g., Echols v. Comm'r*, 935 F.2d 703, 707-708 (5th Cir. 1991), *rehearing denied*, 950 F.2d 209 (5th Cir. 1991).

A security is not considered worthless if there is a reasonable hope and expectation of future value. Taxpayers must demonstrate the existence of an identifiable event that clearly indicates the "destruction of both the potential and liquidating values of the stock."¹⁸³

Corporate liquidations

In general, the sale of a corporation's assets does not generate a tax at the shareholder level. However, if the selling corporation distributes the sale proceeds in a complete liquidation, each of the corporation's shareholders recognizes gain or loss (generally capital in nature) equal to the difference between the value of the liquidating distributions and the basis of the stock. The gain or loss generally is recognized at the time that the liquidation proceeds are received.

Description of Proposal

The proposal provides that if any partnership interest becomes worthless during the taxable year, the loss resulting therefrom is considered as a loss from the sale or exchange of a capital asset and such loss is recognized to the transferor partner at the time of the identifiable event establishing worthlessness. Thus, the character of the loss is generally capital, subject to the rules of section 751(relating to unrealized receivables and inventory items). Furthermore, the presence or absence of partnership liabilities is not determinative.

The proposal accelerates the timing of the loss resulting from a worthless security. Such loss is treated as a loss from the sale or exchange at the time of the identifiable event establishing worthlessness. The proposal expands the rules relating to worthless securities (sec. 165(g)) to certain securities issued by partnerships. It expands the definition of security to include a bond, debenture, note, or certificate, or other evidence of indebtedness, issued by a partnership, with interest coupons or in registered form.

The proposal also provides a deferral of losses in the case of a complete liquidation to which section 331 applies when the two corporations are members of the same controlled group.¹⁸⁴ No loss may be recognized by the distributee corporation (with respect to the stock or securities of the distributing corporation received in the liquidation) until the distributee corporation disposes of substantially all of the properties received in the liquidation to a party that is not related to the distributee corporation.¹⁸⁵

The Secretary is instructed to issue any regulations or other guidance that may be necessary or appropriate, including regulations or other guidance to carry out the purposes of the proposal and to apply the principles of the proposal to liquidating corporation stock or securities owned by a corporation indirectly through one or more partnerships.

¹⁸³ See Austin Co. v. Commissioner, 71 T.C. 955

¹⁸⁴ As defined in sec. 267(f).

¹⁸⁵ Related is defined to mean two corporations which are members of the same controlled group (as defined in sec. 267(f)) or controlled partnerships within the meaning of sec. 707(b)(1).

Effective Date

The proposal applies to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021. In the case of liquidations described above, the proposal applies to liquidations on or after the date of enactment.

3. Adjusted basis limitation for divisive reorganization

Present Law

In a divisive reorganization under sections 368(a)(1)(D) and 355, a distributing corporation generally (1) transfers property to a section 368(c) controlled corporation in exchange for stock (and also in some cases for (i) money and other property of the controlled corporation and (ii) securities or other debt obligations of which the controlled corporation is the obligor) and (2) distributes the controlled stock to its shareholders (as well as cash or securities, if applicable).

There are three economically similar methods through which a distributing corporation can extract value from the controlled corporation in a divisive reorganization. First, the distributing corporation can reduce its liabilities by causing the subsidiary to assume them under section 357. Second, the distributing corporation can transfer money and other property received from the controlled corporation to the distributing corporation's creditors to satisfy its debt obligations, subject to section 361(b). Third, the distributing corporation can exchange the controlled corporation's debt securities for debt held by the distributing corporation's creditors.

The distributing corporation must recognize gain to the extent that the amount of the liability assumption, and money and other property transferred to the distributing corporation's creditors, exceeds the aggregate adjusted basis of the assets that the distributing corporation transfers to the controlled corporation in the divisive reorganization. However, the amount of the controlled corporation's debt securities that the distributing corporation may transfer to its creditors to reduce its debt without gain recognition is not limited under section 361.

Description of Proposal

The proposal amends section 361 to provide that a distributing corporation recognizes gain in a divisive reorganization under sections 368(a)(1)(D) and 355 to the extent that the amount of the controlled corporation's debt securities received by the distributing corporation and transferred to its creditors in connection with the divisive reorganization exceeds the aggregate adjusted basis of the assets transferred by the distributing corporation to the controlled corporation, as reduced by the amount of (i) the total amount of the liabilities of the distributing corporation assumed by the controlled corporation (within the meaning of section 357(c)), and (ii) the total amount of money and the fair market value of other property received by the distributing corporation from the controlled corporation.

Effective Date

The proposal applies to reorganizations occurring on or after the date of enactment.

4. Rents from prison facilities not treated as qualified income for purposes of REIT income tests

Present Law

A real estate investment trust ("REIT") is an entity that otherwise would be taxed as a U.S. corporation but elects to be taxed under a special REIT tax regime. To qualify as a REIT, an entity must meet several requirements. At least 90 percent of REIT income (other than net capital gain) must be distributed annually;¹⁸⁶ the REIT must derive most of its income from passive, generally real estate-related, investments; and REIT assets must be primarily real estate-related. In addition, a REIT must have transferable interests and at least 100 shareholders, and no more than 50 percent of the REIT interests may be owned by five or fewer individual shareholders (as determined using specified attribution rules). Other requirements also apply.¹⁸⁷

A REIT is restricted to earning certain types of generally passive income. Among other requirements, at least 75 percent of the gross income of a REIT in each taxable year must consist of real estate-related income. Such income includes: rents from real property; gain from the sale or other disposition of real property (including interests in real property) that is not stock in trade of the taxpayer, inventory, or other property held by the taxpayer primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of its trade or business; interest on mortgages secured by real property or interests in real property; and certain income from foreclosure property (the "75-percent income test").¹⁸⁸ Qualifying rents from real property include rents from interests in real property and charges for services customarily furnished or rendered in connection with the rental of real property, ¹⁸⁹ but do not include impermissible tenant service income.¹⁹⁰

Description of Proposal

The proposal provides that qualifying rents from real property do not include any amount received or accrued, directly or indirectly, with respect to any real or personal property which is primarily used in connection with any correctional, detention, or penal facility.

Effective Date

The proposal applies to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

 188 Secs. 856(c)(3) and 1221(a)(1). Income from sales that are not prohibited transactions solely by virtue of section 857(b)(6) also is qualified REIT income.

¹⁹⁰ Sec. 856(d)(2)(C).

¹⁸⁶ Even if a REIT meets the 90-percent income distribution requirement for REIT qualification, more stringent distribution requirements must be met in order to a void an excise tax under section 4981.

¹⁸⁷ Secs. 856 and 857.

¹⁸⁹ Sec. 856(d)(1)(A) and (B).

5. Modifications to exemption for portfolio interest

Present Law

Nonresident aliens and foreign corporations generally are subject to U.S. tax on only their U.S.-source income. There are two broad types of U.S.-source income of foreign taxpayers: (1) income that is "fixed or determinable annual or periodical gains, profits, and income" ("FDAP income") and (2) income that is "effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business within the United States" ("ECI"). FDAP income, although nominally subject to a statutory 30-percent gross-basis tax withheld at its source, in many cases is subject to a reduced rate of, or entirely exempt from, U.S. tax under the Code or a bilateral income tax treaty.

FDAP income received by foreign persons from U.S. sources is subject to a 30-percent gross-basis tax (*i.e.*, a tax on gross income without reduction for related expenses), which is collected by withholding at the source of the payment. FDAP income includes interest, dividends, rents, salaries, wages, premiums, annuities, compensations, remunerations, and emoluments.¹⁹¹ The items enumerated in defining FDAP income are illustrative, and the words "annual or periodical" are "merely generally descriptive" of the payments within the purview of the statute.¹⁹² The categories of income subject to the 30-percent tax and the categories for which withholding is required generally are coextensive.¹⁹³

Although FDAP income includes U.S.-source portfolio interest, such interest is exempt from the 30-percent gross-basis tax.¹⁹⁴ Portfolio interest is any interest (including original issue discount) that is paid on an obligation that is in registered form and for which the beneficial owner has provided to the U.S. withholding agent a statement certifying that the beneficial owner is not a U.S. person.¹⁹⁵ Portfolio interest, however, does not include interest received by a 10-percent shareholder.¹⁹⁶

For this purpose, a 10-percent shareholder is, in the case of an obligation issued by a corporation, any person who owns 10 percent or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of such corporation entitled to vote, or, in the case of an obligation issued by a partnership, any person who owns 10 percent or more of the capital or profits interest in such partnership.¹⁹⁷

- ¹⁹³ See secs. 1441 and 1442.
- ¹⁹⁴ Sec. 871(h)(1).
- ¹⁹⁵ Sec. 871(h)(2).
- ¹⁹⁶ Sec. 871(h)(3)(A).
- ¹⁹⁷ Sec. 871(h)(3)(B).

¹⁹¹ Secs. 871(a) and 881. FDAP income that is ECI is taxed as ECI.

¹⁹² Commissioner v. Wodehouse, 337 U.S. 369, 393 (1949).

Description of Proposal

The proposal provides that, in the case of an obligation issued by a corporation, a 10percent shareholder is (1) any person who owns 10 percent or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of such corporation entitled to vote and (2) any person who owns more than 10 percent of the total value of the stock of such corporation.

Effective Date

The proposal applies to obligations issued after the date of enactment.

6. Certain partnership interest derivatives

Present Law

In general, income arising from notional principal contracts are sourced based on the residence of the recipient of the payment.¹⁹⁸ However, if the notional principal contract income arises from a U.S. trade or business, the income is treated as "effectively connected" with the conduct of a U.S. trade or business, which is taxable at rates generally applicable to U.S. taxpayers.¹⁹⁹ The determination as to whether notional principal contract income arises from a U.S. trade or business depends on the facts and circumstances, including an analysis of whether the income, gain, or loss is derived from assets used in, or held for use in, the conduct of the trade or business in the United States (the "asset-use test") and whether the activities of the trade or business conducted in the United States were a material factor in the realization of the income, gain, or loss (the "business-activities test").²⁰⁰

In general, if the interests in a partnership are traded on an established securities market or readily tradable on a secondary market (or the substantial equivalent thereof), then the partnership is treated as a corporation.²⁰¹ However, partnerships with certain passive income are excepted from the rule.²⁰²

In the case of notional principal contracts whose payments are calculated by reference to the income or gain of a publicly traded partnership that is not engaged in a U.S. trade or business, the general rule described above applies and the source of the payments is based on the residence of the recipient.

- ¹⁹⁸ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.863-7(b)(1).
- ¹⁹⁹ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.863-7(b)(3).
- ²⁰⁰ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.864-4(c).

²⁰¹ Sec. 7704(a).

²⁰² Sec. 7704(b) and (c).

Description of Proposal

The proposal treats notional principal contract income calculated by reference to the U.S. source income or gain of all publicly traded partnerships, including those that are not engaged in a U.S. trade or business, as "dividend equivalent amounts," sourced based on the residence of the payor rather than the recipient. As a result, these amounts are U.S.-source payments subject to 30-percent U.S. withholding tax (which may be reduced by tax treaty). To determine the portion of the notional principal contract income that is attributable to the income or gain of a publicly traded partnership that is subject to the new sourcing rule, the publicly traded partnerships themselves must provide relevant information in notices to the relevant withholding agent.

Effective Date

The proposal applies to payments made after the date that is 180 days after enactment.

7. Adjustments to earnings and profits of CFCs

Present Law

In general, a U.S. shareholder of a controlled foreign corporation (a "CFC")²⁰³ must include currently its *pro rata* share of the CFC's subpart F income (generally passive income and certain other related-party income that is readily movable from one jurisdiction to another).²⁰⁴ For any taxable year, however, a CFC's subpart F income generally is limited to the CFC's earning and profits ("E&P") for the taxable year.²⁰⁵

For that purpose, the E&P of a CFC is determined without regard to three rules in section 312(n): LIFO ("last-in, first-out") inventory adjustments, installment sales, and the completed contract method of accounting.²⁰⁶ For other purposes, however, the E&P of a CFC is determined with regard to those three rules.

Take the rule for installment sales. In an installment sale, the purchase price is paid over time.²⁰⁷ In general, under the installment method of accounting, income is included following

²⁰³ A CFC generally is defined as any foreign corporation in which U.S. persons own (directly, indirectly, or constructively) more than 50 percent of the corporation's stock (measured by vote or value), taking into a ccount only "U.S. shareholders," that is, U.S. persons that own at least 10 percent of the stock (measured by vote or value). Secs. 951(b), 957, and 958.

²⁰⁴ Subpart F comprises sections 951 through 965.

²⁰⁵ Sec. 952(c)(1)(A).

²⁰⁶ Sec. 952(c)(3) referring to the rules in sec. 312(n)(4)-(6).

 $^{^{207}}$ Sec. 453(b)(1) (defining an installment sale as a disposition of property where at least one payment is to be received after the close of the taxable year in which the disposition occurs).

the payments of the purchase price (*i.e.*, over time).²⁰⁸ Under the rule in section 312(n), however, E&P is computed as if the corporation did not use the installment method.²⁰⁹ In other words, in the case of an installment sale of a domestic corporation, E&P increases to reflect all gain otherwise deferred for income tax purposes.

In the case of an installment sale of a CFC, for purposes of determining subpart F inclusions, the E&P of the CFC is lower than E&P would otherwise be, because the rule in section 312(n) is disregarded.²¹⁰ For other purposes, however, the E&P of the CFC reflects all gain otherwise deferred for income tax purposes. Thus, in the case of an installment sale of a CFC, E&P for purposes of subpart F inclusions is lower than E&P for purposes of paying dividends (which may be eligible for the deduction under section 245A).

Description of Proposal

The proposal makes the special rule for E&P of a CFC for purposes of determining subpart F inclusion the general rule for E&P of a CFC. In other words, the proposal provides that for all purposes the E&P of a CFC is determined without regard to paragraphs (4) (LIFO), (5) (installment sales), and (6) (completed contract method of accounting) of section 312(n). Thus, in the case of an installment sale, the E&P of a CFC is lower for all purposes than E&P would otherwise be; in other words, under the proposal, E&P of a CFC generally follows the income tax treatment.

Effective Date

The proposal applies to taxable years of foreign corporations beginning after December 31, 2021, and to taxable years of U.S. shareholders in which or with which such taxable years of foreign corporations end.

8. Certain dividends from CFCs to U.S. shareholders treated as extraordinary dividends

Present Law

If any corporation receives any extraordinary dividend with respect to any share of stock and the corporation has not held such stock for more than two years before the dividend announcement date, then (1) the corporation's basis in the stock is reduced (but not below zero) by the nontaxed portion of such dividends and (2) if the nontaxed portion of the dividends

 $^{^{208}}$ Sec. 453(c) (defining the installment method as a method of a ccounting under which the income recognized for any taxable year from a disposition is that proportion of the payments received in that year which the gross profit (realized or to be realized when payment is completed) bears to the total contract price).

²⁰⁹ Sec. 312(n)(5).

²¹⁰ Sec. 952(c)(3).

exceeds such basis, the excess is treated as gain from the sale or exchange of the stock for the taxable year in which the extraordinary dividend is received.²¹¹

An extraordinary dividend is any dividend the amount of which equals or exceeds a given percentage of the taxpayer's adjusted basis in the relevant stock. The percentage for preferred stock is five percent and ten percent for any other stock.²¹²

In general, the nontaxed portion of a dividend is the amount of the dividend reduced by a deduction allowable with respect to the dividend under section 243, 245, or 245A.²¹³

Description of Proposal

The proposal provides that any disqualified CFC dividend received from a controlled foreign corporation ("CFC") by taxpayer which is a U.S. shareholder²¹⁴ of such foreign corporation shall be treated as an extraordinary dividend to which subsection (a) applies without regard to the period the taxpayer held the stock of such foreign corporation.

For purposes of the proposal, disqualified CFC dividend means any dividend paid by a CFC to a taxpayer that is a U.S. shareholder of such foreign corporation that is attributable to earnings and profits which were earned, or gain with respect to property which accrued, during a period (i) such foreign corporation was not a CFC or (ii) such stock was not owned by a U.S. shareholder.

Finally, the proposal directs the Secretary to prescribe rules coordinating the application of section 1059 with other provisions of the Code, including section 1248.

Effective Date

The proposal applies to distributions made after the date of enactment.

9. Modification of rules for partnership interests held in connection with performance of services

Present Law

Section 1061 provides for a three-year holding period in the case of certain net long-term capital gain with respect to any applicable partnership interest (known as a carried interest) held by the taxpayer.²¹⁵ In general, if the three-year holding period requirement is not satisfied,

²¹³ Sec. 1059(b).

²¹¹ Sec. 1059(a).

²¹² Sec. 1059(c)(1).

²¹⁴ As defined in sec. 951(b).

²¹⁵ Section 1061 is effective for taxable years beginning a fter December 31, 2017.

section 1061 treats gain subject to the provision as short-term capital gain (taxed at ordinary rates). This rule applies notwithstanding the rules of section 83 relating to property transferred in connection with the performance of services or any election in effect under section 83(b) to include amounts in gross income in the year of transfer.

Gain subject to the provision to which the three-year holding period requirement applies means gain from, and loss from, the sale or exchange of a capital asset held for more than one year, to the extent such gain is taken into account in computing gross income and such loss is taken into account in computing taxable income.²¹⁶

An applicable partnership interest is generally any interest in a partnership that, directly or indirectly, is transferred to (or held by) the taxpayer in connection with performance of services in any applicable trade or business. The services may be performed by the taxpayer or by any other related person or persons in any applicable trade or business. An applicable partnership interest does not include a capital interest in a partnership giving the taxpayer a right to share in partnership capital commensurate with the amount of capital contributed (as of the time the partnership interest was received), or commensurate with the value of the partnership interest.

An applicable trade or business means any activity (regardless of whether the activity is conducted in one or more entities) that consists in whole or in part of the following: (1) raising or returning capital, and either (2) investing in (or disposing of) specified assets (or identifying specified assets for investing or disposition), or (3) developing specified assets. Specified assets mean securities (generally as defined under rules for mark-to-market accounting for securities dealers), commodities (as defined under rules for mark-to-market accounting for commodities dealers), real estate held for rental or investment, cash or cash equivalents, options or derivative contracts with respect to such securities, commodities, real estate, cash or cash equivalents, as well as an interest in a partnership to the extent of the partnership's proportionate interest in the foregoing. Reporting requirements and regulatory authority are provided under the provision.²¹⁷

Description of Proposal

Under the proposal, if one or more applicable partnership interests are held by a taxpayer at any time during a taxable year, the taxpayer's net applicable partnership gain for the taxable year is treated as short-term capital gain. Net applicable partnership gain means net long-term capital gain²¹⁸ determined by only taking into account the taxpayer's gains and losses with respect to applicable partnership interests, and any other amounts includable in gross income with respect to an applicable partnership interest that are treated as capital gain or are subject to

²¹⁶ Sec. 1061(a)(2), referring to secs. 1222(3) and (4).

²¹⁷ The Department of Treasury and IRS have issued final regulations regarding the application of, and reporting for, section 1061. See T.D. 9945, 86 Fed. Reg. 5480, January 19, 2021.

 $^{^{218}}$ Net long-term capital gain is described in section 1222(7).

tax at the rate applicable to capital gain. The proposal thus expands the types of gain that are treated as short-term capital gain under section 1061.

Net applicable partnership gain generally does not include amounts realized after a fiveyear holding period, with certain exceptions. The holding period is three years for any taxpayer (other than a trust or estate) with adjusted gross income ("AGI") as determined under the provision of less than \$400,000 for the taxable year.²¹⁹ The holding period is three years for any income with respect to any applicable partnership interest that is attributable to a real property trade or business.²²⁰

The proposal adds rules for measuring the five-year or three-year holding period, including for tiered entities. The holding period is measured from the latest of specified dates. The dates are (i) the date on which the taxpayer acquired substantially all of the applicable partnership interest with respect to which the amount is realized, (ii) the date on which the partnership in which such applicable partnership interest is held acquired substantially all of the assets held by such partnership, and (iii) if the partnership in which the taxpayer holds an applicable partnership interest owns, directly or indirectly, interests in one or more other partnerships, the dates determined by applying rules similar to the foregoing in the case of each such other partnership. The Treasury Secretary is directed to provide guidance in determining the amount of gain that is treated as short-term capital gain under these rules, as well as guidance as to any necessary and appropriate reporting to enable administration and carry out the purposes of the provision.

The proposal provides that the present-law rule with respect to certain services that are not taken into account in determining whether an interest is an applicable partnership interest applies to services with respect to a trade or business that is not an applicable trade or business.

The proposal modifies the definition of a specified asset, providing that a partnership interest is itself treated as a specified asset (except as otherwise provided by the Secretary) if the partnership has a direct or indirect interest in an asset that is a specified asset (that is, securities, commodities, real estate held for rental or investment, cash or cash equivalents, and options or derivative contracts with respect to any of the foregoing). Regulatory guidance may, for example, define a de minimis direct or indirect interest of a partnership in an asset that is not taken into account for this purpose.

The proposal gives regulatory authority to provide that statutory exclusions from the definition of an applicable partnership interest do not apply, for example, when the application of an exception would not carry out the purposes of section 1061. The proposal also clarifies that

²¹⁹ AGI as determined under the provision is AGI determined without regard to sections 911, 931, or 933. These sections provide certain income exclusions for U.S. citizens or residents living a broad and exclusions for certain income from sources within certain possessions and within Puerto Rico.

 $^{^{220}}$ For this purpose, a real property trade or business is defined as in section 469(c)(7)(C) as any real property development, redevelopment, construction, reconstruction, a equisition, conversion, rental, operation, management, leasing, or brokenage trade or business.

the exception for ownership by a corporation of an interest that would otherwise be an applicable partnership interest applies only to C corporations.

The proposal modifies the rule relating to transfers of applicable partnership interests to provide that transfer of an applicable partnership interest requires recognition of gain notwithstanding any other Federal income tax rules.

The proposal requires the issuance of Treasury guidance to prevent the avoidance of the purposes of the proposal through the distribution of property by a partnership or through a carry waiver (*e.g.*, the waiver of gain subject to this provision in return for a future allocation of income, gain, or property). The guidance also must apply the rules of section 1061 in the case of financial instruments, contracts, or interests in entities other than partnerships to the extent necessary or appropriate to carry out the purposes of the provision.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

10. Limitation on certain special rules for section 1202 gains

Present Law

Exclusion of gain on sale of small business stock

In general

A taxpayer other than a corporation may exclude 50 percent of the gain from the sale of qualified small business stock acquired at original issue and held for at least five years.²²¹ The amount of gain eligible for the exclusion by an individual with respect to the stock of any corporation is the greater of (1) ten times the taxpayer's basis in the stock, or (2) \$10 million (reduced by the amount of eligible gain excluded by the taxpayer in prior years).²²² To qualify as a small business, before and immediately after the issuance, the aggregate gross assets (*i.e.*, cash plus aggregate adjusted basis of other property) held by the corporation may not exceed \$50 million.²²³ The corporation also must meet certain active trade or business requirements. Only C corporation stock may qualify as qualified small business stock.²²⁴

- ²²² Sec. 1202(b)(1).
- ²²³ Sec. 1202(d)(1)(A) and (B).
- ²²⁴ Sec. 1202(c)(1).

²²¹ Sec. 1202(a)(1) and (2).

The portion of the gain includible in taxable income is taxed at a maximum rate of 28 percent under the regular tax rates applicable to the net capital gain of individuals.²²⁵ Seven percent of the excluded gain is an alternative minimum tax preference.²²⁶

Special rules for certain stock acquired after February 17,2009

For qualified small business stock acquired after February 17, 2009, and before September 28, 2010, the percent of gain which may be excluded is increased to 75 percent ("75percent exclusion rule").²²⁷

For qualified small business stock acquired after September 27, 2010, the percent of gain which may be excluded is increased to 100 percent and the minimum tax preference does not apply ("100-percent exclusion rule").²²⁸

Rollover of gain from sale of small business stock

An individual may elect to roll over tax-free any gain realized on the sale of qualified small business stock held more than six months to the extent of the taxpayer's cost of purchasing other qualified small business stock within 60 days of the sale.²²⁹

Description of Proposal

The proposal limits the application of the 75-percent exclusion and 100-percent exclusion rules to taxpayers with adjusted gross income ("AGI") of less than \$400,000. The proposal also provides that the 75-percent exclusion and 100-percent exclusion rules do not apply to trusts and estates. Consequently, for qualified small business stock acquired any time after February 17, 2009, taxpayers with AGI equal to or greater than \$400,000, as well as all trusts and estates, may only exclude 50 percent of the gain for income tax purposes from the sale of qualified small business stock.

For purposes of the proposal, AGI is determined without regard to sections 911 (foreign earned income exclusion), 931 (exclusion of income for a bona fide resident of American Samoa), and 933 (exclusion for a bona fide resident of Puerto Rico).

AGI is also determined without regard to the exclusion of gain from the sale of qualified small business stock. Thus, the full amount of such gain is included in AGI for purposes of determining the applicable exclusion.

- ²²⁶ Sec. 57(a)(7).
- ²²⁷ Sec. 1202(a)(3).
- ²²⁸ Sec. 1202(a)(4).
- ²²⁹ Sec. 1045(a).

²²⁵ Sec. 1(h)(4),(7).

Effective Date

In general, the proposal applies to sales or exchanges of stock on or after September 13, 2021. However, the proposal does not apply to any sale or exchange of stock executed pursuant to a written binding contract which was in effect on September 12, 2021, and which is not later materially modified.

11. Rules relating to common control

Present Law

Aggregation rules are applied under the tax law to treat multiple taxpayers as a single taxpayer for purposes of particular tax rules. The section 52 aggregation rules generally treat groups of corporations and other entities under common control as a single employer.²³⁰ Corporate entities making up the same controlled group of corporations are treated as a single employer.²³¹ A separate rule in section 52 aggregates organizations under common control.²³² Thus, partnerships (and other non-corporate entities such as sole proprietorships) may be aggregated under section 52(b).

Under the aggregation rules of section 52(b), all employees of trades or business (whether or not incorporated) that are under common control are treated as employed by a single employer.²³³ The regulations generally apply a vote or value ownership test whereby a parent-subsidiary group, a brother-sister group or a combined group may be treated as a single taxpayer. In broad terms, a parent-subsidiary group requires the organizations to be linked through 50-percent-or-greater direct ownership interests. A brother-sister group generally only exists in the case of closely held entities, and a combined group requires both a parent-subsidiary group and a brother-sister group.

Aggregation under section 52 applies to taxpayers conducting a trade or business.

Description of Proposal

The proposal provides that a trade or business for purposes of section 52(b) includes any activity treated as trade or business under section 469(c)(5) (activity involving research or experimentation) or section 469(c)(6) (including certain investment activity). Thus, for example,

 $^{^{230}}$ The aggregation rules of section 52 (originally designed to assist taxpayers in computing the work opportunity tax credit) are applied by many other Code provisions. Such other Code provisions are themselves cross-referenced, broadening the reach of section 52's aggregation rules. For example, section 163(j)(3)'s small business exception references section 448 and thus requires the application of the aggregation rules of section 52 to determ ine whether a taxpayer is subject to section 163(j)'s business interest expense limitation.

²³¹ Sec. 52(a). A controlled group is defined by reference to section 1563(a).

²³² Section 52(b).

²³³ An entity generally must include the gross receipts of another entity in which it has a controlling interest (generally, a more-than-50-percent interest). Sec. 52; Treas. Reg. sec. 1.52-1.

if a partnership engages in activity that gives rise to a section 212 deduction, such partnership may be aggregated under section 52(b).

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

12. Wash sales and constructive sales

Present Law

Wash sales

In general, a loss claimed by a taxpayer with respect to any sale or other disposition of shares of stock or securities is not allowed if, within a period beginning 30 days before the date of such sale or disposition and ending 30 days after such date, the taxpayer has acquired (by purchase or by an exchange on which the entire amount of gain or loss was recognized by law), or has entered into a contract or option so to acquire, substantially identical stock or securities.²³⁴ In other words, a loss claimed with respect to a wash sale is not allowed.

The basis of the stock or securities acquired (or the contract or option entered into) that resulted in denial of the loss from the sale or other disposition of substantially identical stock or securities is the basis of the stock or securities so sold or disposed of.²³⁵ In other words, the loss is deferred. The basis is increased or decreased by the difference, if any, between the price at which the stock or securities were acquired and the price at which the substantially identical stock or securities were sold or otherwise disposed of.

Constructive sales

In general, in the case of a constructive sale of an appreciated financial position, a taxpayer must recognize gain as if the position were sold, assigned, or otherwise terminated at its fair market value on the date of the constructive sale.²³⁶

²³⁴ Sec. 1091(a). For this purpose, stock or securities generally includes contracts or options to acquire or sell stock or securities.

²³⁵ Sec. 1091(d).

 $^{^{236}}$ Sec. 1259(a)(1). Any gain or loss realized after the constructive sale with respect to the position is adjusted to reflect any gain taken into a ccount as a result of the constructive sale. In addition, the holding period of the position is determined as if the position were originally acquired on the date of the constructive sale. Sec. 1259(a)(2).

In general, an appreciated financial position is any position with respect to any stock, debt instrument, or partnership interest if there would be gain were such position sold, assigned, or otherwise terminated at its fair market value.²³⁷

A taxpayer is treated as having made a constructive sale of an appreciated financial position if the taxpayer (or a related person) (A) enters into a short sale of the same or substantially identical property, (B) enters into an offsetting notional principal contract with respect to the same or substantially identical property, (C) enters into a futures or forward contract to deliver the same or substantially identical property, (D) in the case of an appreciated financial position that is a short sale or a contract described in (B) or (C) with respect to any property, acquires the same or substantially identical property, or (E) to the extent prescribed by the Secretary in regulations, enters into one or more other transactions (or acquires one or more positions) that have substantially the same effect as a transaction described in any of the preceding sentence.

Description of Proposal

Wash sales

The proposal modifies the wash sale rules to apply to a loss claimed with respect to any sale or other disposition of a specified asset. Other specified assets include (1) any security described in subparagraph (A), (B), (C), (D), or (E) of section 475(c)(2), (2) any foreign currency, (3) any commodity described in subparagraph (A), (B), or (C) of section 475(e)(2), (4) any digital representation of value which is recorded on a cryptographically secured distributed ledger or any similar technology as specified by the Secretary. Except as provided in regulations, specified assets include contracts or options to acquire or sell any specified assets. The proposal also provides a business needs and hedging exception for foreign currencies and commodities (as defined).

The proposal expands application of the wash sale rules to acquisition of substantially identical specified assets by the taxpayer or a related party. In the case of any acquisition of substantially identical specified assets by a related party (other than the taxpayer's spouse), the basis of the substantially identical specified assets is not adjusted to include the disallowed loss. If the substantially identical specified assets are acquired by the taxpayer (or the taxpayer's spouse), the basis of the acquired specified assets is increased by the amount of the disallowed loss.

Constructive sales

The proposal adds digital asset (as defined above) to the definition of appreciated financial position. Thus, a constructive sale of a digital asset is subject to the general rule for constructive sales, such that a taxpayer must recognize gain as if the position with respect to the

 $^{^{237}}$ Sec. 1259(b)(1). A position is an interest, including a futures or forward contract, short sale, or option. Sec. 1259(b)(3).

digital asset were sold, assigned, or otherwise terminated at its fair market value on the date of the constructive sale.

Effective Date

The proposal applies to sales and other dispositions after December 31, 2021.

F. Tax Increases for High-Income Individuals

1. Increase in top marginal individual income tax rate

Present Law

In general

To determine regular tax liability, individual, estate, and trust taxpayers generally must apply the tax rate schedules (or the tax tables) to their regular taxable income. The rate schedules are broken into several ranges of income, known as income brackets, and the marginal tax rate increases as a taxpayer's income bracket increases.

Tax rate schedules

Separate rate schedules apply based on an individual's filing status. Public Law 115-97 (the "2017 Tax Act") changed the prior-law rate schedules for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, and beginning before January 1, 2026. For 2022, the regular individual, estate, and trust income tax rate schedules are projected to be as follows:

If taxable income is:	Then income tax equals:
Single Individuals	
Not over \$10,250	10% of the taxable income
Over \$10,250 but not over \$41,675	\$1,025 plus 12% of the excess over \$10,250
Over \$41,675 but not over \$88,850	\$4,796 plus 22% of the excess over \$41,675
Over \$88,850 but not over \$169,600	\$15,174.50 plus 24% of the excess over \$88,850
Over \$169,600 but not over \$215,375	\$34,554.50 plus 32% of the excess over \$169,600
Over \$215,375 but not over \$538,475	\$49,202.50 plus 35% of the excess over \$215,375
Over \$538,475	\$162,287.50 plus 37% of the excess over \$538,475
Нес	nds of Households
Not over \$14,600	10% of the taxable income
Over \$14,600 but not over \$55,750	\$1,460 plus 12% of the excess over \$14,600
Over \$55,750 but not over \$88,850	\$6,398 plus 22% of the excess over \$55,750
Over \$88,850 but not over \$169,600	\$13,680 plus 24% of the excess over \$88,850
Over \$169,600 but not over \$215,350	\$33,060 plus 32% of the excess over \$169,600
Over \$215,350 but not over \$538,450	\$47,700 plus 35% of the excess over \$215,350
Over \$538,450	\$160,785 plus 37% of the excess over \$538,450

Table 1.-Projected Federal Individual, Estate, and Trust Income Tax Rates for 2022¹

If taxable income is:

Then income tax equals:

municu murviuuuis 1 ung	Joint Returns and Surviving Spouses
Not over \$20,500	10% of the taxable income
Over \$20,500 but not over \$83,350	\$2,050 plus 12% of the excess over \$20,500
Over \$83,350 but not over \$177,700	\$9,592 plus 22% of the excess over \$83,350
Over \$177,700 but not over \$339,200	\$30,349 plus 24% of the excess over \$177,700
Over \$339,200 but not over \$430,750	\$69,109 plus 32% of the excess over \$339,200
Over \$430,750 but not over \$646,150	\$98,405 plus 35% of the excess over \$430,750
Over \$646,150	\$173,795 plus 37% of the excess over \$646,150
Married Individu	uals Filing Separate Returns
Not over \$10,250	10% of the taxable income
Over \$10,250 but not over \$41,675	\$1,025 plus 12% of the excess over \$10,250
Over \$41,675 but not over \$88,850	\$4,796 plus 22% of the excess over \$41,675
Over \$88,850 but not over \$169,600	\$15,174.50 plus 24% of the excess over \$88,850
Over \$169,600 but not over \$215,375	\$34,554.50 plus 32% of the excess over \$169,600
Over \$215,375 but not over \$323,075	\$49,202.50 plus 35% of the excess over \$215,375
Over \$323,075	\$86,897.50 plus 37% of the excess over \$323,075
Est	ates and Trusts
Not over \$2,700	10% of the taxable income
Over \$2,700 but not over \$9,850	\$270 plus 24% of the excess over \$2,700
Over \$9,850 but not over \$13,450	\$1,986 plus 35% of the excess over \$9,850
Over \$13,450	\$3,246 plus 37% of the excess over \$13,450

Married Individuals Filing Joint Returns and Surviving Spouses

¹ Joint Comittee staff calculations.

For 2026, after the expiration of changes made by the 2017 Tax Act, the regular individual, estate, and trust income tax rate schedules are projected to be as follows:

If taxable income is:	Then income tax equals:
	Single Individuals
Not over \$11,200	10% of the taxable income
Over \$11,200 but not over \$45,450	\$1,120 plus 15% of the excess over \$11,200
Over \$45,450 but not over \$110,100	\$6,257.50 plus 25% of the excess over \$45,450
Over \$110,100 but not over \$229,600	\$22,420 plus 28% of the excess over \$110,100
Over \$229,600 but not over \$499,200	\$55,880 plus 33% of the excess over \$229,600
Over \$499,200 but not over \$501,250	\$144,848 plus 35% of the excess over \$499,200
Over \$501,250	\$145,565.50 plus 39.6% of the excess over \$501,250
i	Heads of Households
Not over \$16,000	10% of the taxable income
Over \$16,000 but not over \$60,900	\$1,600 plus 15% of the excess over \$16,000
Over \$60,900 but not over \$157,200	\$8,335 plus 25% of the excess over \$60,900
Over \$157,200 but not over \$254,600	\$32,410 plus 28% of the excess over \$157,200
Over \$254,600 but not over \$499,200	\$59,682 plus 33% of the excess over \$254,600
Over \$499,200 but not over \$532,600	\$140,400 plus 35% of the excess over \$499,200
Over \$532,600	\$152,090 plus 39.6% of the excess over \$532,600
Married Individuals F	Filing Joint Returns and Surviving Spouses
Not over \$22,400	10% of the taxable income
Over \$22,400 but not over \$90,900	\$2,240 plus 15% of the excess over \$22,400
Over \$90,900 but not over \$183,450	\$12,515 plus 25% of the excess over \$90,900
Over \$183,450 but not over \$279,550	\$35,652.50 plus 28% of the excess over \$183,450
Over \$279,550 but not over \$499,200	\$62,560.50 plus 33% of the excess over \$279,550
Over \$499,200 but not over \$563,900	\$135,045 plus 35% of the excess over \$499,200
Over \$563,900	\$157,690 plus 39.6% of the excess over \$563,900
Married Ind	lividuals Filing Separate Returns
Not over \$11,200	10% of the taxable income
Over \$11,200 but not over \$45,450	\$1,120 plus 15% of the excess over \$11,200
Over \$45,450 but not over \$91,725	\$6,257.50 plus 25% of the excess over \$45,450
Over \$91,725 but not over \$139,775	\$17,826.25 plus 28% of the excess over \$91,725

Table 2.-Projected Federal Individual, Estate, and Trust Income Tax Rates for 2026¹

If taxable income is:	Then income tax equals:
Over \$139,775 but not over \$249,600	\$31,280.25 plus 33% of the excess over \$139,775
Over \$249,600 but not over \$281,950	\$67,522.50 plus 35% of the excess over \$249,600
Over \$281,950	\$78,845 plus 39.6% of the excess over \$281,950
	Estates and Trusts
Not over \$3,050	15% of the taxable income
Over \$3,050 but not over \$7,200	\$457.50 plus 25% of the excess over \$3,050
Over \$7,200 but not over \$10,950	\$1,495 plus 28% of the excess over \$7,200
Over \$10,950 but not over \$14,950	\$2,545 plus 33.0% of the excess over \$10,950
Over \$14,950	\$3,865 plus 39.6% of the excess over \$14,950

¹ Joint Committee staff calculations.

Description of Proposal

The proposal increases the top individual, estate, and trust income tax rate of 37 percent to 39.6 percent and reduces the dollar amounts at which the 39.6-percent bracket begins. For 2022, the proposal modifies the start of the 39.6 percent bracket to be \$400,000 for singles, \$425,000 for heads of households, \$450,000 for married individuals filing jointly and surviving spouses, and \$225,000 for married individuals filing separately. These amounts are adjusted for inflation starting in 2023. Under the proposal, for 2022, the regular individual income tax rate schedules are projected to be as follows (changes from present law are in bold):

If taxable income is:	Then income tax equals:
Single Individuals	
Not over \$10,250	10% of the taxable income
Over \$10,250 but not over \$41,675	\$1,025 plus 12% of the excess over \$10,250
Over \$41,675 but not over \$88,850	\$4,796 plus 22% of the excess over \$41,675
Over \$88,850 but not over \$169,600	\$15,174.50 plus 24% of the excess over \$88,850
Over \$169,600 but not over \$215,375	\$34,554.50 plus 32% of the excess over \$169,600
Over \$215,375 but not over \$400,000	\$49,202.50 plus 35% of the excess over \$215,375
Over \$400,000	\$113,821.25 plus 39.6% of the excess over \$400,000

Table 3.-Federal Individual, Estate, and Trust Income Tax Rates for 2022Under the Proposal1

If taxable income is:	Then income tax equals:
i	Heads of Households
Not over \$14,600	10% of the taxable income
Over \$14,600 but not over \$55,750	\$1,460 plus 12% of the excess over \$14,600
Over \$55,750 but not over \$88,850	\$6,398 plus 22% of the excess over \$55,750
Over \$88,850 but not over \$169,600	\$13,680 plus 24% of the excess over \$88,850
Over \$169,600 but not over \$215,350	\$33,060 plus 32% of the excess over \$169,600
Over \$215,350 but not over \$425,000	\$47,700 plus 35% of the excess over \$215,350
Over \$425,000	\$121,077.50 plus 39.6% of the excess over \$425,000
Married Individuals F	Filing Joint Returns and Surviving Spouses
Not over \$20,500	10% of the taxable income
Over \$20,500 but not over \$83,350	\$2,050 plus 12% of the excess over \$20,500
Over \$83,350 but not over \$177,700	\$9,592 plus 22% of the excess over \$83,350
Over \$177,700 but not over \$339,200	\$30,349 plus 24% of the excess over \$177,700
Over \$339,200 but not over \$430,750	\$69,109 plus 32% of the excess over \$339,200
Over \$430,750 but not over \$450,000	\$98,405 plus 35% of the excess over \$430,750
Over \$450,000	\$105,142.50 plus 39.6% of the excess over \$450,000
Married Ind	ividuals Filing Separate Returns
Not over \$10,250	10% of the taxable income
Over \$10,250 but not over \$41,675	\$1,025 plus 12% of the excess over \$10,250
Over \$41,675 but not over \$88,850	\$4,796 plus 22% of the excess over \$41,675
Over \$88,850 but not over \$169,600	\$15,174.50 plus 24% of the excess over \$88,850
Over \$169,600 but not over \$215,375	\$34,554.50 plus 32% of the excess over \$169,600
Over \$215,375 but not over \$225,000	\$49,202.50 plus 35% of the excess over \$215,375
Over \$225,000	\$52,571.25 plus 39.6% of the excess over \$225,000
	Estates and Trusts
Not over \$2,700	10% of the taxable income
Over \$2,700 but not over \$9,850	\$270 plus 24% of the excess over \$2,700
Over \$9,850 but not over \$13,450	\$1,986 plus 35% of the excess over \$9,850
Over \$13,450	\$3,246 plus 39.6% of the excess over \$13,450

¹ Joint Committee staff calculations.

The proposal's change to lower the start of the brackets for the top marginal rate also applies to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2025. As a result, the 35-percent bracket is eliminated for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2025.²³⁸ Under the proposal, for 2026, the regular individual income tax rate schedules are projected to be as follows (changes from present law are in bold):

If taxable income is:	Then income tax equals:
Sing	gle Individuals
Not over \$11,200	10% of the taxable income
Over \$11,200 but not over \$45,450	\$1,120 plus 15% of the excess over \$11,200
Over \$45,450 but not over \$110,100	\$6,257.50 plus 25% of the excess over \$45,450
Over \$110,100 but not over \$229,600	\$22,420 plus 28% of the excess over \$110,100
Over \$229,600 but not over \$437,700	\$55,880 plus 33% of the excess over \$229,600
Over \$437,700	\$124,553 plus 39.6% of the excess over \$437,700
Head	s of Households
Not over \$16,000	10% of the taxable income
Over \$16,000 but not over \$60,900	\$1,600 plus 15% of the excess over \$16,000
Over \$60,900 but not over \$157,200	\$8,335 plus 25% of the excess over \$60,900
Over \$157,200 but not over \$254,600	\$32,410 plus 28% of the excess over \$157,200
Over \$254,600 but not over \$465,100	\$59,682 plus 33% of the excess over \$254,600
Over \$465,100	\$129,147 plus 39.6% of the excess over \$465,100
Married Individuals Filing	Joint Returns and Surviving Spouses
Not over \$22,400	10% of the taxable income
Over \$22,400 but not over \$90,900	\$2,240 plus 15% of the excess over \$22,400
Over \$90,900 but not over \$183,450	\$12,515 plus 25% of the excess over \$90,900
Over \$183,450 but not over \$279,550	\$35,652.50 plus 28% of the excess over \$183,450
Over \$279,550 but not over \$492,450	\$62,560.50 plus 33% of the excess over \$279,550
Over \$492,450	\$132,817.50 plus 39.6% of the excess over \$492,450

Table 4.–Federal Individual, Estate, and Trust Income Tax Rates for 2026Under the Proposal1

²³⁸ Other rates and brackets revert to levels from prior law in effect before enactment of the 2017 Tax Act (adjusted appropriately for inflation) for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2025.

NL (011 200	
Not over \$11,200	10% of the taxable income
Over \$11,200 but not over \$45,450	\$1,120 plus 15% of the excess over \$11,200
Over \$45,450 but not over \$91,725	\$6,257.50 plus 25% of the excess over \$45,450
Over \$91,725 but not over \$139,775	\$17,826.25 plus 28% of the excess over \$91,725
Over \$139,775 but not over \$246,225	\$31,280.25 plus 33% of the excess over \$139,775
Over \$246,225	\$66,408.75 plus 39.6% of the excess over \$246,225
	Estates and Trusts
Not over \$3,050	15% of the taxable income
Over \$3,050 but not over \$7,200	\$457.50 plus 25% of the excess over \$3,050
	\$1,495 plus 28% of the excess over \$7,200
Over \$7,200 but not over \$14,950	
Over \$7,200 but not over \$14,950 Over \$10,950 but not over \$14,950	\$2,545 plus 33% of the excess over \$10,950

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

2. Increase in capital gains rate for certain high-income individuals

Present Law

Preferential rates on capital gain and qualified dividends

In general, gain or loss reflected in the value of an asset is not recognized for income tax purposes until a taxpayer disposes of the asset. On the sale or exchange of a capital asset, any gain generally is included in income.²³⁹

For individuals, estates, and trusts, any net capital gain is taxed at maximum rates lower than the rates applicable to ordinary income. Net capital gain is the excess of the net long-term capital gain for the taxable year over the net short-term capital loss for the year. ²⁴⁰ Gain or loss

²³⁹ Gain from the sale of a taxpayer's principal residence may be excluded up to certain limits if certain conditions are met. See sec. 121.

²⁴⁰ See sec. 1222.

is treated as long-term if the asset is held for more than one year.²⁴¹ Qualified dividend income generally is taxed at the same rate as net capital gain.²⁴²

Capital losses generally are deductible in full against capital gains.²⁴³ In addition, individual, trust, and estate taxpayers may deduct capital losses against up to \$3,000 of ordinary income in each year.²⁴⁴ Any remaining unused capital losses may be carried forward indefinitely to another taxable year.²⁴⁵

The maximum rate of tax on the adjusted net capital gain depends on the taxpayer's taxable income and filing status. These maximum rates apply for purposes of both the regular tax and the alternative minimum tax. For 2021, the adjusted net capital gain rate schedules are as follows:

Filing Status and Rate Start Amount (Taxable Income)					
Single Individuals	Heads of Households	Married Individuals Filing Joint Returns and Surviving Spouses	Married Individuals Filing Separate Returns	Estates and Trust	
\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	0%
\$40,400	\$54,100	\$80,800	\$40,400	\$2,700	15%
\$445,850	\$473,750	\$501,600	\$250,800	\$13,250	20%

Table 5.-Adjusted Net Capital Gain Maximum Rates for 2021

The breakpoints between the zero- and 15-percent rates (the "15-percent breakpoints") and the 15- and 20-percent rates (the "top capital-gain breakpoints") do not correspond to the ordinary income breakpoints.²⁴⁶

²⁴¹ *Ibid*.

²⁴² Sec. 1(h).

²⁴³ Sec. 1211(b).

²⁴⁴ *Ibid*.

²⁴⁵ Sec. 1212(b).

 246 Sec. 1(j)(5) For taxable years beginning before January 1, 2018, the start of the 15-percent breakpoints corresponded to the breakpoints that began the then-in-effective 25 percent ordinary rate, while the start of the top capital-gain breakpoints corresponded to the breakpoints that began the then-in-effective 39.6 percent ordinary rate. See sec. 1(h)(1).

Additionally, in certain cases, there are additional higher capital gains rate brackets. A maximum 25 percent rate applies to unrecaptured section 1250 gain. Unrecaptured section 1250 gain arises upon the sale of depreciable real property, gain from which may be treated as long-term gain under section 1231 (for property used in a trade or business). Upon the sale of such property, a portion of the gain attributable to depreciation recapture is treated as capital gain but taxed at a higher rate.²⁴⁷ A maximum 28 percent rate applies to gain from the sale of collectibles.²⁴⁸

The preferential capital gains rates apply for both the regular income tax as well as the alternative minimum tax ("AMT").

Conforming provisions

Certain provisions in the Internal Revenue Code and in the U.S Code operate with a rate equal to the highest marginal regular capital gains rate: (1) the accumulated earnings tax,²⁴⁹ (2) the personal holding company tax,²⁵⁰ (3) the FIRPTA withholding rules for certain distributions relating to dispositions of real property interests,²⁵¹ and (4) 46 U.S.C. sec. 53511(f)(2).

Section 15

If tax rates change during a taxable year, section 15 provides rules for apportioning taxable income for the year between the portion of the year ending with the day before the effective date of the change and the portion beginning with the effective date.²⁵²

Description of Proposal

The proposal aligns the top capital-gain breakpoints with the breakpoints that begin the top ordinary rate.²⁵³ The 15-percent breakpoints is not changed.

The proposal increases the top regular capital gains rate for individuals, estates, and trusts from 20 percent to 25 percent. The rates for unrecaptured section 1250 gain and collectible gain remain the same. The rate increase applies for purposes of both the regular tax and the AMT.

 248 The term collectible is defined in section 408(m). In addition, certain gain from the sale of qualified small business stock is subject to a maximum 28 percent rate.

²⁴⁹ Sec. 531.

²⁵⁰ Sec. 541.

²⁵¹ Sec. 1445(e)(1) and (6).

²⁵² Sec. 15.

²⁵³ The preceding proposal of the bill lowers the top ordinary income breakpoints and raises the top ordinary income rate to 39.6 percent. This proposal a ligns the top capital-gain breakpoints with those breakpoints.

²⁴⁷ Sec. 1(h)(1)(E) and (6).

Conforming changes are made to the accumulated earnings tax, (2) the personal holding company tax, (3) the FIRPTA withholding rules for certain distributions relating to dispositions of real property interests, and (4) 46 U.S.C. sec. 53511(f)(2).

The proposal provides that section 15 does not apply to the rate increase.

Effective Date

The proposal to align the top capital-gain breakpoints with the breakpoints that begin the top ordinary rate is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

The proposal to increase the top regular capital gains rate is effective for taxable years ending after the date of introduction (September 13, 2021).

The conforming change to the FIRPTA withholding rules applies to dispositions made after the effective date of the proposal.

The proposal has a transition rule for the taxable year including the date of introduction. Under this rule, gains and losses for the portion of the taxable year on or before the date of introduction are separately taken into account, and net capital gain with respect to such gain and losses is subject to a top marginal regular capital gains rate of 20 percent. Gains and losses for the portion of the taxable year after the date of introduction are also separately taken into account, and net capital with respect to such gain and losses is subject to a top marginal regular capital gains rate of 25 percent. A similar transition rule applies for purposes of the AMT. If the taxpayer has gains or losses allocated from a passthrough entity, the determination of when the gain or loss is taken into account is made at the entity level.

For purposes of the transition rule, capital gain recognized in the portion of the taxable year after the date of introduction shall be treated as recognized in the portion of the taxable year on or before the date of introduction if the gain arises from a transaction that occurs pursuant to a written binding contract entered into on or before the date of introduction. This safe harbor shall not apply if the written binding contract is modified in any material respect after the date of introduction.

3. Application of net investment income tax to trade or business income of certain high income individuals

Present Law

In general

As part of the financing for Social Security and Medicare benefits, a tax is imposed on the wages of an individual received with respect to his or her employment under the Federal Insurance Contributions Act ("FICA").²⁵⁴ A similar tax is imposed on the self-employment income of an individual under the Self-Employment Contributions Act ("SECA").²⁵⁵

FICA

The FICA tax has two components. Under the old-age, survivors, and disability insurance component ("OASDI"), the rate of tax is 12.4 percent, half of which is imposed on the employer, and the other half of which is imposed on the employee.²⁵⁶ The amount of wages subject to this component is capped at \$142,800 for 2021. Under the hospital insurance ("HI") component, the rate is 2.9 percent, also split equally between the employer and the employee. The amount of wages subject to the HI component of the tax is not capped.

The employee portion of the HI tax under FICA (not the employer portion) is increased by an additional tax of 0.9 percent on wages received in excess of a threshold amount. The threshold amount for the additional 0.9 percent is \$250,000 in the case of a joint return, \$125,000 in the case of a married individual filing a separate return, and \$200,000 in any other case. The threshold amount is not indexed for inflation.²⁵⁷ The wages of individuals employed by a business in any form (for example, a C corporation) generally are subject to the FICA tax. The employee portion of the FICA tax is collected through withholding from wages.²⁵⁸

<u>SECA</u>

The SECA tax rate is the combined employer and employee rate for FICA taxes. Under the OASDI component, the rate of tax is 12.4 percent and the amount of earnings subject to this component is capped at \$142,800 for 2021. Under the HI component, the rate is 2.9 percent, and the amount of self-employment income subject to the HI component is not capped. An additional 0.9 percent HI tax applies to self-employment income in excess of the same threshold amount that is applicable under FICA (reduced by FICA wages).²⁵⁹

For SECA tax purposes, self-employment income generally means net earnings from self-employment subject to a de minimis floor, but, for the OASDI component, self-employment income is limited to the annual cap less wages paid to the individual during the taxable year. Net earnings from self-employment generally includes the gross income derived by an individual from any trade or business carried on by the individual, less the deductions attributable to the

²⁵⁵ Sec. 1401.

- ²⁵⁶ Secs. 3101 and 3111.
- ²⁵⁷ Sec. 3101(b)(2).
- ²⁵⁸ Sec. 3102.
- ²⁵⁹ Sec. 1401(b)(2).

²⁵⁴ See Chapter 21 of the Code.

trade or business that are allowed under the self-employment tax rules.²⁶⁰ Net earnings from self-employment generally includes the distributive share of income or loss from any trade or business of a partnership in which the individual is a partner, subject to certain exceptions.

Specified types of income or loss are excluded, such as rentals from real estate in certain circumstances, dividends and interest, and gain or loss from the sale or exchange of a capital asset or from timber, certain minerals, or other property that is neither inventory nor held primarily for sale to customers.

Trust funds

Under the Social Security Act, OASDI taxes are directed to Treasury trust funds that provide Social Security benefits, and HI taxes are directed to the Federal Hospital Insurance Trust Fund.

S corporation shareholders

An S corporation is treated as a passthrough entity for Federal income tax purposes. Each shareholder takes into account and is subject to Federal income tax on the shareholder's pro rata share of the S corporation's income.²⁶¹

A shareholder of an S corporation who performs services as an employee of the S corporation is subject to FICA tax on his or her wages from the S corporation. A shareholder of an S corporation generally is not subject to FICA tax on amounts that are not wages, such as the shareholder's share of the S corporation's income.

An S corporation shareholder's pro rata share of S corporation income is not subject to SECA tax.²⁶² Nevertheless, courts have held that an S corporation shareholder is subject to FICA tax on the amount of his or her reasonable compensation, even though the amount may have been characterized by the taxpayer as other than wages. The case law has addressed the issue of whether amounts paid to shareholders of S corporations constitute reasonable

²⁶⁰ For purposes of determining net earnings from self-employment, taxpayers are permitted a deduction from net earnings from self-employment equal to the product of the taxpayer's net earnings (determined without regard to this deduction) and one-half of the sum of the rates for OASDI (12.4 percent) and HI (2.9 percent), *i.e.*, 7.65 percent of net earnings. This deduction reflects the fact that the FICA rates apply to an employee's wages, which do not include FICA taxes paid by the employer, whereas a self-employed individual's net earnings are economically the equivalent of an employee's wages plus the employer share of FICA taxes. The deduction is intended to provide parity between FICA and SECA taxes. However, for a discussion of why the present law deduction does not provide exact parity with FICA taxes and a proposal to modify the deduction, see Joint Committee on Taxation, *Options to Improve Tax Compliance and Reform Tax Expenditures*, JCS-02-05 (Jan. 27, 2005), at pp. 74-79. In a ddition, self-employed individuals may deduct one-half of self-employment taxes for income tax purposes under section 164(f).

²⁶¹ Sec. 1366.

²⁶² See Rev. Rul. 59-221, 1959-1 C.B. 225, and Rev. Rul. 74-44, 1974-1 C.B. 287. This treatment differs from a partner's distributive share of income or loss from the partnership's trade or business, which is generally subject to SECA tax, as described below. Sec. 1402(a).

compensation and therefore are wages subject to the FICA tax, or rather, are properly characterized as another type of income that is not subject to FICA tax.²⁶³

Partners

In general

A partnership is treated as a passthrough entity for Federal income tax purposes. Each partner includes in income its distributive share of partnership items of income, deduction, gain and loss.²⁶⁴

A partner's distributive share of partnership items is not treated as wages for FICA tax purposes. Rather, a partner who is an individual is subject to the SECA tax on his or her distributive share of trade or business income of the partnership. The net earnings from self-employment generally include the partner's distributive share (whether or not distributed) of income or loss from any trade or business carried on by the partnership (excluding specified types of income, such as rent, dividends, interest, and capital gains and losses, as described above²⁶⁵).

Limited partners

An exclusion from SECA applies in certain circumstances for limited partners of a partnership.²⁶⁶ Under this rule, in determining a limited partner's net earnings from self-employment, an exclusion is generally provided for his or her distributive share of partnership income or loss. The exclusion does not apply with respect to guaranteed payments to the limited partner for services actually rendered to or on behalf of the partnership to the extent that those payments are established to be in the nature of remuneration for those services.²⁶⁷

²⁶⁵ Sec. 1402(a).

²⁶⁶ Sec. 1402(a)(13).

²⁶³ See the discussion of case law in, *e.g.*, Thomas L. Dickens and Judson R. Jahn, "Reasonable Compensation For S Corporation Shareholder-Employees,"94 *Practical Tax Strategies* 159, April 2015 (also listing websites with ranges of reasonable compensation for various sectors); Richard Winchester, "The Gap in the Employment Tax Gap," 20 *Stanford Law and Policy Review* 127, 2009; James Parker and Claire Y. Nash, "Anticipate Close Inspection of Closely Held Company Pay Practices - Part I," 80 *Practical Tax Strategies* 215, April 2008; "Renewed Focus on S Corp. Officer Compensation," AICPA Tax Division's S Corporation Taxation Technical Resource Panel, *Tax Advisor*, May 2004, at 280. See a lso Treasury Inspector General for Tax Administration, Department of the Treasury, *Efforts to Address the Compliance Risk of Underreporting of S Corporation Officers' Compensation Are Increasing, but More Action Can be Taken*, (TIGTA 2021-30-042), August 11, 2021.

²⁶⁴ Secs. 701 and 702.

²⁶⁷ In *Renkemeyer, Campbell, & Weaver, LLP v. Commissioner*, the Tax Court held that distributive shares of limited partners in a law firm that was an LLP (limited liability partnership under applicable State law) of partnership income "arising from the legal services they performed in their capacity as partners in the law firm are subject to self-employment tax" in the years at issue. 136 T. C. 137, 150 (2011); see also Amy S. Elliott, "Tax

The owners of a limited liability company that is classified as a partnership for Federal tax purposes are treated as partners for tax purposes. However, under State law, limited liability company owners are not defined as either general partners or limited partners.

Net investment income ("NII") tax

Rate and application of the tax

An additional tax is imposed on net investment income in the case of an individual, estate, or trust. In the case of an individual, the tax is 3.8 percent of the lesser of net investment income or the excess of modified adjusted gross income ("AGI") over the threshold amount.²⁶⁸

The threshold amount is \$250,000 in the case of a joint return or surviving spouse, \$125,000 in the case of a married individual filing a separate return, and \$200,000 in any other case.²⁶⁹ The threshold amount is not indexed for inflation. Modified AGI is AGI increased by the amount excluded from income as foreign earned income under section 911(a)(1) (net of the deductions and exclusions disallowed with respect to the foreign earned income).²⁷⁰

The tax is subject to the individual estimated tax provisions.²⁷¹ The tax is not deductible for income tax purposes.

In *Howell v. Commissioner*, the Tax Court concluded that a member of a limited liability company (treated as a partnership for tax purposes) who received guaranteed payments had performed services for the partnership and therefore was required to include the payments in net earnings from self-employment. T.C. Memo. 2012-303, Nov. 1, 2012. Similarly in *Riether v. U.S.*, the court held that the two members of a diagnostic imaging LLC should have treated all their income from the LLC as self-employment income because they participated in the partnership business. 919 F.Supp.2d 1140 (D.N.M. 2012).

In 1997, the Treasury Department issued proposed regulations defining a limited partner for purposes of the self-employment tax rules. Prop. Treas. Reg. sec. 1.1402(a)-2 (January 13, 1997). These regulations provided, among other things, that an individual is not a limited partner if the individual participates in the partnership business for more than 500 hours during the taxable year. However, in the Taxpayer Relief Act of 1997, the Congress imposed a monatorium on regulations regarding employment taxes of limited partners. The moratorium provided that any regulations relating to the definition of a limited partner for self-employment tax purposes could not be issued or effective before July 1, 1998. No regulations have been issued to date.

- ²⁷⁰ Sec. 1411(d).
- ²⁷¹ Sec. 6654(a).

Court Decision Could Reignite Debate Over Partnerships and Employment Taxes," *Tax Notes Today*, March 11, 2011. The Tax Court has continued to apply a functional test in evaluating whether a taxpayer's interest in a partnership is sufficiently analogous to a limited partner interest for income attributable to the interest to be covered by the section 1402(a)(13) exclusion. See, *e.g.*, *Josephv. Commissioner*, T.C.M. 2020-65, 20-21 (2020) ("[W]e concluded in *Renkemeyer* that an interest other than a limited partner interest could be treated as such for purposes of that section only if the holder is merely a passive investor in the entity who does not actively participate in the entity's business operations.")

²⁶⁸ Sec. 1411(a)(1).

²⁶⁹ Sec. 1411(b).

Net investment income definition

Net investment income is investment income reduced by the deductions properly allocable to such income.²⁷²

Investment income is the sum of (i) gross income from interest, dividends, annuities, royalties, and rents (other than such income derived in the ordinary course of any trade or business to which the tax does not apply), (ii) other gross income derived from any trade or business to which the tax applies, and (iii) net gain (to the extent taken into account in computing taxable income) attributable to the disposition of property other than property held in a trade or business to which the tax does not apply.²⁷³

Deductions properly allocable to net investment income may include net operating loss deductions allowed under section 172.²⁷⁴ Treasury regulations provide rules for calculating section 1411 net operating loss amounts of a net operating loss deduction for a taxable year.

The NII tax applies if a trade or business is a passive activity with respect to the taxpayer, or if the trade or business consists of trading financial instruments or commodities (as defined in section 475(e)(2)). In general, for a trade or business to be a passive activity (within the meaning of section 469) with respect to a taxpayer, the taxpayer does not materially participate in the trade or business (with certain exceptions).

Consequently, the NII tax generally does not apply to income or gain from a trade or business conducted as a sole proprietor, partnership, or S corporation, if the individual taxpayer materially participates in the trade or business activity. The NII tax does not apply to wages of an employee.

In the case of the disposition of a partnership interest or stock in an S corporation, gain or loss is taken into account only to the extent gain or loss would be taken into account by the partner or shareholder if the entity had sold all its properties for fair market value immediately before the disposition. Thus, only net gain or loss attributable to property held by the entity which is not property attributable to an active trade or business is taken into account.²⁷⁵

Income, gain, or loss on working capital is not treated as derived from a trade or business. Investment income does not include distributions from a qualified retirement plan. Nor does net

²⁷² Sec. 1411(c).

 $^{^{273}}$ Gross income does not include items, such as interest on tax-exempt bonds, veterans' benefits, and excluded ga in from the sale of a principal residence, which are excluded from gross income under the income tax. See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.1411-1(d)(4).

²⁷⁴ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.1411-4(f)(2)(iv) and (h).

 $^{^{275}\,}$ For this purpose, a business of trading financial instruments or commodities is not treated as an active trade or business.

investment income include amounts subject to SECA tax; thus, in effect, the application of SECA tax is determined before NII is determined.

Application of NII tax to trusts and estates

In the case of an estate or trust, the NII tax is 3.8 percent of the lesser of (1) undistributed net investment income, or (2) the excess of adjusted gross income over the dollar amount at which the highest income tax bracket applicable to an estate or trust begins²⁷⁶ (\$13,050 for taxable years beginning in 2021).²⁷⁷ Adjusted gross income is determined as provided in section 67(e), which provides that trusts and estates may deduct certain administrative expenses,²⁷⁸ the applicable personal exemption,²⁷⁹ and distributions made to beneficiaries²⁸⁰ as part of the calculation of adjusted gross income.²⁸¹

The tax does not apply to a trust all the unexpired interests in which are devoted to charitable purposes.²⁸² It also does not apply to (1) a trust that is exempt from tax under section 501, (2) a charitable remainder trust exempt from tax under section 664, (3) a trust, fund, or account exempt from tax under subtitle A, (4) a grantor trust, (5) Electing Alaska Native Settlement Trusts subject to taxation under section 646; (6) Cemetery Perpetual Care Funds to which section 642(i) applies; or (7) foreign trusts or estates.²⁸³

A trust or estate may materially participate in a trade or business, making the trade or business a non-passive trade or business the income from which is not subject to the NII tax. The Internal Revenue Service has taken the position that material participation is determined by whether the fiduciary of the trust or estate is involved in the operations of the activities of the trade or business on a regular, continuous, and substantial basis.²⁸⁴

²⁷⁶ Sec. 1411(a)(2).

²⁷⁷ Rev. Proc. 2020-45, 2020-46 I.R.B. 1016.

²⁷⁸ The trust or estate may deduct costs which are paid or incurred in connection with the administration of the trust or estate and which would not have been incurred if the property were not held in such trust or estate.

²⁷⁹ See sec. 642(b) (providing the personal exemption amounts for trusts and estates).

²⁸⁰ Secs. 651, 661.

 281 Adjusted gross income is otherwise calculated in the same manner as it is for individuals. Sec. 67(e); see also sec. 62.

²⁸² Sec. 1411(e).

²⁸³ Treas. Reg. 1.11411-3(b)(1).

²⁸⁴ See Technical Advice Memorandum 201317010 (Jan. 18, 2013), Private Letter Ruling 201029014 (July 23, 2010), Technical Advice Memorandum (Aug. 17, 2007); see a lso *Frank Aragona Trust*, 142 T.C. No. 9 (2014) (holding that the activities of the trustees constituted material participation); *Mattie K. Carter Trust*, 256 F. Supp. 2d 536 (N.D. Tex. 2003) (holding that in determining material participation for a trust, the activities of its employees and a gents should be included with the activities of its trustee).

Application of NII tax to CFCs and PFICs

Special rules apply to taxpayers who own certain foreign corporations. First, U.S. shareholders of controlled foreign corporations ("CFCs") must include currently under sections 951 and 951A certain income earned by the CFC (referred to as "subpart F income" and "global intangible low-taxed income" ("GILTI"), respectively).²⁸⁵ Second, special rules apply with respect to U.S. persons that are shareholders (regardless of their percentage ownership) in any foreign corporation that is not a CFC but is a passive foreign investment company ("PFIC").²⁸⁶ In certain cases, taxpayers that own stock in a PFIC may elect (under a "qualified electing fund" or "QEF" election) to include currently under section 1293 their pro rata share of the PFIC's ordinary income and long-term capital gain.²⁸⁷ For taxpayers that own marketable stock in a PFIC, another option is to elect to mark to market their PFIC stock under section 1296.

Absent an election of current NII taxation under the regulations,²⁸⁸ subpart F and GILTI inclusions in respect of stock of a CFC and QEF inclusions in respect of stock of a PFIC are not net investment income even though those inclusions may be comparable to other items of income that are net investment income. Under the regulations' default rules, only distributions of earnings that have been previously taxed under subpart F, GILTI, or the QEF rules are net investment income. By contrast, mark-to-market inclusions in respect of PFIC stock generally are net investment income even though the inclusions do not result from an actual sale of PFIC stock.²⁸⁹

Application of employment taxes and the NII tax to individuals

As described above, the FICA HI tax, the SECA HI tax, and the NII tax each apply up to a 3.8 percent tax rate,²⁹⁰ but they apply to different categories of taxpayers and to different tax bases. The differences in the application of these taxes mean that some income, including income derived from passthrough businesses, is not subject to a 3.8-percent tax rate under any of the three regimes. Table 6 summarizes the application of each regime for different categories of taxpayers:

- ²⁸⁸ Treas. Reg. secs. 1.951A-5(b)(1), 1.1411-10(g).
- ²⁸⁹ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.1411-10.

²⁸⁵ A CFC generally is defined as any foreign corporation in which U.S. persons own (directly, indirectly, or constructively) more than 50 percent of the corporation's stock (measured by vote or value), taking into a ccount only "U.S. shareholders," that is, U.S. persons that own at least 10 percent of the stock (measured by vote or value). Secs. 951(b), 957, and 958.

²⁸⁶ See secs. 1291 through 1298. The PFIC rules generally seek to prevent the deferral of passive income through the use of foreign corporations.

²⁸⁷ Such a PFIC is referred to as a qualified electing fund ("QEF"). See secs. 1293 and 1295.

 $^{^{290}}$ For FICA and SECA, the HI tax rate is 2.9 percent, plus an additional 0.9 percent rate on wages and self-employment income above the threshold amounts (\$250,000 in the case of a joint return, \$125,000 in the case of a married individual filing a separate return, and \$200,000 in any other case).

Type of Taxpayer	FICA	SECA	NII tax	No 3.8% tax
Employees	Wages			
S corporation shareholders - active	Reasonable compensation			Distributive share in excess of reasonable compensation; net gain from sale of business property
General partners		Self- employment income		
LP, LLP, and LLC limited partners or members - active		Guaranteed payments		Distributive share of partners claiming limited partner exception from SECA; net gain from sale of business property
S corporation shareholders; LP, LLP, and LLC limited partners or members - passive			Distributive share; net gain from sale of business property	
Sole proprietors		Self- employment income		
Investors			Investment income and net gain from passive activities or trading businesses	Investment income and net gain from active interests

Table 6.–Application of FICA, SECA, and NII Tax Regimes Under Present Law

Description of Proposal

In general, the proposal provides that a high-income individual (determined based on specified, filing-status-based amounts described below) is subject to NII tax on net income or net gain regardless of whether the taxpayer materially participates in a trade or business that generated the net income or net gain, where such net income or net gain is not otherwise subject to FICA or SECA tax in the hands of the taxpayer. A principal effect of the proposal is that those S corporation shareholders, limited partners, and LLC members who currently are not liable for FICA or SECA tax, respectively, on their pro rata shares, distributive shares, and partnership income and gain become subject to NII tax on this income and gain above certain income thresholds.

For taxpayers subject to the proposal, the proposal expands the definition of net investment income subject to the NII tax. Under the proposal, in the case of any individual whose modified AGI exceeds the high income threshold amount, the NII tax of 3.8 percent applies to the greater of specified net income or net investment income (as defined under present law).

Under the proposal, in the case of an estate or trust, the NII tax is 3.8 percent of the lesser of (1) the greater of undistributed specified net income or undistributed net investment income, or (2) the excess of adjusted gross income over the dollar amount at which the highest income tax bracket applicable to an estate or trust begins.

Specified net income

Specified net income under the proposal includes, among other items described below, income derived in the ordinary course of a trade or business without regard to the present law limitation that the trade or business is a passive activity with respect to the taxpayer or consists of trading financial instruments or commodities. Specified net income is specified income reduced by the deductions properly allocable to such income. Specified income is the sum of (i) gross income from interest, dividends, annuities, royalties, and rents, (ii) other gross income derived from a trade or business, and (iii) net gain (to the extent taken into account in computing taxable income) attributable to the disposition of property.

Specified net income is determined without regard to the special rules for determining net investment income for income on investment of working capital and for dispositions of a partnership interest or stock in an S corporation.

In determining specified net income, a trade or business includes any activity involving research or experimentation (within the meaning of section 174) and any activity in connection with a trade or business or with respect to which expenses are allowable as a deduction under section 212 (to the extent provided in regulations pursuant to section 469(c)(6)).

Specified net income does not include distributions from a qualified retirement plan. Specified net income does not include amounts subject to SECA tax or wages subject to FICA tax.

Income thresholds and phase-in of increase

The high income threshold amount is \$500,000 in the case of a joint return or surviving spouse, \$250,000 in the case of a married individual filing a separate return, and \$400,000 in any other case.

The increase in tax under the proposal is phased in based on a ratio of (i) the excess of the taxpayer's modified AGI over the applicable high income threshold amount to (ii) 100,000 (one-half of such amount in the case of a married taxpayer filing separately). Under this phase-in, if a married individual who files a joint return has modified adjusted gross income of, for example, 540,000, the increase in tax under the proposal is limited to 40 percent (540,000 - 500,000 / 100,000) of the increase that would be determined in the absence of the phase-in limitation.

The proposal retains the unindexed threshold amounts above which the NII tax applies, specifically, \$250,000 in the case of a joint return or surviving spouse, \$125,000 in the case of a married individual filing a separate return, and \$200,000 in any other case.

Clarifications regarding net investment income

The proposal provides several clarifications regarding the determination of net investment income, which also apply to determinations of specified net income under the proposal. First, the proposal clarifies that net investment income does not include wages subject to FICA tax.

Second, the proposal clarifies that deductions properly allocable to investment income in determining net investment income do not include net operating loss deductions under section 172.

Finally, the proposal provides that net investment income includes subpart F and GILTI inclusions in respect of stock of a CFC and QEF inclusions in respect of stock of a PFIC. It codifies the existing regulatory treatment of mark-to-market inclusions in respect of PFIC stock as net investment income. The proposal provides that the Secretary shall issue regulations or other guidance providing for the treatment of distributions of amounts previously included in gross income for purposes of chapter 1 but not previously subject to NII tax. The regulations or other guidance shall include transition rules for proper coordination and application of existing inclusion rules with the inclusion rules under the proposal for subpart F and GILTI inclusions in respect of stock of a CFC and inclusions in respect of stock of a PFIC.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

4. Limitation on deduction of qualified business income for certain high income individuals

Present Law²⁹¹

For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, and before January 1, 2026, a taxpayer other than a corporation (that is, individuals as well as fiduciaries and beneficiaries of trusts and estates) generally may deduct 20 percent of qualified business income from a partnership, S corporation, or sole proprietorship, as well as 20 percent of aggregate qualified real estate investment trust ("REIT") dividends and qualified publicly traded partnership income of the taxpayer for the taxable year.²⁹²

The amount deductible may not exceed 20 percent of the taxpayer's taxable income for the taxable year (reduced by net capital gain).²⁹³

Limitations based on W-2 wages and capital investment phase in above a threshold amount of taxable income.²⁹⁴ A disallowance of the deduction of income of specified service trades or businesses²⁹⁵ also phases in above the threshold amount of taxable income. The threshold amount is indexed for inflation for taxable years beginning after 2018. For 2021, the threshold amount is \$329,800 for married filing joint returns, \$164,925 for married filing separate returns, and \$164,900 for all other returns.²⁹⁶

For any taxable year, qualified business income means the net amount of qualified items of income, gain, deduction, and loss with respect to any qualified trade or business of the

²⁹² Sec. 199A.

 293 Sec. 199A(a). For this purpose, taxable income is computed without regard to the deduction allowable under the provision. Sec. 199A(e)(1).

 294 For a taxpayer with taxable income above the threshold, the taxpayer is allowed a deductible amount for each qualified trade or business equal to the lesser of (1) 20 percent of the qualified business income with respect to such trade or business, or (2) the greater of (a) 50 percent of the W-2 wages paid with respect to the qualified trade or business, or (b) the sum of 25 percent of the W-2 wages paid with respect to the qualified trade or business plus 2.5 percent of the unadjusted basis immediately after a equisition of all qualified property of the qualified trade or business. Sec. 199A(b)(2).

 295 A specified service trade or business means any trade or business involving the performance of services in the fields of health, law, accounting, actuarial science, performing arts, consulting, a thletics, financial services, brokerage services, or any trade or business where the principal asset of such trade or business is the reputation or skill of one or more of its employees or owners, or which involves the performance of services that consist of investing and investment management, trading, or dealing in securities, partnership interests, or commodities. Sec. 199A(d)(2).

²⁹⁶ Sec. 3.27 of Rev. Proc. 2020-45, 2020-46 I.R.B. 1016.

²⁹¹ The provision, section 199A, as originally enacted in 2017, is described in more detail in Joint Committee on Taxation, *General Explanation of Public Law 115-97*, JCS-1-18, December 2018, pages 11-38. For a description of changes to section 199A in 2018 (as still in effect), see Joint Committee on Taxation, *General Explanation of Certain Tax Legislation Enacted in the 115th Congress*, JCS-2-19, October 2019, pages 120-139.

taxpayer.²⁹⁷ The determination of qualified items of income, gain, deduction, and loss takes into account such items only to the extent included or allowed in the determination of taxable income for the year.²⁹⁸ Items are treated as qualified items of income, gain, deduction, and loss only to the extent they are effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business within the United States.²⁹⁹

A specified agricultural or horticulture cooperative generally may deduct nine percent of the lesser of the cooperative's qualified production activities income or taxable income (determined without regard to the cooperative's section 199A deduction and reduced by certain payments or allocations to patrons) for the taxable year.³⁰⁰

Description of Proposal

The proposal adds a dollar limitation on the deduction for qualified business income under section 199A(a) for a taxable year. In the case of a taxpayer other than a corporation, the amount of the deduction for any taxable year may not exceed \$500,000 for a joint return or surviving spouse, \$250,000 for a married individual filing a separate return, \$10,000 for an estate or trust, or \$400,000 for any other taxpayer. The present-law phaseouts of the deduction above the threshold amount continue to apply, subject to this additional limitation.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

5. Limitations on excess business losses of noncorporate taxpayers

Present Law

For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2020, and before January 1, 2027, an excess business loss of a taxpayer other than a corporation is not allowed for the taxable year.³⁰¹

³⁰¹ Sec. 461(l).

 $^{^{297}}$ Qualified business income does not include any qualified REIT dividends or qualified publicly traded partnership income. Sec. 199A(c)(1).

²⁹⁸ Certa in items are not qualified items of income, gain, deduction, or loss. Sec. 199A(c)(3)(B).

 $^{^{299}}$ For this purpose, section 864(c) is applied by substituting "qualified trade or business (within the meaning of section 199A)" for "nonresident alien individual or a foreign corporation" or for "a foreign corporation," each place they appear. Sec. 199A(c)(3)(A).

 $^{^{300}}$ Sec. 199A(g). The deduction is limited to 50 percent of W-2 wages that are paid by the cooperative during the calendar year that ends in such taxable year and are properly allocable to domestic production gross receipts. The deduction may instead be allocated to and deducted by the cooperative's patrons, limited to each patron's taxable income for the taxable year (determined without regard to such deduction but a fter taking into account the patron's other deductions under section 199A(a)). See sec. 199A(g).

The disallowed excess business loss is treated as a net operating loss ("NOL") for the taxable year for purposes of determining any NOL carryover for subsequent taxable years.³⁰²

An excess business loss for the taxable year is the excess (if any) of the aggregate deductions of the taxpayer which are attributable to trades or businesses of such taxpayer, over the sum of the aggregate gross income or gain of such taxpayer attributable to such trades or businesses plus a threshold amount.³⁰³ The threshold amount is indexed for inflation for taxable years beginning after 2018.³⁰⁴ For 2021, the threshold amount is \$262,000 (\$524,000 for joint returns).³⁰⁵

The aggregate deductions taken into account to determine the excess business loss of the taxpayer for the taxable year that are attributable to trades or businesses of the taxpayer are determined without regard to the limitation of the provision, and without regard to any deduction under section 172 (relating to NOLs) or 199A (relating to the deduction for qualified business income). For example, assume that a taxpayer has an NOL carryover from a prior taxable year to the current taxable year. Such NOL carryover is not part of the taxpayer's aggregate deductions attributable to the trade or business for the current taxable year under section 461(1).

An excess business loss (the deduction for which is limited by section 461(l)) does not take into account gross income or gains or deductions attributable to the trade or business of performance of services as an employee.³⁰⁶ For example, assume married taxpayers filing jointly for the taxable year have a loss from a trade or business conducted by one spouse as a sole proprietorship as well as wage income of the other spouse from employment. The wage income is not taken into account in determining the amount of the deduction limited under section 461(l).

Capital loss deductions are not taken into account in computing the section 461(l) limitation.³⁰⁷ The amount of capital gain taken into account in calculating the section 461(l) limitation cannot exceed the lesser of capital gain net income from a trade or business or capital gain net income.

In the case of a partnership or S corporation, the provision applies at the partner or shareholder level.³⁰⁸ Each partner's distributive share and each S corporation shareholder's pro

³⁰⁴ Sec. 461(l)(3)(C).

³⁰⁵ See sec. 3.32 of Rev. Proc. 2020-45, 2020-46 I.R.B. 1016.

 306 For this purpose, the trade or business of performance of services by the taxpayer as an employee has the same meaning as it does under section 62(a)(1).

³⁰⁷ Sec. 461(l)(3)(B).

³⁰⁸ Sec. 461(l)(4).

³⁰² See sec. 172.

³⁰³ Sec. 461(l)(3)(A).

rata share of items of income, gain, deduction, or loss of a partnership or S corporation are taken into account in applying the limitation under the provision for the taxable year of the partner or S corporation shareholder. Regulatory authority is provided to require any additional reporting as the Secretary determines is appropriate to carry out the purposes of the provision.³⁰⁹

Section 461(l) applies after the application of certain other limitations on losses, namely, the passive activity loss limitation,³¹⁰ the at-risk limitation,³¹¹ and in the case of a taxpayer who is a partner or S corporation shareholder, the rules limiting the taxpayer's distributive or pro rata share of loss for the taxable year to the taxpayer's adjusted basis in the partnership interest or in the S corporation stock and debt.³¹²

For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, and before January 1, 2027, the limitation relating to excess farm losses under section 461(j) does not apply.

Description of Proposal

The proposal makes permanent the limitation on any excess business loss of a taxpayer other than a corporation.

The proposal also repeals the limitation on excess farm losses under section 461(j).

The proposal modifies the treatment of an excess business loss disallowed for a taxable year. Any such loss that is disallowed for a particular year is carried forward to the next taxable year and treated as a deduction attributable to trades or businesses of the taxpayer in that year. Thus, in lieu of being carried forward as an NOL carryover, such loss is taken into account as part of the aggregate deductions under section 461(l) for the next taxable year (and therefore may be subject to the excess business loss limitation in that year).

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2020.

6. Surcharge on high income individuals, estates, and trusts

Present Law

To determine regular income tax liability, an individual, estate, or trust applies a tax rate schedule to the individual's, estate's, or trust's taxable income. There are different tax rate

 309 Sec. 461(l)(5).

³¹⁰ Sec. 469.

³¹¹ Sec. 465.

 312 Sec. 704(d) (for partners) and sec. 1366(d) (for S corporation shareholders). See sec. 461(l)(6) (applying section 461(l) a fter section 469), and Treas. Reg. sec. 1.469-2T(d)(6) (applying section 469 after sections 704(d), 1366(d), and 465). Note that other rules could potentially limit a taxpayer's loss (*e.g.*, section 267). A discussion of all potential loss limitation rules is beyond the scope of the description of this provision.

schedules for estates and trusts, single individuals, heads of households, married individuals filing joint returns and surviving spouses, and married individuals filing separate returns. Each tax rate schedule is divided into ranges of income referred to as income brackets, and marginal income tax rates increase with increasing income brackets.

The highest marginal income tax rate applicable to individuals, estates, and trusts is 37 percent. For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021, the bill increases the highest rate to 39.6 percent and decreases the taxable income thresholds at which the highest rate applies. For example, under present law in 2022 for married individuals filing a joint return, the 37 percent rate is projected to apply to taxable income in excess of \$646,150.³¹³ In 2022 for married individuals filing a joint return, the bill's 39.6 percent rate applies to taxable income in excess of \$450,000.

There is no separate income tax surcharge applicable to taxpayers with income above certain levels.

Description of Proposal

The proposal imposes (in addition to any other tax imposed by Subtitle A of the Code) a three-percent tax on the modified adjusted gross income of an individual, estate, or trust that exceeds a prescribed amount.

For single individuals, heads of households, married individuals filing joint returns and surviving spouses, the three-percent tax applies to modified adjusted gross income in excess of \$5 million. For married individuals filing separate returns, the three-percent tax applies to modified adjusted gross income in excess of \$2.5 million. For estates or trusts, the three-percent tax applies to modified adjusted gross income that exceeds \$100,000.

For purposes of the three-percent tax, modified adjusted gross income is adjusted gross income reduced by any deduction (not taken into account in determining adjusted gross income) allowed for investment interest (as defined in section 163(d)). For this purpose, adjusted gross income of an estate or a trust is determined under the rules of section 67(e).

The amount of the three-percent tax imposed on a nonresident alien individual is determined by taking into account only amounts that are taken into account in determining the individual's section 1 net income tax liability under section 871(b) (that is, only income that is effectively connected with the conduct of a U.S. trade or business, and the deductions allocable to that income).

The \$5 million and \$2.5 million modified adjusted gross income thresholds at which the three-percent tax applies are reduced by any amounts excluded from a taxpayer's gross income under the foreign earned income and housing cost amount rules of section 911, less any deductions or exclusions properly allocable to amounts excluded under section 911.

³¹³ Joint Committee staff calculation.

The three-percent tax does not apply to a trust if all the unexpired interests in the trust are devoted to one or more purposes described in section 170(c)(2)(B) (among other things, religious, charitable, scientific, literary, or educational purposes).

The three-percent tax is not treated as tax imposed by Subtitle A (Income Taxes), Chapter 1 (Normal taxes and Surtaxes) of the Code for purposes of determining the amount of any Chapter 1 credit or for purposes of the alternative minimum tax.

Effective Date

The proposal applies to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

7. Termination of temporary increase in unified credit

Present Law

In general

A gift tax is imposed on certain lifetime transfers, and an estate tax is imposed on certain transfers at death. A generation-skipping transfer tax generally is imposed on transfers, either directly or in trust or similar arrangement, to a "skip person" (*i.e.*, a beneficiary in a generation more than one generation younger than that of the transferor). Transfers subject to the generation-skipping transfer tax include direct skips, taxable terminations, and taxable distributions.

Income tax rules determine the recipient's tax basis in property acquired from a decedent or by gift. Gifts and bequests generally are excluded from the recipient's gross income.³¹⁴

Unified credit (exemption) and tax rates

Unified credit

A unified credit is available with respect to taxable transfers by gift and at death.³¹⁵ The unified credit offsets tax, computed using the applicable estate and gift tax rates, on a specified amount of transfers, referred to as the applicable exclusion amount, or exemption amount. Exemption used during life to offset taxable gifts reduces the amount of exemption that remains at death to offset the value of a decedent's estate. An election is available under which exemption that is not used by a decedent may be used by the decedent's surviving spouse (exemption portability).

For decedents dying and gifts made before January 1, 2018, the basic exclusion amount that is used to determine the unified credit is \$5 million, indexed for inflation for decedents dying and gifts made after 2011. The basic exclusion amount temporarily increases for estates of decedents dying and gifts made after December 31, 2017, and before January 1, 2026. This is

³¹⁴ Sec. 102.

³¹⁵ Sec. 2010.

accomplished by doubling the basic exclusion amount provided in section 2010(c)(3) of the Code from \$5 million to \$10 million. The \$10 million amount is indexed for inflation occurring after 2011. For 2021, the basic exclusion amount is \$11,700,000.³¹⁶

The temporary increase in the basic exclusion amount expires for decedents dying and gifts made after December 31, 2025. At that time, the basic exclusion amount returns to \$5 million, indexed for inflation occurring after 2011.

Common tax rate table

A common tax-rate table with a top marginal tax rate of 40 percent is used to compute gift tax and estate tax. The 40-percent rate applies to taxable transfers in excess of \$1 million. Because the 2021 exemption amount (\$11.7 million) is greater than this \$1 million threshold at which the highest marginal tax rate applies, transfers in excess of the exemption amount generally are subject to tax at the 40 percent rate.

Generation-skipping transfer tax exemption and rate

The generation-skipping transfer tax is a separate tax that can apply in addition to either the gift tax or the estate tax. The tax rate and exemption amount for generation-skipping transfer tax purposes, however, are set by reference to the estate tax rules. Generation-skipping transfer tax is imposed at a flat rate equal to the highest estate tax rate (40 percent) in effect at the time of the transfer. Tax is imposed on cumulative generation-skipping transfers in excess of the generation-skipping transfer tax exemption amount in effect for the year of the transfer. The generation-skipping transfer tax exemption for a given year is equal to the estate tax exemption amount in effect for that year (\$11.7 million for 2021).

Description of Proposal

The proposal accelerates the expiration of the temporary increase in the estate and gift tax exemption amount. As a result, for decedents dying and gifts made after December 31, 2021, the basic exclusion amount is determined by increasing \$5 million for inflation occurring after

³¹⁶ Rev. Proc. 2020-45, 2020-461.R.B. 1016, p. 1024 (November 9, 2020). As a conforming amendment to the increase in the basic exclusion a mount, Public Law 115-97 also a mends section 2001(g) (regarding computation of estate tax). This conforming a mendment, which was enacted as a permanent provision, provides that the Secretary shall prescribe regulations as may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the purposes of section 2001 with respect to differences between the basic exclusion a mount in effect at the time of the decedent's death and at the time of any gifts made by the decedent. The purpose of the regulatory authority is to address the computation of the estate tax where (1) a decedent dies in a year in which the basic exclusion amount is lower than the basic exclusion amount that was in effect when the decedent made taxable gifts during his or her life, and (2) such taxable gifts exceeded the basic exclusion amount under Public Law 115-97 does not apply for estates of decedents dying a fter December 31, 2025, it was expected that such guidance would prevent the estate tax computation under section 2001(g) from recapturing, or "clawing back," all or a portion of the benefit of the increased basic exclusion a mount used to offset gift tax for certain decedents who make large taxable gifts between January 1, 2018, and December 31, 2025, and die a fter December 31, 2025. In November 2019, the IRS published final regulations pursuant to this regulatory authority. See Treasury Decision 9884 (November 26, 2019).

2011). The Joint Committee staff currently estimates that the basic exclusion amount under the proposal would be \$6,020,000 for 2022.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for estates of decedents dying and gifts made after December 31, 2021.

8. Increase in limitation on estate tax valuation reduction for certain real property used in farming or other trades of businesses

Present Law

An executor may elect to value for estate tax purposes certain "qualified real property" used in farming or another qualifying trade or business at its current-use value rather than its fair market value.³¹⁷ The inflation-adjusted maximum reduction in value for such real property is \$1,190,000 for 2021.³¹⁸ In general, real property qualifies for special-use valuation only if (1) at least 50 percent of the adjusted value of the decedent's gross estate (including both real and personal property) consists of a farm or closely-held business property and (2) at least 25 percent of the adjusted value of the gross estate consists of farm or closely-held business real property. In addition, the property must be used in a qualified use (for example, farming) by the decedent or a member of the decedent's family for periods aggregating five years or more of during the eight-year period ending on the date of the decedent's death.

If, within 10 years after the decedent's death and before the death of the qualified heir, the heir disposes of an interest in the property or ceases to use the property in its qualified use, an additional estate tax is imposed to recapture the benefit of the special-use valuation.³¹⁹

Description of Proposal

The proposal increases the maximum reduction in value for qualified real property under section 2032A to \$11,700,000, indexed for inflation for years after 2021.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for estates of decedents dying after December 31, 2021.

³¹⁷ Sec. 2032A.

³¹⁸ Rev. Proc. 2020-45, I.R.B. 2020-46, p. 1024. Section 2032A(a) provides for a maximum reduction in value of \$750,000, with this amount being adjusted for inflation for years after 1997.

³¹⁹ Sec. 2032A(c).

9. Certain tax rules applicable to grantor trusts

Present Law

Grantor trusts, in general

A trust is a grantor trust if the grantor or another individual is treated as the owner of all or a portion of the trust for Federal income tax purposes. An individual who is treated as the owner of all or a portion of a grantor trust must include in computing his or her taxable income and credits those items of income, deductions, and credits against tax of the trust that are attributable to the portion of the trust deemed owned by such individual.³²⁰

In general, a trust with respect to which a grantor has retained a right or benefit described in sections 673 through 679 is treated as a grantor trust. A grantor generally is treated as the owner of a trust for Federal income tax purposes if, for example: she has a reversionary interest in the income or corpus of the trust; she or a non-adverse party has the power to revoke the trust; or she (without the approval or consent of an adverse party) has the power to distribute trust income to herself or to her spouse.³²¹ As another example, if a U.S. person transfers property to a foreign trust that has a U.S. beneficiary, the grantor trust rules generally treat the transferor as the owner of a portion of the trust for Federal income tax purposes.³²² A grantor's retention of certain administrative powers also may cause a trust to be treated as a grantor trust.³²³ For example, a grantor's power to borrow from the corpus or income of the trust without adequate interest or security, or a grantor's power to reacquire the trust corpus and substitute property of equivalent value, may cause the trust to be treated as a grantor trust.³²⁴ In some cases, a person other than the grantor may be treated as deemed owner.³²⁵

Because a grantor trust and its grantor are treated as one taxpayer for Federal income tax purposes, the IRS has taken the position that transactions between the grantor and the trust generally are disregarded for Federal income tax purposes.³²⁶ In Revenue Ruling 85-13,³²⁷ for example, the IRS concludes that a grantor's acquisition of the corpus of a grantor trust (shares of stock) in exchange for a promissory note is not a sale for Federal income tax purposes, because the grantor is treated as the owner of the shares both before and after the sale. As a result, a

³²² Sec. 679.

- ³²³ Sec. 675.
- 324 Secs. 675(2) & (4)(C).

³²⁵ Sec. 678.

³²⁶ Cf. Rothstein v. United States, 735 F.2d704 (2d Cir. 1984).

³²⁷ 1985-1 C.B. 184, 1985.

³²⁰ Sec. 671.

³²¹ Secs. 673(a), 676(a), and 677(a)(1).

grantor's acquisition of assets from a grantor trust generally does not result in recognition of gain or loss, and the payment of interest by the trust to the grantor generally does not result in income to the grantor. Similarly, a grantor generally does not realize or recognize gain or loss for Federal income tax purposes on the transfer of appreciated or depreciated assets to the trust.

The IRS also takes the position that the grantor's payment of the income taxes of a grantor trust is not treated as an additional gift to the trust beneficiaries for Federal gift tax purposes, because the grantor is obligated to pay the income tax of the trust.³²⁸

Federal estate and gift tax treatment of certain transfers in trust

In general, a gift tax is imposed on certain lifetime transfers and an estate tax is imposed on certain transfers at death. For Federal gift tax purposes, a transfer to a trust generally is treated as a gift to the beneficiaries of the trust.³²⁹

In certain cases, lifetime transfers that are treated as completed transfers for gift tax purposes and thus are subject to gift tax in the year of the transfer nevertheless are included in the transferor's gross estate for Federal estate tax purposes at the time of his or her death.³³⁰ These transfers generally include transfers for less than adequate and full consideration if: (1) the decedent retained the beneficial enjoyment of the property during his or her life;³³¹ (2) the decedent retained the power to alter, amend, revoke, or terminate a previous lifetime transfer;³³² (3) the decedent held an interest in such property within three years of death;³³³ or (4) the transfer takes effect at the death of the decedent.³³⁴

Intentionally defective grantor trusts ("IDGTs")

As an estate planning technique, taxpayers sometimes structure trusts that are treated as separate from the grantor for Federal transfer tax purposes, but as owned by the grantor for Federal income tax purposes. Such trusts sometimes are referred to as intentionally defective grantor trusts ("IDGTs"), because the taxpayer intentionally includes in the trust agreement a right or power that causes the trust to be treated as a grantor trust under sections 671 through 679.

- ³²⁹ Helvering v. Hutchings, 312 U.S. 393, 396-397 (1941).
- ³³⁰ See secs. 2035-2038.
- ³³¹ Sec. 2036.
- ³³² Sec. 2038.
- ³³³ Sec. 2035.
- ³³⁴ Sec. 2037.

³²⁸ Rev. Rul. 2004-64, 2004-2 C.B. 7, 2004.

Certain rights or powers that result in grantor trust status, however, may not cause the assets of the trust to be included in the grantor's estate for Federal estate tax purposes. In other words, a transfer may, under certain circumstances, be treated as a completed transfer for Federal gift tax purposes, but not for income tax purposes. For example, in certain circumstances a grantor might retain an administrative power that causes the trust to be treated as a grantor trust, such as the power to reacquire the corpus of a trust and to substitute assets of equivalent value under section 675(4)(C), without causing the assets of the trust to be included in the grantor's gross estate under sections 2036 through 2038.

An example of transfer tax planning using IDGTs is an estate "freeze" transaction. In a simple estate freeze transaction, a grantor might transfer assets to such an IDGT by way of a taxable gift during his or her lifetime. The gift tax value is measured ("frozen") at the time of the transfer, and any subsequent appreciation accrues to the trust (and ultimately the trust beneficiaries) without further gift or estate tax consequences, provided the trust is structured to avoid inclusion in the grantor's gross estate. Furthermore, as the deemed owner of the trust assets for income tax purposes, the grantor may satisfy the income tax liability of the trust out of the grantor's separate assets, thereby preserving trust assets for the beneficiaries, without being treated as having made additional taxable gifts to the trust beneficiaries by reason of the tax payments. Finally, any transactions between the grantor and the trust (such as the grantor's reacquisition of the trust corpus) are disregarded for Federal income tax purposes. Because grantors in these estate "freeze" structures often have annuity interests in trust assets, the trusts in these structures are commonly referred to as grantor retained annuity trusts.

Description of Proposal

Application of transfer taxes to certain grantor trusts

The proposal generally is intended to more closely align the income tax and transfer tax (Federal estate and gift tax) rules for grantor trusts by imposing transfer tax consequences on certain assets held in or distributed from a grantor trust. For any portion of a trust with respect to which the grantor is the deemed owner: (1) the gross estate of a deceased deemed owner of such portion includes all assets attributable to that portion at the time of the deemed owner's death; (2) any distribution (other than to a deemed owner or the deemed owner of such portion to one or more beneficiaries during the life of the deemed owner of such portion, other than in discharge of an obligation of the deemed owner, is treated as a transfer by gift for gift tax purposes; and (3) if during life the deemed owner ceases to be treated as the deemed owner of such portion, all assets attributable to such portion are treated as having been transferred by gift for gift tax purposes at such time. Proper adjustment must be made for any amounts included in the gross estate or treated as transferred by gift under (1), (2), or (3) to account for amounts treated previously as taxable gifts at the time the deemed owner transferred assets to the trust.

For purposes of the proposal, a "deemed owner" is any person who is treated as owner of a portion of a trust under the grantor trust rules (sections 671 through 679 of the Code). The proposal does not apply to any trust that is includible in the gross estate of the deemed owner (without regard to the proposal).

<u>Certain sales to grantor trusts</u>

In the case of any transfer or property between a trust and a person (whether or not the grantor) who is a deemed owner³³⁵ of the trust (or portion thereof), the proposal provides that the person's treatment as the owner of the trust is disregarded in determining whether there is a sale or exchange for income tax purposes. As a result, such a transfer might result in the realization and recognition of gain.³³⁶ This rule does not apply to any trust that is fully revocable by the deemed owner.

The proposal amends section 267, which disallows certain losses on sales and exchanges between persons with a relationship described in subsection 267(b), to add as one such relationship a grantor trust and the person treated as the owner of the trust (or portion thereof) under the grantor trust rules.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for (1) trusts created on or after the date of enactment and (2) any portion of a trust established before the date of enactment that is attributable to a contribution made on or after such date.

10. Valuation rules for certain transfers of nonbusiness assets

Present Law

In general

The value of property subject to transfer taxes is the fair market value of the property being transferred on the date of transfer.³³⁷ The fair market value is the price at which the property would change hands between a willing buyer and a willing seller, neither being under any compulsion to buy or to sell and both having reasonable knowledge of relevant facts.³³⁸

If actual sales prices and bona fide bid and ask prices are lacking, the fair market value of stock in a closely held business is determined by looking to various factors including: the company's net worth; its prospective earning power and dividend-paying capacity; the goodwill of the business; the economic outlook overall and in the particular industry; the company's position in the industry and its management; the degree of control of the business represented by

³³⁵ For purposes of this rule, the term "deemed owner" has the meaning described above.

 $^{^{336}\,}$ The proposal thus changes the nonrecognition rule stated in Rev. Rul. 85-13, 1985 C.B. 184, described above.

 $^{^{337}}$ Secs. 2031 (estatetax), 2512 (gift tax), and 2624 (generation-skipping transfer tax). Fair market value is determined on the date of the gift in the case of the gift tax or on the date of the decedent's death (or on the alternate valuation date if the executor so elects) in the case of the estatetax.

³³⁸ Treas. Reg. secs. 20.2031-1(b) and 25.2512-1.

the block of stock to be valued; and the values of securities of corporations engaged in the same or similar lines of businesses.³³⁹

Discounts

In general

Courts and the IRS have recognized that for various reasons interests in an entity (shares in a corporation or interests in a partnership, for instance) may be worth less than the owner's proportionate share of the value of the entity's assets. For example, the value of stock held by a 50-percent shareholder might differ from the value of 50 percent of the assets owned by the corporation in which the stock is held. Some (but not all) of the valuation discounts claimed under present law are described below.³⁴⁰ In many cases courts apply more than one discount. The theories for some discounts overlap, and court decisions sometimes blur the distinctions between those discounts.

Minority (or lack of control) discount

Numerous courts and the IRS have recognized that shares of stock or other ownership interests in a closely-held business entity that represent a minority interest are usually worth less than a proportionate share of the value of the assets of the entity.³⁴¹ Minority discounts arise from a division of control because the holder of a minority interest cannot control the ongoing direction of the business entity, the timing and amount of income distributed by the entity to its

³⁴¹ See Rev. Rul. 93-12, 1993-2 C.B. 202, 1993; *Propstrav. United States*, 680 F.2d 1248 (9th Cir. 1982); *Ward v. Commissioner*, 87 T.C. 78 (1986); *Estate of Leyman v. Commissioner*, 40 T.C. 100 (1963).

In *Pierre v. Commissioner*, 133 T.C. 2 (2009), the Tax Court allowed minority and marketability discounts in valuing transfers of interests in a single member LLC to trusts established for the transferor's children. The taxpayer had funded the LLC with cash and marketable securities 12 days before she transferred the LLC interests to the trusts. Although the LLC was treated as a disregarded entity for Federal tax purposes under the "check-the-box" regulations, the court rejected the Service's argument that the taxpayer should be treated as having transferred for Federal gift tax purposes a proportionate share of the underlying assets of the LLC and thus should not be entitled to claim valuation discounts. The court reasoned that State law controlled the determination of what property interests were transferred for Federal transfer tax purposes; under State law, the LLC was a separate legal entity, and the taxpayer did not have a property interest in the underlying assets of the LLC. In its opinion, the court noted that "Congress has not acted to eliminate entity-related discounts in the case of LLCs or other entities generally or in the case of a single-member LLC specifically."

³³⁹ Treas. Reg. secs. 20.2031-2(f)(2) and 25.2512-2(f)(2); Rev. Rul. 59-60, 1959-1 C.B. 237, 1959.

³⁴⁰ Other valuation discounts that courts have recognized include a blockage discount (if the sale of a block of a ssets, such as 80 percent of the stock of a public company, would depress the market for that asset); a key man (thin management) discount (if the value of a business declines due to the loss of a key manager); and a capital gain (or *General Utilities*) discount (to reflect the tax on gain from the eventual sale of a ssets acquired by gift or held by a corporation).

owners, or the liquidation of its assets. Minority discounts often result in reductions in the value of transferred property from 15 percent to 40 percent.³⁴²

Marketability (or illiquidity) discount

Recognizing that closely held stock and partnership interests may be less attractive to investors and may have fewer potential purchasers than publicly traded stock, courts and the IRS grant discounts to reflect the illiquidity of such interests. Courts sometimes combine marketability and minority discounts into a single discount,³⁴³ but the discounts reflect different concerns. Whereas the minority discount compensates for lack of control over an interest, the marketability discount compensates for the limitations upon free exit inherent in interests for which no public market exists. The marketability discount may be appropriate whether valuing a controlling or a minority ownership interest.³⁴⁴ Generally, the size of the marketability discount is reduced as the donor's or decedent's control of the corporation or partnership increases. However, the discount has been applied to a 100-percent ownership interest in a closely-held corporation.³⁴⁵ Marketability discounts often result in reductions in the value of transferred property of 20 to 30 percent³⁴⁶ in addition to any applicable minority discount.³⁴⁷ Marketability discounts claimed through the use of a limited partnership permit the donee or legatee to recreate value by liquidating the partnership or having a partner's interest redeemed by the partnership.

³⁴³ E.g., Central Trust Co. v. United States, 305 F.2d 393 (Ct. Cl. 1962); Estate of Titus v. Commissioner, T.C. Memo 1989-466.

³⁴⁴ Controlling shares in a nonpublic corporation, which do not qualify for a minority discount, may nonetheless receive a marketability discount because there is no ready private placement market and because transaction costs would be incurred if the corporation were to publicly offer its stock.

³⁴⁵ See, *e.g.*, *Estate of Bennettv. Commissioner*, T.C. Memo 1993-34, in which the Tax Court concluded that in determining the discount, the corporate form could not be ignored. ("Here, we have a real estate management company whose a ssets are varied and nonliquid. We think that the corporate form is a quite important consideration here: there is definitely a difference in owning the assets and liabilities of Fairlawn directly and in owning the stock of Fairlawn, albeit 100 percent of the stock. We think some discounting is necessary to find a buyer willing to buy Fairlawn's package of desirable and less desirable properties.").

³⁴⁶ There is no established formula to compute the size of a discount. One measure of the size of a discount, applicable when valuing a controlling interest, is the total cost of registering securities with the Securities and Exchange Commission, *i.e.*, converting nonliquid securities into liquid ones. Other factors considered are the size of a ny costs and the amounts realizable on a private placement or secondary offering, the opportunity cost of losing a ccess to the invested funds, and the discounts applied in comparable transactions involving sales of comparable closely held businesses.

 347 The Tax Court has noted that the application of a minority discount and a marketability discount is multiplicative rather than additive. According to the Court, the minority discount should be applied first and then the marketability discount should be applied to that figure. For example, a 20-percent minority discount and a 40percent marketability discount should result in a 52-percent discount (20 percent + (40 percent x 80 percent)), not a 60-percent discount. See *Estate of Bailey v. Commissioner*, T.C. Memo 2002-152.

³⁴² See David T. Lewis and Andrea Chomakos, *The Family Limited Partnership Deskbook: Forming and Funding FLPs and Other Closely Held Business Entities*, ABA Publishing, 2004, p. 11.

Fragmentation (or fractional interest) discount

Fragmentation discounts are similar to minority discounts. This discount arises from the lack of control inherent in joint ownership of an asset (*e.g.*, a gift of an undivided fractional interest in real estate).³⁴⁸ Fragmentation discounts often result in reductions in the value of transferred property of 15 to 60 percent.³⁴⁹

Investment company discount

The investment company discount arises because the market values of closed-end mutual funds and investment companies often are less than the net asset values of those funds and companies. These discounts may overlap with the marketability discount.³⁵⁰

Description of Proposal

For estate and gift tax purposes, the proposal disallows the use of valuation discounts in valuing certain transfers of nonbusiness assets. In the case of the transfer of any interest in an entity other than an interest which is actively traded,³⁵¹ the value of any nonbusiness assets held by the entity with respect to such interest are determined as if the transferor had transferred such assets directly to the transferee, and no valuation discount is allowed with respect to such nonbusiness assets. The value of such nonbusiness assets is disregarded when determining the value of the interest in the entity.

The term "nonbusiness asset" means any passive asset held for the production or collection of income that is not used in the active conduct of a trade or business. For this purpose, a passive asset is not treated as used in the active conduct of a trade or business unless the asset is: (a) generally, inventory property or accounts or notes receivable, ³⁵² or a hedge with respect to such property; or (b) real property used in the active conduct of one or more real

 351 The term "actively traded" is defined by reference to section 1092. The regulations under section 1092 generally define the term to mean property for which there is an established financial market. See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.1092(d)-1(a).

³⁴⁸ Because the holder of a fractional interest in real property has the power to compel partition (a remedy not available to minority holders of other interests), the discount should reflect the cost of partition and the value of the interest secured thereby. See Boris I. Bittker & Lawrence Lokken, *Federal Income Taxation of Estates, Gifts, and Trusts*, 2d ed., 1993, para. 135.3.4. Courts, however, often apply a minority discount instead. See, *e.g., LeFrak v. Commissioner*, T.C. Memo 1993-526.

³⁴⁹ See, e.g., Estate of Van Loben Sels v. Commissioner, T.C. Memo 1986-501.

³⁵⁰ For example, the Tax Court in *Estate of Folks v. Commissioner*, T.C. Memo 1982-43, granted the taxpayer a 50-percent investment company discount and then applied to the resulting value a 50-percent marketability discount, resulting in a total discount of 75 percent.

 $^{^{352}}$ More specifically, the provision references property described in section 1221(a)(1) ("stock in trade of the tax payer or other property of a kind which would properly be included in the inventory of the tax payer if on hand at the close of the taxable year, or property held by the tax payer primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of his trade or business") and 1221(a)(4) ("accounts or notes receivable acquired in the ordinary course of trade or business for services rendered or from the sale of property described in panagraph (1)").

property trades or businesses³⁵³ in which the transferor materially participates and with respect to which the transferor meets an hours-based requirement.³⁵⁴ Material participation is determined under the rules of section 469(h),³⁵⁵ which generally require that the taxpayer be involved in the operations of the activity on a basis that is regular, continuous, and substantial. Notwithstanding the general rule stated above, a passive asset that is held as part of the reasonably required working capital needs of a trade or business is treated as used in the active conduct of a trade or business.

The term "passive asset" means any:

- Cash or cash equivalents;
- Except to the extent provided by the Secretary, stock in a corporation or any other equity, profits, or capital interest in a partnership;
- Evidence of indebtedness, option, forward or futures contract, notional principal contract, or derivative;
- Foreign currency;³⁵⁶ interest in a real estate investment trust, common trust fund, regulated investment company, or publicly traded partnership;³⁵⁷ or interest in a precious metal;³⁵⁸
- Annuity;
- Real property;
- Asset (other than a patent, trademark, or copyright) which produces royalty income;
- Commodity;

 355 For this purpose, the material participation standards of section 469(h) area apply without regard to the limitation to farming activity in section 469(h)(3).

³⁵⁶ Sec. 351(e)(1)(B)(iii).

 357 As described in section 351(e)(1)(B)(iv), including any other equity interest (other than in a corporation) which pursuant to its terms or any other arrangement is readily convertible into, or exchangeable for, any asset described in this clause (*i.e.*, an interest in a real estate investment trust, common trust fund, regulated investment company, or publicly traded partnership), an interest in a precious metal, or any other asset prescribed by the Secretary in regulations.

 $^{^{353}}$ The term "real property trade or business" has the meaning given the term under section 469(c)(7)(C) ("any real property development, redevelopment, construction, reconstruction, a equisition, conversion, rental, operation, management, leasing, or brokerage trade or business").

 $^{^{354}}$ See sec. 469(c)(7)(B)(ii) (requiring that the tax payer perform more than 750 hours of services during the taxable year in real property trades or businesses in which the tax payer materially participates).

³⁵⁸ As described in section 351(e)(1)(B)(v).

- Collectible;³⁵⁹
- Personal property³⁶⁰ or position in personal property;³⁶¹ or
- Other asset specified in regulations prescribed by the Secretary.

The proposal includes a look-through rule that applies if a passive asset of an entity consists of a 10-percent interest in another entity. In such cases, the valuation rules of the proposal are applied by disregarding the 10-percent interest and by treating the entity as holding directly its ratable share of the assets of the other entity. This rule is applied successively to any 10-percent interest of such other entity in any other entity. The term "10-percent interest" means: (a) ownership of at least 10 percent (by vote or value) of the stock of a corporation; (b) ownership of at least 10 percent of the capital or profits interest in a partnership; and (c) ownership of at least 10 percent interest, the ownership attribution rules of section 318 apply.³⁶² Thus, for example, if a transferor is transferring an interest in Entity 1, which has an 8 percent interest in Entity 2, and transferor separately has a direct 5 percent interest in Entity 2, the look-through rule applies.

The proposal directs the Secretary to issue such regulations or other guidance as is necessary or appropriate to carry out the proposal, including regulations or other guidance to: (1) determine whether a passive asset is used in the active conduct of a trade or business; and (2) determine whether a passive asset is held as part of the reasonably required working capital needs of a trade or business.³⁶³

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for transfers after the date of enactment.

 361 Within the meaning of section 1092(d)(2) ("an interest (including a futures or forward contractor option) in personal property").

 363 Subsection 2031(b) (relating to the valuation of unlisted stock and securities for purposes of determining the value of a decedent's gross estate) is to be applied a fter the valuation rules of the proposal.

³⁵⁹ Within the meaning of section 408(m) (*i.e.*, any work of art, rug or antique, metal or gem, stamp or coin, a lcoholic beverage, or other tangible personal property specified in regulations).

³⁶⁰ As defined in section 1092(d)(1) ("property of a type which is actively traded").

 $^{^{362}}$ Section 318 includes rules for constructive ownership of stock that generally apply for determining whether a redemption of stock is treated as a sale or exchange. These rules, in some cases, treat the shareholder as owning stock that is in fact owned by another person, such as a family member or an entity or trust. For example, an individual generally is treated as owning stock owned directly or indirectly by his or her spouse, children, grandchildren, or parents. Sec. 318(a)(1). Certain stock owned directly or indirectly by a partnership, estate, trust, or corporation is treated as owned by the partners, beneficiaries (or a deemed owner in the case of a grantor trust), or shareholders. Sec. 318(a)(2). A partnership, estate, trust, or corporation is treated as owning certain stock owned directly or indirectly by partners, beneficiaries (or a deemed owner in the case of a grantor trust), or shareholders. Sec. 318(a)(3). A person who has an option to acquire stock is treated as owning the stock. Sec. 318(a)(4).

G. Contribution Limit for Individual Retirement Plans of High-Income Taxpayers with Large Account Balances and Increase in Minimum Required Distributions for High-Income Taxpayers with Large Retirement Account Balances

Present Law

In general

An individual retirement arrangement ("IRA") is a tax-favored savings arrangement under which retirement savings are held in a tax-exempt trust or custodial account (or annuity contract) until distributed. There are two basic types of IRAs under present law: traditional IRAs,³⁶⁴ to which both deductible and nondeductible contributions may be made,³⁶⁵ and Roth IRAs, to which only nondeductible contributions may be made.³⁶⁶ The principal difference between these two types of IRAs is the timing of income tax inclusion. For a traditional IRA, an eligible contributor may deduct the contributions made for the year, and distributions are includible in gross income to the extent attributable to earnings on the account and the deductible contributions. For a Roth IRA, all contributions are after-tax (that is, no deduction is allowed) and, if certain requirements are satisfied, distributions are not includible in gross income.

Tax-favored treatment applies also to certain employer-sponsored retirement plans, including qualified retirement plans and annuities,³⁶⁷ tax-deferred annuities,³⁶⁸ governmental eligible deferred compensation plans,³⁶⁹ SIMPLE (savings incentive match plan for employees) individual retirement arrangements ("IRAs"),³⁷⁰ and simplified employee pensions ("SEPs").³⁷¹ A qualified defined contribution plan may include a qualified cash-or-deferred arrangement ("section 401(k) plan"), under which a participant may make pretax elective deferrals. Section 403(b) plans and governmental section 457(b) plans also generally provide for pretax elective deferrals. These plans may also provide for pretax employer contributions that are not elective deferrals. The distinction between traditional accounts (or also called pretax accounts)

³⁷⁰ Sec. 408(p).

³⁷¹ Sec. 408(k).

 $^{^{364}}$ Sec. 408. IRAs include individual retirement accounts under section 408(a) and individual retirement annuities under section 408(b).

³⁶⁵ Sec. 219.

³⁶⁶ Sec. 408A.

³⁶⁷ Secs. 401(a) and 403(a).

³⁶⁸ Sec. 403(b).

³⁶⁹ Sec. 457(b). Section 401(k) provides rules for a cash-or-deferred arrangement.

and Roth accounts also exists for amounts held in individual accounts under these tax-favored employer-sponsored retirement plans with a qualified Roth contribution program.³⁷²

Accumulations or aggregate account balances in IRAs (both traditional and Roth IRAs) include both regular IRA contributions and rollover contributions from tax-favored employersponsored retirement plans and other IRAs. As discussed in more detail below, the amount (and attributable earnings) held in Roth IRAs may consist of not only amounts originally contributed to Roth accounts (Roth IRAs or designated Roth accounts under employer-sponsored plans) as Roth contributions, but also amounts originally contributed to traditional or pretax accounts and then subsequently converted to Roth accounts.

An individual may receive an interest in a traditional or Roth IRA as a result of a transfer from a spouse or former spouse under a divorce or separation instrument.³⁷³ Such a transfer is not taxable for the transferring spouse, and the resulting IRA is considered to be the IRA of the recipient spouse maintained for his or her benefit. An individual may also become the beneficiary of a traditional or Roth IRA after the death of the original IRA owner.³⁷⁴ In some respects, an IRA inherited by a beneficiary other than the IRA's surviving spouse are subject to more restrictive rules than other IRAs. If the spouse of the original IRA owner inherits the IRA, the spouse may treat the IRA as his or her own IRA, rather than as an inherited IRA.

Limits on regular annual IRA contributions

Annual contribution limit

An annual limit applies to contributions to IRAs. The contribution limit is coordinated so that the aggregate maximum amount that can be contributed to all of an individual's IRAs (both traditional and Roth) for a taxable year is the lesser of (1) a certain dollar amount (\$6,000 for 2021) plus \$1,000 for an individual who has attained age 50 before the end of the taxable year or (2) the individual's compensation. In the case of a married couple, contributions can be made up to the dollar limit for each spouse if the combined compensation of the spouses is at least equal to the contributed amount. In addition, deductible contributions to traditional IRAs and after-tax contributions to Roth IRAs generally are subject to adjusted gross income ("AGI") limits. IRA contributions generally must be made in cash.

Traditional IRAs

An individual may make deductible contributions to a traditional IRA up to the IRA contribution limit if neither the individual nor the individual's spouse is an active participant in an employer-sponsored retirement plan. If an individual (or the individual's spouse) is an active participant in an employer-sponsored retirement plan, the deduction is phased out for taxpayers with AGI for the taxable year over certain indexed levels. In the case of an individual who is an

 $^{^{372}\,}$ Section 402A describes a qualified Roth contribution program.

³⁷³ Sec. 408(d)(6).

³⁷⁴ Sec. 408(d)(3)(C).

active participant in an employer-sponsored plan, the AGI phase-out ranges for 2021 are: (1) for single taxpayers, \$66,000 to \$76,000; (2) for married taxpayers filing joint returns, \$105,000 to \$125,000; and (3) for married taxpayers filing separate returns, \$0 to \$10,000. If an individual is not an active participant in an employer-sponsored retirement plan, but the individual's spouse is, the deduction is phased out for taxpayers with AGI for 2021 between \$198,000 and \$208,000.

To the extent an individual cannot or does not make deductible contributions to a traditional IRA or contributions to a Roth IRA for the taxable year, the individual may make nondeductible contributions to a traditional IRA (that is, no AGI limits apply), subject to the same contribution limits as the limits on deductible contributions, including catch-up contributions.

Roth IRAs

Individuals with AGI below certain levels may make nondeductible contributions to a Roth IRA. The maximum annual contribution that can be made to a Roth IRA is phased out for taxpayers with AGI for the taxable year over certain indexed levels. The AGI phase-out ranges for 2021 are: (1) for single taxpayers, \$125,000 to \$140,000; (2) for married taxpayers filing joint returns, \$198,000 to \$208,000; and (3) for married taxpayers filing separate returns, \$0 to \$10,000.

Excise tax on excess contributions

To the extent that contributions to an IRA exceed the contribution limits, the individual is subject to an excise tax equal to six percent of the excess amount.³⁷⁵ This excise tax generally applies each year until the excess amount is distributed. Any amount contributed for a taxable year that is distributed with allocable income by the due date for the taxpayer's return for the year will be treated as though not contributed for the year.³⁷⁶

Taxation of distributions from traditional IRAs

Amounts held in a traditional IRA are includible in income when withdrawn, except to the extent that the withdrawal is a return of the individual's basis.³⁷⁷ All traditional IRAs of an individual are treated as a single contract for purposes of recovering basis in the IRAs. The portion of the individual's basis that is recovered with any distribution is the ratio of the amount of the aggregate basis in all the individual's traditional IRAs to the amount of the aggregate account balances in all of the individual's traditional IRAs.

 377 Basis results from after-tax contributions to the IRA or a rollover to the IRA of a fter-tax amounts from another eligible retirement plan.

³⁷⁵ Sec. 4973(a), (b) and (f).

 $^{^{376}}$ Sec. 408(d)(4). To receive this treatment for a contribution to a traditional IRA, the tax payer must not have claimed a deduction for the amount of the distributed contribution.

Taxation of Roth IRA distributions

Amounts held in a Roth IRA that are withdrawn as a qualified distribution are not includible in income. A qualified distribution is a distribution that (1) is made after the five-taxable-year period beginning with the first taxable year for which the individual first made a contribution to a Roth IRA, and (2) is made after attainment of age 59½, on account of death or disability, or is made for first-time homebuyer expenses of up to \$10,000.

Distributions from a Roth IRA that are not qualified distributions are includible in income to the extent attributable to earnings; amounts that are attributable to a return of contributions to the Roth IRA are not includible in income. All Roth IRAs are aggregated for purposes of determining the amount that is a return of contributions. To determine the amount includible in income, a distribution that is not a qualified distribution is treated as made in the following order: (1) regular Roth IRA contributions (including contributions rolled over from other Roth IRAs); (2) conversion contributions (on a first in, first out basis); and (3) earnings. To the extent a distribution is treated as made from a conversion contribution, it is treated as made first from the portion, if any, of the conversion contribution that was required to be included in income as a result of the conversion. Thus, nonqualified distributions from all Roth IRAs are excludable from gross income until all amounts attributable to contributions have been distributed.

The Code imposes an early distribution tax on distributions made from Roth IRAs before the earlier of when the Roth IRA owner attains age 59½, becomes disabled, or dies unless an exception applies.³⁷⁸ The tax is equal to 10 percent of the amount of the distribution that is includible in gross income. The 10-percent tax is in addition to the taxes that would otherwise be due on distribution.

Distributions from Roth IRAs are permitted to be rolled over tax-free to another Roth IRA. The rollover generally can be achieved by direct rollover (direct payment from the distributing plan to the recipient plan) or by contributing the distribution to the eligible retirement plan within 60 days of receiving the distribution ("60-day rollover").³⁷⁹ Distributions from an inherited IRA (except in the case of an IRA acquired by the surviving spouse by reason of the IRA owner's death) and required minimum distributions are not permitted to be rolled over.³⁸⁰

 $^{^{378}}$ Sec. 72(t). The tax also applies to early distributions made from qualified retirement plans, section 403(b) plans and traditional IRAs. The early distribution tax does not apply to distributions from governmental section 457(b) plans.

³⁷⁹ Distributions from other IRAs will generally be included in income and taxed as ordinary income and may also be subject to the 10% early distribution tax (unless rolled over within 60 days), depending on the age of the individual taking the IRA distribution and the purpose for which they will be using the distribution.

³⁸⁰ A trustee to trustee transfer between IRAs is not treated as a distribution and rollover. Thus, nonspouse beneficiaries of IRAs can move funds to a nother inherited IRA established as a beneficiary of the decedent IRA owner. In contrast, a surviving spouse is permitted to roll over a distribution to his or her own IRA.

Separation of traditional and Roth IRA accounts and Roth conversions

Contributions to traditional IRAs and to Roth IRAs must be segregated into separate IRAs, meaning arrangements with separate trusts, accounts, or contracts, and separate IRA documents.

Taxpayers generally may convert any amount in a traditional IRA into an amount in a Roth IRA through a distribution from the traditional IRA and rollover to a Roth IRA (either a direct payment or a 60-day rollover).³⁸¹ The amount converted is includible in the taxpayer's income as if a withdrawal had been made, except that the 10-percent early distribution tax does not apply. However, the early distribution tax is imposed if the taxpayer withdraws the amount within five years of the conversion.

Rollovers from employer-sponsored plans to Roth IRAs

A distribution from a qualified retirement plan, section 403(b) plan, or a governmental section 457(b) plan that is an eligible rollover distribution may be rolled over to another such plan or an IRA (including to a Roth IRA).³⁸² The rollover generally can be achieved by direct rollover or 60-day rollover. Amounts that are rolled over are usually not included in gross income.

Distributions from designated Roth accounts may be rolled over tax-free to a Roth IRA. Other distributions from qualified retirement plans, section 403(b) plans, and governmental section 457(b) plans also may be rolled into a Roth IRA. However, under the Roth IRA conversion rules, distributions from these plans that are rolled over into a Roth IRA and that are not distributions from a designated Roth account must be included in gross income to the extent required if not rolled over.³⁸³

Required minimum distributions

Distributions from traditional IRAs and employer-sponsored retirement plans are generally required to begin at attainment of age 72 and to be made in certain minimum amounts

³⁸³ Sec. 408A(d)(3).

 $^{^{381}}$ Sec. 408A(d)(3). A conversion can also be achieved by simply redesignating the traditional IRA as a Roth IRA if the entire balance in the account is converted.

 $^{^{382}}$ Under section 402(c)(4), any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of a participant is an eligible rollover distribution with exceptions, for example, certain periodic payments, required minimum distributions, and hardship distributions. Treas. Reg. sec. 1.402(c)-1 identifies certain other payments that are not eligible for rollover, including, for example, certain corrective distributions, loans that are treated as deemed distributions under section 72(p), and dividends on employer securities as described in section 404(k).

("required minimum distributions").³⁸⁴ Under present law, the requirement to begin distributions at attainment of age 72 does not apply to Roth IRAs.³⁸⁵

The Code imposes an excise tax on an individual if the amount distributed to an individual during a taxable year is less than the required minimum distribution under the plan for that year.³⁸⁶ The excise tax is equal to 50 percent of the shortfall (that is, 50 percent of the amount by which the required minimum distribution exceeds the actual distribution). However, the Secretary may waive the tax if the individual establishes that the shortfall was due to reasonable error and reasonable steps are taken to remedy the error.

Description of Proposal

Dollar and income limit for IRAs of high-income taxpayers

Under the proposal, a \$10,000,000 limit ("applicable dollar amount") is provided with respect to aggregate accumulations in applicable retirement accounts of certain high-income taxpayers ("applicable taxpayers").³⁸⁷ An applicable taxpayer is a taxpayer whose adjusted taxable income for a taxable year³⁸⁸ exceeds: (1) \$450,000 in the case of a taxpayer who is a married individual filing a joint return or a surviving spouse;³⁸⁹ (2) \$425,000 in the case of a taxpayer who is a head of household;³⁹⁰ and (3) \$400,000 for a taxpayer not described in (1) or (2). An applicable retirement plan includes a qualified defined contribution plan or annuity,³⁹¹ a tax-deferred annuity,³⁹² a governmental eligible deferred compensation plan,³⁹³ or an IRA.³⁹⁴ The \$10,000,000 applicable dollar amount as well as the adjusted taxable income amounts are increased for cost-of-living adjustments for taxable years beginning in 2023 or later, with adjustments for the accumulation limit being rounded to the next lowest multiple of \$250,000

³⁸⁴ Secs. 401(a)(9) and 408(a)(6) and (b)(3).

³⁸⁵ Sec. 408A(c)(4).

³⁸⁶ Sec. 4974.

³⁸⁷ The proposal is added to new section 409B.

³⁸⁸ Adjusted taxable income means taxable income determined without regard to (1) any deduction for annual additions to individual retirement plans to which section 409B(a) applies, and (2) any increase in minimum required distributions by reason of section 4974(e) (as added by this proposal).

- ³⁸⁹ As defined in section 2(a).
- ³⁹⁰ As defined in section 2(b).
- ³⁹¹ As defined in section 401(a) or 403(a).
- ³⁹² As defined in section 403(b).

 393 As defined in section 457(b) which is maintained by an eligible employer described in section 457(e)(1)(A).

³⁹⁴ As defined in sections 408 and 408A.

and adjustments for the adjusted taxable income being rounded to the next lowest multiple of \$1,000.

In applying the applicable dollar limit for a taxable year, an individual's aggregate vested account balances in all applicable retirement plans maintained on behalf of the individual (whether as a participant, owner, or beneficiary), determined as of the close of the calendar year preceding the calendar year in which the taxable year begins ("prior year aggregate applicable retirement plan balances"), are compared to the individual's applicable dollar amount.

<u>Contribution limit on individual retirement plans of high-income taxpayers with large account balances</u>

The proposal provides that in the case of an individual who is an applicable taxpayer for a taxable year, no annual additions³⁹⁵ which are allocable to a taxable year may be made, by or on behalf of such individual, to any IRA to the extent such annual additions exceed the excess (if any) of the applicable dollar limit over the prior year aggregate applicable retirement plan balances. If any such annual additions are made to an IRA, an excise tax applies (see below).

For purposes of making that determination, the acquisition of an IRA (or the transfer to or contribution of amounts to an IRA) (1) by reason of the death of another individual, (2) on account of divorce or separation,³⁹⁶ or (3) by a rollover contribution³⁹⁷ is not treated as an annual addition. In addition, any employer or employee contributions by, or on behalf of, an individual to a SEP or a SIMPLE are not treated as annual additions for purposes of applying the limitation, but the excess (of the applicable dollar amount over the prior year aggregate applicable retirement plan balances) is reduced by the amount of such contributions in applying the limitation to other annual additions with respect to the individual.

Excise tax (special rules for IRAs with excess annual additions

The proposal imposes an excise tax on excess contributions, which for purposes of the proposal means, with respect to any taxable year, the sum of (A) the excess of the annual additions³⁹⁸ to such IRAs over the limitation³⁹⁹ for such taxable year, reduced by the amount of any other types of excess contributions,⁴⁰⁰ and (B) the lesser of (1) the excess contributions determined under this proposal for the previous taxable year, with respect to such IRAs, reduced

- ³⁹⁷ Under sections 402(c), 402A(c)(3)(A), 403(a)(4), 403(b)(8), 408(d)(3)(A), 408A(e)(1), or 457(e)(16).
- ³⁹⁸ Within the meaning of section 409B(b)(1), as added by this proposal.

³⁹⁹ Determined under section 409B(a), that is, the excess (if any) of the applicable dollar limit over the prior year aggregate applicable retirement plan balances.

 400 Determined under section 4973(b) and (f), relating to contributions that exceed the general contribution limits that apply to traditional and Roth IRAs.

³⁹⁵ An annual addition is defined as any contribution to an individual retirement plan.

³⁹⁶ Pursuant to section 408(d)(6).

by the aggregate distributions from such plans for the taxable year⁴⁰¹ or (2) the amount (if any) by which the prior year aggregate applicable retirement plan balances exceed the applicable dollar amount for the taxable year.

Regulations

The Secretary is to prescribe such regulations and guidance as are necessary or appropriate to carry out the purposes of this proposal, including regulations or guidance that provide for the application of this proposal and the application of the proposed rules relating to increased minimum required distributions (described below)⁴⁰² in the case of a plans with a valuation date other than the last day of a calendar year.

Reporting requirements

The proposal requires certain additional reporting related to IRAs with high account balances. If, as of the close of any plan year, one or more participants in an applicable retirement plan have a vested account balance of at least \$2,500,000⁴⁰³ for that plan year, the plan administrator must file a statement with the Secretary which includes: (1) the name and identifying number of each such participant (without regard to whether such participant has separated from employment) and (2) the amount to which each such participant is entitled. If a plan that is subject to this reporting requirement must file a Form 8955-SSA,⁴⁰⁴ then the plan administrator must include the required information on the IRS Form 8955-SSA for that plan year rather than file a separate statement with the Secretary.

<u>Increase in minimum required distributions for high-income taxpayers with large</u> <u>retirement account balances</u>

Increased minimum required distributions are required to be made for a taxable year by applicable taxpayers⁴⁰⁵ whose retirement account balances exceed the applicable dollar amount (\$10,000,000, adjusted for inflation). For purposes of this proposal, all qualified retirement plans and eligible deferred compensation plans of the taxpayer which are treated as applicable retirement plans are taken into account in computing the excess that is subject to increased

 $^{^{401}}$ Including increased minimum distributions required under section 4974(e) to the extent not contributed in a rollover contribution to another eligible retirement plan in a coordance with section 402(c), 402A(c)(3)(A), 403(a)(4), 403(b)(8), 408(d)(3), 408A(d)(3), or 457(e)(16).

⁴⁰² Section 4974(e), as added by this proposal.

 $^{^{403}}$ The \$2,500,000 vested account balance used to determine this reporting requirement is increased for cost-of-living a djustments for taxable years beginning in 2023 or later, with a djustments for the accumulation limit being rounded to the next lowest multiple of \$250,000.

⁴⁰⁴ IRS Form 8955-SSA is filed by plan a dministrators of plans subject to the vesting standards of section 203 of ERISA and is used to satisfy the reporting requirements of section 6057(a).

⁴⁰⁵ Defined above.

minimum required distributions during a taxable year, and solely for that purpose, such plans are treated as one plan.

The increase in the minimum required distributions for a taxable year is equal to the excess (if any) of (a) the sum of (1) 100 percent of the "applicable Roth excess amount" plus (2) 50 percent of the "excess aggregate vested retirement plan balance" reduced by the applicable Roth excess amount *over* (b) the sum of the minimum required distributions (determined without regard to this proposal) for all such plans.

The excess aggregate vested retirement plan balance for a taxable year is equal to the amount by which the aggregate vested balances to the credit of the taxpayer (whether as a participant, owner, or beneficiary) in all applicable retirement plans (determined as of the close of the calendar year preceding the calendar year in which the taxable year begins) exceed the applicable dollar amount for the calendar year in which the taxable year begins and applies to a taxpayer without regard to whether amounts are otherwise required to be distributed as minimum required distributions.⁴⁰⁶

The applicable Roth excess amount applies to a taxpayer for a taxable year if the aggregate vested balances to the credit of the taxpayer (whether as a participant, owner or beneficiary) in all applicable retirement plans (determined as of the close of the calendar year preceding the calendar year to which the taxable year begins) exceeds 200 percent of the applicable dollar amount for the calendar year in which the taxable year begins (or \$20,000,000, adjusted for inflation). The applicable Roth excess amount for any taxable year to which this proposal applies is an amount equal to the lesser of (1) the excess as determined in the prior sentence, or (2) the aggregate balances to the credit of the taxpayer (whether as a participant, owner or beneficiary) in all Roth IRAs and Roth designated accounts.⁴⁰⁷

Coordination and application of the rule

If this increase in minimum required distributions applies to a taxpayer for any taxable year, the general excise tax that applies to minimum required distributions that are not timely distributed is first applied to minimum required distributions determined without regard to this proposal (and nothing in this proposal is to be construed to affect the amount of any such minimum required distributions) and then to any increase in minimum required distributions required by this proposal.

With respect to any increased minimum required distributions, the portion of any increase in minimum required distributions equal to the applicable Roth excess amount is allocated first to Roth IRAs and then to designated Roth accounts.⁴⁰⁸ Once that allocation is complete, the taxpayer may, in such form and manner as the Secretary may prescribe, allocate any increase in minimum required distributions to applicable retirement plans, treated as one plan for purposes

⁴⁰⁶ Under sections 401(a)(9), 403(b)(10), 408((a)(6), 408(b)(3), or 457(d)(2).

⁴⁰⁷ Within the meaning of section 402A.

⁴⁰⁸ Within the meaning of section 402A.

of this proposal, in such manner as the taxpayer chooses subject to certain requirements. If the taxpayer has account balances in one or more employee stock ownership plans ("ESOPs"),⁴⁰⁹ any portion of which is invested in employer securities which are not readily tradable on an established securities market, the increase in minimum required distributions shall be allocated: (1) first, to all account balances of the taxpayer in all applicable retirement plans (other than such portions that are invested in employer securities which are not readily tradable on an established securities market) in the manner described above, and then to such portions in such manner as the taxpayer chooses. The Secretary must prescribe regulations under which a taxpayer may elect for the first taxable year of the taxpayer beginning in 2022, in which any such increase is allocated to any such portion of an account balance in an ESOP, to have such portion distributed over a period of years not greater than the period specified by the Secretary in such regulations (and any distributions made in accordance with such election will be treated for purposes of this section as made in the first taxable year).

A defined contribution plan will not constitute a qualified plan unless it provides that an employee, who certifies to the plan that he or she is a taxpayer subject to increased minimum required distributions,⁴¹⁰ may elect to receive a distribution from an employee's defined contribution plan account⁴¹¹ in such amount as the employee may elect, including any amounts attributable to a qualified cash or deferred arrangement.⁴¹² Any distribution from an applicable retirement plan which is attributable to any increase in minimum required distributions by reason of this proposal is, similar to other minimum required distributions, not treated as an eligible rollover distribution.

Ten percent early distribution tax

Such distributions to satisfy the requirements of this proposal are excepted from the ten percent⁴¹³ tax on early distributions from qualified retirement plans to the extent such distributions for the taxable year do not exceed the amount required to be distributed from such plan.

⁴⁰⁹ As defined in sec. 4975(e)(7).

⁴¹⁰ Under section 4974(e).

⁴¹¹ Including from a custodial a ccount under section 403(b)(7)(A), contributions made pursuant to a salary reduction a greement (within the meaning of section 402(g)(3)) from a nannuity contract pursuant to section 403(b)(11), or from a governmental eligible deferred compensation plan under section 457.

 412 The proposal also a mends section 401(a) by adding a new section 401(a)(39) providing for such a distribution. Similar rules are also added for section 403(b) arrangements and governmental eligible deferred compensation plans. Secs. 403(b)(7)(A) and 457(d)(1). However, this rule does not apply to an ESOP to the extent provided under regulations prescribed by the Secretary pursuant to section 4974(e)(4)(B)(iii).

⁴¹³ Sec. 72(t).

Withholding

A distribution from a qualified retirement plan, a section 403(b) arrangement, or from a governmental eligible deferred compensation plan to satisfy the requirements of this proposal⁴¹⁴ is treated as a nonperiodic distribution to which 35 percent withholding is required.⁴¹⁵ An individual may not elect to not have withholding apply to such distributions.⁴¹⁶ Withholding does not apply to a qualified distribution from a designated Roth account.⁴¹⁷

Plan amendments

With respect to any plan or contract amendments required by this proposal to increase minimum required distributions or pursuant to any regulations issued by the Secretary, such plan or contract will be treated as being operated in accordance with the terms of the plan during the period beginning on the date the legislative or regulatory amendment takes effect (or in the case of a plan or contract amendment not required by such legislative or regulatory amendment, the effective date specified in such amendment), and ending on or before the last day of the first plan year beginning after December 31, 2022, or such later date as the Secretary may prescribe, if the plan or contract is operated as if such plan or contract amendment were in effect, and such plan or contract amendment applies retroactively for such period.

With respect to governmental plans or collectively bargained plan to which this provision applies, the end date for the period specified will be December 31, 2024 rather than December 31, 2022.

Effective Date

With respect to the proposal related to limiting contributions to certain IRAs of highincome taxpayers and the excise tax on excess annual additions, the proposal is applicable to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

With respect to the reporting requirements, the proposal is applicable to plan years beginning after December 31, 2021.

With respect to the increased minimum required distributions, the proposal is generally applicable to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

⁴¹⁴ Pursuant to section 401(a)(39), the last sentence of section 403(b)(7)(A), the last sentence of section 403(b)(11), and the last sentence of section 457(d)(1).

⁴¹⁵ Sec. 3405(b).

⁴¹⁶ Sec. 3405(b)(2).

⁴¹⁷ Within the meaning of section 402A.

With respect to the special rules for plans related to the increased minimum required distributions, the proposal is applicable to plan years beginning after December 31, 2021.

With respect to plan amendments, the proposal is generally effective as of the date of enactment.

H. Other Provisions Relating to Individual Retirement Plans

1. Tax treatment of rollovers to Roth IRAs and accounts

Present Law

In general

Background on IRAs may be found in section G of this document.

Roth IRA conversions

There are two basic types of IRAs under present law: traditional IRAs and Roth IRAs. For a traditional IRA, an eligible contributor may deduct the contributions made for the year, and distributions are includible in gross income to the extent attributable to earnings on the account and the deductible contributions. For a Roth IRA, all contributions are after-tax (that is, no deduction is allowed) and, if certain requirements are satisfied, distributions are not includible in gross income. The contribution limit is coordinated so that the aggregate maximum amount that can be contributed to all of an individual's IRAs (both traditional and Roth) for a taxable year is the lesser of (1) a certain dollar amount (\$6,000 for 2021) plus \$1,000 for an individual who has attained age 50 or (2) the individual's compensation.

Taxpayers generally may convert any amount in a traditional IRA into an amount in a Roth IRA through a distribution from the traditional IRA and rollover to a Roth IRA (either a direct payment or a 60-day rollover).⁴¹⁸ The amount converted is includible in the taxpayer's income as if a withdrawal had been made, except that the 10 percent early distribution tax⁴¹⁹ does not apply. Distributions from employer-sponsored retirement plans that are not from designated Roth accounts (described below) may also be contributed to a Roth IRA as a rollover and thereby converted to a Roth IRA amount. The amount rolled over must be included in gross income to the extent required if not rolled over. However, for both types of conversions, the early distribution tax is imposed if the taxpayer withdraws the amount within five years of the conversion.

In-plan Roth conversions

Section 401(k) plans, section 403(b) plans, and governmental section 457(b) plans

A qualified defined contribution plan may allow an employee to make elective deferrals (that is, contributions made pursuant to an election between cash and an employer contribution to the plan pursuant to a qualified cash or deferred arrangement).⁴²⁰ A plan with this feature is generally referred to as a section 401(k) plan. A section 403(b) plan may also allow an employee

⁴²⁰ Sec. 401(k).

 $^{^{418}\,}$ A conversion can also be a chieved by simply redesignating the traditional IRA as a Roth IRA if the entire balance in the account is converted.

⁴¹⁹ Section 72(t).

to make elective deferrals. The elective deferrals generally are excludable from gross income (pretax elective deferrals) and only taxed along with attributable earnings upon distribution from the plan. Alternatively, the plan may include a qualified Roth contribution program under which eligible employees are offered a choice of either making pretax elective deferrals or making elective deferrals that are not excluded from income and are designated as Roth contributions.⁴²¹ If certain requirements are satisfied, distributions of designated Roth contributions and attributable earnings are excluded from gross income. The employer may also make nonelective and matching contributions for employees under a section 401(k) or 403(b) plan. These are not permitted to be designated as Roth contributions and generally are pretax contributions. A plan may also allow participants to make elective after-tax contributions that are not elective deferrals and are not treated as designated Roth contributions.

A limit applies to the aggregate amount of elective deferrals (both pretax elective deferrals and designated Roth contributions) that an employee is permitted to contribute to section 401(k) and section 403(b) plans for a taxable year. The limit is \$19,500 for 2021, plus an additional catch-up amount of \$6,500 for 2021 if the employee is age 50 or older (or the employee's compensation if less than this sum). Total contributions, including pretax employer nonelective and matching contributions, elective deferrals (but not including catch-up contributions), and after-tax contributions, to a section 401(k) plan or 403(b) plan for a plan year for an employee generally cannot exceed \$58,000 for 2021 (or the employee's compensation, if less).⁴²²

A governmental section 457(b) plan may also provide for elective deferrals. Contributions to a governmental section 457(b) plan are subject to a limit of \$19,500 for 2021 plus an additional \$6,500 catch-up contribution amount for 2021 for employees at least age 50 (or the employee's compensation, if less).⁴²³ This limit is separate from the limit on elective deferrals to section 401(k) and section 403(b) plans.⁴²⁴ As in the case of a section 401(k) plan or a section 403(b) plan, the plan may include a qualified Roth contribution program under which employees are given the choice between making pretax elective deferrals and designated Roth contributions.

Designated Roth accounts

All designated Roth contributions made under a qualified Roth contribution program must be maintained in a separate account (a designated Roth account) under the plan. A

⁴²³ Under a special rule, additional catch-up contributions may be made by a participant to a governmental section 457(b) for the last three years before attainment of normal retirement age.

 $^{^{421}}$ Sec. 402A. Under Treas. Reg. secs. 1.401 (k)-1 (f) and 1.403 (b)-3 (c), a plan is not permitted to only allow employees to make designated Roth contributions; pretax elective deferrals must also be permitted.

⁴²² Secs. 415(c) and 403(b)(1).

 $^{^{424}}$ For example, if an employee participates in both a section 403(b) plan and a governmental section 457(b) plan of the same employer, the employee may contribute up to \$19,500 (plus \$6,500 catch-up contributions if at least age 50) to the section 403(b) plan and up to \$19,500 (plus \$6,500 catch-up contributions if at least age 50) to the section 457(b) plan.

qualified distribution from a designated Roth account is excludable from gross income. A qualified distribution is a distribution that is made after (1) an employee's completion of a specified five-year period and (2) the employee's attainment of age 59¹/₂, death, or disability.

A distribution from a designated Roth account (other than a qualified distribution) is included in the distributee's gross income to the extent allocable to pretax earnings on the account and excluded from gross income to the extent allocable to the after-tax designated Roth contributions (commonly referred to as "basis" in the account).

Roth conversions

A section 401(k) plan, section 403(b) plan, or governmental section 457(b) plan that maintains a qualified Roth contribution program may allow amounts held in accounts that are not designated Roth accounts ("non-Roth accounts") to be transferred ("converted"). The transfer is allowed whether or not the amount is otherwise distributable. However, the converted amount must be included in gross income as though distributed, as in the case of Roth IRA conversions, and the early distribution tax is imposed if the taxpayer withdraws the amount within five years of the conversion.

Description of Proposal

Under the proposal, in the case of an applicable taxpayer, amounts held in traditional IRAs may not be converted to amounts held in Roth IRAs. Further, amounts held in non-Roth accounts in section 401(k) plans, section 403(b) plans, and governmental section 457(b) plans by an applicable taxpayer may not be converted into either amounts held in a designated Roth account or a Roth IRA. Amounts distributed from a Roth IRA or from a designated Roth account may be rolled over to a Roth IRA.

An applicable taxpayer is a taxpayer whose adjusted taxable income for a taxable year⁴²⁵ exceeds (1) \$450,000 in the case of a taxpayer who is a married individual filing a joint return or a surviving spouse;⁴²⁶ (2) \$425,000 in the case of a taxpayer who is a head of household;⁴²⁷ and (3) \$400,000 for a taxpayer not described in (1) or (2).

In addition, for all taxpayers (regardless of income level), the proposal prohibits amounts held in non-Roth accounts in an employer-sponsored retirement plan⁴²⁸ or in a traditional IRA

 $^{^{425}}$ Adjusted taxable income is defined in section 409(B)(b)(4)(C) (which section is a dded to the Code by section 138301 of this Subtitle I) and means taxable income determined without regard to (a) any deduction for a nnual a dditions to individual retirement plans to which section 409B(a) applies and (b) any increase in minimum required distributions by reason of section 4974(e) (which section is added to the Code by section 138302 of this Subtitle I).

⁴²⁶ As defined in section 2(a).

⁴²⁷ As defined in section 2(b).

⁴²⁸ A section 401(k) plan, section 403(b) plan, or a governmental section 457(b) plan.

from being converted to a Roth IRA or a designated Roth account if any portion of the distribution that is being converted consists of after-tax contributions.

Effective Date

With respect to the proposal prohibiting certain conversions to Roth IRAs or Roth designated accounts by applicable taxpayers, the proposal applies to distributions, transfers, and contributions made in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2031.

With respect to the proposal prohibiting conversions of employee after-tax contributionsin qualified retirement plans and IRAs to Roth IRAs or Roth designated accounts by all taxpayers, the proposal is effective for distributions, transfers, and contributions made after December 31, 2021.

2. Prohibition of IRA investments conditioned on account holder's status

Present Law

In general

Background on IRAs may be found in section G of this document.

Prohibited transactions

ERISA and the Code prohibit certain transactions ("prohibited transactions") between an employer-sponsored retirement plan and a disqualified person (referred to as a "party in interest" under ERISA).⁴²⁹ Under ERISA, the prohibited transaction rules apply to employer-sponsored retirement plans and welfare benefit plans. Under the Code, the prohibited transaction rules apply to qualified retirement plans and qualified retirement annuities,⁴³⁰ as well as individual retirement accounts and annuities,⁴³¹ health savings accounts ("HSAs"),⁴³² Archer MSAs,⁴³³ and Coverdell education savings accounts.⁴³⁴

Disqualified persons include: (1) a fiduciary of the plan; (2) a person providing services to the plan; (3) an employee with employees covered by the plan; (4) an employee organization

⁴³² Sec. 223.

⁴³⁴ Sec. 530.

⁴²⁹ ERISA sec. 406; Code sec. 4975.

 $^{^{430}}$ Sections 401(a) and 403(a) provide the requirements for qualified retirement plans. The prohibited transaction rules under ERISA and the Code generally do not apply to governmental plans or church plans. However, under section 503, the trust holding assets of a governmental or church plan may lose its tax exempt status in the case of a prohibited transaction listed in section 503(b).

⁴³¹ These are included in the definition of "plan" under section 4975(e)(1).

⁴³³ Sec. 220.

any of whose members are covered by the plan; (5) a direct or indirect owner of an interest of 50 percent or more in the employer or employee organization; or (6) a corporation, partnership, or trust or estate of which (or in which) an interest of 50 percent or more is held directly or indirectly by a person described in (1), (2), (3), (4) or (5). For this purpose, a fiduciary includes any person who (1) exercises any authority or control respecting management or disposition of the plan's assets, (2) renders investment advice for a fee or other compensation with respect to any plan moneys or property, or has the authority or responsibility to do so, or (3) has any discretionary authority or responsibility in the administration of the plan.

Prohibited transactions include the following transactions, whether direct or indirect, between a plan and a disqualified person: (1) the sale, exchange or leasing of property; (2) the lending of money or other extension of credit; (3) the furnishing of goods, services or facilities; (4) the transfer to, or use by or for the benefit of, a disqualified person, the income or assets of the plan; (5) in the case of a fiduciary, any act that deals with the plan's income or assets for the fiduciary's own interest or account; and (6) the receipt by a fiduciary of any consideration for the fiduciary's own personal account from any party dealing with the plan in connection with a transaction involving the income or assets of the plan.⁴³⁵ However, certain transactions are exempt from prohibited transaction treatment, for example, certain loans to plan participants.

Loss of exemption of IRA

An individual retirement account ("IRA") is exempt from taxation unless such account has ceased to be an IRA by reason of engaging in certain prohibited transactions.⁴³⁶

If during any taxable year of the individual for whose benefit any IRA is established, that individual or beneficiary of such individual engages in any prohibited transaction with respect to that IRA, the IRA will cease to be an IRA as of the first day of such taxable year.⁴³⁷ In that case, the IRA is treated as having distributed an amount equal to the fair market value of all the assets in the account, as of the first day of the taxable year in which the prohibited transaction occurs.

If the fair market value of the IRA assets exceeds the basis in the account, the individual has taxable gain that is includible in gross income. If the individual is under age 59½, the

 $^{^{435}}$ Sec. 4975(c)(1). Under section 4975(d), certain transactions are statutorily exempt from prohibited transaction treatment. In a ddition, under section 4975(c)(2), an a dministrative exemption may be granted, on either an individual or class basis, subject to a finding that the exemption is a dministratively feasible, in the interests of the plan and of its participants and beneficiaries, and protective of the rights of participants and beneficiaries of the plan.

 $^{^{436}}$ Sec. 408(e)(1). Section 408(e)(1) and this proposal apply to individual retirement accounts as defined in section 408(a), notto individual retirement annuities under section 408(b). Similarly, under section 408(m), an individual retirement account, or an individually-directed account under a section 401(a) qualified plan, is prohibited from being invested in collectibles. A collectible generally means a work of art, a rug or antique, a metal or gem, a stamp or coin, an alcoholic beverage, or certain other tangible personal property. The acquisition of a collectible by an IRA is also treated as a distribution from the IRA in an amount equal to the cost of the collectible.

 $^{^{437}}$ Sec. 408(e)(2) and 4975(c)(3). This treatment also applies to an interest in a trust created as an individual retirement account under section 408(c).

individual may also be subject to the 10-percent tax on early distributions.⁴³⁸ The individual and the individual's beneficiaries are exempt, however, from the excise tax that otherwise applies to prohibited transactions.⁴³⁹

Description of Proposal

The proposal provides that no part of the trust funds of an IRA may be invested in any security if the issuer of that security (or any other person specified by the Secretary) requires the individual on whose behalf the trust is maintained to make a representation to the issuer, or such other person, that such individual: (1) has a specified minimum amount of income or assets; (2) has completed a specified minimum level of education, or (3) holds a specific license or credential.

If, during any taxable year of the individual for whose benefit any IRA is maintained, the investment of any part of the funds of such IRA does not comply with such restriction, the IRA ceases to be an IRA as of the first day of that taxable year. Thus, as in the case of an IRA owner who engages in a prohibited transaction, the IRA is treated as having distributed an amount equal to the fair market value of all the assets in the account as of the first day of the taxable year.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021. However, in the case of any such investment held in the individual's IRA as of the date of enactment of this proposal, the proposal is effective, with respect to such assets, for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2023.

3. Statute of limitations with respect to IRA noncompliance

Present Law

In general

Background on IRAs may be found in section G of this document.

Excise taxes

ERISA and the Code prohibit certain transactions ("prohibited transactions") between an employer-sponsored retirement plan and a disqualified person (referred to as a "party in interest" under ERISA).⁴⁴⁰ Under ERISA, the prohibited transaction rules apply to employer-sponsored retirement plans and welfare benefit plans. Under the Code, the prohibited transaction rules

⁴³⁸ Sec. 72(t).

⁴³⁹ Sec. 4975(c)(3).

⁴⁴⁰ ERISA sec. 406; Code sec. 4975.

apply to qualified retirement plans and qualified retirement annuities,⁴⁴¹ as well as individual retirement accounts and annuities ("IRAs"),⁴⁴² health savings accounts ("HSAs"),⁴⁴³ Archer MSAs,⁴⁴⁴ and Coverdell education savings accounts.⁴⁴⁵

Disqualified persons include: (1) a fiduciary of the plan; (2) a person providing services to the plan; (3) an employer with employees covered by the plan; (4) an employee organization any of whose members are covered by the plan; (5) a direct or indirect owner of an interest of 50 percent or more in the employer or employee organization; or (6) a corporation, partnership, or trust or estate of which (or in which) an interest of 50 percent or more is held directly or indirectly by a person described in (1), (2), (3), (4) or (5). For this purpose, a fiduciary includes any person who (1) exercises any authority or control respecting management or disposition of the plan's assets, (2) renders investment advice for a fee or other compensation with respect to any plan moneys or property, or has the authority or responsibility to do so, or (3) has any discretionary authority or responsibility in the administration of the plan.

Prohibited transactions include the following transactions, whether direct or indirect, between a plan and a disqualified person: (1) the sale, exchange or leasing of property; (2) the lending of money or other extension of credit; (3) the furnishing of goods, services or facilities; (4) the transfer to, or use by or for the benefit of, a disqualified person of the income or assets of the plan; (5) in the case of a fiduciary, any act that deals with the plan's income or assets for the fiduciary's own interest or account; and (6) the receipt by a fiduciary of any consideration for the fiduciary's own personal account from any party dealing with the plan in connection with a transaction involving the income or assets of the plan.⁴⁴⁶ However, certain transactions are exempt from prohibited transaction treatment, for example, certain loans to plan participants.

Under the Code, if a prohibited transaction occurs, the disqualified person who participates in the transaction is subject to a two-tier excise tax. The first level tax is 15 percent of the amount involved in the transaction. The second level tax is imposed if the prohibited

⁴⁴³ Sec. 223.

⁴⁴⁴ Sec. 220.

⁴⁴⁵ Sec. 530.

 446 Sec. 4975(c)(1). Under section 4975(d), certain transactions are statutorily exempt from prohibited transaction treatment. In a ddition, under section 4975(c)(2), an administrative exemption may be granted, on either an individual or class basis, subject to a finding that the exemption is administratively feasible, in the interests of the plan and of its participants and beneficiaries, and protective of the rights of participants and beneficiaries of the plan.

 $^{^{441}}$ Sections 401(a) and 403(a) provide the requirements for qualified retirement plans. The prohibited transaction rules under ERISA and the Code generally do not apply to governmental plans or church plans. However, under section 503, the trust holding assets of a governmental or church plan may lose its tax exempt status in the case of a prohibited transaction listed in section 503(b).

⁴⁴² These are included in the definition of "plan" under section 4975(e)(1).

transaction is not corrected within a certain period and is 100 percent of the amount involved.⁴⁴⁷ Under ERISA, the Secretary of Labor may assess a civil penalty against a person who engages in a prohibited transaction, other than a transaction with a plan covered by the prohibited transaction rules of the Code (*i.e.*, involving a qualified retirement plan or annuity). The penalty may not exceed five percent of the amount involved in the transaction. If the prohibited transaction is not corrected within 90 days after notice from the Secretary of Labor, the penalty may be up to 100 percent of the amount involved in the transaction.⁴⁴⁸ For purposes of these rules, the "amount involved" generally means the greater of (1) the amount of money and the fair market value of the other property given, or (2) the amount of money and the fair market value of other property received by the plan.⁴⁴⁹

Loss of exemption of IRA

An IRA is exempt from taxation unless such account has ceased to be an IRA by reason of engaging in certain prohibited transactions.⁴⁵⁰

If during any taxable year of the individual for whose benefit any individual retirement account is established, that individual or beneficiary of such individual engages in any prohibited transaction with respect to that IRA, the IRA will cease to be an individual retirement account as of the first day of such taxable year.⁴⁵¹ In that case, the individual retirement account is treated as having distributed an amount equal to the fair market value of all the assets in the account, as of the first day of the taxable year in which the prohibited transaction occurs.

If the fair market value of the IRA assets exceeds the basis in the account, the individual has taxable gain that is includible in gross income. If the individual is under age $59\frac{1}{2}$, the individual may also be subject to the 10-percent tax on early distributions.⁴⁵² The individual and

 449 Amount involved is defined in Code section 4975(f)(4), which is cross-referenced in ERISA section 502(i).

⁴⁵⁰ Sec. 408(e)(1).

 451 Sec. 408(e)(2) and 4975(c)(3). This treatment also applies to an interest in a trust created as an individual retirement account under section 408(c).

⁴⁵² Sec. 72(t).

⁴⁴⁷ The terms "correction" and "correct" mean, with respect to a prohibited transaction, undoing the transaction to the extent possible, but in any case, placing the plan in a financial position not worse than the position in which it would be if the disqualified person were acting under the highest fiduciary standards.

⁴⁴⁸ A prohibited transaction violates the fiduciary responsibility provisions of ERISA. Under section 502(l) of ERISA, in the case of a violation of fiduciary responsibility, a civil penalty is generally imposed of 20 percent of the amount recovered from a person with respect to the violation in a settlement a greement with the Department of Labor or a judicial proceeding, but the penalty is reduced by the amount of any excise tax or other civil penalty with respect to a prohibited transaction.

the individual's beneficiaries are exempt, however, from the excise tax that otherwise applies to prohibited transactions.⁴⁵³

Statute of limitations

In general, in order for the IRS to assess a tax, the tax must be assessed within three years after the return to which the tax relates was filed (referred to as the "statute of limitations on assessment"), regardless of whether the return is filed by the due date for the return.⁴⁵⁴ For this purpose, a return filed before the due date for the return is treated as filed on the due date.⁴⁵⁵

In some cases, a longer statute of limitation applies. For example, the statute of limitations is six years after an income tax return is filed if the taxpayer omits an amount of includible income exceeding 25 percent of the income shown on the return.⁴⁵⁶ If certain information required to be included with a return is not so included, the statute of limitations may be determined by reference to the date when the information is provided to the IRS, rather than when the return was filed.⁴⁵⁷ In addition, in some cases in which a tax results from a particular transaction, the statute of limitations may be determined by reference to the date when the return was filed.⁴⁵⁸

Description of Proposal

The proposal extends the statute of limitations in certain cases relating to IRAs and prohibited transactions. In the case of any substantial error (willful or otherwise) in the reporting on a return of any information relating to the valuation of investment assets of an IRA, the time for assessment of any tax, or increase in tax, imposed with respect to such an IRA will not expire before the date that is six years after the return containing such error is filed (whether or not such return was filed on or after the date prescribed).

With respect to a prohibited transaction, whether or not it involves an IRA, the time for assessment of any tax⁴⁵⁹ will not expire before the date which is six years after the return was filed (whether or not such return was filed on or after the date prescribed.

 454 Sec. 6501(a). Under section 6501(c)(3), in the case of a failure to file a return, tax may be assessed at any time.

⁴⁵⁵ Sec. 6501(b)(1).

⁴⁵⁶ Sec. 6501(e)(1).

⁴⁵⁷ See, for example, sec. 6501(c)(10), relating to listed transactions.

 458 See, for example, 4979(e)(2)(D), relating to certain prohibited allocations of employer securities under an employee stock ownership plan.

⁴⁵⁹ Imposed by section 4975.

⁴⁵³ Sec. 4975(c)(3).

Effective Date

The proposal applies to taxes with respect to which the three-year statute of limitations period ends (without regard to the amendment made by this proposal) after December 31,2021.

4. Prohibition of investment of IRA assets in entities in which the owner has a substantial interest

Present Law

Background on IRAs may be found in section G of this document, and background on prohibited transactions may be found in section H.2 of this document.

Description of Proposal

The proposal prohibits any individual retirement account ("IRA")⁴⁶⁰ funds from being invested in a non-publicly-traded entity if the IRA owner has an interest of 10 percent or more. Specifically, no IRA funds may be invested in a corporation, partnership or other unincorporated enterprise, or trust or estate, the interests of which are not readily tradable on an established market, if 10 percent or more of the entity is owned (directly or indirectly) or held by the IRA owner. For this purpose, an interest is measured by reference to (1) in the case of a corporation, the combined voting power of all classes of stock entitled to vote or the total value of shares of all classes of stock of the corporation, (2) in the case of a partnership or other enterprise, the capital interest or profits interest in the partnership or enterprise, and (3) in the case of a trust or estate, the beneficial interest in the trust or estate.

In determining ownership for purposes of the proposal, constructive ownership rules apply.⁴⁶¹ For example, an individual is treated as owning interests held by certain family members, defined for this purpose as the individual's spouse, ancestors, lineal descendants, and spouses of lineal descendants. In addition, any interest held by the IRA is treated as held by the IRA owner. Thus, an interest held by the IRA and an interest held by the IRA owner, as well as any constructively owned interest, are combined for purposes of the proposal.

The proposal also prohibits an IRA from investing in a corporation, partnership, or other unincorporated enterprise if the IRA owner is an officer or director (or individual having powers or responsibilities similar to officers or directors) of such entity.

If, during any taxable year of an IRA owner, the assets of the IRA are invested in a nonpublicly-traded entity in which the IRA owner has an interest of 10 percent or more, or in which the IRS owner is an officer or director, the IRA ceases to be an IRA as of the first day of the taxable year. In that case, an amount is included in income, determined as if there were a

 $^{^{460}}$ Sec. 408(a). This proposal does not apply to individual retirement annuities, described in section 408(b).

 $^{^{461}}$ The proposal incorporates the constructive ownership rules under section 4975(e)(4) and (5), which refer to the rules of section 267(c), but using the definition of family members under section 4975(e)(6).

distribution on the first day of the taxable year in an amount equal to the fair market value (as of that day) of all the assets in the account as of that day.

Effective Date

The proposal applies to investments made in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021. However, a special rule applies in the case of existing investments. If an IRA holds an investment prohibited under this proposal on the date of enactment of the proposal, the proposal applies to such investment for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2023.

5. IRA owners treated as disqualified persons for purposes of prohibited transactions rules

Present Law

Background on IRAs may be found in section G of this document, and background on prohibited transactions may be found in section H.2 of this document.

Description of Proposal

The proposal modifies the statutory definition of disqualified person for purposes of the prohibited transaction rules to specifically provide that an IRA owner is a disqualified person with respect to the IRA (regardless of whether the IRA owner would be a disqualified person on another basis). In addition, the following are treated as disqualified persons: (1) a family member of the IRA owner; (2) a corporation, partnership, or trust or estate in which an interest of 50 percent or more is held directly or indirectly by the IRA owner; and (3) a 10-percent or more (in capital or profits) partner or joint venturer of the IRA owner. The constructive ownership rules applicable under present law apply for purposes of the proposal. Moreover, for purposes of (2) and (3) above, any interest held by the IRA is treated as held by the IRA owner. Thus, an interest held by the IRA and an interest held by the IRA owner, as well as any constructively owned interest, are combined for those purposes.⁴⁶²

Effective Date

The proposal applies to transactions occurring after December 31, 2021.

 $^{^{462}}$ The proposal also revises section 408(e)(2) to clarify that it applies to the individual for whose benefit an IRA is maintained, that is, the IRA owner as used herein.

I. Funding the Internal Revenue Service and Improving Taxpayer Compliance

1. Funding of the Internal Revenue Service

Present Law

Almost all the IRS operating costs are funded by congressional appropriations.⁴⁶³ For fiscal year 2021, the IRS received appropriations of \$11.919 billion distributed among four accounts: \$2.556 billion for taxpayer services, \$5.213 billion for enforcement, \$3.928 billion for operations support, and \$223 million for business systems modernization.⁴⁶⁴

Description of Proposal

The proposal provides for the following appropriation amounts for fiscal year 2022 (in addition to amounts otherwise available) through September 30, 2031: (i) \$78.935 billion for strengthening tax enforcement and increasing voluntary compliance, expanding audits and other enforcement activities, and modernizing information technology to support enforcement; (ii) \$410 million for the Treasury Inspector General for Tax Administration to provide oversight of the IRS, including ensuring taxpayer privacy and that no undue burden is imposed on small businesses from IRS enforcement; and (iii) \$157 million for the United States Tax Court for adjudicating tax disputes.

The proposal specifies that the use of the additional resources for tax enforcement is not intended to increase taxes on any taxpayer with taxable income below \$400,000.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective as of the date of enactment.

2. Application of backup withholding with respect to third party network transactions

Present law requires persons to file an information return concerning certain transactions with other persons.⁴⁶⁵ The person filing an information return generally is also required to provide the other party in the transaction with a written statement showing certain information and the contact information for the filer.⁴⁶⁶ These returns are intended to assist taxpayers in

⁴⁶³ Information is a vailable at <u>https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/p4450.pdf</u>(last visited September 13, 2021).

⁴⁶⁴ Consolidated Appropriations Act, Pub. L. No. 116-260, Div. E, Title I, December 27, 2020. The IRS also received appropriations to carry out rebates and address COVID-related tax administration issues of \$178 million for tax payer services, \$273 million for operations support, and \$57 million for enforcement. Pub. L. No. 116-260, Div. N, Title II, Subtitle B, sec. 272 (the "COVID-related Tax Relief Act of 2020"), December 27, 2020. In addition, the IRS received \$1.465 billion for the administration of the advance payments, the provision of taxpayer assistance, and the furtherance of integrated, modernized, and secure IRS systems, and \$397 million to carry out advance payments of the child tax credit. American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, Pub. L. No. 117-2, Title IX, Subtitle G, secs. 9601 and 9611, March 11, 2021.

⁴⁶⁵ Secs. 6041 through 6050Y.

⁴⁶⁶ See, *e.g.*, sec. 6041(d).

preparing their income tax returns and to help the IRS determine whether such income tax returns are correct and complete.

<u>Returns relating to payments made in settlement of payment card and third party network</u> <u>transactions</u>

Starting in 2012 (for payments received in 2011), payment settlement entities are required to report the gross amount of payments made in settlement of payment card transactions and third party network transactions to the IRS and to businesses that receive these payments.⁴⁶⁷

Payment settlement entities are required to report the following on Form 1099-K: (1) all payments made in settlement of payment card transactions, such as credit cards and (2) payments in settlement of third party network transactions if the *de minimis* exception, described below, does not apply. Specifically, any payment settlement entity making a payment to a participating payee in settlement of reportable payment transactions must report annually to the IRS and to the participating payee the gross amount of such reportable payment transactions, as well as the name, address, and TIN of the participating payees. A "reportable payment transaction" means any payment card transaction and any third party network transaction.

A "payment settlement entity" means, in the case of a payment card transaction, a merchant acquiring entity and, in the case of a third party network transaction, a third party settlement organization.⁴⁶⁸ A "participating payee" means, in the case of a payment card transaction, any person who accepts a payment card as payment and, in the case of a third party network transaction, any person who accepts payment from a third party settlement organization in settlement of such transaction.⁴⁶⁹ A "person" includes a governmental unit, although, generally, not someone with a foreign address.

Returns relating to payments made in settlement of payment card transactions

For purposes of the reporting requirement, the term "merchant acquiring entity" means a bank or other organization with the contractual obligation to make payment to participating payees in settlement of payment card transactions.⁴⁷⁰ A "payment card transaction" means any transaction in which a payment card is accepted as payment.⁴⁷¹ A "payment card" is defined as any card (*e.g.*, a credit card or debit card) which is issued pursuant to an agreement or arrangement which provides for: (1) one or more issuers of such cards; (2) a network of persons unrelated to each other, and to the issuer, who agree to accept such cards as payment; and (3)

⁴⁶⁷ Sec. 6050W; Pub. L. No. 110-289 (2008), sec. 3091(a) added sec. 6050W, effective generally for returns for calendar years beginning after December 31, 2010.

⁴⁶⁸ Sec. 6050W(b).

⁴⁶⁹ Sec. 6050W(d)(1).

⁴⁷⁰ Sec. 6050W(b)(2).

 $^{^{471}}$ For this purpose, the acceptance as payment of any account number or other indicia associated with a payment card also qualifies a payment card transaction.

standards and mechanisms for settling the transactions between the merchant acquiring entities and the persons who agree to accept such cards as payment.⁴⁷² Thus, under the provision, a bank that enrolls a business to accept credit cards and contracts with the business to make payment on credit card transactions is required to report to the IRS the business's gross credit card transactions for each calendar year on a Form 1099-K, *Payment Card and Third Party Network Transactions*. The bank also is required to provide a copy of the information return to the business.

Returns relating to payments made in settlement of third party network transactions

The statute also requires reporting on a third party network transaction. The term "third party network transaction" means any transaction which is settled through a third party payment network.⁴⁷³ A "third party payment network" is defined as any agreement or arrangement: (1) that involves the establishment of accounts with a central organization by a substantial number of persons (*e.g.*, more than 50) who are unrelated to such organization, provide goods or services, and have agreed to settle transactions for the provision of such goods or services pursuant to such agreement or arrangement; (2) that provides for standards and mechanisms for settling such transactions; and (3) that guarantees persons providing goods or services pursuant to such agreement or arrangement that such persons will be paid for providing such goods or services.⁴⁷⁴

In the case of a third party network transaction, the payment settlement entity is the third party settlement organization, which is defined as the central organization which has the contractual obligation to make payment to participating payees of third party network transactions.⁴⁷⁵ Thus, an organization generally is required to report if it provides a network enabling buyers to transfer funds to sellers who have established accounts with the organization and have a contractual obligation to accept payment through the network. However, an organization operating a network which merely processes electronic payments (such as wire transfers, electronic checks, and direct deposit payments) between buyers and sellers, but does not have contractual agreements with sellers to use such network, is not required to report. Similarly, an agreement to transfer funds between two demand deposit accounts will not, by itself, constitute a third party network transaction.

A third party payment network does not include any agreement or arrangement that provides for the issuance of payment cards as defined by the provision. In addition, there is an exception for *de minimis* payments that applies to payments made by third party settlement organizations but not to payments made by merchant acquiring entities. For calendar years beginning prior to January 1, 2022, a third party settlement organization is not required to report unless the aggregate value of third party network transactions with respect to a participating payee for the year exceeds \$20,000 and the aggregate number of such transactions with respect

- ⁴⁷³ Sec. 6050W(c)(3).
- ⁴⁷⁴ Sec. 6050W(d)(3).
- ⁴⁷⁵ Sec. 6050W(b)(3).

⁴⁷² Sec. 6050W(d)(2).

to a participating payee exceeds $200.^{476}$ If a payment of funds is made to a third party settlement organization by means of a payment card (*i.e.*, as part of a payment card transaction), the \$20,000 and 200 transaction *de minimis* rule continues to apply to any reporting obligation with respect to payment of such funds to a participating payee by the third party settlement organization made as part of a third party network transaction.

For example, in calendar year 2021, if a business that provides a web-based rental platform for short-term travelers is considered a third party settlement organization, it does not have to provide a Form 1099-K to property owners participating on its web-based platform who have received payments of \$20,000 or less. On the other hand, if that company is considered a merchant acquiring entity, it would have to issue a Form 1099-K to all payees participating on its platform who have received payments of any amount starting with the first dollar.

For calendar years beginning after December 31, 2021, the threshold below which a third party settlement organization is not required to report payments to participants in its network was recently lowered and modified. Beginning in such calendar years, a third party settlement organization is required to report third party network transactions with any participating payee that exceed a minimum threshold of \$600 in aggregate payments.⁴⁷⁷ There is no longer a threshold requirement for the number of transactions. In addition, effective on the date of enactment, Congress clarified that third party network transactions only include transactions for the provision of goods or services. Reporting is not required for other transactions, including personal gifts, charitable contributions, and reimbursements.

Rules regarding reporting requirements

There are also reporting requirements on intermediaries who receive payments from a payment settlement entity and distribute such payments to one or more participating payees.⁴⁷⁸ Such intermediaries are treated as participating payees with respect to the payment settlement entity and as payment settlement entities with respect to the participating payees to whom the intermediary distributes payments. Thus, for example, in the case of a corporation that receives payment from a bank for credit card sales effectuated at the corporation's independently-owned franchise stores, the bank is required to report the gross amount of reportable payment transactions settled through the corporation (notwithstanding the fact that the corporation does not accept payment cards and would not otherwise be treated as a participating payee). In turn, the corporation, as an intermediary, would be required to report the gross amount of reportable payment of reportable payment transactions allocable to each franchise store. The bank would have no reporting obligation with respect to payments made by the corporation to its franchise stores.

⁴⁷⁸ Sec. 6050W(b)(4).

⁴⁷⁶ Sec. 6050W(e).

⁴⁷⁷ Sec. 6050W(e); Pub. L. No. 117-2, Title IX, sec. 9674, March 11, 2021, a mending sec. 6050W(e), effective generally for returns for calendar years beginning a fter December 31, 2021.

If a payment settlement entity contracts with a third-party facilitator to settle reportable payment transactions on behalf of the payment settlement entity, the third party facilitator is required to file the annual information return in lieu of the payment settlement entity.⁴⁷⁹

Under the statute, returns shall be made at such time and in such form and manner as the Secretary may require by regulations.⁴⁸⁰ Pursuant to regulations, the reporting is annual, and, in the information return for each calendar year, payment settlement entities must provide the aggregate reportable payment transactions for the calendar year and the aggregate reportable payment transactions for the calendar year.⁴⁸¹ The payment settlement entity is required to file the information return with the IRS on or before February 28th (March 31st if filing electronically) of the year following the calendar year for which the return must be filed.⁴⁸² Statements are required to be furnished to the participating payees on or before January 31st of the year following the calendar year for which the return was required to be made.⁴⁸³

The Secretary has exercised authority under these rules to issue guidance to implement the reporting requirement, including rules to prevent the reporting of the same transaction more than once.⁴⁸⁴ The reportable payment transactions subject to information reporting generally are subject to backup withholding requirements.

Backup withholding

Under section 3406, a payor is required to deduct and withhold income tax on certain "reportable payments" at a rate equal to 24 percent⁴⁸⁵ if: (1) the payee fails to furnish his or her taxpayer identification number (TIN) to the payor; (2) the IRS notifies the payor that the payee's TIN is incorrect; (3) a notified payee underreporting of reportable payments has occurred; or (4) a payee certification failure with respect to reportable payments has occurred.⁴⁸⁶ The requirement to deduct and withhold in the case of a notified payee underreporting or a payee certification failure apply solely to reportable interest or dividend payments. The deducting and withholding requirements under section 3406 are referred to as backup withholding.

⁴⁷⁹ Sec. 6050W(b)(4)(B); Treas. Reg. sec. 1.6050W-1(d)(2)

⁴⁸⁰ Sec. 6050W(a).

⁴⁸¹ Treas. Reg. sec. 6050W-1(a).

 482 Treas. Reg. sec. 1.6050W-1(g). Taxpayers that file these information returns that report reportable payment transactions are entitled to a 30-day automatic extension of time to file. Treas. Reg. sec. 1.6081-8(a) (effective for requests for extension of time to file certain information returns due a fter December 31, 2016).

⁴⁸³ Sec. 6050W(f); Treas. Reg. sec. 1.6050W-1(h).

⁴⁸⁴ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.6050W-1(a)(4)(ii).

 485 The backup withholding rate is the fourth lowest rate of tax applicable under section 1(c). In 2021, this rate is 24 percent.

⁴⁸⁶ Sec. 3406(a)(1).

Reportable payments are defined as any reportable interest or dividend payment and any other reportable payment.⁴⁸⁷ A reportable interest or dividend payment means any payment of a kind, and to a payee, required to be shown on an information return required under section (i) 6049(a), relating to payments of interest, (ii) 6042(a), relating to payments of dividends, or (iii) 6044, relating to payments of patronage dividends, but only to the extent such payment is in money and only if 50 percent or more of such payment is in money. Any other reportable payment means any payment of a kind, and to a payee, required to be shown on a return required under section (i) 6041, relating to certain information at source, (ii) 6041A(a), relating to payments of remuneration for services, (iii) 6045, relating to returns of brokers, (ii) 6050A, relating to reporting requirements of certain fishing boat operators, but only to the extent such payment is in money and represents a share of the proceeds of the catch, (v) 6050N, relating to payments of royalties, or (vi) 6050W, relating to payments that may be subject to backup withholding include interest, dividends, rents, royalties, commissions, non-employee compensation, broker payments, and other payments.

In general, a payment is a determined to be a reportable payment, and therefore subject to backup withholding, without regard to any minimum amount which must be paid before an information return is required under the applicable information reporting statute.⁴⁸⁸ Therefore, payments made in settlement of payment card and third party settlement transactions required to be reported under section 6050W are subject to backup withholding without regard to the minimum dollar threshold applicable for the information reporting obligation of third party settlement organizations (\$20,000 prior to 2022, \$600 thereafter).⁴⁸⁹

In 2011, the Treasury Department and IRS determined that for third party settlement organizations the transactional threshold (200 transactions) for determining information reporting obligations under section 6050W should be met before a backup withholding obligation under section 3406 arises.⁴⁹⁰ Following the amendments to the *de minimis* threshold for third party settlement organizations for calendar years beginning after December 31, 2021, there is no longer a transactional threshold for determining information reporting obligations under 6050W.

For payments required to be shown on a return under sections 6041(a) or 6041A(a), relating to certain information at the source and payments of remuneration for services, a minimum amount generally must be paid before the payment is subject to backup withholding.⁴⁹¹ Such payments shall be treated as reportable payments, and therefore subject to backup withholding, only if (i) the aggregate amount of such payment and all previous payments

- ⁴⁸⁸ Sec. 3406(b)(4).
- ⁴⁸⁹ See Treas. Reg. sec. 31.3406(b)(3)-5(b).
- ⁴⁹⁰ Notice 2011-42, 2011-23 I.R.B. 866.
- ⁴⁹¹ Sec. 3406(b)(6).

⁴⁸⁷ Sec. 3406(b).

described in sections 6041(a) or 6041A(a) by the payor to the payee during such calendar year equals or exceeds \$600, (ii) the payor was required under sections 6041(a) or 6041A(a) to file an information return for the preceding calendar year with respect to payments to the payee, or (iii) during the preceding calendar year, the payor made reportable payments to the payee with respect to which amounts were required to be deducted and withheld under the backup withholding requirements.

Backup withholding generally applies only to payments made to U.S. persons who have failed to provide the payor with a valid IRS Form W-9, "Request for Taxpayer Identification Number and Certification;" however, it may also apply to certain payments made to persons in the absence of valid documentation of foreign status. Backup withholding does not apply to payments made to exempt recipients, including tax-exempt organizations, government entities, and certain other entities.⁴⁹² Thus, a payor of reportable payments generally must request that a U.S. payee (other than certain exempt recipients) furnish a Form W-9 providing that person's name and taxpayer identification number.⁴⁹³

Description of Proposal

Under the proposal, a third party settlement organization generally shall not be subject to backup withholding on the first dollar of payments made in settlement of third party network transactions. Such transactions shall be treated as reportable payments, and therefore subject to backup withholding during any calendar year, only if (i) the aggregate amount of such payment and all previous payments made by the third party settlement organization to the participating payee during the calendar year equals or exceeds \$600, or (ii) the third party settlement organization was required under section 6050W to file an information return for the preceding calendar year with respect to payments to the participating payee.

For payments made during calendar year 2022, the proposal provides that a third party network transaction required to be shown on a return required under section 6050W shall be treated as a reportable payment only if the aggregate number of transactions between a third party settlement organization and participating payee exceeds 200 within a calendar year. This one-year transition rule provides that a payment may be subject to backup withholding only if the transactional threshold is met, consistent with Notice 2011-42.

In addition, the proposal aligns the \$600 dollar threshold for information reporting under section 6050W with the \$600 dollar threshold for backup withholding under section 3406. Under the proposal, both thresholds are for transactions that equal or exceed \$600.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for calendar years beginning after December 31, 2021.

⁴⁹² Sec. 3406(g); Treas. Reg. sec. 31.3406(g)-1.

⁴⁹³ Treas. Reg. sec. 31.3406(h)-3.

3. Limitation on deduction for qualified conservation contributions made by pass-through entities

Present Law

Charitable contributions generally

In general, a deduction is permitted for charitable contributions, subject to certain limitations that depend on the type of taxpayer, the property contributed, and the donee organization. The amount of deduction generally equals the fair market value of the contributed property on the date of the contribution. Charitable deductions are provided for income, estate, and gift tax purposes.⁴⁹⁴

Qualified conservation contributions

Except where allowed by the Code, a taxpayer may not take a charitable deduction for a contribution of a partial interest in property (the "partial interest rule"). A qualified conservation contribution is one type of partial interest contribution for which a charitable deduction is allowed.⁴⁹⁵

A qualified conservation contribution is a contribution of a qualified real property interest to a qualified organization exclusively for conservation purposes.⁴⁹⁶ A qualified real property interest is defined as: (1) the entire interest of the donor other than a qualified mineral interest; (2) a remainder interest; or (3) a restriction (granted in perpetuity) on the use that may be made of the real property.⁴⁹⁷ Qualified organizations include certain governmental units, public charities that meet certain public support tests, and certain supporting organizations.⁴⁹⁸ Conservation purposes include: (1) the preservation of land areas for outdoor recreation by, or for the education of, the general public; (2) the protection of a relatively natural habitat of fish, wildlife, or plants, or similar ecosystem; (3) the preservation of open space (including farmland and forest land) where such preservation will yield a significant public benefit and is either for the scenic enjoyment of the general public or pursuant to a clearly delineated Federal, State, or local governmental conservation policy; and (4) the preservation of an historically important land area or a certified historic structure.⁴⁹⁹

Preferential rules apply in determining the amount of a taxpayer's deduction for a qualified conservation contribution. These rules generally allow an individual taxpayer making a

- ⁴⁹⁵ Sec. 170(f)(3)(B)(iii) and 170(h).
- ⁴⁹⁶ Sec. 170(h)(1).
- ⁴⁹⁷ Sec. 170(h)(2).
- ⁴⁹⁸ See sec. 170(h)(3).
- ⁴⁹⁹ Sec. 170(h)(4).

⁴⁹⁴ Secs. 170, 2055, and 2522, respectively.

qualified conservation contribution to offset a higher percentage of her contribution base, ⁵⁰⁰ and a corporate taxpayer making such a contribution to offset a higher percentage of its taxable income, than taxpayers making charitable contributions of other types of property. ⁵⁰¹

IRS Notice 2017-10

On December 23, 2016, the IRS issued Notice 2017-10, which designates certain conservation easement transactions as listed transactions that are subject to certain disclosure and list maintenance requirements.⁵⁰² According to the Notice, "[t]he Department of the Treasury . . . and the Internal Revenue Service . . . are aware that some promoters are syndicating conservation easement transactions that purport to give investors the opportunity to obtain charitable contribution deductions in amounts that significantly exceed the amount invested." The Notice generally provides that a transaction is a listed transaction under the Notice if an investor receives promotional materials that offer prospective investors in a pass-through entity the possibility of a charitable contribution deduction that equals or exceeds an amount that is two and one-half times the amount of the investor's investment. The investor purchases an interest in the pass-through entity that holds real property. The entity then contributes a conservation easement encumbering the property to a tax-exempt organization and allocates a charitable contribution to the investor.

Accuracy-related penalty (sec. 6662)

An accuracy-related penalty under section 6662 applies to the portion of any underpayment that is attributable to (1) negligence, (2) any substantial understatement of income tax, (3) any substantial valuation misstatement, (4) any substantial overstatement of pension liabilities, (5) any substantial estate or gift tax valuation understatement, (6) any disallowance of claimed tax benefits by reason of a transaction lacking economic substance, (7) any undisclosed foreign financial asset understatement, (8) any inconsistent estate basis, or (9) any overstatement of the deduction provided in section 170(p). If the correct income tax liability exceeds that reported by the taxpayer by the greater of 10 percent of the correct tax or \$5,000 (or, in the case of corporations, by the lesser of (a) 10 percent of the correct tax (or \$10,000 if greater) or (b) \$10 million), then a substantial understatement exists and a penalty may be imposed equal to 20 percent of the underpayment of tax attributable to the understatement.⁵⁰³ The section 6662

 $^{^{500}}$ An individual tax payer's contribution base is her a djusted gross income computed without regard to any net operating loss carrybacks to the taxable year under section 162. Secs. 170(b)(1)(H).

⁵⁰¹ Sec. 170(b)(1)(E), (b)(2)(B), and (b)(2)(C).

 $^{^{502}}$ Treas. Reg. secs. 1.6011-4 and 301.6111-3. See also sec. 6501(c)(10) (special limitations period for assessment of tax related to a listed transaction that was not properly disclosed).

⁵⁰³ Sec. 6662(d).

penalty generally is abated (even with respect to tax shelters⁵⁰⁴) in cases in which the taxpayer can demonstrate that there was "reasonable cause" for the underpayment and that the taxpayer acted in good faith and adequate disclosure is made.⁵⁰⁵ The relevant regulations provide that reasonable cause exists where the taxpayer "reasonably relies in good faith on [a professional] tax advisor's analysis of the pertinent facts and authorities [that] . . . unambiguously states that the tax advisor concludes that there is a greater than 50-percent likelihood that the tax treatment of the item will be upheld if challenged" by the IRS.⁵⁰⁶ However, if the underpayment is attributable to a reportable transaction, the standard for reasonable cause is more stringent,⁵⁰⁷ and applies only if (1) the treatment of the item is supported by substantial authority, or (2) facts relevant to the tax treatment of the item were adequately disclosed and there was a reasonable basis for its tax treatment. The Secretary may prescribe a list of positions that the Secretary believes do not meet the requirements for substantial authority under this provision.

With certain exceptions, section 6662 does not apply to any portion of an underpayment that is attributable to a reportable transaction understatement on which a penalty is imposed under section 6662A.⁵⁰⁸

The 20-percent penalty is increased to 40 percent when there is a gross valuation misstatement involving a substantial valuation overstatement, a substantial overstatement of pension liabilities, a substantial estate or gift tax valuation understatement, or when a transaction lacking economic substance or a foreign financial asset is not properly disclosed.⁵⁰⁹ In the case of an overstatement of qualified charitable contributions, the 20-percent penalty is increased to 50 percent.⁵¹⁰

Mandatory supervisory approval to assert penalty

Assessment of an addition to tax or penalty under the Code is barred in the absence of prior supervisory approval. Such approval requires that the initial determination of the penalty or addition to tax be approved in writing by the immediate supervisor of the person asserting the penalty. The Code authorizes the Secretary to designate a higher-level official to provide the supervisory approval. Certain penalties are exempt from the requirement for supervisory

⁵⁰⁷ Secs. 6664(d).

- ⁵⁰⁸ Sec. 6662(b)(flush language).
- ⁵⁰⁹ Secs. 6662(h), (i), and (j).
- ⁵¹⁰ Sec. 6662(l).

 $^{^{504}}$ A tax shelter is defined for this purpose as a partnership or other entity, an investment plan or arrangement, or any other plan or arrangement if a significant purpose of such partnership, other entity, plan, or arrangement is the avoidance or evasion of Federal income tax. Sec. 6662(d)(2)(C).

⁵⁰⁵ Secs. 6662(d)(2)(B) and 6664(c).

⁵⁰⁶ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.6662-4(g)(4)(i)(B). See also Treas. Reg. sec. 1.6664-4(c).

approval, including those penalties "automatically calculated through electronic means."⁵¹¹ Because the IRS bears the burden of producing evidence to support assessment of a penalty in any court proceeding, the Commissioner must produce evidence of compliance with the supervisory approval requirement, even if the IRS does not bear the burden of proof.⁵¹²

Description of Proposal

Certain contributions not treated as qualified conservation contributions

The proposal provides that certain charitable contributions made by a partnership in a conservation easement transaction will not be treated as qualified conservation contributions. The contribution will not be so treated if the amount of the contribution exceeds two and one-half times the sum of each partner's relevant basis in such partnership (the "disallowance rule"). A partner's relevant basis is the portion of the partner's modified basis in the partnership⁵¹³ that is allocable⁵¹⁴ to the portion of the real property interest with respect to which the qualified conservation contribution is made.

The disallowance rule does not apply to contributions made after a three-year holding period. The holding period is satisfied if such contribution is made at least three years after the latest of: (1) the last date on which the partnership that made the contribution acquired any portion of the real property with respect to which the contribution was made; (2) the last date on which any partner in the partnership that made the contribution acquired any interest in the partnership; and (3) if the interest in the partnership making the contribution is held through one or more partnerships, the last date on which any such partnership acquired any interest in any other such partnership and the last date on which any partner in any such partnership acquired any interest in such partnership. The proposal also includes an exception for certain family partnerships.

Except as provided by the Secretary, rules similar to the rules in the proposal relating to qualified conservation contributions of partnerships apply to S corporations and other pass-through entities. The Secretary is directed to issue such regulations or other guidance as may be

 $^{^{511}}$ Sec. 6751(b), generally. Other penalties exempt from the pre-approval requirement are penalties under sections 6651 (failure to file or pay taxes), 6654 (failure to pay estimated individual taxes), 6655 (failure to pay estimated corporate taxes), and section 6662(b)(9) (overstatement of the charitable deduction for nonitemizers provided in section 170(p)).

⁵¹² Graev v. Commissioner, 149 T.C. 485 (2017). Cf. Chai v. Commissioner, 851 F.3d 190 (2d Cir. 2017) (held that the Commissioner bears both the burden of production and burden of proof with respect to the penalty).

⁵¹³ For this purpose, the partner's modified basis in the partnership means the partner's adjusted basis in the partnership as determined: (1) immediately before the contribution, (2) without regard to section 752 (relating to the treatment of certain liabilities), and (3) by the partnership after taking into acount the adjustments described in (1) and (2) and such other adjustments as the Secretary may provide.

 $^{^{514}}$ The allocable portion is determined under rules similar to the rules of section 755 (rules for allocation of basis).

necessary or appropriate to carry out or prevent avoidance of the purposes of the proposal, including reporting related to tiered partnerships and modified basis of partners.

The proposal makes several changes to the application of section 6662 accuracy related penalties in conservation easement cases. First, the proposal provides that the section 6662 accuracy-related penalty applies to any underpayment of tax attributable to the disallowance of a deduction by reason of the new limitation on qualified conservation contributions in this proposal. In addition, any such disallowance is treated as a gross valuation misstatement, which increases the amount of the accuracy-related penalty to from 20 percent to 40 percent of the underpayment of tax. No defense based on reasonable cause otherwise available to an accuracy-related penalty under section 6664(c) is available for any such underpayment. Finally, the requirement for supervisory approval of the penalty assessment under section 6751(b) does not apply.

The proposal also addresses the applicable statute of limitations for assessment of tax or penalties related to syndicated conservation easement transactions. First, for returns filed for partnership taxable years beginning before January 1, 2018, the assessment of tax is subject to the rules of former section 6229, under which the period in which the tax must be assessed against the partners does not expire before one year following the date on which a final partnership administrative adjustment may no longer be petitioned to the U.S. Tax Court or, if a petition was filed, the date on which a decision of the court with respect to such petition becomes final. The proposal extends this one-year period to two years. Second, in the case of any disallowance of a deduction by reason of the proposal, the transaction shall be treated as having been identified by the Secretary on December 23, 2016, as a tax avoidance transaction within the meaning of section 6011 for purposes of the statute of limitations rule described in sections 6501(c)(10) and 6235(c)(6). Finally, in the case of any disallowance of a deduction under section 170 for a transaction described in IRS Notice 2017-10, the disallowance will be treated as having been made by reason of the proposal for purposes of the penalty and statute of limitations provisions described above.

Notice of certain failures

The proposal allows certain taxpayers an opportunity to correct certain defects in a deed that grants an easement. If a donor is found by the Secretary to have failed to meet the requirement that a qualified conservation easement be granted and protected in perpetuity by reason of defective language in the deed relating to property line adjustments or extinguishment clauses, the donor has 90 days from the written notice by the Secretary to correct the failure, unless the Secretary can demonstrate that the donor's failure was intentional. This rule does not apply to any transaction that is a reportable transaction or any other contribution that is not treated as a qualified conservation contribution by reason of the disallowance rule described above.

Effective Date

Except as provided below, the proposal is effective for contributions made after December 23, 2016 (the date of IRS Notice 2017-10), in taxable years ending after such date. For contributions of easements with a purpose of preserving a certified historic structure (as defined in section 170(h)(4)(C)), the proposal is effective for contributions made in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2018. No inference is intended as to the appropriate treatment of contributions made in taxable years ending on or before the applicable date specified above as to any activity not described in the relevant portion of the proposal.

The portion of the proposal that allows certain taxpayers to correct defects in a deed granting an easement is effective for (1) returns filed after the date of enactment and (2) returns filed on or before such date if the period of limitations specified in section 6501 for assessment of taxes with respect to which the return relates has not expired as of such date.

4. Modification of procedural requirements relating to assessment of penalties

Present Law

The Code includes multiple provisions governing the proper application of penalties and additions to tax. Under those provisions there are rules regarding the details required to be included in such notices, as well as limitations periods applicable to assertion of such additions to tax and penalties. The IRS also publishes guidance for the public and its employees on the administration of penalties in support of encouraging voluntary compliance, by requiring that penalties be administered in compliance with its general policy statement regarding the need for penalties to be based on merits and fairness to the taxpayer.⁵¹⁵

Under the Code, assessment of an addition to tax or penalty is barred in the absence of prior supervisory approval. Such approval requires that the initial determination of the penalty or addition to tax be approved in writing by the immediate supervisor of the person asserting the penalty. The Code authorizes the Secretary to designate a higher-level official to provide the supervisory approval. Certain penalties are exempt from the requirement for supervisory approval, including those penalties "automatically calculated through electronic means."⁵¹⁶ Because the IRS bears the burden of producing evidence to support assessment of a penalty in any court proceeding, the Commissioner must produce evidence of compliance with the supervisory approval requirement, even if the IRS does not bear the burden of proof.⁵¹⁷

⁵¹⁵ Sec. 6751, generally, and Policy Statement 20-1, outlining the obligations of managers and employees in evaluating assertion of penalties, noting, "This means that penalties are not a "bargaining point" in resolving the taxpayer's other tax adjustments. Rather, the imposition of penalties in appropriate cases serves as an incentive for taxpayers to avoid careless or overly aggressive tax reporting positions."

 $^{^{516}}$ Sec. 6751(b), generally. Other penalties exempt from the pre-approval requirement are penalties under sections 6651 (failure to file or pay taxes), 6654 (failure to pay estimated individual taxes) and 6655 (failure to pay estimated corporate taxes).

⁵¹⁷ Chaiv. Commissioner, 851 F.3d 190 at 220-221 (2d Cir. 2017) (held that the Commissioner bears both the burden of proof with respect to the penalty). Cf. Graevv. Commissioner, 149 T.C. 485 (2017).

Resulting litigation has established varying benchmarks or "consequential moments" for determining whether the IRS has satisfied the requirements.⁵¹⁸

Description of Proposal

This proposal repeals the requirements for prior supervisory approval of penalties before assessment by the IRS. In its place, the proposal mandates that appropriate IRS supervisors certify quarterly to the Commissioner that they are in compliance with the statutory requirements of section 6751(a) and related policies of the IRS.

Effective Date

The repeal of the requirement for prior supervisory approval of assertion of penalties is effective as if included in section 3306 of the Internal Revenue Service Restructuring and Reform Act of 1998.⁵¹⁹

The proposal for quarterly certification is effective for all notices of penalties issued after date of enactment.

⁵¹⁸ See, Chief Counsel Notice 2018-006, published June 6, 2018, discussing various scenarios in which the provisions of subsection 6751 (b) could be at issue. See *Chaiv*. *Commissioner*, 851F.3d as 220-221(referring to the task of deterining whether a specific scenario is a "consequential moment" in forming IRS position on a sserting a penalty). See also *Belandv*. *Commissioner*, 156T.C. No.5 (March 1, 2021) (granting taxpayer's motion for partial summary judgment that a fraud penalty was not timely where the supervisory approval was signed August 21, 2015, after a revenue agent report was provided to the taxpayer during a summons administration conference convened on August 19, 2015, citing the standards first articulated in *Chai* and *Graev*, *infra*, in 2017).

⁵¹⁹ Pub. L. 105-206, Title III.

J. Other Provisions

1. Modifications to limitation on deduction of excessive employee remuneration

Present Law

An employer generally may deduct reasonable compensation for personal services as an ordinary and necessary business expense.⁵²⁰ However, under section 162(m)(1),⁵²¹ in the case of a publicly held corporation, a deduction limit of \$1 million generally applies to compensation of the principal executive officer or the three most highly compensated officers for the taxable year other than the principal executive officer. A corporation is treated as publicly held if it has a class of common equity securities that is requires to be registered under section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Prior to the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 ("ARPA"),⁵²² a "covered employee" was an employee who was (1) the principal executive officer, (2) principal financial officer, or (3) among the three most highly compensated officers for the taxable year (other than the principal executive officer or financial officer), defined in reference to the Exchange Act.⁵²³ A covered employee also includes any individual who had met the criteria to be a covered employee since January 1, 2014. Thus, an individual remains a covered employee with respect to compensation otherwise deductible for subsequent years, including for years during which the individual is no longer employed by the corporation and years after the individual has died. Under Treasury regulations, the requirement that the individual meet the criteria as of the last day of the taxable year applies to the principal executive officer, principal financial officer, and the three highest compensated officers.⁵²⁴

Unless specifically excluded, the deduction limitation applies to applicable employee renumeration,⁵²⁵ which includes all remuneration for services, including cash and the cash value of all remuneration (including benefits) paid in a medium other than cash. If an individual is a covered employee for a taxable year, the deduction limitation applies to all compensation not explicitly excluded from the deduction limitation, regardless of whether the compensation is for services as a covered employee and regardless of when the compensation was earned. The \$1 million cap is reduced by excess parachute payments (as defined in section 280G) that are not deductible by the corporation. Compensation does not fail to be compensation with respect to a covered employee and thus subject to the deduction limit for a taxpayer year merely because the

⁵²⁰ Sec. 162.

- ⁵²² Pub. L. No. 117-2, March 11, 2021.
- ⁵²³ Notice 2007-49, 2007-25 I.R.B. 1429.
- ⁵²⁴ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.162-27(c)(2).
- ⁵²⁵ Sec. 162(m)(4).

 $^{^{521}\,}$ Added to the Code by the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993, Pub. L. No. 103-66, and a mended by the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, Pub. L. No. 115-97.

compensation is includible in the income of, or paid to, another individual, such as compensation paid to a beneficiary after the employee's death, or to a former spouse pursuant to a domestic relations order.

Prior to Public Law 115-97, certain types of compensation were excepted from the limit, including remuneration payable on a commission basis ("commission compensation") and, if certain outside director and shareholder approval requirements were met, remuneration payable solely on account of the attainment of one or more performance goals ("performance-based compensation"). The statute expanded the definition of compensation subject to the limit to include commission compensation and performance-based compensation in addition to other types of payments.

Section 162(m) was expanded by the ARPA to include five additional individuals as covered employees. This expansion was to take effect in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2026. Accordingly, up to ten individuals, including the principal executive officer, principal financial officer, and the next eight highest paid employees may be covered employees for purposes of section 162(m) after December 31, 2026.

Description of Proposal

The proposal accelerates the treatment of the five additional individuals as covered employees to December 31, 2021. Accordingly, up to ten individuals, including the principal executive officer, principal financial officer, and the next eight highest paid employees, may be covered employees for purposes of section 162(m) after December 31, 2021.

The proposal also modifies the definition of applicable employee remuneration⁵²⁶ to be, except as otherwise provided, the aggregate amount allowable as a deduction for such taxable year for remuneration for services by the covered employee, including performance-based compensation, commissions, post-termination compensation, and beneficiary payments, whether or not such remuneration is paid directly by the publicly held corporation.

The proposal adds an aggregation rule requiring two or more persons who are treated as a single employer under section 414⁵²⁷ to be treated as a single employer. For purposes of this determination, the brother-sister-controlled group⁵²⁸ and combined group⁵²⁹ rules under section 1563(a) shall be disregarded.

The Secretary will prescribe regulations or other guidance as may be necessary to carry out the purposes of paragraph (1), including regulations or other guidance to prevent the

⁵²⁹ Sec. 1563(a)(3).

⁵²⁶ Sec. 162(m)(4)(A).

⁵²⁷ Subsections (b), (c), (m), or (o) of Sec. 414.

⁵²⁸ Sec. 1563(a)(2).

avoidance of the proposal, including through the performance of services other than as an employee or by providing compensation through a passthrough or other entity.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

2. Extension of tax to fund the Black Lung Disability Trust Fund

Present Law

Coal extracted from mines is taxed at either \$1.10 per ton if from an underground mine or \$0.55 per ton if from a surface mine.⁵³⁰ The total amount of tax is not to exceed 4.4 percent of the price at which such ton of coal was sold by the producer.

After December 31, 2021, the "temporary increase termination date," the tax rates decline to rates of \$0.50 for underground mines and \$0.25 for surface mines. After the temporary increase termination date, the total amount of tax is not to exceed two percent of the price at which such ton of coal is sold by the producer.

Description of Proposal

The proposal extends the coal excise tax through December 31, 2025.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for sales after December 31, 2021.

3. Prohibited transactions relating to holding DISC or FSC in individual retirement account

Present Law

Individual retirement arrangements

An individual retirement arrangement ("IRA") is a tax-favored savings arrangement under which retirement savings are held in a tax-exempt trust, custodial account, or annuity contract until distributed. The term includes both individual retirement accounts⁵³¹ and individual retirement annuities.⁵³² In addition, IRAs fall into two categories based on the timing of income inclusion: traditional IRAs,⁵³³ to which both deductible and nondeductible

- ⁵³¹ Sec. 408(a).
- ⁵³² Sec. 408(b).
- ⁵³³ Sec. 408.

⁵³⁰ Sec. 4121.

contributions may be made,⁵³⁴ and Roth IRAs, to which only nondeductible contributions may be made.⁵³⁵ For a traditional IRA, an eligible contributor may deduct the contributions made for the year, but distributions are includible in gross income to the extent attributable to earnings on the account and the deductible contributions. For a Roth IRA, all contributions are after-tax (that is, no deduction is allowed) but, if certain requirements are satisfied, distributions are not includible in gross income.

The total amount that an individual may contribute to one or more IRAs for a year is generally limited to the lesser of: (1) a dollar amount (\$6,000 for 2021); and (2) the amount of the individual's compensation that is includible in gross income for the year.⁵³⁶ In the case of an individual who has attained age 50 by the end of the year, the dollar amount is increased by \$1,000. In the case of a married couple, contributions can be made up to the dollar limit for each spouse if the combined compensation of the spouses that is includible in gross income is at least equal to the contributed amount.

An individual may make contributions to a traditional IRA (up to the contribution limit) without regard to his or her adjusted gross income. An individual may deduct his or her contributions to a traditional IRA if neither the individual nor the individual's spouse is an active participant in an employer-sponsored retirement plan. If an individual or the individual's spouse is an active participant in an employer-sponsored retirement plan, the deduction is phased out for taxpayers with adjusted gross income over certain levels.⁵³⁷ In order to be eligible to make contributions to a Roth IRA, an individual's adjusted gross income must be below certain levels.⁵³⁸

Prohibited transactions

The Code prohibits certain transactions ("prohibited transactions") between a plan, including an IRA, and a disqualified person.⁵³⁹ Disqualified persons include a fiduciary of the plan; a person providing services to the plan; an employer with employees covered by the plan; an employee organization any of whose members are covered by the plan; certain owners,

⁵³⁴ Sec. 219.

⁵³⁵ Sec. 408A.

 $^{^{536}}$ Sec. 219(b)(2) and (5), as referenced in secs. 408(a)(1) and (b)(2)(B) and 408A(c)(2). Under section 4973, IRA contributions in excess of the applicable limit are generally subject to an excise tax of six percent per year until withdrawn.

⁵³⁷ Sec. 219(g).

⁵³⁸ Sec. 408A(c)(3).

⁵³⁹ Sec. 4975. In addition to IRAs, these rules apply to qualified retirement plans, Archer MSAs, HSAs, and Coverdell ESAs. Sec. 4975(e)(1). Similar rules apply to certain plans under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

officers, directors, highly compensated employees,⁵⁴⁰ family members, and related entities.⁵⁴¹ A fiduciary includes any person who (1) exercises any discretionary authority or discretionary control respecting management of the plan or exercises any authority or control respecting management or disposition of the plan's assets, (2) renders investment advice for a fee or other compensation, direct or indirect, with respect to any moneys or other property of the plan, or has any authority or responsibility to do so, or (3) has any discretionary authority or discretionary responsibility in the administration of the plan.⁵⁴²

Prohibited transactions include the following transactions, whether direct or indirect, between a plan and a disqualified person: (1) the sale or exchange or leasing of property; (2) the lending of money or other extension of credit; (3) the furnishing of goods, services, or facilities; (4) the transfer to, or use by or for the benefit of, the income or assets of the plan; (5) in the case of a fiduciary, an act dealing with the plan's income or assets in the fiduciary's own interest or for the fiduciary's own account; and (6) the receipt by a fiduciary of any consideration for the fiduciary's own personal account from any party dealing with the plan in connection with a transaction involving the income or assets of the plan.⁵⁴³

Sanctions for violations

Under the Code, if a prohibited transaction occurs, the disqualified person who participated in the transaction is generally subject to a two-tiered excise tax. The first tier tax is 15 percent of the amount involved in the transaction. The second tier tax, imposed if the prohibited transaction is not corrected within a certain period, is 100 percent of the amount involved.

A special rule applies in the case of certain prohibited transactions involving IRAs. If an individual for whose benefit an IRA is established (or such individual's beneficiary) engages in a prohibited transaction with respect to the IRA, the IRA loses its tax-favored status and ceases to be an IRA as of the first day of the taxable year in which the prohibited transaction occurs.⁵⁴⁴ As a result, the IRA is treated as distributing to the individual on the first day of that taxable year the fair market value of all of the assets in the account. If the fair market value of the IRA assets exceeds the basis in the account, the individual has taxable gain that is includible in gross income. If the individual is under age 59½, the individual may also be subject to the 10-percent

- ⁵⁴² Sec. 4975(d)(3).
- ⁵⁴³ Sec. 4975(c)(1)(A)-(F).

⁵⁴⁰ Within the meaning of section 414(q).

⁵⁴¹ Sec. 4975(e)(2).

 $^{^{544}}$ Sec. 408(e)(2). Similar rules apply in the case of certain prohibited transactions involving an HSA, Archer MSA, or Coverdell ESA.

tax on early distributions.⁵⁴⁵ The individual and the individual's beneficiaries are exempt, however, from the excise tax that otherwise applies to prohibited transactions.⁵⁴⁶

IRS guidance on abusive Roth IRA transactions

In 2004, the IRS released guidance describing certain Roth IRA transactions that the agency identifies as tax avoidance transactions that must be reported to the IRS as listed transactions.⁵⁴⁷ The notice describes the transactions as generally involving (1) a taxpayer who owns a pre-existing business such as a corporation or sole proprietorship (the "Business"), (2) a Roth IRA maintained for the taxpayer, and (3) a corporation substantially all the shares of which are owned or acquired by the Roth IRA ("Roth IRA Corporation"). The Roth IRA Corporation and the Business or the taxpayer⁵⁴⁸ enter into a transaction or arrangement that has the effect of transferring value to the Roth IRA Corporation comparable to a contribution to the Roth IRA. Examples of such transactions under the notice include transactions in which the Roth IRA Corporation acquires property, such as accounts receivable, from the Business for less than fair market value, or contributions of property, including intangible property, by a person other than the Roth IRA, without a commensurate receipt of stock ownership.

The notice provides that such transactions are designed to avoid the statutory limits on contributions to a Roth IRA, and states further that because the taxpayer in these arrangements controls the Business and is the beneficial owner of substantially all of the Roth IRA Corporation, the taxpayer is in a position to shift value from the Business to the Roth IRA Corporation. The notice provides that the Secretary will challenge the tax benefits resulting from these transactions.

Interest charge domestic international sales corporations ("IC-DISC")⁵⁴⁹

The U.S. tax system has had various provisions intended to ameliorate disadvantages that U.S. multinational enterprises may face in competing with entities based in jurisdictions that based their tax regimes on territorial principles to a greater extent than the United States did prior to 2018. By exempting foreign-source income to varying degrees, the tax systems of other countries arguably provide a competitive advantage for their exports (as well as other foreign-related business activities of their residents). The DISC and FSC regimes were designed to address that disparity. The FSC regime was later repealed and replaced by the extraterritorial income systems ("ETI") in 2000, with transition rules that allowed continued existence of

⁵⁴⁵ Sec. 72(t).

⁵⁴⁶ Sec. 4975(c)(3).

 547 Notice 2004-8, 2004-4 I.R.B. 333, January 26, 2004. A listed transaction is a transaction that is the same or substantially similar to one of the types of transactions that the IRS has determined to be a tax avoidance transaction and identified by notice, regulation, or other form of published guidance as a listed transaction. Treas. Reg. sec. 1.6011-4(b)(2). Every taxpayer that has participated in such a transaction and who is required to file a tax return must file a disclosure statement disclosing such transaction.

⁵⁴⁸ Including related parties described in section 267(b) or 707(b).

⁵⁴⁹ Secs. 991 through 997.

certain FSCs.⁵⁵⁰ Only a modified version of the DISC regime remains in effect, as described below.

Under the IC-DISC regime, certain domestic corporations are exempt from Federal corporate income tax on their export income, with partial deferral of tax for its shareholders. In general, the IC-DISC is not subject to corporate-level Federal income tax.⁵⁵¹ To qualify as an IC-DISC, a domestic corporation must have a valid election (to which all shareholders consent) to be taxed as a IC-DISC⁵⁵² and satisfy the following conditions: 95 percent of its gross receipts must be qualified export receipts; 95 percent of the sum of the adjusted bases of all its assets must be attributable to the sum of the adjusted bases of qualified export assets; the corporation must have no more than one class of stock; and the par or stated value of the outstanding stock must be at least \$2,500 on each day of the taxable year.⁵⁵³

The U.S. tax system has had a series of special tax regimes intended to provide incentives for foreign trade, including the DISC regime and foreign sales corporations ("FSC"). Benefits of the DISC regime were curtailed when the FSC regime was enacted in 1984. The FSC regime was repealed and replaced by the extraterritorial income systems ("ETI") in 2000, with transition rules that allowed continued existence of certain FSCs.⁵⁵⁴ These regimes were intended to

For an overview of the history of various special regimes and the trade disputes they engendered, see Joseph Isenbergh, Vol. 3 U.S. Taxation of Foreign Persons and Foreign Income, Para. 81. (Fourth Ed. 2016). See also, Joint Committee on Taxation, The U.S. International Tax Rules: Background, Data, and Selected Issues Relating to the Competitiveness of U.S.-Based Business Operations (JCX-67-03), July 3, 2003.

⁵⁵¹ Sec. 991.

⁵⁵² See Form 4876-A, *Election to be Treated as an Interest-Charge DISC*.

 553 Secs. 992(a) and (b). If a corporation fails to satisfy either or both 95-percent tests, it may be deemed to satisfy such tests if it makes a prorata distribution of its gross receipts which are not qualified export receipts and the fair market value of its assets which are not qualified export assets. Sec. 992(c).

⁵⁵⁰ Former secs. 921 through 927 (FSC); former secs. 941-943. See section 2, *The FSC Repeal and Extraterritorial Income Exclusion Act of 2000*, Pub. L. No. 106-519, which provided that no new FSCs could be created, terminated inactive FSCs, but allowed an election to be treated as a domestic corporation under former section 943. With the repeal of the ETI provisions in 2004, further transition rules were provided for transactions in taxable years 2005 and 2006. Sec. 101(b)(2), American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, Pub. L. No. 108-357. Earlier efforts included the special rules and benefits for China Trade Corporations and Western Hemisphere Corporations under the Code of 1939, in addition to the partial deferral for DISCS under the Internal Revenue Code of 1954. Prior to being supplanted by FSCs, DISCs were eligible for more generous tax benefits. See Joint Committee on Taxation, *General Explanation of the Revenue Provisions of the Deficit Reduction Act of 1984*, at 1066.

⁵⁵⁴ Former secs. 921 through 927 (FSC); former secs. 941-943. See section 2, *The FSC Repeal and Extraterritorial Income Exclusion Act of 2000*, Pub. L. No. 106-519, which provided that no new FSCs could be created, terminated inactive FSCs, but allowed an election to be treated as a domestic corporation under former section 943. With the repeal of the ETI provisions in 2004, further transition rules were provided for transactions in taxable years 2005 and 2006. Sec. 101(b)(2), American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, Pub. L. No. 108-357. Earlier efforts included the special rules and benefits for China Trade Corporations and Western Hemisphere Corporations under the Code of 1939, in addition to the partial deferral for DISCS under the Internal Revenue Code of 1954.

ameliorate disadvantages that U.S. multinational enterprises may face in competing with entities based in jurisdictions that based their tax regimes on territorial principles to a greater extent than the United States did prior to 2018. By exempting foreign-source income to varying degrees, the tax systems of other countries arguably provide a competitive advantage for their exports (as well as other foreign-related business activities of their residents). Only a modified version of the DISC regime remains in effect, as described below.

Under the IC-DISC regime, certain domestic corporations are exempt from Federal corporate income tax on their export income, with partial deferral of tax for its shareholders. In general, the IC-DISC is not subject to corporate-level Federal income tax.⁵⁵⁵ To qualify as an IC-DISC, a domestic corporation must have a valid election (to which all shareholders consent) to be taxed as a IC-DISC⁵⁵⁶ and satisfy the following conditions: 95 percent of its gross receipts must be qualified export receipts; 95 percent of the sum of the adjusted bases of all its assets must be attributable to the sum of the adjusted bases of qualified export assets; the corporation must have no more than one class of stock; and the par or stated value of the outstanding stock must be at least \$2,500 on each day of the taxable year.⁵⁵⁷

While an election is in effect, it applies to each shareholder who owns stock in the corporation. Personal holding companies, corporations exempt from tax under section 501, regulated investment companies, insurance companies, and S corporations are ineligible to be treated as IC-DISCs.⁵⁵⁸ An IC-DISC is not required to have its own employees, offices or equipment. It need only have a bank account and be maintained as a separate accounting entity.⁵⁵⁹

Shareholders are generally not required to pay tax on undistributed taxable income of the IC-DISC to the extent that the taxable income is attributable to no more than \$10 million qualified export receipts annually. Instead, shareholders must pay an interest charge to account for the benefit of deferring the tax liability on undistributed IC-DISC income. The shareholders of a corporation that is not currently an IC-DISC but was in a previous taxable year and has

⁵⁵⁵ Sec. 991.

⁵⁵⁶ See Form 4876-A, *Election to be Treated as an Interest-Charge DISC*.

 557 Secs. 992(a) and (b). If a corporation fails to satisfy either or both 95-percent tests, it may be deemed to satisfy such tests if it makes a prorata distribution of its gross receipts which are not qualified export receipts and the fair market value of its assets which are not qualified export assets. Sec. 992(c).

⁵⁵⁸ Sec. 992(d).

Prior to being supplanted by FSCs, DISCs were eligible for more generous tax benefits. See Joint Committee on Taxation, *General Explanation of the Revenue Provisions of the Deficit Reduction Act of 1984*, at 1066.

For an overview of the history of various special regimes and the trade disputes they engendered, see Joseph Isenbergh, Vol. 3 U.S. Taxation of Foreign Persons and Foreign Income, Para. 81. (Fourth Ed. 2016). See also, Joint Committee on Taxation, The U.S. International Tax Rules: Background, Data, and Selected Issues Relating to the Competitiveness of U.S.-Based Business Operations (JCX-67-03), July 3, 2003.

⁵⁵⁹ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.992-1(a)(7).

previously-taxed income or accumulated IC-DISC income, are also required to pay interest on the deferral benefit. Gain on the sale or exchange of stock in such corporation is treated as a dividend.⁵⁶⁰

The deferral benefit is the excess of the amount of tax for which the shareholder would be liable if deferred DISC income were included as ordinary income over the actual tax liability of such shareholder. The rate is the average of one-year constant maturity Treasury yields.⁵⁶¹

Shareholders of an IC-DISC are subject to tax on actual distributions as well as certain items of DISC income that are treated as deemed distributions for the taxable year. Distributions treated as dividends are qualified dividends eligible for the rate applicable to net capital gains.⁵⁶² Corporations are not eligible for a dividends-received deduction on any distributions received by an IC-DISC.⁵⁶³ All such gains and distributions are treated

Most IC-DISC deemed distributions⁵⁶⁴ are comprised of interest on producer's loans (defined in section 993(d)); gains on the sale or exchange of property (other than qualified export property) previously acquired by the IC-DISC in a tax-free transaction; 50 percent of the taxable income of the IC-DISC attributable to military property; taxable income attributable to qualified export receipts that exceed \$10,000,000;⁵⁶⁵ and, if the shareholder is a C corporation, 1/17th of the taxable income during the year (after accounting for the items above, but before accounting for any actual distributions made).

The amount of deemed distributions cannot exceed the IC-DISC's earnings and profits for any given year, even if the IC-DISC has accumulated earnings and profits.⁵⁶⁶ Since a shareholder does not actually receive a constructive dividend, the shareholder's basis in the IC-DISC is increased by the amount of the dividend.⁵⁶⁷ When that portion of the IC-DISC's previously taxed income is actually distributed to the shareholder, this income is not taxed to the shareholder, and reduces the shareholder's basis in the IC-DISC. To the extent such a

⁵⁶² Secs. 995(a) and (b); sec. 1(h)(11) provides a tax rate of 15 percent for individuals.

⁵⁶³ Sec. 246(d).

⁵⁶⁴ The full list can be found in section 995(b)(1).

 565 Sec. 995(b)(4). The amount of the deemed distribution is the sum of several items, including qualified export receipts in excess of \$10 million. For purposes of this calculation, multiple IC-DISCs that are part of the same controlled group are treated as one corporation (which has the effect of a ggregating their receipts).

⁵⁶⁶ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.995-2(b).

⁵⁶⁷ Sec. 996(e).

⁵⁶⁰ Sec. 995(c)(1)(B).

⁵⁶¹ Sec. 995(f).

distribution exceeds the shareholder's basis, it is treated as gain on the sale or exchange of property.⁵⁶⁸

Any actual distribution is considered to be distributed first out of previously taxed income, then from accumulated tax deferred income, and then from all other earnings and profits.⁵⁶⁹ Gain on the sale of IC-DISC stock is treated as a dividend to the extent of accumulated IC-DISC income.⁵⁷⁰

Description of Proposal

The proposal amends the definition of prohibited transaction to include an individual retirement account that holds an interest in a DISC⁵⁷¹ or FSC⁵⁷² that receives any commission or other payment from an entity any stock or interest in which is owned by the individual for whose benefit the individual retirement account is maintained. For this purpose, if an individual retirement account holds an interest in an entity that owns, directly or indirectly, an interest in a DISC or FSC, the account is treated as holding an interest in such DISC or FSC.

Constructive ownership rules under the Code apply in determining ownership of stock or interest in the entity making commissions or payments to the DISC or FSC, as well as in determining ownership of a DISC or FSC by an entity in which the individual retirement account holds an interest. ⁵⁷³ However, for purposes of the proposal, the constructive ownership rules relating to attribution of ownership to corporations apply based on 10 percent, rather than 50 percent, ownership in such corporation.⁵⁷⁴

The proposal also provides that the exception from the excise tax that applies to prohibited transactions involving an IRA that loses its tax-favored status does not apply in the case of the prohibited transaction added by the proposal. Thus, if the owner of an individual retirement account engages in a prohibited transaction involving a DISC or FSC, as described in the proposal, the individual retirement account will lose its tax-favored status (and be treated as distributing its assets as of the first day of the taxable year), and excise taxes will also apply.

⁵⁷¹ Sec. 992(a)(1).

⁵⁷² Sec. 922(a), as in effect before its repeal by the FSC Repeal and Extraterritorial Income Exclusion Act of 2000. All references to FSC include electing "small FSC" entities under section 922(b).

⁵⁷³ Sec. 318.

⁵⁶⁸ Sec. 996(e).

⁵⁶⁹ Sec. 996(a).

⁵⁷⁰ Sec. 995(c).

⁵⁷⁴ Sec. 318(a)(2)(C) and (3)(C).

Effective Date

The proposal applies to stock and other interests acquired or held on or after December 31, 2021.

4. Increase in tax on certain tobacco products, imposition of tax on nicotine, and clarification of rules regarding tobacco drawback

Present Law

Federal excise taxes are imposed upon various types of tobacco products and cigarette papers and tubes.⁵⁷⁵ "Tobacco products" are cigars, cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, pipe tobacco, and roll-your-own tobacco.⁵⁷⁶

A "cigar" is any roll of tobacco wrapped in leaf tobacco or in any substance containing tobacco, other than any roll of tobacco which is a cigarette.⁵⁷⁷

A "cigarette" is (1) any roll of tobacco wrapped in paper or in any substance not containing tobacco; and (2) any roll of tobacco wrapped in any substance containing tobacco which, because of its appearance, the type of tobacco used in the filler, or its packaging and labeling, is likely to be offered to, or purchased by, consumers as a cigarette.⁵⁷⁸

"Smokeless tobacco" is any snuff or chewing tobacco.⁵⁷⁹ "Snuff" is finely cut, ground or powdered tobacco that is not intended to be smoked.⁵⁸⁰ "Chewing tobacco" is any leaf tobacco that is not intended to be smoked.⁵⁸¹

"Pipe tobacco" is any tobacco which, because of its appearance, type, packaging, or labeling, is suitable for use and likely to be offered to, or purchased by, consumers as tobacco to be smoked in a pipe.⁵⁸²

- ⁵⁷⁶ Sec. 5702(c).
- ⁵⁷⁷ Sec. 5702(a).
- ⁵⁷⁸ Sec. 5702(b).
- ⁵⁷⁹ Sec. 5702(m)(1).
- ⁵⁸⁰ Sec. 5702(m)(2).
- ⁵⁸¹ Sec. 5702(m)(3).
- ⁵⁸² Sec. 5702(n).

⁵⁷⁵ Sec. 5701.

"Roll-your-own tobacco" is any tobacco, which, because of its appearance, type, packaging, or labeling, is suitable for use and likely to be offered to, or purchased by, consumers as tobacco for making cigarettes.⁵⁸³

"Cigarette paper" is paper, or any other material except tobacco, prepared for use as a cigarette wrapper. A "cigarette tube" is cigarette paper made into a hollow cylinder for use in making cigarettes.⁵⁸⁴

Tobacco Product	Present Law Tax Rates	
"Small cigars" (weighing three pounds or less per thousand) ¹	\$50.33 per thousand	
"Large cigars" (weighing more than three pounds per thousand) ²	52.75 percent of manufacturer's sale price, but not more than 40.26 cents per cigar	
"Small cigarettes" (weighing three pounds or less per thousand) ³	\$50.33 per thousand	
"Large cigarettes" (weighing more than three pounds per thousand) ⁴	\$105.69 per thousand	
Snuff ⁵	\$1.51 per pound ⁶	
Chewing tobacco ⁷	50.33 cents per pound	
Pipe tobacco ⁸	\$2.8311 per pound	
Roll-your-own tobacco ⁹	\$24.78 per pound	

The following table lists the tax rates on tobacco products and cigarette papers and tubes.

⁵⁸³ Sec. 5702(o).

⁵⁸⁴ Sec. 5702(f).

Tobacco Product	Present Law Tax Rates	
Cigarette papers ¹⁰	3.15 cents for each 50 papers (or fractional part thereof)	
Cigarette tubes ¹¹	6.30 cents for each 50 tubes (or fractional part thereof)	

¹ Sec. 5701(a)(1).

² Sec. 5701(a)(2).

³ Sec. 5701(b)(1).

⁴ Large cigarettes more than 6.5 inches in length are taxed as small cigarettes, counting each 2.75 inches (or fraction thereof) of the length of each as one cigarette. Sec. 5701(b)(2).

⁵ Sec. 5701(e)(1).

⁶ Each of the tax rates on snuff, chewing tobacco, pipe tobacco, and roll-your-own tobacco is applied proportionately to fractional parts of a pound.

⁷ Sec. 5701(e)(2).

⁸ Sec. 5701(f).

⁹ Sec. 5701(g).

 10 Cigarette papers measuring more than 6.5 inches in length are taxed at the rate prescribed, counting each 2.75 inches (or fraction thereof) of the length of each as one cigarette paper. Sec. 5701(c).

¹¹ Cigarette tubes measuring more than 6.5 inches in length are taxed at the rate prescribed, counting each 2.75 inches (or fraction thereof) of the length of each as one cigarette tube. Sec. 5701(d).

The excise tax liability arises when the tobacco products or cigarette papers and tubes are manufactured or imported, but the requirement to pay the tax is not triggered until the product is removed from the taxpayer's premises or, in the case of an imported product, from customs custody or bond.⁵⁸⁵ The tax is determined and paid at the time of removal unless the taxpayer has a deferral bond in place, in which case the taxes are paid on the basis of semi-monthly return periods.⁵⁸⁶ Any taxpayer who is liable for a gross amount of taxes equal to or exceeding \$5,000,000 during a calendar year must make deposits of tax for the following year by electronic funds transfer.⁵⁸⁷

Transfer rules and removals without tax

Tobacco products and cigarette papers and tubes may be transferred between bonded premises of manufacturers of tobacco products and export warehouse proprietors without payment of the tax; the transferee is liable for the tax on the transferred tobacco products and papers and tubes.⁵⁸⁸ Tobacco products and cigarette papers and tubes may also be removed without payment of tax for exportation; the exporter is relieved from the tax once proof of

⁵⁸⁶ Sec. 5703(b).

- ⁵⁸⁷ Sec. 5703(b)(3).
- ⁵⁸⁸ Sec. 5703(a) and 5704.

⁵⁸⁵ Sec. 5703.

exportation is obtained.⁵⁸⁹ Tax-paid product exported from the United States is eligible for drawback of the tax under certain conditions.⁵⁹⁰ Imported tobacco products may be released from customs custody in bulk for transfer to the bonded premises of a manufacturer or export warehouse proprietor without payment of the tax; the transferee is then responsible for the taxes.⁵⁹¹ Generally, previously exported domestic tobacco products may be relanded⁵⁹² in the United States only if they are transferred to the original manufacturer or to an export warehouse proprietor authorized by the original manufacturer.⁵⁹³ To prevent the diversion of tobacco products destined for export without payment of tax, however, packages bearing export marks are not allowed in the domestic marketplace.⁵⁹⁴ The tax is refunded or credited (without interest) for products withdrawn from the market and returned to bonded premises.⁵⁹⁵ Tax-paid products that are lost by casualty or certain disasters are eligible for tax refunds or credits.⁵⁹⁶

Permits and bonds

Manufacturers and importers of tobacco products, processed tobacco, and proprietors of export warehouses must obtain permits to engage in such businesses.⁵⁹⁷ A permit is obtained by application to the Secretary. The Secretary may deny the application if (1) the business premises are inadequate to protect the revenue; (2) the activity to be carried out at the business premises does not meet such minimum capacity or activity requirements as prescribed by the Secretary; (3) the applicant is, by reason of his business experience, financial standing, or trade connections, not likely to maintain operations in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Code; (4) the applicant has been convicted of a felony violation of Federal or state criminal law relating to tobacco products, processed tobacco, cigarette paper, or cigarette tubes; or (5) the applicant has failed to disclose any material information required or made any material false statement in the application. In the case of a corporation, an applicant includes any officer, director, or principal stockholder and, in the case of a partnership, a partner.⁵⁹⁸

⁵⁸⁹ Sec. 5704(b).

⁵⁹⁰ Sec. 5706.

⁵⁹¹ Sec. 5704(c).

 $^{592}\,$ A good is relanded if it is marked for export, but is returned to the United States without payment of duty. See 18 U.S.C. sec. 544.

- ⁵⁹³ Secs. 5754 and 5761(c).
- ⁵⁹⁴ Secs. 5754(a) and 5761(c).

⁵⁹⁵ Sec. 5705.

- ⁵⁹⁶ Secs. 5705 and 5708.
- ⁵⁹⁷ Sec. 5713(a).
- ⁵⁹⁸ Sec. 5712.

A permit is conditioned upon compliance with relevant provisions of the Code and related regulations pertaining to tobacco products and cigarette papers and tubes. The Secretary may suspend or revoke a permit after a notice and hearing if the holder (1) has not in good faith complied with those rules or has violated any other provision of the Code involving intent to defraud; (2) has violated the conditions of the permit; (3) has failed to disclose any material information required or made any material false statement in the permit application; (4) has failed to maintain the business premises in such a manner as to protect the revenue; (5) is, by reason of previous or current legal proceedings involving a felony violation of any other provision of Federal criminal law relating to tobacco products, processed tobacco, cigarette paper, or cigarette tubes, not likely to maintain operations in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Code; or (6) has been convicted of a felony violation of Federal or state criminal law relating to tobacco products, processed tobacco, cigarette tubes.⁵⁹⁹

A surety bond is required to be furnished by manufacturers of tobacco products or cigarette papers and tubes and export warehouse proprietors before they commence business.⁶⁰⁰ Importers are not required to post a surety bond because the requirement to pay the tax is triggered at the time the tobacco products or cigarette papers or tubes are released from customs custody. Prior to that time, the customs bond is applicable.

Occupational tax

An occupational tax of \$1,000 per year is imposed on manufacturers of tobacco products, cigarette papers and tubes, and export warehouse proprietors.⁶⁰¹ A reduced rate of \$500 per year applies to taxpayers with excise tax liability in the prior year of less than \$500,000.⁶⁰² Controlled groups are treated as a single person. Any person engaged in business subject to the occupational tax who willfully fails to pay the tax imposed is subject to a fine of not more than \$5,000 or imprisonment of not more than two years, or both, for each such offense.⁶⁰³

Miscellaneous rules, including operational, reporting, and recordkeeping requirements

Before removal, tobacco products, processed tobacco, and cigarette papers and tubes must be in packages and bear such marks, labels, and notices as required by the regulations.⁶⁰⁴

⁶⁰⁰ Sec. 5711.

- ⁶⁰¹ Sec. 5731(a).
- ⁶⁰² Sec. 5731(b).
- ⁶⁰³ Sec. 5731(c).
- ⁶⁰⁴ Secs. 5723(a) and (b).

⁵⁹⁹ Sec. 5713.

The Code prohibits lottery features and indecent or immoral material from being contained in or attached to a package of tobacco products or cigarette papers or tubes.⁶⁰⁵

Manufacturers, importers, and export warehouse proprietors are required to keep records, file operating reports, and make accurate inventories as required by regulations.⁶⁰⁶ Tobacco products may be furnished by a manufacturer to its employees or put to experimental use without payment of tax under conditions set forth in regulations.⁶⁰⁷

Fines and penalties

The Code contains provisions relating to the purchase, receipt, possession, sale, or disposal of certain tobacco products and cigarette papers and tubes.⁶⁰⁸ It also imposes restrictions on importation of previously exported tobacco products.⁶⁰⁹ Civil and criminal penalties and forfeiture provisions apply for failure to comply with the tobacco provisions.⁶¹⁰ The criminal and forfeiture provisions of subtitle F of the Code that apply to taxes in general also apply to tobacco taxes.

Civil penalties apply to certain actions including the willful failure to comply with the duties imposed (such as recordkeeping and labeling), failure to pay tax, and for the illegal sale of tobacco products.⁶¹¹ Criminal penalties apply to certain actions including engaging in business unlawfully, failing to furnish certain information or furnishing false or fraudulent information, tax evasion, unlawful removal of tobacco products or cigarette papers or tubes, and for purchasing, receiving, possessing, or selling tobacco products or cigarette papers or tubes unlawfully.⁶¹² Tobacco products and cigarette papers and tubes are subject to forfeiture if they are possessed with the intent to defraud the United States, or are not in packaging as required under the law.⁶¹³ Additional property may also be subject to forfeiture if it is used to engage in the manufacturing business unlawfully, or if the proprietor makes false or fraudulent records or reports with the intent to defraud the United States. Certain forfeited, condemned, or abandoned

- ⁶⁰⁵ Secs. 5723(c) and (d).
- ⁶⁰⁶ Secs. 5721, 5722 and 5741.
- ⁶⁰⁷ Sec. 5704(a).
- ⁶⁰⁸ Sec. 5751.
- ⁶⁰⁹ Sec. 5754.
- ⁶¹⁰ Secs. 5751-52 and 5761-63.
- ⁶¹¹ Sec. 5761.
- ⁶¹² Sec. 5762.
- ⁶¹³ Sec. 5763.

tobacco products or cigarette papers and tubes may be disposed of in accordance with regulations.⁶¹⁴

Description of Proposal

The proposal increases the Federal excise taxes on tobacco products. The tax rates for cigarette papers and tubes are unchanged.

The proposal changes the form of the tax on large cigars from a tax on percentage of sales price to a tax per pound,⁶¹⁵ with a minimum tax per cigar. The proposal delegates to the Secretary or the Secretary's delegate the authority to determine the appropriate method for determining the weight of large cigars for purposes of the tax. The proposed tax rate for large cigars is \$49.56 per pound with a min. tax of 10.06 cents per cigar.

The proposal also adds discrete single-use units to the definition of smokeless tobacco. A "discrete single use unit" is any product containing tobacco that (1) is not intended to be smoked, and (2) is in the form of a lozenge, tablet, pill, pouch, dissolvable strip, or other discrete single-use or single-dose unit. The proposed tax rate for discrete single-use units is \$100 per thousand.⁶¹⁶

The proposal modifies the definition of "roll your own tobacco" to include processed tobacco that is removed for delivery or delivered to a person other than a person with a permit.⁶¹⁷

The proposal also imposes a new excise tax on taxable nicotine. The amount of tax is the greater of (i) the dollar amount specified for small cigarettes or (ii) \$100.66 per 1,810 milligrams of nicotine (and a proportionate tax on any fractional part thereof).

The proposal defines taxable nicotine as any nicotine which has been extracted, concentrated, or synthesized. However, the definition excludes any nicotine if the manufacturer or importer demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Secretary of Health and Human Services that such nicotine will be used in a drug which has been approved by the Food and Drug Administration for sale as a nicotine replacement therapy. Additionally, other tobacco products that are currently subject to tax will not be treated as containing taxable nicotine solely because of any concentration of nicotine naturally occurring in such products or any addition of nicotine to such products during the manufacturing process.

Under the proposal, taxable nicotine is treated as a tobacco product. General provisions that apply to tobacco products, such as (i) packaging requirements, (ii) provisions relating to

⁶¹⁴ Sec. 5753.

⁶¹⁵ Under the proposal, the tax rate for large cigars is applied proportionately to fractional parts of a pound.

⁶¹⁶ The definitions of snuff and chewing to bacco are amended to exclude discrete single-use units.

 $^{^{617}}$ The definition excludes removals of processed to bacco for exportation as well as removals for delivery to permitted persons engaged in businesses as a manufacturer or importer of to bacco products or processed to bacco or as an export warehouse proprietor.

purchase, receipt, possession, or sale, and (iii) provisions relating to civil and criminal penalties, apply to taxable nicotine.

Additionally, the proposal provides that references in the Code to a manufacturer of tobacco products or to manufacturing tobacco products include references to a manufacturer of taxable nicotine or to manufacturing taxable nicotine, respectively. Therefore, a manufacturer of taxable nicotine is subject to the occupational tax and other requirements that apply to manufacturers of tobacco products. Under the proposal, a manufacturer of taxable nicotine includes any person who extracts, concentrates, or synthesizes nicotine.

The proposal requires the Secretary to prescribe regulations or other guidance as necessary or appropriate, including regulations or other guidance for coordinating the taxation of tobacco products and taxable nicotine to protect revenue and prevent double taxation.

Tobacco Product	Current Tax	Proposed Tax
"Small cigars"	\$50.33 per thousand	\$100.66 per thousand
"Large cigars"	52.75 percent of manufacturer's sale price, but not more than 40.26 cents per cigar	\$49.56 per pound, with a min. tax of 10.06 cents per cigar
"Small cigarettes"	\$50.33 per thousand	\$100.66 per thousand
"Large cigarettes"	\$105.69 per thousand	\$211.39 per thousand
Snuff	\$1.51 per pound	\$26.84 per pound
Chewing tobacco	50.33 cents per pound	\$10.70 per pound
Discrete single-use unit	Not applicable	\$100 per thousand
Pipe tobacco	\$2.8311 per pound	\$49.56 per pound
Roll-your-own tobacco	\$24.78 per pound	\$49.56 per pound
Cigarette papers	3.15 cents for each 50 papers (or fractional part thereof)	Unchanged
Cigarette tubes	6.30 cents for each 50 tubes (or fractional part thereof)	Unchanged
Taxable nicotine	Not applicable	\$100.66 per 1,810 milligrams of nicotine

Under the proposal, the Federal excise taxes on tobacco products (including taxable nicotine) and cigarette papers and tubes are:

Under the proposal, the Federal excise tax dollar amounts are adjusted for inflation for calendar years beginning after 2022.

The proposal imposes a floor stock tax on covered tobacco products and cigarette papers and tubes manufactured in or imported into the United States which are removed before the effective date and held for sale on such date by any person. The amount of the tax is (1) the tax that would be imposed under section 5701 if the article had been removed on the effective date less (2) any prior tax imposed under section 5701. Covered tobacco products are tobacco products other than cigars, discrete single-use units, and taxable nicotine. Covered tobacco products and cigarette papers and tubes which are located in a foreign trade zone on the effective date are subject to the floor stock tax if (1) internal revenue taxes have been determined, or customs duties liquidated, with respect to such articles before the effective date, pursuant to a request under the Foreign Trade Zone Act, ⁶¹⁸ or (2) such articles are held on the effective date under the supervision of a customs officer.

The proposal provides a transition rule for permit and bond requirements. A person who is lawfully engaged in business as a manufacturer or importer of taxable nicotine, first becomes subject to such requirements by reason of the amendments under the proposal, and submits an application to engage in such business not later than 90 days after the date of the enactment, will not be denied the right to carry on such business by reason of such requirements before final action on such application.

Finally, the proposal amends the drawback rules under section 5706 to provide that an exemption from tax under section 5704 is a drawback, and no further drawback will be allowed based on merchandise that has not been subject to tax.⁶¹⁹

Effective Date

The proposal generally applies to articles removed in calendar quarters beginning after the date of enactment.

The proposals to modify the tax treatment of large cigars, impose a tax on discrete singleuse units, and impose a tax on taxable nicotine apply to articles removed in calendar quarters beginning 180 days after the date of enactment.

The proposal with respect to drawbacks applies to drawback claims made on or after December 18, 2018.

5. Termination of employer credit for paid family and medical leave

Present Law

In general

The Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, as amended (the "FMLA"), generally requires employers to provide employees with up to 26 weeks of leave under certain

⁶¹⁸ 19 U.S.C. 81a *et seq*.

 $^{^{619}}$ The proposal provides that this change will not be construed to create any inference with respect to any drawback claim made before December 18, 2018.

circumstances.⁶²⁰ In general, FMLA does not require that the employer continue to pay employees during such leave, although employers may choose to pay for all or a portion of such leave. State and local governments may provide, or State and local laws may require employers to provide, employees with up to a certain amount of paid leave for types of leave that may or may not fall under the FMLA.

Employer credit for paid family and medical leave

Eligible employers can claim a general business credit equal to 12.5 percent of the amount of eligible wages (based on the normal hourly wage rate) paid to "qualifying employees" during any period in which such employees are on "family and medical leave" if the rate of payment under the program is 50 percent of the wages normally paid to an employee for actual services performed for the employer.⁶²¹ The credit is increased by 0.25 percentage points (but not above 25 percent) for each percentage point by which the rate of payment exceeds 50 percent. The maximum amount of family and medical leave that may be taken into account with respect to any qualifying employee for any taxable year is 12 weeks.

An "eligible employer" is one which has in place a written policy that allows all qualifying full-time employees not less than two weeks of annual paid family and medical leave, and which allows all less-than-full-time qualifying employees a commensurate amount of leave (on a *pro rata* basis) compared to the leave provided to full-time employees. The policy must also provide that the rate of payment under the program is not less than 50 percent of the wages normally paid to any such employee for services performed for the employer.

In addition, in order to be an eligible employer, the employer is prohibited from certain practices or acts which are also prohibited under the FMLA, regardless of whether the employer is subject to the FMLA. Specifically, the employer must provide paid family and medical leave in compliance with a written policy that ensures that the employer will not interfere with, restrain, or deny the exercise of or the attempt to exercise, any right provided under the policy and will not discharge or in any other manner discriminate against any individual for opposing any practice prohibited by the policy.

A "qualifying employee" means any individual who is an employee under tax rules and principles and is defined in section 3(e) of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938,⁶²² as amended, who has been employed by the employer for one year or more, and who for the preceding year, had compensation not in excess of 60 percent of the compensation threshold in such year for highly compensated employees.⁶²³ For 2021, this 60 percent amount is \$78,000.

⁶²⁰ Pub. L. No. 103-3, Feb. 5, 1993.

 $^{^{621}}$ Wages for this purpose are Federal Unemployment Tax Act wages defined in section 3306(b), without regard to the dollar limitation, but do not include amounts taken into a ccount for purposes of determining any other credit under subpart D of the Code.

⁶²² Pub. L. No. 75-718.

⁶²³ Sec. 414(q)(1)(B) (\$130,000 for 2021).

"Family and medical leave" for purposes of new section 45S is generally defined as leave described under sections 102(a)(1)(A)-(E) or 102(a)(3) of the FMLA.⁶²⁴ If an employer provides paid leave as vacation leave, personal leave, or other medical or sick leave⁶²⁵ (unless the medical or sick leave is specifically for one or more of the "family and medical leave" purposes defined above), such paid leave would not be considered to be family and medical leave. In addition, leave paid for by a State or local government or required by State or local law (including such leave required to be paid by the employer) is not taken into account in determining the amount of paid family and medical leave provided by the employer that is eligible for the credit. Any wages for paid sick or expanded family and medical leave taken into account for the payroll tax credit on such wages are not taken into account for purposes of determining the employer credit for certain paid family and medical leave under section 45S.⁶²⁶

The Secretary will make determinations as to whether an employer or an employee satisfies the applicable requirements for an eligible employer or qualifying employee, based on information provided by the employer that the Secretary determines to be necessary or appropriate.

The Taxpayer Certainty and Disaster Tax Relief Act of 2020⁶²⁷ extended the employer credit for paid family and medical leave so that it would expire on December 31, 2025.

Description of Proposal

The proposal amends the expiration date of the credit for paid family and medical leave from December 31, 2025⁶²⁸ to December 31, 2023.

⁶²⁸ Sec. 45S(i).

 $^{^{624}}$ FMLA section 102(a)(1) provides leave for FMLA purposes due to (A) the birth of a son or daughter of the employee and in order to care for such son or daughter; (B) the placement of a son or daughter with the employee for a doption or foster care; (C) caring for the spouse, or a son, daughter, or parent, of the employee, if such spouse, son, daughter, or parent has a serious health condition; (D) a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the functions of the employee's position; (E) any qualifying exigency (as the Secretary of Labor shall, by regulation, determine) arising out of the fact that the spouse, or a son, daughter, or parent of the employee is on covered active duty (or has been notified of an impending call or order to covered active duty) in the Armed Forces. In addition, FMLA section 102(a)(3) provides leave for FMLA purposes due to the need of an employee who is a spouse, son, daughter, parent, or next-of-kin of an eligible service member to care for such service member.

⁶²⁵ These terms mean these types of leave within the meaning of FMLA section 102(d)(2).

⁶²⁶ Pub. L. No. 116-127; Secs. 3131, 3132. The employer may not claim a credit under section 45S with respect to the qualified sick leave or family leave wages paid but may be able to take a credit under section 45S with respect to any additional wages paid, provided the requirements of section 45S are met with respect to the additional wages.

⁶²⁷ Pub. L. No. 116-260, December 27, 2020.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective upon date of enactment.

6. Clarification of treatment of DISC gains and distributions of certain foreign shareholders

Present Law

The U.S. tax system has had various provisions intended to ameliorate disadvantages that U.S. multinational enterprises may face in competing with entities based in jurisdictions that based their tax regimes on territorial principles to a greater extent than the United States did prior to 2018. By exempting foreign-source income to varying degrees, the tax systems of other countries arguably provide a competitive advantage for their exports (as well as other foreign-related business activities of their residents). The DISC and FSC regimes were designed to address that disparity. The FSC regime was later repealed and replaced by the extraterritorial income systems ("ETI") in 2000, with transition rules that allowed continued existence of certain FSCs.⁶²⁹ Only a modified version of the DISC regime remains in effect, as described below.

Under the IC-DISC regime, certain domestic corporations are exempt from Federal corporate income tax on their export income, with partial deferral of tax for its shareholders. In general, the IC-DISC is not subject to corporate-level Federal income tax.⁶³⁰ To qualify as an IC-DISC, a domestic corporation must have a valid election (to which all shareholders consent) to be taxed as a IC-DISC⁶³¹ and satisfy the following conditions: 95 percent of its gross receipts must be qualified export receipts; 95 percent of the sum of the adjusted bases of all its assets must be attributable to the sum of the adjusted bases of qualified export assets; the corporation

For an overview of the history of various special regimes and the trade disputes they engendered, see Joseph Isenbergh, Vol. 3 U.S. Taxation of Foreign Persons and Foreign Income, Para. 81. (Fourth Ed. 2016). See also, Joint Committee on Taxation, The U.S. International Tax Rules: Background, Data, and Selected Issues Relating to the Competitiveness of U.S.-Based Business Operations (JCX-67-03), July 3, 2003.

⁶³⁰ Sec. 991.

⁶²⁹ Former secs. 921 through 927 (FSC); former secs. 941-943. See section 2, *The FSC Repeal and Extraterritorial Income Exclusion Act of 2000*, Pub. L. No. 106-519, which provided that no new FSCs could be created, terminated inactive FSCs, but allowed an election to be treated as a domestic corporation under former section 943. With the repeal of the ETI provisions in 2004, further transition rules were provided for transactions in taxable years 2005 and 2006. Sec. 101(b)(2), American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, Pub. L. No. 108-357. Earlier efforts included the special rules and benefits for China Trade Corporations and Western Hemisphere Corporations under the Code of 1939, in addition to the partial deferral for DISCS under the Internal Revenue Code of 1954. Prior to being supplanted by FSCs, DISCs were eligible for more generous tax benefits. See Joint Committee on Taxation, *General Explanation of the Revenue Provisions of the Deficit Reduction Act of 1984*, at 1066.

⁶³¹ See Form 4876-A, *Election to be Treated as an Interest-Charge DISC*.

must have no more than one class of stock; and the par or stated value of the outstanding stock must be at least \$2,500 on each day of the taxable year.⁶³²

While an election is in effect, it applies to each shareholder who owns stock in the corporation. Personal holding companies, corporations exempt from tax under section 501, regulated investment companies, insurance companies, and S corporations are ineligible to be treated as IC-DISCs.⁶³³ An IC-DISC is not required to have its own employees, offices or equipment. It need only have a bank account and be maintained as a separate accounting entity.⁶³⁴

Shareholders are generally not required to pay tax on undistributed taxable income of the IC-DISC to the extent that the taxable income is attributable to no more than \$10 million qualified export receipts annually. Instead, shareholders must pay an interest charge to account for the benefit of deferring the tax liability on undistributed IC-DISC income. The shareholders of a corporation that is not currently an IC-DISC but was in a previous taxable year and has previously-taxed income or accumulated IC-DISC income, are also required to pay interest on the deferral benefit. Gain on the sale or exchange of stock in such corporation is treated as a dividend.⁶³⁵

The deferral benefit is the excess of the amount of tax for which the shareholder would be liable if deferred DISC income were included as ordinary income over the actual tax liability of such shareholder. The rate is the average of one-year constant maturity Treasury yields.⁶³⁶

Shareholders of an IC-DISC are subject to tax on actual distributions as well as certain items of DISC income that are treated as deemed distributions for the taxable year. Individual shareholders who receive distributions that are treated as dividends are entitled to the rate on qualified dividends, i.e., the rate applicable to net capital gains.⁶³⁷ Corporations are not eligible for a dividends-received deduction on any distributions received by an IC-DISC.⁶³⁸ Gains, dividends and other distributions (including deemed distributions) to foreign shareholders, whether corporate or nonresident aliens, are treated as income that is effectively connected with

- ⁶³⁴ Treas. Reg. § 1.992-1(a)(7).
- ⁶³⁵ Sec. 995(c)(1)(B).

⁶³⁶ Sec. 995(f).

638 Sec. 246(d).

 $^{^{632}}$ Secs. 992(a) and (b). If a corporation fails to satisfy either or both 95-percent tests, it may be deemed to satisfy such tests if it makes a prorata distribution of its gross receipts which are not qualified export receipts and the fair market value of its assets which are not qualified export assets. Sec. 992(c).

⁶³³ Sec. 992(d).

⁶³⁷ Secs. 995(a) and (b); sec. 1(h)(11) provides a tax rate of 15 percent for individuals.

a U.S. trade or business conducted through a permanent establishment and therefore derived from sources in the United States.⁶³⁹

Most IC-DISC deemed distributions⁶⁴⁰ are comprised of interest on producer's loans (defined in section 993(d)); gains on the sale or exchange of property (other than qualified export property) previously acquired by the IC-DISC in a tax-free transaction; 50 percent of the taxable income of the IC-DISC attributable to military property; taxable income attributable to qualified export receipts that exceed \$10,000,000;⁶⁴¹ and, if the shareholder is a C corporation, 1/17th of the taxable income during the year (after accounting for the items above, but before accounting for any actual distributions made).

The amount of deemed distributions cannot exceed the IC-DISC's earnings and profits for any given year, even if the IC-DISC has accumulated earnings and profits.⁶⁴² Since a shareholder does not actually receive a constructive dividend, the shareholder's basis in the IC-DISC is increased by the amount of the dividend.⁶⁴³ When that portion of the IC-DISC's previously taxed income is actually distributed to the shareholder, this income is not taxed to the shareholder, and reduces the shareholder's basis in the IC-DISC. To the extent such a distribution exceeds the shareholder's basis, it is treated as gain on the sale or exchange of property.⁶⁴⁴

Any actual distribution is considered to be distributed first out of previously taxed income, then from accumulated tax deferred income, and then from all other earnings and profits.⁶⁴⁵ Gain on the sale of IC-DISC stock is treated as a dividend to the extent of accumulated IC-DISC income.⁶⁴⁶

Description of Proposal

Foreign shareholders of DISCs and FSCs are deemed to have a permanent establishment in the United States from which any DISC or FSC gains or distributions are derived.

⁶³⁹ Sec. 996(g).

 641 Sec. 995(b)(4). The amount of the deemed distribution is the sum of several items, including qualified export receipts in excess of \$10 million. For purposes of this calculation, multiple IC-DISCs that are part of the same controlled group are treated as one corporation (which has the effect of a ggregating their receipts).

- ⁶⁴² Treas. Reg. § 1.995-2(b).
- ⁶⁴³ Sec. 996(e).
- ⁶⁴⁴ Sec. 996(e).
- ⁶⁴⁵ Sec. 996(a).
- ⁶⁴⁶ Sec. 995(c).

⁶⁴⁰ The full list can be found in section 995(b)(1).

Effective Date

The proposal is applicable to gains and distributions after [December 31, 2021].

7. Access to self-employment income information for paid leave administration

Present Law

Confidentiality of returns and return information

Section 6103 provides that returns and return information are confidential and may not be disclosed by the IRS, other Federal employees, State employees, and certain others having access to such information except as provided in the Code. There are a number of exceptions to the general rule of nondisclosure that authorize disclosure in specifically identified circumstances.

For example, the Code provides for 22 specific exceptions to allow the disclosure of returns and return information to various persons or entities for a nontax administration purpose.⁶⁴⁷

Universal paid family and medical leave

Subtitle A of the proposal creates a universal paid family and medical leave benefit in a new title XXII of the Social Security Act. The paid leave benefit is administered by the Secretary and provides up to 12 weeks of paid family and medical leave per year for workers to address their own serious medical issue, the serious medical issue of a family member, the birth or adoption of a child, the death of a family member (up to 3 days for a typical worker employed 5 days per week), and for circumstances arising from a loved one's military deployment or serious injury.

The amount of the benefit is determined under a progressive benefit formula, designed to replace at least two-thirds of monthly earnings for most workers and a larger share of earnings for low-income workers. The benefit applies to employees and self-employed individuals. The determination of benefit amounts is based on wage or self-employment income data from the most recent eight calendar quarters. For employees, the Secretary shall utilize wage date from the National Directory of New Hires in making benefit determinations.

Description of Proposal

The proposal provides an exception to the general rule of confidentiality for disclosure of certain return information of self-employed individuals to carry out the paid family and medical leave benefit program. Under the provision, upon written request from the Secretary, officers and employees of the Department of the Treasury will have access to return information for a taxpayer whose self-employment income is relevant in determining eligibility for, or the correct amount of, a paid family and medical leave benefit under title XXII of the Social Security Act. Such information is limited to (i) taxpayer identity information of the taxpayer, (ii) self-

 $^{^{647}}$ Sec. 6103(l)(1) through (l)(22).

employment income of the taxpayer,⁶⁴⁸ and (iii) the taxable year to which the self-employment income relates. The information may be used solely for the purpose of administering the paid family and medical leave benefit program.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective upon date of enactment.

8. Temporary rule to allow certain S corporations to reorganize as partnerships without tax

Present Law

For Federal tax purposes, business income is taxed under rules relating to the form in which the business is conducted. The business may take the form of an entity or may be conducted as a sole proprietorship.⁶⁴⁹ The principal business entities for Federal income tax purposes are C corporations,⁶⁵⁰ partnerships, and S corporations. Partnerships and S corporations are often referred to as "passthrough entities" because their income is included in the gross income of the owners of the entities rather than in the income of the entities themselves.

Partnerships

Partnerships generally are treated for Federal income tax purposes as pass-through entities not subject to tax at the entity level.⁶⁵¹ Items of income (including tax-exempt income), gain, loss, deduction, and credit of the partnership are taken into account by the partners in computing their income tax liability (based on the partnership's method of accounting and regardless of whether the income is distributed to the partners).⁶⁵² A partner's deduction for partnership losses is limited to the partner's adjusted basis in its partnership interest.⁶⁵³ Losses not allowed as a result of that limitation generally are carried forward to the next year. A

⁶⁵⁰ For a discussion of the taxation of C corporations, see Joint Committee on Taxation, *Overview of the Federal Tax System as in Effect for 2021*, (JCX-18-21), April 15, 2021, pp. 15-22, available at <u>www.jct.gov</u>.

⁶⁵¹ Sec. 701. Note, however, that certain publicly traded partnerships are treated as corporations. See sec. 7704.

⁶⁵² Sec. 702(a).

⁶⁵³ Sec. 704(d). In addition, passive loss and at-risk limitations limit the extent to which certain types of income can be offset by partnership deductions (sections 469 and 465). These limitations do not apply to corporate partners (except certain closely-held corporations) and may not be important to individual partners who have partner-level passive income from other investments.

 $^{^{648}}$ As defined in section 1402(b) for purposes of the taxes imposed by section 1401(b).

⁶⁴⁹ A sole proprietorship is generally not treated as an entity separate from its owner. More complex or specialized arrangements involving, for example, a ffiliated corporations, tiered entities, special purpose entities, real estate investment trusts ("REITs"), regulated investment companies (mutual funds or "RICs") or foreign entities or investments are beyond the scope of this discussion.

partner's adjusted basis in the partnership interest generally equals the sum of (1) the partner's capital contributions to the partnership, (2) the partner's distributive share of partnership income, and (3) the partner's share of partnership liabilities, less (1) the partner's distributive share of losses allowed as a deduction and certain nondeductible expenditures, and (2) any partnership distributions to the partner.⁶⁵⁴ Partners generally may receive distributions of partnership property without recognition of gain or loss, subject to some exceptions.⁶⁵⁵

In contrast with a corporation and its shareholders (for which the Code prescribes rules that generally do not allow different treatment of similarly situated shareholders), partnerships may allocate items of income, gain, loss, deduction, and credit among the partners, provided the allocations meet a test for substantial economic effect or are made in accordance with the partners' interests in the partnership.⁶⁵⁶ In general, an allocation has substantial economic effect to the extent the partner to which the allocation is made receives the economic benefit or bears the economic burden of such allocation and the allocation substantially affects the dollar amounts to be received by the partners from the partnership independent of tax consequences.⁶⁵⁷

S corporations

For Federal income tax purposes, an S corporation⁶⁵⁸ generally is not subject to tax at the corporate level.⁶⁵⁹ In computing their income tax liabilities, S corporation shareholders take into account their pro rata shares of items of income (including tax-exempt income), gain, loss, deduction, and credit of the S corporation (based on the S corporation's method of accounting and regardless of whether the income is distributed to the shareholders). A shareholder's deduction for corporate losses is limited to the sum of the shareholder's adjusted basis in its S corporation stock and the indebtedness of the S corporation to such shareholder. Losses not allowed as a result of that limitation generally are carried forward to the next year. A shareholder's adjusted basis in the S corporation stock generally equals the sum of (1) the shareholder's capital contributions to the S corporation and (2) the shareholder's pro rata share of S corporation income, less (1) the shareholder's pro rata share of losses allowed as a deduction

⁶⁵⁴ Sec. 705.

⁶⁵⁶ Sec. 704(b).

⁶⁵⁷ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.704-1(b)(2).

⁶⁵⁵ Sec. 731. Gain or loss may nevertheless be recognized, for example, on the distribution of money or marketable securities, distributions with respect to contributed property, or in the case of disproportionate distributions (which can result in ordinary income).

 $^{^{658}\,}$ An S corporation is so named because its Federal tax treatment is governed by subchapter S of the Code.

⁶⁵⁹ Secs. 1363 and 1366.

and certain nondeductible expenditures, and (2) any S corporation distributions to the shareholder. 660

To be eligible to elect S corporation status, a corporation may not have more than 100 shareholders and may not have more than one class of stock.⁶⁶¹ Only individuals (other than nonresident aliens), certain tax-exempt organizations, and certain trusts and estates are permitted to be shareholders of an S corporation. A corporation may elect S corporation status only with the consent of all of its shareholders, and may terminate its election with the consent of shareholders holding more than 50 percent of the stock.⁶⁶² Measured by assets or profits, for example, businesses organized as S corporations may be as large as those organized as C corporations or partnerships. Certain corporations may not elect S corporation status, including financial institutions using the reserve method of accounting for bad debts and insurance companies subject to tax under subchapter L.⁶⁶³

In general, an S corporation shareholder is not subject to tax on corporate distributions unless the distributions exceed the shareholder's basis in the stock of the corporation.

Certain differences between the tax treatment of partnerships and S corporations

In the case of the death of an owner (*i.e.*, a partner or shareholder), partnerships and S corporations provide differing tax treatment. Specifically, upon the death of an individual S corporation shareholder or partner, the basis of the deceased shareholder's S corporation stock or the deceased partner's partnership interest in the hands of the heirs is its fair market value at the time of the shareholder's or partner's death (or the alternate valuation date).⁶⁶⁴ In the case of a partnership, but not in the case of an S corporation, the basis of the partnership's assets is equal to the fair market value of the assets at the time of the deceased partner's death (or alternate valuation date), if the partnership has an election in effect under section 754 to adjust the basis of partnership assets.

Differing rules apply to a business seeking to convert to partnership or to S corporation status. For example, a C corporation may convert to an S corporation, but not a partnership, without immediate recognition of gain at either the corporate or the shareholder level. The conversion of a C corporation to a partnership is treated as a liquidation of the C corporation, and

⁶⁶⁴ Sec. 1014.

⁶⁶⁰ Sec. 1367. If any amount that would reduce the adjusted basis of a shareholder's S corporation stock exceeds the amount that would reduce that basis to zero, the excess is a pplied to reduce (but not below zero) the shareholder's basis in any indebtedness of the S corporation to the shareholder. If, after a reduction in the basis of such indebtedness, there is an event that would increase the adjusted basis of the shareholder's S corporation stock, such increase is instead first applied to restore the reduction in the basis of the shareholder's indebtedness. Sec. 1367(b)(2).

 $^{^{661}}$ Sec. 1361. For this purpose, a husband and wife and all members of a family are treated as one shareholder. Sec. 1361(c)(1).

⁶⁶² Sec. 1362.

⁶⁶³ Sec. 1361(b)(2).

generally requires the corporation to recognize and pay tax on the built-in gain on its assets.⁶⁶⁵ However, the conversion of a C corporation to an S corporation (achieved through electing S corporation status) is not treated as a liquidation of the C corporation.⁶⁶⁶ Thus, if a C corporation can satisfy the limits on the number and types of shareholders, the single class of stock requirement, and other requirements for S corporation status, a conversion of a C corporation to an S corporation is not taxable, and all post-conversion income and appreciation of assets in the entity are subject only to shareholder-level tax.⁶⁶⁷

Similarly, the termination of a subchapter S election results in the conversion of the S corporation to a C corporation generally on a tax-free basis, whether the termination is by a shareholder revocation of the election or because the corporation no longer satisfies the definition of a small business corporation.⁶⁶⁸ However, the conversion of an S corporation into a partnership is generally treated as a taxable liquidation of the S corporation.⁶⁶⁹

Description of Proposal

The proposal temporarily allows an eligible S corporation to elect to reorganize as a partnership without the application of the otherwise applicable Federal income tax to the S corporation or its shareholders. Specifically, the proposal treats a qualified liquidation of an eligible S corporation as a complete liquidation under section 332(b), and the transferee domestic partnership as (i) if it were a corporation which is an 80-percent distributee (within the meaning of section 337(c)) and (ii) a successor corporation of the eligible S corporation for purposes of section 1362(g).

An eligible S corporation is (i) any corporation (including any predecessor) that was an S corporation on May 13, 1996, and at all times thereafter through the date on which the qualified liquidation is completed, and (ii) that elects the application of the proposal. A qualified liquidation is one or more transactions occurring within the two-year period beginning on December 31, 2021, which constitute the complete liquidation of the eligible S corporation, and the transfer of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of such S corporation to a domestic partnership.

⁶⁶⁵ See secs. 336-338 (providing some exceptions to this treatment).

⁶⁶⁶ Certa in built-in gain of a C corporation that elects S corporation status remains subject to C corporation tax if recognized within five years after the conversion. See sec. 1374.

⁶⁶⁷ For a chart summarizing tax differences among C corporations, partnerships, S corporations, and sole proprietorships, see Joint Committee on Taxation, *Present Law and Data Related to the Taxation of Business Income* (JCX-42-17), September 15, 2017, pp. 11-16, available at <u>www.jct.gov</u>.

⁶⁶⁸ See secs. 1361 and 1362.

⁶⁶⁹ See secs. 331 and 336.

An election must be made by the eligible S corporation in such manner as the Secretary may require and not later than the due date for filing the return of tax for the taxable year in which such liquidation is completed.

The Secretary is directed to issue regulations or other guidance as may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the proposal.

Consequently, the proposal allows eligible S corporations to reorganize as partnerships without tax on built-in gain on the S corporation's assets. The proposal also allows S corporations that would have continued as S corporations under present law to reorganize as partnerships, thereby allowing partners who could not be S corporation shareholders under present law (such as nonresident alien or foreign individuals, certain tax-exempt organizations that are not allowed as S corporation shareholders, other partnerships or corporations, and more than one hundred partners). In addition, after reorganizing as a partnership, the former S corporation can make non-pro-rata allocations of income, gain, loss, deduction, and credits among the partners that are not permitted under the S corporation rules.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for transactions occurring on or after December 31, 2021, and before January 1, 2024.

9. Treatment of certain qualified sound recording productions

Present Law

Expensing of certain qualified film, television, and live theatrical productions

Under section 181, a taxpayer may elect⁶⁷⁰ to deduct up to \$15 million of the aggregate production costs of any qualified film, television or live theatrical production, commencing prior to January 1, 2026,⁶⁷¹ in the year the costs are paid or incurred by the taxpayer, in lieu of capitalizing the costs and recovering them through depreciation allowances once the production is placed in service.⁶⁷² The dollar limitation is increased to \$20 million if a significant amount of

⁶⁷¹ For purposes of determining whether a production is eligible for section 181 expensing, a qualified film or television production is treated as commencing on the first date of principal photography. The date on which a qualified live theatrical production commences is the date of the first public performance of such production for a paying a udience.

 672 Sec. 181(a)(2)(A). See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.181-1 for rules on determining eligible production costs. Eligible production costs under section 181 include participations and residuals paid or incurred. Treas. Reg. sec. 1.181-1(a)(3)(i). The special rule in section 167(g)(7) that allows taxpayers using the income forecast method of depreciation to include participations and residuals that have not met the economic performance requirements in the adjusted basis of the property for the taxable year the property is placed in service does not apply for purposes of section 181. Treas. Reg. sec. 1.181-1(a)(8). Thus, under section 181, a taxpayer may only include participations and residuals actually paid or incurred in eligible production costs. Further, production costs do not include the cost of obtaining a production after its initial release or broadcast. See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.181-1(a)(3). For this purpose,

⁶⁷⁰ See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.181-2 for rules on making (and revoking) an election under section 181.

the production costs are incurred in areas eligible for designation as a low-income community or eligible for designation by the Delta Regional Authority as a distressed county or isolated area of distress.⁶⁷³

A section 181 election may only be made by an owner of the production.⁶⁷⁴ An owner of a production is any person that is required under section 263A to capitalize the costs of producing the production into the cost basis of the production, or that would be required to do so if section 263A applied to that person.⁶⁷⁵ In addition, the aggregate production costs of a qualified production that is co-produced include all production costs, regardless of funding source, in determining if the applicable dollar limit is exceeded. Thus, the term "aggregate production costs" means all production costs paid or incurred by any person, whether paid or incurred directly by an owner or indirectly on behalf of an owner.⁶⁷⁶ The costs of the production in excess of the applicable dollar limitation are capitalized and recovered under the taxpayer's method of accounting for the recovery of such property once placed in service (*e.g.*, under the income forecast method, or section 168(k) if eligible, as discussed below).⁶⁷⁷

A qualified film, television, or live theatrical production means any production of a motion picture (whether released theatrically or directly to video cassette or any other format), television program, or live staged play if at least 75 percent of the total compensation expended on the production is for services performed in the United States by actors, directors, producers, and other relevant production personnel.⁶⁷⁸ Solely for purposes of this rule, the term

- ⁶⁷⁴ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.181-1(a).
- ⁶⁷⁵ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.181-1(a)(2)(i).

 676 Treas. Reg. sec. 1.181-1(a)(4). See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.181-2(c)(3) for the information required to be provided to the Internal Revenue Service when more than one person will claim deductions under section 181 for a production (to ensure that the applicable deduction limitation is not exceeded).

⁶⁷⁷ See Joint Committee on Taxation, *General Explanation of Tax Legislation Enacted in the 110th Congress* (JCS-1-09), March 2009, p. 448; and Treas. Reg. sec. 1.181-1(c)(2). A production is generally considered to be placed in service at the time of initial release, broadcast, or live staged performance (*i.e.*, at the time of the first commercial exhibition, broadcast, or live staged performance of a production to a na udience). See, *e.g.*, Rev. Rul. 79-285, 1979-2 C.B. 91; and Priv. Ltr. Rul. 9010011, March 9, 1990. See also, Treas. Reg. sec. 1.181-1(a)(7). However, a production generally may not be considered to be placed in service if it is only exhibited, broadcasted or performed for a limited test audience in advance of the commercial exhibition, broadcast, or performance to general audiences. See Priv. Ltr. Rul. 9010011 and Treas. Reg. sec. 1.181-1(a)(7).

⁶⁷⁸ Sec. 181(d)(3)(A).

[&]quot;initial release or broadcast" means the first commercial exhibition or broadcast of a production to an audience. Treas. Reg. sec. 1.181-1(a)(7). Thus, *e.g.*, a taxpayer may not expense the purchase of an existing film library under section 181. See T.D. 9551, 76 Fed. Reg. 64816, October 19, 2011.

⁶⁷³ Sec. 181(a)(2)(B).

"compensation" does not include participations and residuals (as defined in section 167(g)(7)(B)).⁶⁷⁹

Each episode of a television series is treated as a separate production, and only the first 44 episodes of a particular series qualify under the provision.⁶⁸⁰ Qualified productions do not include sexually explicit productions as referenced by section 2257 of title 18 of the U.S. Code.⁶⁸¹

A qualified live theatrical production is defined as a live staged production of a play (with or without music) which is derived from a written book or script and is produced or presented by a commercial entity in any venue which has an audience capacity of not more than 3,000, or a series of venues the majority of which have an audience capacity of not more than 3,000.⁶⁸² In addition, qualified live theatrical productions include any live staged production which is produced or presented by a taxable entity no more than 10 weeks annually in any venue which has an audience capacity of not more than 6,500.⁶⁸³ In general, in the case of multiple live-staged productions, each such live-staged production is treated as a separate production. Similar to the exclusion for sexually explicit productions from the definition of qualified film or television productions, qualified live theatrical productions do not include productions that include or consist of any performance of conduct described in section 2257(h)(1) of title 18 of the U.S. Code.⁶⁸⁴

For purposes of recapture under section 1245, any deduction allowed under section 181 is treated as if it were a deduction allowable for amortization.⁶⁸⁵ Thus, the deduction under section 181 may be subject to recapture as ordinary income in the taxable year in which (i) the taxpayer revokes a section 181 election, (ii) the production fails to meet the requirements of section 181, or (iii) the taxpayer sells or otherwise disposes of the production.⁶⁸⁶

- ⁶⁸¹ Sec. 181(d)(2)(C).
- ⁶⁸² Sec. 181(e)(2)(A).
- ⁶⁸³ Sec. 181(e)(2)(D).
- ⁶⁸⁴ Sec. 181(e)(2)(E).

⁶⁸⁵ Sec. 1245(a)(2)(C). For a discussion of the recapture rules applicable to depreciation and amortization deductions, see Joint Committee on Taxation, *Tax Incentives for Domestic Manufacturing* (JCX-15-21), March 12, 2021, pp. 14-17. This document can be found on the Joint Committee on Taxation website at www.jct.gov.

 $^{^{679}}$ Sec. 181(d)(3)(B). Participations and residuals are defined as, with respect to any property, costs the amount of which by contract varies with the amount of income earned in connection with such property. See also Treas. Reg. sec. 1.181-3(c).

⁶⁸⁰ Sec. 181(d)(2)(B).

⁶⁸⁶ See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.181-4.

Depreciation of certain intangible property

A taxpayer generally must capitalize the cost of property used in a trade or business or held for the production of income and recover such cost over time through annual deductions for depreciation or amortization.⁶⁸⁷ The period for depreciation or amortization generally begins when the asset is placed in service by the taxpayer.⁶⁸⁸ Tangible property generally is depreciated under the modified accelerated cost recovery system ("MACRS"), which determines depreciation for different types of property based on an assigned applicable depreciation method, recovery period, and placed in service convention.⁶⁸⁹

Films, videos, and sound recordings

MACRS generally does not apply to certain property, including any motion picture film, video tape, or sound recording, or to any other property if the taxpayer elects to exclude such property from MACRS and the taxpayer properly applies a unit-of-production method or other method of depreciation not expressed in a term of years.⁶⁹⁰ Thus, the recovery of the cost of a film, video tape, or similar property that is produced by the taxpayer or is acquired on a "stand-alone" basis by the taxpayer may not be determined under either the MACRS depreciation provisions or under the section 197 amortization provisions.⁶⁹¹ The cost recovery of such property is determined under section 167, which allows a depreciation deduction for the reasonable allowance for the exhaustion, wear and tear, or obsolescence of the property if it is used in a trade or business or held for the production of income. In addition, the costs of motion picture films, video tapes, sound recordings, copyrights, books, and patents are eligible to be recovered using the income forecast method of depreciation once the property is placed in service.⁶⁹²

⁶⁸⁸ See Treas. Reg. secs. 1.167(a)-10(b), -3, -14, and 1.197-2(f). See also Treas. Reg. sec. 1.167(a)-11(e)(1)(i).

⁶⁸⁹ Sec. 168.

⁶⁹⁰ Sec. 168(f)(1), (3) and (4).

⁶⁹² Sec. 167(g)(6).

 $^{^{687}}$ See secs. 263(a) and 167. In general, only the tax owner of property (*i.e.*, the taxpayer with the benefits and burdens of ownership) is entitled to claim tax benefits such as cost recovery deductions with respect to the property. In addition, where property is not used exclusively in a taxpayer's business, the amount eligible for a deduction must be reduced by the amount related to personal use. See, *e.g.*, sec. 280A.

 $^{^{691}}$ Under section 197, when a taxpayer a cquires intangible a ssets held in connection with a trade or business, any value properly attributable to a "section 197 intangible" is a mortizable on a straight-line basis over 15 years. No other depreciation or a mortization deduction (such as bonus depreciation under section 168(k)) is allowable with respect to any section 197 intangible. Section 197 does not apply to certain intangible property, including certain property produced by the taxpayer or any interest in a film, sound recording, video tape, book or similar property not a cquired in a transaction (or a series of related transactions) involving the acquisition of assets constituting a trade or business or substantial portion thereof. See sec. 197(c)(2) and (e)(4)(A).

Under the income forecast method, a property's depreciation deduction for a taxable year is determined by multiplying the adjusted basis of the property by a fraction, the numerator of which is the gross income generated by the property during the year, and the denominator of which is the total forecasted or estimated gross income expected to be generated prior to the close of the tenth taxable year after the year the property is placed in service. Any costs that are not recovered by the end of the tenth taxable year after the property is placed in service may be taken into account as depreciation in that year.⁶⁹³

Additional first-year depreciation deduction for certain productions

Under section 168(k), qualified property acquired and placed in service after September 27, 2017, and before January 1, 2023 (January 1, 2024, for longer production period property and certain aircraft), as well as specified plants planted or grafted after September 27, 2017, and before January 1, 2023, is eligible for an additional first-year depreciation deduction equal to 100 percent of the adjusted basis of the property. The 100-percent allowance is phased down by 20 percent per calendar year for qualified property acquired after September 27, 2017, and placed in service after December 31, 2022 (after December 31, 2023, for longer production period property and certain aircraft), as well as specified plants planted or grafted after December 31, 2022. This additional first-year depreciation is commonly referred to as "bonus depreciation."

Qualified property eligible for bonus depreciation under section 168(k) includes qualified film, television, and live theatrical productions placed in service after September 27, 2017, and before January 1, 2027, for which a deduction otherwise would have been allowable under section 181, without regard to the dollar limitation or termination of such section.⁶⁹⁴ A qualified production is considered to be placed in service, and thus eligible for bonus depreciation, at the time of initial release, broadcast, or live staged performance (*i.e.*, at the time of the first commercial exhibition, broadcast, or live staged performance of a production to an audience).⁶⁹⁵

Description of Proposal

The proposal expands the special expensing rules for qualified film, television, and live theatrical productions under section 181 to include qualified sound recording production costs of up to \$150,000 per taxable year. A qualified sound recording production is defined as a sound

 $^{^{693}}$ Sec. 167(g)(1). In general, the adjusted basis of property that may be taken into account under the income forecast method only includes a mounts that have been incurred under the economic performance requirements of section 461(h). An exception to this rule applies to participations and residuals. Specifically, solely for purposes of computing the allowable deduction for property under the income forecast method of depreciation, participations and residuals may be included in the adjusted basis of the property beginning in the year such property is placed in service (even if economic performance has not yet occurred) if such participations and residuals relate to income to be derived from the property before the close of the tenth taxable year following the year the property is placed in service. For this purpose, participations and residuals are defined as costs the amount of which, by contract, varies with the amount of income earned in connection with such property. See sec. 167(g)(7).

⁶⁹⁴ See sec. 168(k)(2)(A); Treas. Reg. sec. 1.168(k)(2)(b).

⁶⁹⁵ See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.168(k)-2(b)(4)(iii).

recording (as defined in section 101 of title 17 of the U.S. Code) produced and recorded in the United States.

The proposal also expands the definition of qualified property eligible for bonus depreciation to include qualified sound recording productions (*i.e.*, for the production costs in excess of \$150,000 once the production is placed in service). For purposes of the proposal, a qualified sound recording production is considered to be placed in service at the time of initial release or broadcast.

Effective Date

The proposal applies to productions commencing in taxable years ending after the date of enactment.

10. Payment to certain individuals who dye fuel

Present Law

In general, under section 4081, tax is imposed upon the removal of taxable fuel (including diesel fuel and kerosene) from a terminal. Taxable fuel transferred in bulk by pipeline or vessel to registered terminals is exempt from the tax imposed by section 4081. The Code provides exemptions from section 4081 taxes for diesel fuel and kerosene destined for nontaxable uses, provided that fuel is indelibly dyed in accordance with Treasury regulations.

Under section 4081(e), if tax is paid and reported to the government on more than one taxable event for a taxable fuel under section 4081, the person paying the "second tax" on such fuel may claim a refund (without interest) of that second tax if certain conditions and reporting requirements are met. As an example, if fuel is removed from a terminal, taxed, and then transported by truck to a second terminal, the tax imposed upon removal from the second terminal is the second taxable event. The person who paid the second tax may make a claim a refund under section 4081(e). However, if the fuel is dyed at removal from the second terminal, there is no second tax paid on the fuel and refund relief is not available under section 4081(e) for the dyed fuel.

Description of Proposal

The proposal creates a new refund mechanism that would allow for refunds, without interest, to a taxpayer who removes from a terminal "eligible indelibly dyed diesel fuel or kerosene" for nontaxable use, and establishes to the satisfaction of the Secretary that tax for such fuel under section 4081 has already been paid. The term "eligible indelibly dyed diesel fuel or kerosene" means diesel fuel or kerosene with respect to which a tax under section 4081 was previously paid (and not credited or refunded) and which is exempt from taxation under section 4082(a) (relating to exemptions for diesel fuel and kerosene destined for a nontaxable use).

Effective Date

The proposal applies to previously taxed, eligible indelibly dyed diesel fuel or kerosene removed on or after the date that is 180 days after the date of enactment.

11. Extension of credit for portion of employer social security taxes paid with respect to employee tips to beauty service establishments

Present Law

Federal employment taxes

Federal employment taxes are imposed on wages paid to employees with respect to employment and include taxes imposed under the Federal Insurance Contributions Act ("FICA"), the Federal Unemployment Tax Act ("FUTA"), and Federal income tax.⁶⁹⁶ In addition, Tier 1 of the Railroad Retirement Tax Act ("RRTA") imposes a tax on compensation paid to railroad employees and representatives.⁶⁹⁷

FICA taxes are comprised of two components: the Old-Age, Survivors, and Disability Insurance ("OASDI") and Hospital Insurance ("Medicare"). With respect to OASDI taxes, the applicable rate is 12.4 percent with half of such rate (6.2 percent) imposed on the employee and the remainder (6.2 percent) imposed on the employer.⁶⁹⁸ The tax is assessed on covered wages up to the OASDI wage base (\$142,800 in 2021). Generally, the OASDI wage base rises based on increases in the national average wage index.⁶⁹⁹ With respect to Medicare taxes,⁷⁰⁰ the applicable rate is 2.9 percent with half of such rate (1.45 percent) imposed on the employee and the remainder (1.45 percent) imposed on the employer.⁷⁰¹

The tax is assessed on covered wages, which is defined for FICA tax purposes as all remuneration for "employment," including the cash value of all remuneration (including benefits) paid in any medium other than cash, with certain exceptions.⁷⁰² The name given to the remuneration for employment is immaterial. FICA wages includes salaries, vacation allowances, bonuses, deferred compensation, commissions, and fringe benefits. The term "employment" is generally defined for FICA tax purposes as any service, of whatever nature, performed by an employee for the person employing him or her, with certain specific exceptions.

⁶⁹⁷ Sec. 3221.

⁶⁹⁸ Sec. 3101.

⁶⁹⁹ Sec. 230 of the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. sec. 430).

⁷⁰⁰ The Hospital Insurance tax includes two components: Medicare tax and Additional Medicare tax. Additional Medicare taxes are imposed on wages in excess of certain thresholds and are only imposed on the employee. Sec. 3101(b). There is no employer match for Additional Medicare tax. For purposes of this explanation, when referencing Medicare taxes, the term does not include Additional Medicare tax.

⁷⁰¹ Sec. 3101(b); 3111(b).

⁷⁰² Sec. 3121(a).

⁶⁹⁶ Secs. 3101, 3111, 3301, and 3401.

Employer credit for employee tips

Employee tip income is treated as wages for FICA tax purposes,⁷⁰³ and tips received by an employee in the course of his or her employment are remuneration for employment and deemed to have been paid by the employer for FICA tax purposes.⁷⁰⁴ Employees are required to report to the employer tips received by the employee.⁷⁰⁵

Employers that operate food and beverage establishments are eligible for a nonrefundable general business tax credit⁷⁰⁶ equal to an employer's FICA taxes paid on tips in excess of those treated as wages for purposes of meeting the minimum wage requirements of the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA").⁷⁰⁷ The credit applies only with respect to FICA taxes paid on tips received from customers in connection with the providing, delivering, or serving of food or beverages for consumption if the tipping of employees delivering or serving food or beverages by customers is customary. The credit is available whether or not the employee reports the tips on which the employer FICA taxes were paid. No deduction is allowed for any amount taken into account in determining the tip credit. A taxpayer may elect not to have the credit apply for a taxable year.

Description of Proposal

The proposal extends the tip credit to beauty service businesses. Under the proposal, tips received from customers or clients in connection with the following services are eligible for the credit: (1) providing, delivering or servicing of food and beverages for consumption, if the tipping of employees delivering or serving food or beverages by customers is customary; and (2) providing beauty services to a customer or client if the tipping of employees providing such services is customary. Beauty service is defined as barbering and hair care, nail care, esthetics, and body and spa treatments.

The amount of the tip credit for an employer providing beauty services is the FICA taxes paid by the employer with respect to tip income deemed to have been paid by the employer to the

 $^{^{703}}$ Section 3121(a)(12)(A) provides that the definition of wages does not include tips paid in any medium other than cash. Section 3121(a)(12)(B) excludes from the definition of wages cash tips received by an employee in any calendar month in the course of employment unless the amount of the cash tips is \$20 or more.

⁷⁰⁴ Sec. 3121(q).

⁷⁰⁵ Sec. 6053(a).

⁷⁰⁶ Sec. 38.

 $^{^{707}}$ Sec. 45B. The tip credit applies to the employer's share of both OASDI and Medicare taxes on tip income in excess of the required minimum wage, which for these purposes is \$2.13 per hour. Sec. 45B(b)(1).

employee in excess of the minimum wage rate applicable to such individual under section 6(a)(1) of the FLSA, determined without regard to section 3(m) of such Act.⁷⁰⁸

Effective Date

The amendments made by this proposal shall apply to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

12. Enhancement of work opportunity credit during COVID-19 recovery period

Present Law

In general

The work opportunity tax credit is available on an elective basis for employers hiring individuals from one or more of ten targeted groups. The amount of the credit available to an employer is determined by the amount of qualified wages paid by the employer. Generally, qualified wages consist of wages attributable to service rendered by a member of a targeted group during the one-year period beginning with the day the individual begins work for the employer (two years in the case of an individual in the long-term family assistance recipient category).

Targeted groups eligible for the credit

Generally, an employer is eligible for the credit only with respect to qualified wages paid to members of a targeted group.

(1) Families receiving TANF

An eligible recipient is an individual certified by the designated local agency (*e.g.*, a State employment security agency) as being a member of a family eligible to receive benefits under the Temporary Assistance for Needy Families Program ("TANF") for a period of at least nine months, part of which is during the 18-month period ending on the hiring date. For these purposes, members of the family are defined to include only those individuals who are taken into account for purposes of determining eligibility for the TANF.

(2) Qualified veteran

A qualified veteran is a veteran who is certified by the designated local agency as belonging to one of five categories: (1) a member of a family eligible to receive assistance under a supplemental nutritional assistance program (for at least a three-month period during the year prior to the hiring date); (2) entitled to compensation for a service-connected disability and hired within one year of discharge; (3) entitled to compensation for a service-connected disability and unemployed for an aggregate of at least six months during the one-year period ending on the

 $^{^{708}}$ Secs. 45S(b)(1)(A); 3121(q). The amount of the tip credit for food and beverage establishments remains unchanged in the amount of the employer's FICA taxes on employee tip income in excess of the FLSA minimum wage of \$2.13.

hiring date; (4) unemployed for at least four weeks but less than six months (whether or not consecutive) during the one-year period ending on the date of hiring; or (5) unemployed for at least six months (whether or not consecutive) during the one-year period ending on the date of hiring.

A veteran is an individual who has served on active duty (other than for training) in the Armed Forces for more than 180 days or who has been discharged or released from active duty in the Armed Forces for a service-connected disability. However, any individual who has served for a period of more than 90 days during which the individual was on active duty (other than for training) is not a qualified veteran if any of this active duty occurred during the 60-day period ending on the date the individual was hired by the employer. This latter rule is intended to prevent employers who hire current members of the armed services (or those departed from service within the last 60 days) from receiving the credit.

(3) Qualified ex-felon

A qualified ex-felon is an individual certified by the designated local agency as (1) having been convicted of a felony under any State or Federal law; and (2) having a hiring date within one year of release from prison or the date of conviction.

(4) Designated community resident

A designated community resident is an individual certified by the designated local agency as being at least age 18 but not yet age 40 on the hiring date and as having a principal place of abode within an empowerment zone, enterprise community, renewal community, or a rural renewal county. For these purposes, a rural renewal county is a county outside a metropolitan statistical area (as defined by the Office of Management and Budget) that had a net population loss for each of the five-year periods 1990-1994 and 1995-1999. Qualified wages do not include wages paid or incurred for services performed while the individual's principal place of abode is outside an empowerment zone, enterprise community, renewal community or a rural renewal county.

(5) Vocational rehabilitation referral

A vocational rehabilitation referral is an individual who is certified by the designated local agency as an individual who has a physical or mental disability that constitutes a substantial handicap to employment and who has been referred to the employer while receiving, or after completing vocational rehabilitation services: (1) under an individualized, written plan for employment under a State plan approved under the Rehabilitation Act of 1973; (2) under a rehabilitation plan for veterans carried out under Chapter 31 of Title 38, U.S. Code; or (3) under an individual work plan developed and implemented by an employment network pursuant to subsection (g) of section 1148 of the Social Security Act. Certification is provided by the designated local agency upon assurances from the vocational rehabilitation agency that the employee has met the above conditions.

(6) Qualified summer youth employee

A qualified summer youth employee is an individual: (1) who performs services during any 90-day period between May 1 and September 15; (2) who is certified by the designated local agency as being 16 or 17 years of age on the hiring date; (3) who has not been an employee of that employer before; and (4) who is certified by the designated local agency as having a principal place of abode within an empowerment zone, enterprise community, or renewal community. As with designated community residents, no credit is available for wages paid or incurred for service performed while the individual's principal place abode is outside an empowerment zone, enterprise community, or renewal community. If, after the end of the 90day period, the employer continues to employ a youth who was certified during the 90-day period as a member of another targeted group, the limit on qualified first-year wages takes into account wages paid to the youth while a qualified summer youth employee.

(7) Qualified supplemental nutrition assistance program benefits recipient

A qualified supplemental nutrition assistance program benefits recipient is an individual at least age 18 but not yet age 40 certified by the designated local agency as being a member of a family receiving assistance under a food and nutrition program under the Food and Nutrition Act of 2008 for a period of at least six months ending on the hiring date. In the case of a family that ceases to be eligible for food and nutrition assistance under section 6(o) of the Food and Nutrition Act of 2008, the six-month requirement is replaced with a requirement that the family has been receiving food and nutrition assistance for at least three of the five months ending on the date of hire. For these purposes, members of the family are defined to include only those individuals taken into account for purposes of determining eligibility for a food and nutrition assistance program under the Food and Nutrition Act of 2008.

(8) Qualified SSI recipient

A qualified SSI recipient is an individual designated by the designated local agency as receiving supplemental security income ("SSI") benefits under Title XVI of the Social Security Act for any month ending within the 60-day period ending on the hiring date.

(9) Long-term family assistance recipient

A qualified long-term family assistance recipient is an individual certified by the designated local agency as being: (1) a member of a family that has received family assistance for at least 18 consecutive months ending on the hiring date; (2) a member of a family that has received such family assistance for a total of at least 18 months (whether or not consecutive) after August 5, 1997 (the date of enactment of the welfare-to-work tax credit) if the individual is hired within two years after the date that the 18-month total is reached; or (3) a member of a family who is no longer eligible for family assistance because of either Federal or State time limits, if the individual is hired within two years after the Federal or State time limits made the family ineligible for family assistance.

(10) Long-term unemployment recipient

A qualified long-term unemployment recipient is an individual certified by the designated local agency as being in a period of unemployment which: (1) is 27 consecutive weeks or more; and (2) includes a period in which the individual was receiving unemployment compensation under State or Federal law.

Qualified wages

Generally, qualified wages are defined as cash wages paid by the employer to a member of a targeted group. The employer's deduction for wages is reduced by the amount of the credit.⁷⁰⁹

For purposes of the credit, generally, wages are defined by reference to the FUTA definition of wages contained in sec. 3306(b) (without regard to the dollar limitation therein contained). Special rules apply in the case of certain agricultural labor and certain railroad labor.

Calculation of the credit

The credit available to an employer for qualified wages paid to members of all targeted groups except for long-term family assistance recipients equals 40 percent (25 percent for employment of 400 hours or less) of qualified first-year wages. Generally, qualified first-year wages are qualified wages (not in excess of \$6,000) attributable to service rendered by a member of a targeted group during the one-year period beginning with the day the individual began work for the employer. Therefore, the maximum per-employee credit is \$2,400 (40 percent of the first \$6,000 of qualified first-year wages).

The general \$6,000 limitation on qualified first-year wages is different for certain targeted groups: (1) qualified summer youth employees; (2) qualified veterans who are entitled to compensation for a service-connected disability, and who are hired within one year of discharge; (3) qualified veterans who are entitled to compensation for a service-connected disability, and who have been unemployed for an aggregate of at least six months during the one-year period ending on the hiring date; (4) qualified veterans unemployed for at least six months (whether or not consecutive) during the one-year period ending on the date of hiring; and (5) long-term family assistance recipients. The maximum per-employee credit (and limitation on qualified wages) for a member of each of the first four of these groups is, respectively: (1) \$1,200 (40 percent of the first \$3,000 of qualified first-year wages); (2) \$4,800 (40 percent of the first \$12,000 of qualified first-year wages); (3) \$9,600 (40 percent of the first \$24,000 of qualified first-year wages); and (4) \$5,600 (40 percent of the first \$14,000 of qualified first-year wages).

In the case of long-term family assistance recipients, the credit equals 40 percent (25 percent for employment of 400 hours or less) of \$10,000 for qualified first-year wages and 50 percent of the first \$10,000 of qualified second-year wages. Generally, qualified second-year wages are qualified wages (not in excess of \$10,000) attributable to service rendered by a

⁷⁰⁹ Sec. 280C(a).

member of the long-term family assistance category during the one-year period beginning on the day after the one-year period beginning with the day the individual began work for the employer. Therefore, the maximum credit per employee is \$9,000 (40 percent of the first \$10,000 of qualified first-year wages plus 50 percent of the first \$10,000 of qualified second-year wages). Except for long-term family assistance recipients, no credit is allowed for second-year wages.

Certification rules

Generally, an individual is not treated as a member of a targeted group unless: (1) on or before the day on which an individual begins work for an employer, the employer has received a certification from a designated local agency that the individual is a member of a targeted group; or (2) on or before the day an individual is offered employment with the employer, a prescreening notice is completed by the employer with respect to that individual, and not later than the 28th day after the individual begins work for the employer, the employer submits the notice, signed by the employer and the individual under penalties of perjury, to the designated local agency as part of a written request for certification. For these purposes, a pre-screening notice is a document (in such form as the Secretary may prescribe) which contains information provided by the individual on the basis of which the employer believes that the individual is a member of a targeted group.

An otherwise qualified unemployed veteran is treated as certified by the designated local agency as having aggregate periods of unemployment (whichever is applicable under the qualified veterans rules described above) if the veteran is certified by the agency as being in receipt of unemployment compensation under a State or Federal law for such applicable periods. The Secretary of the Treasury is authorized to provide alternative methods of certification for unemployed veterans.

Minimum employment period

No credit is allowed for qualified wages paid to employees who work less than 120 hours in the first year of employment.

Qualified tax-exempt organizations employing qualified veterans

The credit is not available to qualified tax-exempt organizations other than those employing qualified veterans. If a qualified tax-exempt organization employs a qualified veteran (as described above) a tax credit against the FICA taxes of the organization is allowed for the wages of the qualified veteran which are paid for the veteran's services in furtherance of the activities related to the function or purpose constituting the basis of the organization's exemption under section 501.⁷¹⁰

The credit available to a tax-exempt employer for qualified wages paid to a qualified veteran equals 26 percent (16.25 percent for employment of 400 hours or less) of qualified first-year wages. The amount of qualified first-year wages eligible for the credit is the same as those

⁷¹⁰ Sec. 3111(e).

for non-tax-exempt employers (*i.e.*, \$6,000, \$12,000, \$14,000 or \$24,000, depending on the category of qualified veteran).

A qualified tax-exempt organization means an employer that is described in section 501(c) and exempt from tax under section 501(a).

The Social Security Trust Funds are held harmless from the effects of this provision by a transfer from the Treasury General Fund.

Treatment of possessions

The "VOW to Hire Heroes Act of 2011" (the "VOW Act")⁷¹¹ provides a reimbursement mechanism for the U.S. possessions (American Samoa, Guam, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, and the United States Virgin Islands). The Secretary pays to each mirror Code possession (Guam, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, and the United States Virgin Islands) an amount equal to the loss to that possession as a result of the VOW Act changes to the qualified veterans rules.⁷¹² Similarly, the Secretary pays to each non-mirror Code possession (American Samoa and the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) the amount that the Secretary estimates as being equal to the loss to that possession that would have occurred as a result of the VOW Act changes if a mirror Code tax system had been in effect in that possession. The Secretary makes this payment to a non-mirror Code possession establishes to the satisfaction of the Secretary that the possession has implemented (or, at the discretion of the Secretary, will implement) an income tax benefit that is substantially equivalent to the qualified veterans credit allowed under the VOW Act modifications.

An employer that is allowed a credit against U.S. tax under the VOW Act with respect to a qualified veteran must reduce the amount of the credit claimed by the amount of any credit (or, in the case of a non-mirror Code possession, another tax benefit) that the employer claims against its possession income tax.

Other significant rules

The work opportunity tax credit generally is not allowed for wages paid to individuals who were previously employed by the employer (the "rehire prohibition"). The credit is not allowed for wages paid to a relative or dependent of the taxpayer. No credit is allowed for wages paid to an individual who is a more than 50-percent owner of the entity. Similarly, wages paid to replacement workers during a strike or lockout are not eligible for the work opportunity tax

⁷¹¹ Pub. L. No. 112-56.

⁷¹² Prior to enactment of the VOW Act, there were two categories of qualified veterans to whom wages paid by an employer were eligible for the credit. Employers that hired veterans who were eligible to receive assistance under a supplemental nutritional assistance program were entitled to a maximum credit of 40 percent of \$6,000 of qualified first-year wages paid to such individual. Employers that hired veterans who were entitled to compensation for a service-connected disability were entitled to a maximum wage credit of 40 percent of \$12,000 of qualified first-year wages paid to such individual. The VOW Act expanded the work opportunity tax credit with respect to qualified veterans resulting in the present-law treatment of qualified veterans described above.

credit. Wages paid to any employee during any period for which the employer received on-thejob training program payments with respect to that employee are not eligible for the work opportunity tax credit.

Expiration

The work opportunity tax credit is not available for individuals who begin work for an employer after December 31, 2025.

Description of Proposal

Generally, the proposal temporarily increases the credit amount to 50 percent of qualified first-year wages (up to a maximum of \$10,000 of qualified first-year wages) and 50 percent of qualified second-year wages (up to a maximum of \$10,000 of qualified second-year wages) for individuals who (1) are not qualified summer youth employees and (2) are hired after the date of enactment and before January 1, 2023 ("qualified hires"). Therefore, the maximum credit per employee is generally \$10,000 (50 percent of the first \$10,000 of qualified first-year wages plus 50 percent of the first \$10,000 of qualified second-year wages are qualified wages which are attributable to service during the one-year period beginning on the day after the last day of the first one-year period.

For long-term family assistance recipients, the maximum per-employee credit (and limitation on qualified first-year wages) temporarily increases to \$5,000 for the first year of employment (50 percent of the first \$10,000 of qualified first-year wages) and remains at \$5,000 for the second year of employment (50 percent of the first \$10,000 of qualified second-year wages).

The \$10,000 annual limitation on qualified first-year wages and qualified second-year wages does not apply to certain targeted groups: (1) qualified veterans who are entitled to compensation for a service-connected disability, and who are hired within one year of discharge; (2) qualified veterans who are entitled to compensation for a service-connected disability, and who have been unemployed for an aggregate of at least six months during the one-year period ending on the hiring date; (3) qualified veterans unemployed for at least six months (whether or not consecutive) during the one-year period ending on the date of hiring; and (4) qualified summer youth employees. The maximum per-employee credit (and limitation on qualified wages) for a member of one of the first three groups is, respectively: (1) \$12,000 (50 percent of the first \$12,000 of qualified first-year wages plus 50 percent of the first \$12,000 of second-year wages); (2) \$24,000 (50 percent of the first \$24,000 of qualified second-year wages; and (3) \$14,000 (50 percent of the first \$14,000 of qualified first-year wages plus 50 percent of the first \$14,000 of qualified second-year wages).

The proposal does not apply to qualified summer youth employees. Therefore, the maximum per-employee credit (and limitation on qualified first-year wages) for such individuals remains at \$1,200 (40 percent of the first \$3,000 of qualified first-year wages).

The proposal temporarily waives the rehire prohibition for qualified hires. The proposal also requires the Secretary to issue such regulations as appropriate to ensure a reasonable

application of the waiver, including prohibiting attempts to claim the benefit through the termination and rehiring of an employee.

Effective Date

The proposal applies to taxable years ending after the date of enactment.

13. Allowance of deduction for certain expenses of the trade or business of being an employee

Present Law

Under the Code, gross income means "income from whatever source derived" except for certain items specifically exempt or excluded by statute.⁷¹³ An individual's AGI is determined by subtracting certain "above-the-line" deductions from gross income, including trade or business expenses, losses from the sale or exchange of property, contributions to a qualified retirement plan by a self-employed individual, contributions to certain IRAs, certain moving expenses for members of the Armed Forces, and certain education-related expenses.⁷¹⁴

To determine taxable income, an individual reduces adjusted gross income ("AGI") by either the applicable standard deduction or applicable itemized deductions,⁷¹⁵ and by the deduction for qualified business income.⁷¹⁶ The amounts of the standard deductions are indexed annually for inflation. The deductions that may be itemized in lieu of claiming the standard deduction include personal State and local income, property, and sales taxes (up to \$10,000 annually (\$5,000 for married taxpayers filing separately)), home mortgage interest (on mortgages up to certain specified dollar amounts), charitable contributions, certain investment interest, medical expenses (in excess of 7.5 percent of AGI), and casualty and theft losses attributable to Federally declared disasters (in excess of 10 percent of AGI and in excess of \$100 per loss). However, unreimbursed employee business expenses, such as dues for membership in workrelated organizations or labor unions, are miscellaneous itemized deductions. Such deductions are currently suspended until taxable years beginning after December 31, 2025, and deductible only to the extent that miscellaneous itemized deductions in aggregate exceed two percent of AGI.⁷¹⁷

⁷¹³ Sec. 61.

⁷¹⁴ Sec. 62. In addition, a limony payments are generally deductible by the payor spouse for divorce and separation instruments executed before January 1, 2019.

 $^{^{715}}$ Sec. 63(a) and (b). The basic standard deduction varies depending on a taxpayer's filing status. For 2020, the amount of the standard deduction is \$12,400 for a single individual and for a married individual filing separately, \$18,650 for a head of household, and \$24,800 for married taxpayers filing jointly and for a surviving spouse. An additional standard deduction is a llowed with respect to any individual who is elderly (*i.e.*, above age 64) and/or blind.

⁷¹⁶ Secs. 63(b)(3), (d)(3), and 199A.

⁷¹⁷ Secs. 67(a) and (g).

Description of Proposal

In determining adjusted gross income, a taxpayer whose trade or business is the performance of services as an employee may deduct up to 250 paid as membership dues to a labor organization within the meaning of section 501(c)(5), provided that the employee remained a member of the organization through the end of the year.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

14. Cover over of certain distilled spirits taxes

Present Law

Generally, distilled spirits are taxed at a rate of \$13.50 per proof gallon.⁷¹⁸ Liability for the excise tax on distilled spirits arises when the distilled spirits are produced or imported but is not determined and payable until bottled distilled spirits are removed from the bonded premises of the distilled spirits plant where they are produced, or customs custody. Generally, bulk distilled spirits may be transferred in bond between bonded premises; however, tax liability follows these products. Imported bulk distilled spirits may be released from customs custody without payment of tax and transferred in bond to a distillery. Distilled spirits be exported without payment of tax and may be withdrawn from a distillery without payment of tax or free of tax for certain authorized uses, including industrial uses and non-beverage uses.

There is a reduced tax rate schedule for distilled spirits based on the annual quantity (1) distilled or processed and removed for consumption or sale, or (2) imported into the United States. The rate of tax is lowered to \$2.70 per proof gallon on the first 100,000 proof gallons of distilled spirits produced, \$13.34 on the next 22,130,000 proof gallons, and \$13.50 for amounts thereafter.

For purposes of the excise tax on distilled spirits, the territories of Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands are not considered part of the United States.⁷¹⁹ Additionally, distilled spirits brought into the United States from these territories are not considered imports for purposes of the excise tax.⁷²⁰ Thus, distilled spirits produced in these territories, whether or not brought into the United States, are not subject to tax under section 5001. However, section 7652(a) imposes an equalization tax equal to the tax imposed in the United States upon like articles of merchandise of domestic manufacture, including distilled spirits, produced in Puerto Rico and brought into the United States, and section 7652(b) imposes an equalization tax equal to the tax

⁷¹⁸ Secs. 5001, 5006, 5043, and 5054.

⁷¹⁹ Sec. 7701(a)(9).

⁷²⁰ See 19 C.F.R. sec. 7.2 and 19 C.F.R. sec. 101.1.

imposed in the United States upon like articles of merchandise of domestic manufacture, including distilled spirits, produced in the U.S. Virgin Islands and brought into the United States.

The revenue from the equalization tax on rum produced in Puerto Rico and brought into the United States is transferred ("covered over") to the Treasury of Puerto Rico.⁷²¹ The revenue from the equalization tax on rum produced in the U.S. Virgin Islands and brought into the United States is covered over to the Treasury of the U.S. Virgin Islands.⁷²² In addition, the revenues from the excise tax imposed on rum imported into the United States (less certain administrative costs) are covered over to the Treasury of Puerto Rico and the Treasury of the U.S. Virgin Islands.⁷²³ The revenues are apportioned between the two treasuries according to a formula determined by the Secretary.⁷²⁴

For purposes of both the cover over of the equalization tax on rum and the cover over of the tax imposed on rum imported into the United States, the amount covered over is limited to the lesser of the tax imposed or \$10.50 per proof gallon. The \$10.50 per proof gallon limitation is increased to \$13.25 per proof gallon during the period from July 1, 1999, through December 31, 2021.⁷²⁵

With respect to both the cover over of the equalization tax on rum and the cover over of the tax imposed on rum imported into the United States, amounts covered over to Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands are determined without regard to reduced rates or refunds in lieu of reduced rates. Refunds in lieu of reduced rates are not treated as refunds for purposes of determining the amounts of cover over.

Description of Proposal

The proposal repeals the limitation on cover over of taxes on rum to Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands.

With respect to taxes collected on rum transported to the United States that are covered into the Treasury of Puerto Rico at a rate equal to or greater than \$10.50 per proof gallon, the

 $^{^{721}}$ Sec. 7652(a)(3). For purposes of this provision, only distilled spirits for which at least 92 percent of the a loohol content is attributable to rum are eligible for cover over of equalization taxes. See sec. 7652(c).

 $^{^{722}}$ Sec. 7652(b)(3). For purposes of this provision, only distilled spirits for which at least 92 percent of the alcohol content is attributable to rum are eligible for cover over of equalization taxes. See sec. 7652(c).

 $^{^{723}}$ Sec. 7652(e)(1). For purposes of this provision the term "rum" means any article classified under subheading 2208.40.00 of the Harmonized Tariff Schedule of the United States (19U.S.C. 1202). Sec. 7652(e)(4).

⁷²⁴ Sec. 7652(e)(2).

⁷²⁵ Sec. 7652(f)(1).

proposal requires Puerto Rico to transfer to the Puerto Rico Conservation Trust Fund⁷²⁶ an amount per proof gallon of at least one-sixth of the difference between \$10.50 and the rate (not to exceed \$13.25) at which such taxes are covered into the Treasury of Puerto Rico. This requirement does not modify or impair payment priorities established under Puerto Rico law in effect on May 21, 2021.

Effective Date

The proposal generally applies to distilled spirits brought into the United States after December 31, 2021.

15. Delay in requirement to amortize research and experimental expenditures

Present Law

Public Law 115-97⁷²⁷ modified section 174 for amounts paid or incurred in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021 (with conforming changes made to sections 41 and 280C). Section 174 as applicable to amounts paid or incurred in taxable years beginning before January 1, 2022, is described first below, followed by a description of section 174 as applicable to amounts paid or incurred in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

Amounts paid or incurred in taxable years beginning before January 1, 2022

Business expenses associated with the development or creation of an asset having a useful life extending beyond the current year generally must be capitalized and depreciated over such useful life.⁷²⁸ However, with respect to taxable years beginning before January 1, 2022, taxpayers may elect to deduct currently the amount of certain reasonable research or experimental expenditures paid or incurred in connection with a trade or business.⁷²⁹ Taxpayers may elect to forgo a current deduction, capitalize their research or experimental expenditures, and recover them ratably over the useful life of the research, but in no case over a period of less than 60 months.⁷³⁰ Taxpayers, alternatively, may elect to amortize their research or experimental

⁷²⁶ The Puerto Rico Conservation Trust Fund is the fund established pursuant to a Memorandum of Understanding between the United States Department of the Interior and the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, dated December 24, 1968.

⁷²⁷ December 22, 2017.

⁷²⁸ Secs. 167 and 263(a).

⁷²⁹ Secs. 174(a) and (e).

⁷³⁰ Sec. 174(b). Taxpayers generating significant short-term losses often choose to defer the deduction for their research and experimental expenditures under this section. Additionally, section 174 amounts are excluded from the definition of "start-up expenditures" under section 195 (section 195 generally provides that start-up expenditures in excess of \$5,000 either are not deductible or are amortizable over a period of not less than 180 months once an active trade or business begins). So as not to generate significant losses before beginning its trade or business, a taxpayer may choose to defer the deduction and amortize its section 174 costs beginning with the

expenditures over a period of 10 years.⁷³¹ Research and experimental expenditures deductible under section 174 are not subject to capitalization under either section 263(a)⁷³² or section 263A.⁷³³ In addition, section 174 deductions are generally reduced by the amount of the taxpayer's research credit under section 41.⁷³⁴

Amounts defined as research or experimental expenditures under section 174 generally include all costs incurred in the experimental or laboratory sense related to the development or improvement of a product.⁷³⁵ In particular, qualifying costs are those incurred for activities intended to discover information that would eliminate uncertainty concerning the development or improvement of a product.⁷³⁶ Uncertainty exists when information available to the taxpayer is not sufficient to ascertain the capability or method for developing, improving, and/or appropriately designing the product.⁷³⁷ The determination of whether expenditures qualify as deductible research expenses depends on the nature of the activity to which the costs relate, not the nature of the product or improvement represents. Examples of qualifying costs include salaries for those engaged in research or experimentation efforts, amounts incurred to operate and maintain research facilities (*e.g.*, utilities, depreciation, rent, *etc.*), and expenditures for materials and supplies used and consumed in the course of research or experimentation (including amounts incurred in conducting trials).⁷³⁸ In addition, under administrative guidance,

⁷³² Sec. 263(a)(1)(B).

⁷³³ Sec. 263A(c)(2).

 734 Sec. 280C(c). Taxpayers may alternatively elect to claim a reduced research credit a mount under section 41 in lieu of reducing deductions otherwise allowed. Sec. 280C(c)(3), as effective for a mounts paid or incurred in taxable years beginning before January 1, 2022.

 735 Treas. Reg. sec. 1.174-2(a)(1) and (2). Product is defined to include any pilot model, process, formula, invention, technique, patent, or similar property, and includes products to be used by the taxpayer in its trade or business as well as products to be held for sale, lease, or license. Treas. Reg. sec. 1.174-2(a)(11), Example 10, provides an example of new process development costs eligible for section 174 treatment.

- ⁷³⁶ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.174-2(a)(1).
- ⁷³⁷ Ibid.

 738 See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.174-4(c). The definition of research and experimental expenditures also includes the costs of obtaining a patent, such as attorneys' fees incurred in making and perfecting a patent application. Treas. Reg. sec. 1.174-2(a)(1).

month in which the taxpayer first realizes benefits from the expenditures (*i.e.*, the month in which its active trade or business begins).

 $^{^{731}}$ Secs. 174(f)(2) and 59(e). This special 10-year election is a vailable to mitigate the effect of the AMT adjustment for research expenditures set forth in section 56(b)(2). Note that the corporate AMT was repealed for taxable years beginning a fter December 31, 2017. See Pub. L. No. 115-97, sec. 2001, December 22, 2017. Taxpayers with significant losses also may elect to amortize their otherwise deductible research and experimental expenditures.

the costs of developing computer software have been accorded treatment similar to research and experimental expenditures.⁷³⁹

Research or experimental expenditures under section 174 do not include expenditures for quality control testing; efficiency surveys; management studies; consumer surveys; advertising or promotions; the acquisition of another's patent, model, production or process; or research in connection with literary, historical, or similar projects.⁷⁴⁰ For purposes of section 174, quality control testing means testing to determine whether particular units of materials or products conform to specified parameters, but does not include testing to determine if the design of the product is appropriate.⁷⁴¹

Generally, no current deduction under section 174 is allowable for expenditures for the acquisition or improvement of land or of depreciable or depletable property used in connection with any research or experimentation.⁷⁴² In addition, no current deduction is allowed for any expenditure incurred for the purpose of ascertaining the existence, location, extent, or quality of any deposit of ore or other mineral, including oil and gas.⁷⁴³

Amounts paid or incurred in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021

With respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021, amounts defined as specified research or experimental expenditures are required to be capitalized and amortized ratably over a five-year period, beginning with the midpoint of the taxable year in which the specified research or experimental expenditures were paid or incurred. Specified research or experimental expenditures that are attributable to research that is conducted outside of the United States⁷⁴⁴ are required to be capitalized and amortized ratably over a period of 15 years, beginning with the midpoint of the taxable year in which such expenditures were paid or incurred. Specified research or experimental expenditures subject to capitalization include expenditures for software development.

Specified research or experimental expenditures do not include expenditures for the acquisition or improvement of land or for depreciable or depletable property used in connection with the research or experimentation, but do include the depreciation and depletion allowances of

⁷³⁹ Rev. Proc. 2000-50, 2000-2 C.B. 601.

⁷⁴⁰ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.174-2(a)(6).

⁷⁴¹ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.174-2(a)(7).

⁷⁴² Sec. 174(c). However, depreciation and depletion allowances may be considered section 174 expenditures. *Ibid.*

⁷⁴³ Sec. 174(d). Special rules a pply with respect to geological and geophysical costs (section 167(h)), qualified tertiary injectant expenses (section 193), intangible drilling costs (sections 263(c) and 291(b)), and mining exploration and development costs (sections 616 and 617).

⁷⁴⁴ For this purpose, the term "United States" includes the United States, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, and any possession of the United States.

such property. Also excluded are exploration expenditures incurred for ore or other minerals (including oil and gas).

In the case of retired, abandoned, or disposed property with respect to which specified research or experimental expenditures are paid or incurred, any remaining basis may not be recovered in the year of retirement, abandonment, or disposal, but instead must continue to be amortized over the remaining amortization period.

The application of this rule is treated as a change in the taxpayer's method of accounting for purposes of section 481, initiated by the taxpayer, and made with the consent of the Secretary. This rule is applied on a cutoff basis to research or experimental expenditures paid or incurred in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021 (hence there is no adjustment under section 481(a) for research or experimental expenditures paid or incurred in taxable years beginning before January 1, 2022).

If a taxpayer's research credit under section 41 (discussed more below) for a taxable year beginning after 2021 exceeds the amount allowed as an amortization deduction under section 174 for such taxable year, the amount chargeable to capital account under section 174 for such taxable year must be reduced by that excess amount. A taxpayer may alternatively elect to claim a reduced research credit amount under section 41 in lieu of reducing its section 174 expenditures for the taxable year. If such an election is made, the research credit is reduced by an amount equal to that credit multiplied by the highest corporate tax rate.

Description of Proposal

The proposal delays the effective date for the modifications made to section 174 by Public Law 115-97 for four taxable years, such that they will apply to amounts paid or incurred in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2025.

Effective Date

The proposal is effective on the date of enactment.

16. Payroll credit for compensation of local news journalists

Present Law

Federal employment taxes

Federal employment taxes are imposed on wages paid to employees with respect to employment and include taxes imposed under the Federal Insurance Contributions Act ("FICA"), the Federal Unemployment Tax Act ("FUTA"), and Federal income tax.⁷⁴⁵ In addition, Tier 1 of

⁷⁴⁵ Secs. 3101, 3111, 3301, and 3401.

the Railroad Retirement Tax Act ("RRTA") imposes a tax on compensation paid to railroad employees and representatives.⁷⁴⁶

FICA taxes are comprised of two components: the Old-Age, Survivors, and Disability Insurance ("OASDI") and Hospital Insurance ("Medicare").⁷⁴⁷ With respect to Medicare taxes, the applicable rate is 2.9 percent with half of such rate (1.45 percent) imposed on the employee and the remainder (1.45 percent) imposed on the employer.⁷⁴⁸ The tax is assessed on covered wages, which is defined for Medicare tax purposes as all remuneration for "employment," including the cash value of all remuneration (including benefits) paid in any medium other than cash, with certain exceptions.⁷⁴⁹ The name given to the remuneration for employment is immaterial. Medicare wages includes salaries, vacation allowances, bonuses, deferred compensation, commissions, and fringe benefits. The term "employment" is generally defined for FICA tax purposes as any service, of whatever nature, performed by an employee for the person employing him or her, with certain specific exceptions.

The employee portion of Medicare taxes must be withheld and remitted to the Federal government by the employer during the quarter, as required by the applicable deposit rules.⁷⁵⁰ The employer is liable for the employee portion of Medicare taxes, in addition to its own share, whether or not the employer withholds the amount from the employee's wages.⁷⁵¹ OASDI and Medicare taxes are generally allocated by statute among separate trust funds: the OASDI Trust Funds, Medicare's Hospital Insurance Trust Fund, and Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Fund.⁷⁵²

⁷⁴⁶ Sec. 3221.

- ⁷⁴⁸ Secs. 3101(b); 3111(b).
- ⁷⁴⁹ Sec. 3121(a).
- ⁷⁵⁰ Sec. 3102(a) and Treas. Reg. sec. 31.3121(a)-2. Sec. 6302.
- ⁷⁵¹ Sec. 3102(b).

⁷⁵² Secs. 201 and 1817 of the Social Security Act, Pub. L. No. 74-271 as amended (42 U.S.C. secs. 401 and 1395i). Section 201, 42 U.S.C. sec. 402. This section appropriates to the OASI and DI trust funds 100 percent "the taxes imposed... by chapter 21 (other than sections 3101(b) and 3111(b)[i.e., 3101(a) and 3111(a)]) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 with respect to wages (as defined in section 3121 of such Code)" "determined by the Secretary of the Treasury by applying the applicable rates of tax under such subchapter or chapter 21 (other than sections 3101(b) and 3111(b)) to such wages." Accordingly, the amount appropriated is based on the tax rate in effect on wages as defined in the statute. Similarly, section 1817 of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. sec. 1395i, appropriates to the HI trust fund 100 percent of "the taxes imposed by sections 3101(b) and 3111(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 with respect to wages reported to the Secretary of the Treasury or his delegate pursuant to subtitle F of such Code a fter December 31, 1965, as determined by the Secretary of the Treasury by applying the applicable rates of tax under such such wages."

⁷⁴⁷ The Hospital Insurance tax includes two components: Medicaretax and Additional Medicare tax. Additional Medicare taxes are imposed on wages in excess of certain thresholds and are only imposed on the employee. Sec. 3101(b). There is no employer match for Additional Medicare tax. For purposes of this explanation, when referencing Medicare taxes, the term does not include Additional Medicare tax.

Description of Proposal

An eligible local newspaper publisher is allowed a refundable credit against the Medicare taxes imposed on the employer⁷⁵³ for each calendar quarter in an amount equal to an applicable percentage of wages paid to each local news journalist employee of such employer for such calendar quarter.⁷⁵⁴ The applicable percentage of wages eligible for the credit is 50 percent in the case of each of the first four calendar quarters, and 30 percent in the case of each calendar quarter thereafter. The amount of wages which may be taken into account for any calendar quarter shall not exceed \$12,500. An eligible employer may also elect not to claim the credit. In addition, no credit is allowed for the United States Government or to an agency or instrumentality thereof.

An eligible local news publisher is, with respect to any calendar quarter, any employer if substantially all of the gross receipts of such employer for such calendar quarter are derived in the trade or business of publishing local newspapers. All persons treated as a single employer under subsection (a) or (b) of section 52, or subsection (m) or (o) of section 414, shall be treated as one employer for purposes of this proposal. This aggregation rule does not apply unless such persons are involved in the production of the same print or digital publication.

The term "local newspaper" means any print or digital publication if (1) the primary content of such publication is original content derived from primary sources and relating to news and current events, (2) such publication primarily serves the needs of a regional or local community, (3) the publisher of such publication employs at least one local news journalist who resides in such regional or local community, and (4) the publisher of such publication employs not more than 750 employees.

An eligible local news journalist is any employee of an eligible local newspaper publisher for any calendar quarter who provides at least 100 hours of services as a local news journalist during such calendar quarter to such eligible local newspaper publisher, during which time such individual regularly gathers, collects, photographs, records, writes, or reports news or information that concerns local events or other matters of local public interest, for such calendar quarter.

The proposal provides that the credit allowed may not exceed the Medicare tax imposed on the employer, reduced by certain payroll tax credits⁷⁵⁵ for that calendar quarter on the wages paid with respect to all the employer's employees. However, if for any calendar quarter the amount of the credit exceeds the Medicare taxes imposed on the employer, reduced as described

⁷⁵³ Sec. 3111(b).

⁷⁵⁴ The term "wages" means wages, as defined in section 3121(a) for FICA tax purposes. Any credit a llowed under this proposal shall be treated as a credit of the customer of the certified professional employer organization as described in section 3511(d)(2).

⁷⁵⁵ Secs. 3131, 3132, 3134, and 6432.

in the prior sentence, such excess is treated as a refundable overpayment.⁷⁵⁶ The proposal also includes a denial of double benefit rule.⁷⁵⁷ Any credit allowed under this proposal shall be treated as a credit described in section 3511(d)(2) with respect to third-party payors.

The Secretary shall issue such forms, instructions, regulations, and guidance as are necessary to implement the purposes of this section, including the application of the credit to third-party payors and regulations or guidance allowing such payors to submit documentation necessary to substantiate the eligible employer status of employers that use such payors.⁷⁵⁸

Effective Date

The amendments made by this proposal shall apply to calendar quarters during the first five calendar years beginning after the date of enactment.

17. Treatment of financial guaranty insurance companies as qualifying insurance corporations under PFIC rules

Present Law

Present law includes requirements for a corporation the income of which is not included in passive income for purposes of the passive foreign investment company ("PFIC") rules, in the case of certain insurance companies.⁷⁵⁹ Passive income for purposes of the PFIC rules generally does not include income derived in the active conduct of an insurance business by a corporation (1) that would be subject to tax under subchapter L if it were a domestic corporation; and (2) the applicable insurance liabilities of which constitute more than 25 percent of its total assets as reported on the company's applicable financial statement for the last year ending with or within the taxable year.⁷⁶⁰

For the purpose of the provision's exception from passive income, applicable insurance liabilities mean, with respect to any property and casualty or life insurance business (1) loss and loss adjustment expenses, (2) reserves (other than deficiency, contingency, or unearned premium reserves) for life and health insurance risks and life and health insurance claims with respect to contracts providing coverage for mortality or morbidity risks. This includes loss reserves for property and casualty, life, and health insurance contracts and annuity contracts.

⁷⁵⁸ Third-party payors include professional employer organizations, certified professional employer organizations, or a gents under section 3504.

⁷⁵⁶ The excess is treated as an overpayment and refunded under sections 6402(a) and 6413(b). In addition, any amount that is due to an employer is treated in the same manner as a refund due from a credit provision. 31 U.S.C. sec. 1324. Thus, a mounts are appropriated to the Secretary of the Treasury for refunding such excess amounts.

⁷⁵⁷ Secs. 41, 45A, 45P, 45S, 51, 1396, 3131, 3132, 3134, and 6432.

⁷⁵⁹ Sec. 1297(b)(2)(B).

⁷⁶⁰ Sec. 1297(f)(1)(A) and (B).

Unearned premium reserves with respect to any type of risk are not treated as applicable insurance liabilities for purposes of the provision.

For purposes of the provision, the amount of any applicable insurance liability may not exceed the lesser of such amount (1) as reported to the applicable insurance regulatory body in the applicable financial statement (or, if less, the amount required by applicable law or regulation), or (2) as determined under regulations prescribed by the Secretary.

An applicable financial statement is a statement for financial reporting purposes that (1) is made on the basis of generally accepted accounting principles, (2) is made on the basis of international financial reporting standards, but only if there is no statement made on the basis of generally accepted accounting principles, or (3) except as otherwise provided by the Secretary in regulations, is the annual statement required to be filed with the applicable insurance regulatory body, but only if there is no statement made on either of the foregoing bases. Unless otherwise provided in regulations, it is intended that generally accepted accounting principles means U.S. GAAP.

The applicable insurance regulatory body means, with respect to any insurance business, the entity established by law to license, authorize, or regulate such insurance business and to which the applicable financial statement is provided. For example, in the United States, the applicable insurance regulatory body is the State insurance regulator to which the corporation provides its annual statement.

If a corporation fails to qualify solely because its applicable insurance liabilities constitute 25 percent or less of its total assets, a United States person who owns stock of the corporation may elect in such manner as the Secretary prescribes to treat the stock as stock of a qualifying insurance corporation if (1) the corporation's applicable insurance liabilities constitute at least 10 percent of its total assets, and (2) based on the applicable facts and circumstances, the corporation is predominantly engaged in an insurance business, and its failure to qualify under the 25 percent threshold is due solely to runoff-related or rating-related circumstances involving such insurance business.⁷⁶¹

Facts and circumstances that tend to show the firm may not be predominantly engaged in an insurance business include a small number of insured risks with low likelihood but large potential costs; workers focused to a greater degree on investment activities than underwriting activities; and low loss exposure. Additional relevant facts for determining whether the firm is predominantly engaged in an insurance business include: claims payment patterns for the current and prior years; the firm's loss exposure as calculated for a regulator such as the SEC or for a rating agency, or if those are not calculated, for internal prior years; the percentage of gross receipts constituting premiums for the current and prior years; and the number and size of insurance contracts issued or taken on through reinsurance by the firm. The fact that a firm has been holding itself out as an insurer for a long period is not determinative either way.

Runoff-related or rating-related circumstances include, for example, the fact that the company is in runoff, that is, it is not taking on new insurance business (and consequently has

⁷⁶¹ See Treas. Reg. sec. 1.1297-4(d).

little or no premium income), and is using its remaining assets to pay off claims with respect to pre-existing insurance risks on its books. Such circumstances also include, for example, the application to the company of specific requirements with respect to capital and surplus relating to insurance liabilities imposed by a rating agency as a condition of obtaining a rating necessary to write new insurance business for the current year.

Present law does not specifically state how the treatment of insurance companies under the PFIC rules applies in the case of a financial guaranty insurance company. A financial guaranty insurance company's business is generally to insure the risks related to the default of corporate and governmental bonds. Under NAIC guidelines,⁷⁶² a financial guaranty insurer is a monoline company (*i.e.*, does not insure other types of risks). Any financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") of a financial guaranty insurer may not report an amount of reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses until those items are expected to exceed unearned premium reserves with respect to the contract,⁷⁶³ a situation generally involving imminent or current default of insured bonds.

Description of Proposal

The proposal provides specific rules for financial guaranty insurance companies under the present-law PFIC rules for insurance companies.

Under the proposal, applicable insurance liabilities of a financial guaranty insurance company include unearned premium reserves (notwithstanding the general rule that unearned premium reserves are not included⁷⁶⁴) if the company meets requirements. The requirements are intended to limit the treatment provided under the proposal to insurance companies that are actively engaged in the business of financial guaranty insurance and not in other activities such as, for example, hedge fund investing. The requirements are that (1) the company is prohibited under generally accepted accounting principles from reporting on its financial statement reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses with respect to a financial guaranty insurance or reinsurance contract, except to the extent that those losses and loss adjustment expenses are expected to exceed the unearned premiums on the contract; (2) the applicable financial statement of the company reports financial guaranty exposure⁷⁶⁵ of at least 15-to-1 or State or

⁷⁶⁴ Sec. 1297(f)(3)(A)(ii).

⁷⁶² The National Association of Insurance Commissioners ("NAIC") issues model laws and model regulations that are frequently enacted (sometimes with modifications) by States for the purpose of their regulation of insurance companies in the State.

⁷⁶³ See Financial Accounting Standards Board, *FASB Statement No. 60*, interpreting *Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 163*, paragraphs 22-28 and B37-38, 2008.

 $^{^{765}}$ For purposes of this requirement, the term financial guaranty exposure means the ratio of (1) the net debt service outstanding insured or reinsured by the company that is within the single risk limits set forth in the Financial Guaranty Insurance Guideline (as reported on the company's applicable financial statement, to (2) the company's total assets (as so reported). See below for a definition of this Guideline.

local bond exposure⁷⁶⁶ of at least 9-to-1 (8-to-1 for a taxable year of the company ending on or before December 31, 2018), and (3) the company includes in its insurance liabilities only its unearned premium reserves relating to insurance written or assumed that is within the single risk limits of section D of subsection 4 of the NAIC's Financial Guaranty Insurance Guideline, as defined in the proposal (modified by using total shareholders' equity as reported on the company's applicable financial statement rather than the aggregate of the surplus to policyholders and contingency reserves).

A financial guaranty insurance company is defined for purposes of the proposal to mean any insurance company the sole business of which is writing or reinsuring financial guaranty insurance that is permitted.⁷⁶⁷ For this purpose, financial guaranty insurance means financial guaranty insurance as defined under section 1, subsection (A),⁷⁶⁸ of the NAIC's Financial Guaranty Insurance Guideline, which is permitted under section 4, subsection (B), of such Guideline, including single risk limits.⁷⁶⁹

The proposal defines the NAIC's Financial Guaranty Insurance Guideline, which means the October 2008 model regulation that was adopted by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners on December 4, 2007. The determination of whether any provision of this Guideline has been satisfied is made by the Treasury Secretary under the provision.

In addition, a financial guaranty insurance company is treated as satisfying two requirements of the 10-percent facts and circumstances test, described above in the present law section, that (1) based on the applicable facts and circumstances, the corporation is predominantly engaged in an insurance business, ⁷⁷⁰ and (2) the corporation's failure to qualify

⁷⁶⁷ New sec. 1297(f)(3)(C)(iii).

⁷⁶⁸ This part of the NAIC Guideline provides, in relevant part, "'Financial guaranty insurance' means a surety bond, an insurance policy or, when issued by an insurer or any person doing an insurance business as defined in Section [insert section], an indemnity contract and any guaranty similar to the foregoing types, under which loss is payable upon proof of occurrence of financial loss to an insured claimant, obligee or indemnitee as a result of any of the following events," which include failure of an obligor to pay when due.

⁷⁶⁹ This part of the NAIC Guideline sets forth limitations on the activities of the company; including that the obligations insured by the company must meet a minimum percentage of investment grade obligations, that the company must meet aggregaterisk limits by maintaining surplus to policyholder and contingency reserves that meet specified percentages for identified types of insured obligations, and that the company must meet single risk limits (limits on exposure to losses from single risks) by conforming to specified percentages with respect to specified categories of insured obligations.

⁷⁷⁰ A financial guaranty insurance company, to be eligible for this treatment, separately must meet the statutory definition that relies on the criteria of the NAIC Guideline on which State insurance regulators generally rely to identify such a company. Thus, permitting this treatment in the case of a company meeting those requirements is considered unlikely to lead to avoidance of the purposes of section 1297(f). It is intended that the Treasury Secretary provide guidance consistent with preventing a voidance.

⁷⁶⁶ For purposes of this requirement, the term State or local bond exposure means the ratio of (1) the net unpaid principal of State or local bonds (as defined in section 103(c)(1)) insured or reinsured by the company that is within the single risk limits set forth in the Financial Guaranty Insurance Guideline (as reported on the company's applicable financial statement), to (2) the company's total assets (as so reported).

under the 25 percent threshold⁷⁷¹ is due solely to runoff-related or rating-related circumstances involving such insurance business.⁷⁷² Treating a financial guaranty insurance company as satisfying these particular requirements of the 10-percent facts and circumstances test, however, does not treat the company as having satisfied the requirement for that test that its applicable insurance liabilities constitute at least 10 percent of its total assets.⁷⁷³

The provision requires reporting. An amount is treated as reported on an applicable financial statement for purposes of the provision if the amount is separately reported on that statement with respect to the corporation, or the amount is separately determined for purposes of calculating an amount that is reported on that statement. In addition, regulatory authority is provided to require reporting to the IRS or the Treasury Department such information as the IRS or Treasury require, in the case of each United States person who owns an interest in a specified non-publicly traded foreign corporation. A non-publicly traded foreign corporation is defined as any foreign corporation that would be a PFIC if section 1297(b)(2)(B) did not apply, and no interest in which is traded on an established securities market.

Effective Date

The provision generally is effective as if included with the enactment of section 1297(f) and of modifications to section 1297(b)(2)(B), that is, for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017. The reporting of certain items under the provision is effective for reports made after the date of enactment of this provision.

18. Credit for qualified access technology for the blind

Present Law

Additional amount of the standard deduction for the aged or blind

The standard deduction is the sum of the basic standard deduction and, if applicable, the additional standard deduction.⁷⁷⁴ The amount of the basic standard deduction varies depending upon a taxpayer's filing status. For 2021, the amount of the basic standard deduction is \$12,550 for a single individual and a married individual filing a separate return, \$18,800 for a head of household, and \$25,100 for a joint return and a surviving spouse.⁷⁷⁵ An additional standard

⁷⁷¹ Sec. 1297(f)(1).

⁷⁷⁴ Sec. 63(c).

 $^{^{772}}$ Sec. 1297(a)(2)(B). By treating the company as meeting these particular requirements of the 10-percent facts and circumstances test, the provision treats a financial guaranty insurance company similarly to an insurance company whose failure to qualify under the 25 percent threshold is due solely to runoff-related or rating-related circumstances involving such insurance business.

⁷⁷³ Sec. 1297(f)(2)(A).

⁷⁷⁵ Rev. Proc. 2020-45, 2020-46 I.R.B. 1016.

deduction is allowed to an individual who is elderly (has attained age 65 before the close of the taxable year) or blind.

For 2021, the additional amount is \$1,350 for a married taxpayer (for each spouse meeting the applicable criteria in the case of a joint return) and surviving spouses. The additional amount for single individuals and heads of households is \$1,700. An individual who qualifies as both blind and elderly is entitled to two additional standard deductions, for a total additional amount (for 2021) of \$2,700 or \$3,400, as applicable.⁷⁷⁶

An individual is considered blind for purposes of the additional amount of the standard deduction only if the individual's central visual acuity does not exceed 20/200 in the better eye with correcting lenses, or if the individual's visual acuity is greater than 20/200 but is accompanied by a limitation in the fields of vision such that the widest diameter of the visual field subtends an angle no greater than 20 degrees.⁷⁷⁷

Under present law, there is no credit for qualified access technology for the blind.

Description of Proposal

The proposal creates a new refundable credit for amounts paid or incurred during the taxable year by the taxpayer for qualified access technology for use by a qualified blind individual who is the taxpayer, the taxpayer's spouse, or any dependent of the taxpayer.

The aggregate amount of the credit allowed under the proposal with respect to any qualified blind individual shall not exceed \$2,000 in any period that consists of three consecutive taxable years. The \$2,000 amount is adjusted for inflation for taxable years beginning after 2022. Amounts eligible for the credit may not be compensated for by insurance or otherwise.

A qualified blind individual has the same meaning as an individual who is blind for purposes of the additional amount of the standard deduction for the blind.⁷⁷⁸ Qualified access technology means hardware, software, or other information technology the primary function of which is to convert or adapt information which is visually represented into forms or formats useable by blind individuals.

No credit is allowed under the proposal for any expenses for which a deduction or credit is allowed under Chapter 1 of the Code.

The credit shall not apply to amounts paid or incurred in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2026.

⁷⁷⁸ Ibid.

⁷⁷⁶ Rev. Proc. 2020-45, 2020-46 I.R.B. 1016.

⁷⁷⁷ Sec. 63(f)(4).

Effective Date

The provision is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.

19. Modification of REIT constructive ownership rules

Present Law

In general

To qualify as a REIT, an entity must meet a number of requirements. Among other requirements, an entity must meet the 75-percent income test and the 95-percent income test.⁷⁷⁹ For purposes of both income tests, qualifying rents constitute qualifying gross income.⁷⁸⁰

Rents from a related party – generally otherwise qualifying rents received from corporate or noncorporate tenants in which the REIT, directly or indirectly, has an ownership interest of 10 percent or more – are generally not treated as qualifying rents.⁷⁸¹ Additionally, where a REIT furnishes or renders services to a tenant, amounts received or accrued with respect to such property generally are not treated as qualifying rents unless the services are furnished through an independent contractor.⁷⁸² In general, an independent contractor is a person who does not own more than a 35 percent interest in the REIT and in which no more than a 35 percent interest is held by persons with a 35 percent or greater interest in the REIT.⁷⁸³

Constructive ownership rules

For purposes of determining a REIT's ownership interest in a tenant and whether a contractor is independent, the constructive ownership rules of section 318(a), with certain modifications, apply.⁷⁸⁴

Section 318(a) provides rules setting forth when stock is constructively owned. Stock may be attributed *from* partnerships, estates, trusts, and corporations to persons owning interests in such entities under so-called "upward" attribution rules.⁷⁸⁵ Stock may be attributed *to* partnerships, estates, trusts, and corporations from persons owning interest in such entities under

- ⁷⁸⁰ Secs. 856(c)(2)(C) and 856(c)(3)(A).
- ⁷⁸¹ Sec. 856(d)(2)(B).
- ⁷⁸² Secs. 856(d)(2)(C) and 856(d)(7).
- ⁷⁸³ Sec. 856(d)(3).
- ⁷⁸⁴ Sec. 856(d)(5).
- ⁷⁸⁵ Sec. 318(a)(2).

⁷⁷⁹ Secs. 856(c)(2) and 856(c)(3).

so-called "downward" attribution rules.⁷⁸⁶ Stock may be considered owned in certain other cases. Section 318(a), moreover, contains operating rules.

Under section 856(d)(5), the constructive ownership rules of section 318(a) are modified in three ways. First, such rules ("modified section 318(a)") apply to determine the ownership of assets and net profits of any person (*i.e.*, interests in noncorporate entities), as well as stock.⁷⁸⁷

Second, certain thresholds in the "upward" and "downward" attribution rules are modified such that attribution from and to corporations occurs in a greater number of situations. Specifically, 10 percent is substituted for 50 percent where it appears in subparagraph (C) of section 318(a)(2) and 318(a)(3).⁷⁸⁸ Thus, under section 318(a)(2)(C), as modified ("modified section 318(a)(2)(C)," with sections 318(a)(2)(B) and 318(a)(2)(C), the "modified upward attribution rules"), if 10 or more percent of a REIT or other corporation is owned, directly or indirectly, by or for a person, that person is treated as owning a proportionate share of any stock, assets or net profits owned, directly or indirectly, by the REIT or other corporation. Under section 318(a)(3)(C), as modified ("modified section 318(a)(3)(C)"), if 10 or more percent of a REIT or other corporation. Under section 318(a)(3)(C), as modified ("modified section 318(a)(3)(C)"), if 10 or more percent of a REIT or other corporation. Under section 318(a)(3)(C), as modified ("modified section 318(a)(3)(C)"), if 10 or more percent of a REIT or other corporation is owned, directly or indirectly, by or for a person, that REIT or other corporation. Under section 318(a)(3)(C), as modified (section 318(a)(3)(C)"), if 10 or more percent of a REIT or other corporation is owned, directly or indirectly, by or for a person, that REIT or other corporation is owned, directly or indirectly, by or for a person, that REIT or other corporation is owned, directly or indirectly, by or for a person, that REIT or other corporation is owned, directly or indirectly, by or for a person, that REIT or other corporation is treated as owning the stock, assets, or net profits owned, directly or indirectly, by or for the person.

Third, a threshold in the downward attribution rules is modified such that attribution to partnerships occurs in a fewer number of situations. Specifically, section 318(a)(3)(A) is applied in the case of a partnership by taking into account only partners who own, directly or indirectly, 25 percent or more of the capital interest, or the profit interest, in the partnership.⁷⁸⁹ Thus, under section 318(a)(3)(A), as modified ("modified section 318(a)(3)(A)," with section 318(a)(3)(B) and modified section 318(a)(3)(C), the "modified downward attribution rules"), stock, assets, and net profits owned, directly or indirectly, by or for a partner are considered owned by the partnership when that partner owns, directly or indirectly, a 25 percent or greater capital interest or profits interest in the partnership.

The examples below illustrate the application of modified section 318(a) under present law.

Example 1: Assume that 25 percent of the shares in a REIT ("REIT") are owned by a person ("A") who owns a 25 percent interest in a partnership ("P1"); another person ("B") owns a 25 percent interest in P1 and a 25 percent interest in another partnership ("P2"); and a third person ("C") owns a 25 percent interest in P2 and a 25 percent interest in a partnership that is a tenant of REIT ("T"). Because of successive applications of the modified downward attribution rules,

⁷⁸⁶ Sec. 318(a)(3).

- ⁷⁸⁷ Sec. 856(d)(5) (flush language).
- ⁷⁸⁸ Sec. 856(d)(5)(A).
- ⁷⁸⁹ Sec. 856(d)(5)(B).

REIT is considered to own 25 percent of T, and the rents paid by T are non-qualifying rents from a related party to REIT.

<u>Example 2</u>: Assume a person ("A") owns 100 percent of the shares in a corporation ("Parent"); Parent owns 100 percent of the shares in a second corporation ("Sub"); and Sub owns 10 percent of the shares in a REIT ("REIT"). Further assume A owns 100 percent of the shares in a corporation that is a tenant of REIT ("T"). Because of successive applications of the modified downward attribution rules or successive applications of the modified upward attribution rules followed by a single application of the modified downward attribution rules, REIT is considered to own 10 percent of T, and the rents paid by T are non-qualifying rents from a related party to REIT.

<u>Example 3</u>: Assume that 40 percent of the shares in a REIT ("REIT") are owned by a person ("A") who owns a 25 percent interest in a partnership ("P1"); another person ("B") owns a 25 percent interest in P1 and a 25 percent interest in a second partnership ("P2"); a third person ("C") owns a 25 percent interest in P2 and a 25 percent interest in third partnership ("P3"); and a fourth person ("D") owns a 25 percent interest in P3 and 40 percent of the shares in a corporation that is a contractor of REIT ("Contractor"). Because of successive applications of the modified downward attribution rules, the independent contractor definition will not be met: P1, P2, and P3 will be considered to own more than 35 percent interests in both REIT and Contractor.

<u>Example 4</u>: Assume that 50 percent of the shares in a REIT ("REIT") are owned by a person ("A") who owns 10 percent of the shares in a corporation ("Corp"), and another person ("B") owns 10 percent of the shares in Corp and 50 percent of the interests in a partnership that is a contractor of REIT ("Contractor"). Corp will be considered to own more than 35 percent of REIT stock and more than 35 percent of Contractor interests as a result of two applications of the modified downward attribution rules. The independent contractor definition will not be met because Corp will be considered to own more than 35 percent interests in both REIT and Contractor.

Description of Proposal

The proposal modifies the constructive ownership rules that apply for purposes of determining a REIT's ownership interest in a tenant and whether a contractor is independent by amending section 856(d)(5).

Under the proposal, stock, assets, and net profits constructively owned by a partnership, estate, trust, or corporation by reason of the application of section 318(a)(3) (as modified by sections 856(d)(5)(A) and 856(d)(5)(B)) (*i.e.*, the modified downward attribution rules) are not considered as owned by such entity for purposes of again applying such section (*i.e.*, the modified downward attribution rules) in order to make another person the constructive owner of such stock, assets, or net profits. Thus, the provision prevents multiple applications of the modified downward attribution rules in certain situations. The situations are limited to scenarios where the successive application of the modified downward attribution rules would otherwise make a second person the constructive owner of stock or an interest in a noncorporate entity. Said differently, the provision only prevents the successive application of the modified downward attribution rules where (1) an application of the modified downward attribution rules

makes a person the constructive owner of stock or an interest in a noncorporate entity, and (2) such person's constructive ownership is attributed to a different person by virtue of an additional application of the modified downward attribution rules. The provision does not cover scenarios where two applications of the modified downward attribution rules make the same person the constructive owner of, for example, a REIT and a contractor.⁷⁹⁰

The provision does not prevent any person from being the constructive owner of stock, assets, or net profits of any person as the result of any other application of modified section 318(a) (the "other application exception"). Thus, if there exist two (or more) applications of modified section 318(a) that result in a person constructively owning stock or an interest in a noncorporate entity and one (or more) application of modified section 318(a) does not require the successive application of the modified downward attribution rules in the manner described above, that person will be treated as a constructive owner.⁷⁹¹

The Secretary is authorized to circumscribe the situations to which the provision applies. This is intended to ensure that a REIT and a tenant, as well as a REIT and a contractor, are treated as related in appropriate situations such that REITs retain their character as passive investment vehicles.⁷⁹²

No inference is created by the proposal with respect to the application of section 318 outside the context of the proposal.

The examples below illustrate the application of modified section 318(a), as amended by the provision.⁷⁹³

Example 1: Assume that 25 percent of the shares in a REIT ("REIT") are owned by a person ("A") who owns a 25 percent interest in a partnership ("P1"); another person ("B") owns a 25 percent interest in P1 and a 25 percent interest in another partnership ("P2"); and a third person ("C") owns a 25 percent interest in P2 and a 25 percent interest in a partnership that is a tenant of REIT ("T"). Under the provision, the REIT stock constructively owned by P1 (as a result of an application of the modified downward attribution rules) is not taken into account when again applying the modified downward attribution rules to make another person (P2 or T) a constructive owner. Likewise, interests in T constructively owned by P2 (as a result of an application of the modified downward attribution rules) are not taken into account when again applying the modified downward attribution rules) are not taken into account when again applying the modified downward attribution rules to make another person (P1 or REIT) a

⁷⁹² Congress created REITs as passive investment vehicles. See H.R. Rep. No. 2020, 86th Cong., 2d Sess. 4 (1960) at 6 ("[O]ne of the principal purposes of your committee in imposing restrictions on types of income of a qualifying real estate investment trust is to be sure the bulk of its income is from passive income sources and not from the active conduct of a trade or business.").

⁷⁹³ The facts of these examples are the same as the facts of the examples in the present law section, above.

⁷⁹⁰ See Example 4, below.

⁷⁹¹ See Example 2, below.

constructive owner. Thus, under the provision, unlike under present law, REIT is not considered to own interests in T, and the rents paid by T may be qualifying rents to REIT.

<u>Example 2</u>: Assume a person ("A") owns 100 percent of the shares in a corporation ("Parent"); Parent owns 100 percent of the shares in a second corporation ("Sub"); and Sub owns 10 percent of the shares in a REIT ("REIT"). Further assume A owns 100 percent of the shares in a corporation that is a tenant of REIT ("T"). REIT would be considered to own 10 percent of T as a result of successive applications of the modified downward attribution rules in a manner that would be precluded by the provision but for the other application exception. However, successive applications of the modified upward attribution rules followed by a single application of the modified downward attribution rules also result in REIT constructively owning 10 percent of T. Thus, under the provision, like under present law, REIT is considered to own 10 percent of T, and the rents paid by T are non-qualifying rents from a related party to REIT.

Example 3: Assume that 40 percent of the shares in a REIT ("REIT") are owned by a person ("A") who owns a 25 percent interest in a partnership ("P1"); another person ("B") owns a 25 percent interest in P1 and a 25 percent interest in a second partnership ("P2"); a third person ("C") owns a 25 percent interest in P2 and a 25 percent interest in third partnership ("P3"); and a fourth person ("D") owns a 25 percent interest in P3 and 40 percent of the shares in a corporation that is a contractor of REIT ("Contractor"). Under the provision, the REIT stock constructively owned by P1 (as a result of an application of the modified downward attribution rules) is not taken into account when again applying the modified downward attribution rules to make another person (P2, P3, or Contractor) a constructive owner. Likewise, the Contractor stock constructively owned by P3 (as a result of an application of the modified downward attribution rules to make another person (P2, P1, or REIT) a constructive owner. Thus, under the provision, no person will be considered to own more than a 35 percent interest in both REIT and Contractor, and the independent contractor definition may be met.

<u>Example 4</u>: Assume that 50 percent of the shares in a REIT ("REIT") are owned by a person ("A") who owns 10 percent of the shares in a corporation ("Corp"), and another person ("B") owns 10 percent of the shares in Corp and 50 percent of the interests in a partnership that is a contractor of REIT ("Contractor"). Based on A's actual ownership of REIT and one application of the modified downward attribution rules, Corp will be considered to own more than 35 percent of REIT stock. Based on B's actual ownership of Contractor and one application of the modified downward attribution rules, Corp will be considered to own a more than 35 percent interest in Contractor. Because the second application of the modified downward attributions rules makes the same person (rather than another person) the constructive owner of REIT stock and Contractor interests, under the provision, like under present law, the independent contractor definition will not be met.

Effective Date

The provision applies to taxable years ending after the date of enactment.